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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended. Forward-looking statements give our expectations or forecasts of future events and can generally be identified
by the use of words such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “project,” “plan,” “likely,” “may,”
“should” or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our business strategy, outlook,
objectives, plans, intentions or goals also are forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements include,
but are not limited to, statements we make regarding strategic initiatives, our expected operating results, future economic
conditions including currency exchange rates, future dividend declarations and the guidance we give with respect to our
anticipated financial performance. We believe that our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions. Forward-looking
statements, however, are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the projections, anticipated results or other expectations expressed in this report, and no assurances can be given that
our expectations will prove to have been correct. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following:

2« 3« 2

e loss of, or reduction in demand for services from, significant clients;

e increases in net charge-offs in credit card and loan receivables and increases in the allowance for loan loss that
may result from the application of the current expected credit loss model;

e failure to identify, complete or successfully integrate or disaggregate business acquisitions or divestitures;

continued financial responsibility with respect to a divested business, including required equity ownership,

guarantees, indemnities or other financial obligations;

failure to realize expected cost savings from restructuring plans;

increases in the cost of doing business, including market interest rates;

inability to access the asset-backed securitization funding market or deposits market;

loss of active AIR MILES® Reward Program collectors;

continuing impacts related to COVID-19, including reduction in demand from clients, supply chain disruption

for our reward suppliers and disruptions in the airline or travel industries;

increased redemptions by AIR MILES Reward Program collectors;

unfavorable fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

e limitations on consumer credit, loyalty or marketing services from new legislative or regulatory actions related
to consumer protection and consumer privacy;

e increases in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”), Delaware or Utah regulatory capital

requirements for banks;

failure to maintain exemption from regulation under the Bank Holding Company Act;

loss or disruption, due to cyber attack or other service failures, of data center operations or capacity;

loss of consumer information due to compromised physical or cyber security; and

those factors discussed in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, elsewhere in this Form 10-K and in the documents

incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect,
actual results may vary materially from what we projected. Further risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the
impact of strategic initiatives on us or our business if any transactions are undertaken, and whether the anticipated benefits of
such transactions can be realized.

Any forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K speak only as of the date made, and we undertake no
obligation, other than as required by applicable law, to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result
of new information, subsequent events, anticipated or unanticipated circumstances or otherwise.
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PART I
Item 1. Business.

We are a leading global provider of data-driven marketing and loyalty solutions serving large, consumer-based
industries. We create and deploy customized solutions, enhancing the critical customer marketing experience and measurably
changing consumer behavior while driving business growth and profitability for some of today’s most recognizable brands.
We help our clients create and increase customer loyalty through solutions that engage millions of customers each day across
multiple touch points using traditional, digital, mobile and emerging technologies. Our LoyaltyOne® business owns and
operates the AIR MILES Reward Program, Canada’s most recognized loyalty program, and Netherlands-based
BrandLoyalty, a global provider of tailor-made loyalty programs for grocers. Our Card Services business is a provider of
market-leading private label, co-brand, and business credit card programs.

Our client base of more than 400 companies consists primarily of large consumer-based businesses, including well-
known brands such as Victoria’s Secret, Signet, IKEA, Ulta, Caesars Entertainment, Sephora, Bank of Montreal, Amex Bank
of Canada, Sobeys Inc., Shell Canada Products, Rewe and Albert Heijn. Our client base is diversified across a broad range of
end-markets, including financial services, specialty retail, grocery and drugstore chains, petroleum retail, home furnishings
and hardware, beauty and jewelry, hospitality and travel and telecommunications. We believe our comprehensive suite of
marketing solutions offers us a significant competitive advantage, as many of our competitors offer a more limited range of
services. We believe the breadth and quality of our service offerings have enabled us to establish and maintain long-standing
client relationships.

Segments

Beginning with the first quarter of 2019, our products and services are reported under two segments—LoyaltyOne and
Card Services, and are listed below. Effective March 31, 2019, our former Epsilon segment was treated as a discontinued
operation, and was subsequently sold on July 1, 2019. Financial information about our segments and geographic areas
appears in Note 25, “Segment Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment Products and Services

LoyaltyOne » AIR MILES Reward Program
 Short-term Loyalty Programs

» Loyalty Services
—Loyalty consulting
—Customer analytics
—Creative services
—Mobile solutions

Card Services » Receivables Financing
—Underwriting and risk management
—Receivables funding

e Processing Services
—New account processing
—Bill processing
—Remittance processing
—Customer care

» Marketing Services
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LoyaltyOne

Our LoyaltyOne clients are focused on acquiring and retaining loyal and profitable customers. We use the information
gathered through our loyalty programs to help our clients design and implement effective marketing programs. Our clients
within this segment include financial services providers, grocers, drug stores, petroleum retailers and specialty retailers.
LoyaltyOne operates the AIR MILES Reward Program and BrandLoyalty.

The AIR MILES Reward Program is a full service outsourced coalition loyalty program for our sponsors, who pay us a
fee per AIR MILES reward mile issued, in return for which we provide all marketing, customer service, rewards and
redemption management. We typically grant participating sponsors exclusivity in their market category, enabling them to
realize incremental sales and increase market share as a result of their participation in the AIR MILES Reward Program
coalition.

The AIR MILES Reward Program enables consumers, referred to as collectors, to earn AIR MILES reward miles as
they shop across a broad range of retailers and other sponsors participating in the AIR MILES Reward Program. These AIR
MILES reward miles can be redeemed by our collectors for travel or other rewards. Through our AIR MILES Cash program
option, collectors can also instantly redeem their AIR MILES reward miles collected in the AIR MILES Cash program
option toward in-store purchases at participating sponsors. Approximately two-thirds of Canadian households actively
participate in the AIR MILES Reward Program, and it has been named a “most influential” Canadian brand in Canada’s
Ipsos Influence Index.

The three primary parties involved in our AIR MILES Reward Program are: sponsors, collectors and suppliers, each of
which is described below.

Sponsors. Approximately 140 brand name sponsors participate in our AIR MILES Reward Program, including Shell
Canada Products, Jean Coutu, RONA, Amex Bank of Canada, Sobeys Inc. and Bank of Montreal.

Collectors. Collectors earn AIR MILES reward miles at thousands of retail and service locations, typically
including any online presence the sponsor may have. Collectors can also earn AIR MILES reward miles at the many
locations where collectors can use certain credit cards issued by Bank of Montreal and Amex Bank of Canada. This
enables collectors to rapidly accumulate AIR MILES reward miles across a significant portion of their everyday spend.
The AIR MILES Reward Program offers a reward structure that provides a quick, easy and free way for collectors to
earn a broad selection of travel, entertainment and other lifestyle rewards through their day-to-day shopping at
participating sponsors.

Suppliers. We enter into agreements with airlines, manufacturers of consumer electronics, supplier platforms and
other providers to supply rewards for the AIR MILES Reward Program. The broad range of rewards that can be
redeemed is one of the reasons the AIR MILES Reward Program remains popular with collectors. Hundreds of brands
use the AIR MILES Reward Program as an additional distribution channel for these products. Suppliers include well-
recognized companies in diverse industries, including travel, hospitality, electronics and entertainment.

BrandLoyalty designs, implements, conducts and evaluates innovative and tailor-made loyalty programs for grocers
worldwide. These loyalty programs are designed to generate immediate changes in consumer behavior and are offered
through leading grocers across Europe and Asia, as well as around the world. These short-term loyalty programs are designed
to drive traffic by attracting new customers and motivating existing customers to spend more because the reward is instant,
topical and newsworthy. These programs are tailored for the specific client and are designed to reward key customer
segments based on their spending levels during defined campaign periods. Rewards for these programs are sourced from, and
in some cases produced by, key suppliers in advance of the programs being offered based on expected demand. Following the
completion of each program, BrandLoyalty analyzes spending data to determine the grocer’s lift in market share and the
program’s return on investment.
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Card Services

Our Card Services segment assists some of the best known retailers in extending their brand with a private label and/or
co-brand credit card account that can be used by their customers in the store, or through online or catalog purchases. Our
partners benefit from customer insights and analytics, with each of our credit card branded programs tailored to our partner’s
brand and their unique card members.

Receivables Financing. Our Card Services segment provides risk management solutions, account origination and
funding services for our more than 160 private label and co-brand credit card programs. Through these credit card programs,
as of December 31, 2019, we had $18.4 billion in principal receivables from 40.5 million active accounts, with an average
balance for the year ended December 31, 2019 of approximately $811 for accounts with outstanding balances. L Brands and
its retail affiliates accounted for approximately 10% of our average credit card and loan receivables for the year ended
December 31, 2019. We process millions of credit card applications each year using automated proprietary scoring
technology and verification procedures to make risk-based origination decisions when approving new credit card
accountholders and establishing their credit limits. Credit quality is monitored at least monthly during the life of an account.
We augment these procedures with credit risk scores provided by credit bureaus. This information helps us segment
prospects into narrower risk ranges, allowing us to better evaluate individual credit risk.

Our accountholder base consists primarily of middle- to upper-income individuals, including women who use our credit
cards primarily as brand affinity tools. These accounts generally have lower average balances compared to balances on
general purpose credit cards. We focus our sales efforts on prime borrowers and do not target sub-prime borrowers.

We use securitization and deposit programs as principal funding vehicles for our credit card receivables. Securitizations
involve the packaging and selling of both current and future receivable balances of credit card accounts to a master trust,
which is a variable interest entity, or VIE. We have three master trusts that are consolidated in our financial statements.

Processing Services. We perform processing services and provide service and maintenance for private label and co-brand
credit card programs. We use automated technology for bill preparation, printing and mailing, and also offer consumers the
ability to view, print and pay their bills online. By doing so, we improve the funds availability for both our clients and for
those private label and co-brand credit card receivables that we own or securitize. We also provide collection activities on
delinquent accounts to support our private label and co-brand credit card programs. Our customer care operations are
influenced by our retail heritage and we view every customer touch point as an opportunity to generate or reinforce a sale.
Our call centers are equipped to handle a variety of inquiry types, including phone, mail, fax, email, text and web. We
provide focused training programs in all areas to achieve the highest possible customer service standards and monitor our
performance by conducting surveys with our clients and their customers. In 2019, for the fourteenth time since 2003, we
were certified as a Center of Excellence for the quality of our operations, the most prestigious ranking attainable, by
BenchmarkPortal. Founded by Purdue University in 1995, BenchmarkPortal is a global leader of best practices for call
centers.

Marketing Services. Our private label and co-brand credit card programs are designed specifically for retailers and have
the flexibility to be customized to accommodate our clients’ specific needs. Through our integrated marketing services, we
design and implement strategies that assist our clients in acquiring, retaining and managing valuable repeat customers. Our
credit card programs capture transaction data that we analyze to better understand consumer behavior and use to increase the
effectiveness of our clients’ marketing activities. We use multi-channel marketing communication tools, including in-store,
web, permission-based email, mobile messaging and direct mail to reach our clients’ customers.
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Disaster and Contingency Planning

We operate, either internally or through third-party service providers, multiple data processing centers to process and
store our customer transaction data. Given the significant amount of data that we or our third-party service providers manage,
much of which is real-time data to support our clients’ commerce initiatives, we have established redundant capabilities for
our data centers. We have a number of safeguards in place that are designed to protect us from data-related risks and in the
event of a disaster, to restore our data centers’ systems.

Protection of Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We rely on a combination of copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, confidentiality procedures, contractual
provisions and other similar measures to protect our proprietary information and technology used in each segment of our
business. We generally enter into confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, consultants and corporate
partners, and generally control access to and distribution of our technology, documentation and other proprietary information.
Despite the efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain the use of
our products or technology that we consider proprietary and third parties may attempt to develop similar technology
independently. We have a number of domestic and foreign patents and pending patent applications. We pursue registration
and protection of our trademarks primarily in the United States and Canada, although we also have either registered
trademarks or applications pending for certain marks in other countries. No individual patent or license is material to us or
our segments other than that we are the exclusive Canadian licensee of the AIR MILES family of trademarks pursuant to a
perpetual license agreement with Diversified Royalty Corp., for which we pay a royalty fee. We believe that the AIR MILES
family of trademarks and our other trademarks are important for our branding, corporate identification and marketing of our
services in each business segment.

Competition

The markets for our products and services are highly competitive. We compete with marketing services companies and
credit card issuers, as well as with the in-house staffs of our current and potential clients.

LoyaltyOne. As a provider of marketing services, our LoyaltyOne segment generally competes with advertising and
other promotional and loyalty programs, both traditional and online, for a portion of a client’s total marketing budget. In
addition, we compete against internally developed products and services created by our existing and potential clients. We
expect competition to intensify as more competitors enter our market. Competitors may target our sponsors, clients and
collectors as well as draw rewards from our rewards suppliers. Our ability to generate significant revenue from clients and
loyalty partners will depend on our ability to differentiate ourselves through the products and services we provide and the
attractiveness of our loyalty and rewards programs to consumers. The continued attractiveness of our loyalty and rewards
programs will also depend on our ability to remain affiliated with sponsors and suppliers that are desirable to consumers and
to offer rewards that are both attainable and attractive to consumers.

Card Services. Our Card Services segment competes primarily with financial institutions whose marketing focus has
been on developing credit card programs with large revolving balances. These competitors further drive their businesses by
cross-selling their other financial products to their cardholders. Our focus has primarily been on targeting specialty retailers
that understand the competitive advantage of developing loyal customers. Typically, these retailers seek customers that make
more frequent but smaller transactions at their retail locations. As a result, we are able to analyze card-based transaction data
we obtain through managing our credit card programs, including customer specific transaction data and overall consumer
spending patterns, to develop and implement successful marketing strategies for our clients. As an issuer of private label
retail credit cards and co-brand Visa®, MasterCard® and Discover® credit cards, we also compete with general purpose credit
cards issued by other financial institutions, as well as cash, checks and debit cards. As the payments industry continues to
evolve, in the future we expect increasing competition with emerging payment technologies from financial technology firms
and payment networks.
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Regulation

Federal and state laws and regulations extensively regulate the operations of our bank subsidiaries, Comenity Bank and
Comenity Capital Bank. Many of these laws and regulations are intended to maintain the safety and soundness of Comenity
Bank and Comenity Capital Bank, and they impose significant restraints to which other non-regulated companies are not
subject. Because Comenity Bank is deemed a credit card bank and Comenity Capital Bank is an industrial bank within the
meaning of the Bank Holding Company Act, we are not subject to regulation as a bank holding company. If we were subject
to regulation as a bank holding company, we would be constrained in our operations to a limited number of activities that are
closely related to banking or financial services in nature. As a state bank, Comenity Bank is subject to overlapping
supervision by the FDIC and the State of Delaware; as an industrial bank, Comenity Capital Bank is subject to overlapping
supervision by the FDIC and the State of Utah. Both Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank are under the supervision
of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or CFPB—a federal consumer protection regulator with authority to make
further changes to the federal consumer protection laws and regulations—who may, from time to time, conduct reviews of
their practices.

Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank must maintain minimum amounts of regulatory capital, including
maintenance of certain capital ratios, paid-in capital minimums, and an appropriate allowance for loan loss, as well as
meeting specific guidelines that involve measures and ratios of their assets, liabilities, regulatory capital and interest rate,
among other factors. If Comenity Bank or Comenity Capital Bank does not meet these capital requirements, their respective
regulators have broad discretion to institute a number of corrective actions that could have a direct material effect on our
financial statements. To pay any dividend, Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank must maintain adequate capital above
regulatory guidelines.

We are limited under Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act in the extent to which we can borrow or
otherwise obtain credit from or engage in other “covered transactions” with Comenity Bank or Comenity Capital Bank,
which may have the effect of limiting the extent to which Comenity Bank or Comenity Capital Bank can finance or
otherwise supply funds to us. “Covered transactions” include loans or extensions of credit, purchases of or investments in
securities, purchases of assets, including assets subject to an agreement to repurchase, acceptance of securities as collateral
for a loan or extension of credit, or the issuance of a guarantee, acceptance, or letter of credit. Although the applicable rules
do not serve as an outright bar on engaging in “covered transactions,” they do require that we engage in “covered
transactions” with Comenity Bank or Comenity Capital Bank only on terms and under circumstances that are substantially
the same, or at least as favorable to Comenity Bank or Comenity Capital Bank, as those prevailing at the time for comparable
transactions with nonaffiliated companies. Furthermore, with certain exceptions, each loan or extension of credit by
Comenity Bank or Comenity Capital Bank to us or our other affiliates must be secured by collateral with a market value
ranging from 100% to 130% of the amount of the loan or extension of credit, depending on the type of collateral.

We are required to monitor and report unusual or suspicious account activity as well as transactions involving amounts
in excess of prescribed limits under the Bank Secrecy Act, Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, rules, and other regulations.
Congress, the IRS and the bank regulators have focused their attention on banks’ monitoring and reporting of suspicious
activities. Additionally, Congress and the bank regulators have proposed, adopted or passed a number of new laws and
regulations that may increase reporting obligations of banks. We are also subject to numerous laws and regulations that are
intended to protect consumers, including state laws, the Truth in Lending Act, as amended by the Credit Card Accountability,
Responsibility and Disclosure Act of 2009, or the CARD Act, Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Fair Credit Reporting Act.
These laws and regulations mandate various disclosure requirements and regulate the manner in which we may interact with
consumers. These and other laws also limit finance charges or other fees or charges earned in our lending activities. We
conduct our operations in a manner that we believe excludes us from regulation as a consumer reporting agency under the
Fair Credit Reporting Act. If we were deemed a consumer reporting agency, however, we would be subject to a number of
additional complex regulatory requirements and restrictions.
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Data protection and consumer privacy laws and regulations continue to evolve. These laws and regulations place many
restrictions on our ability to collect and disseminate customer information. In addition, the enactment of new or amended
legislation or industry regulations pertaining to consumer, public or private sector privacy issues may impact our marketing
services, including placing restrictions upon the collection, sharing and use of information that is currently legally available.
There are also a number of specific laws and regulations governing the collection and use of certain types of consumer data
primarily in connection with financial services transactions that are relevant to our various businesses and services. In the
United States, federal laws such as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, or GLBA, and the Fair Credit Reporting Act, as amended
by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003, as well as similar and applicable state laws, make it more difficult
to collect, share and use information that has previously been legally available and may increase our costs of collecting some
data. These laws give bank customers, including cardholders and depositors, the ability to “opt out” of having certain
information generated by their applicable financial services transactions shared with other affiliated and unaffiliated parties
or the public. Our ability to gather, share and utilize this data will be adversely affected if a significant percentage of the
consumers whose purchasing behavior we track elect to “opt out,” thereby precluding us and our affiliates from using their
data.

In the United States, the federal Do-Not-Call Implementation Act makes it more difficult to telephonically communicate
with prospective and existing customers. Similar measures were implemented in Canada beginning September 1, 2008.
Regulations in both the United States and Canada give consumers the ability to “opt out,” through a national do-not-call
registry and state do-not-call registries, of having telephone solicitations placed to them by companies that do not have an
existing business relationship with the consumer. In addition, regulations require companies to maintain an internal do-not-
call list for those who do not want the companies to solicit them through telemarketing. These regulations could limit our
ability to provide services and information to our clients. Failure to comply with these regulations could have a negative
impact on our reputation and subject us to significant penalties. Further, the Federal Communications Commission has
approved interpretations of rules related to the Telephone Consumer Protection Act defining robo-calls broadly, which may
affect our ability to contact customers and may increase our litigation exposure.

In the United States, the federal Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003
restricts our ability to send commercial electronic mail messages, the primary purpose of which is advertising or promoting a
commercial product or service, to our customers and prospective customers. The act requires that a commercial electronic
mail message provide the customers with an opportunity to opt-out from receiving future commercial electronic mail
messages from the sender.

In the United States, California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, which went into effect on
January 1, 2020. The CCPA creates new individual privacy rights for California consumers and places increased privacy and
security obligations on entities handling certain personal data of consumers and households. The CCPA includes new and
expanded disclosure requirements to consumers about companies’ data collection, use and sharing practices; provides
consumers new ways to opt-out of certain sales or transfers of personal information; and provides consumers with additional
causes of action. The CCPA prohibits companies from discriminating against consumers who have opted out of the sale of
their personal information, subject to a narrow exception. The CCPA provides for certain monetary penalties and for
enforcement of the statute by the California Attorney General or by consumers whose rights under the law are not observed.
It also provides for damages, as well as injunctive or declaratory relief, if there has been unauthorized access, theft or
disclosure of personal information due to failure to implement reasonable security procedures. The CCPA contains several
exemptions, including a provision to the effect that the CCPA does not apply where the information is collected, processed,
sold or disclosed pursuant to the GLBA if the GLBA is in conflict with the CCPA. It remains unclear what, if any,
modifications will be made to the CCPA or how it will be interpreted.

Further, many other state governments are reviewing or proposing the need for greater regulation of the collection,
processing, sharing and use of consumer data for marketing purposes or otherwise. This may result in new laws or
regulations imposing additional compliance requirements.
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In Canada, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, or PIPEDA, requires an organization to
obtain a consumer’s consent to collect, use or disclose personal information. Under this act, consumer personal information
may be used only for the purposes for which it was collected. We allow our customers to voluntarily “opt out” from receiving
either one or both promotional and marketing mail or promotional and marketing electronic mail. Heightened consumer
awareness of, and concern about, privacy may result in customers “opting out” at higher rates than they have historically.
This would mean that a reduced number of customers would receive bonus and promotional offers and therefore those
customers may collect fewer AIR MILES reward miles.

Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation, or CASL, may restrict our ability to send “commercial electronic messages,” defined
to include text, sound, voice and image messages to email, or similar accounts, where the primary purpose is advertising or
promoting a commercial product or service to our customers and prospective customers. CASL requires, in part, that a sender
have consent to send a commercial electronic message, and provide the customers with an opportunity to opt out from
receiving future commercial electronic email messages from the sender.

On May 25, 2018, The General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, a European Union-wide legal framework to
govern data collection, use and sharing and related consumer privacy rights came into force. The GDPR replaced the
European Union Directive 95/46/EC and applies to and binds the 27 EU Member States. The GDPR details greater
compliance obligations on organizations, including the implementation of a number of processes and policies around data
collection and use. These, and other terms of the GDPR, could limit our ability to provide services and information to our
customers. In addition, the GDPR includes significant new penalties for non-compliance.

In general, GDPR, and other European Union and Member State specific privacy and data governance laws, could also
lead to adaptation of our technologies or practices to satisfy local privacy requirements and standards that may be more
stringent than in the U.S. Similarly, it is possible that in the future, U.S. and foreign jurisdictions may adopt legislation or
regulations that impair our ability to effectively track consumers’ use of our advertising services, such as the FTC’s proposed
“Do-Not-Track” standard or other legislation or regulations similar to EU Directive 2009/136/EC, commonly referred to as
the “Cookie Directive,” which directs EU Member States to ensure that accessing information on an internet user’s computer,
such as through a cookie, is allowed only if the internet user has given his or her consent. On January 31, 2020, the United
Kingdom left the European Union and entered into a Brexit transition period. During this period, which runs until the end of
December 2020, the GDPR will continue to apply to the United Kingdom. It is not yet known what the data protection
landscape will look like at the end of the transition period.

There is also rapid development of new privacy laws and regulations elsewhere around the globe, including amendments
of existing data protection laws to the scope of such laws and penalties for noncompliance. Failure to comply with these
international data protection laws and regulations could have a negative impact on our reputation and subject us to significant
penalties.

While all 50 U.S. states and the District of Columbia have enacted data breach notification laws, there is no such U.S.
federal law generally applicable to our businesses. Data breach notification legislation and regulations relating to mandatory
reporting came into force in Canada on November 1, 2018. Data breach notification laws have been proposed widely and
exist in other specific countries and jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Legislative and regulatory measures, such as
mandatory breach notification provisions, impose, among other elements, strict requirements on reporting time frames and
providing notice to individuals.

We also have systems and processes to comply with the USA PATRIOT ACT of 2001, which is designed to deter and
punish terrorist acts in the United States and around the world, to enhance law enforcement investigatory tools, and for other
purposes.

Ontario’s Protecting Rewards Points Act (Consumer Protection Amendment), 2016, and additional related regulations
effective January 2018, prohibit suppliers from entering into or amending consumer agreements to provide for the expiry of
rewards points due to the passage of time alone, while permitting the expiry of rewards points if the underlying consumer
agreement is terminated and that agreement provides that reward points expire upon termination. Similar legislation
pertaining to the expiry of rewards points due to the passage of time alone was passed in Quebec in 2017, with regulations
taking effect in 2018 and 2019.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2019, we had over 8,500 employees. We believe our relations with our employees are good. We
have no collective bargaining agreements with our employees.

Other Information

Our corporate headquarters are located at 3075 Loyalty Circle, Columbus, Ohio 43219, where our telephone number is
614-729-4000.

We file or furnish annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our SEC
filings are available to the public at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. You may also obtain copies of our annual, quarterly
and current reports, proxy statements and certain other information filed or furnished with the SEC, as well as amendments
thereto, free of charge from our website, www.AllianceData.com. No information from this website is incorporated by
reference herein. These documents are posted to our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we have filed or
furnished these documents with the SEC. We post our audit committee, compensation committee and nominating and
corporate governance committee charters, our corporate governance guidelines, and our code of ethics, code of ethics for
Senior Financial Officers, and code of ethics for Board Members on our website. These documents are available free of
charge to any stockholder upon request.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
RISK FACTORS

Strategic Business Risk and Competitive Environment

Our 10 largest clients represented 44% and 41%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the loss of any of these clients could cause a significant drop in our revenue.

We depend on a limited number of large clients for a significant portion of our consolidated revenue. Our 10 largest
clients represented approximately 44% and 41%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue during the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018. L Brands and its retail affiliates represented approximately 11% of our consolidated revenue
during both of these same respective periods. A decrease in revenue from any of our significant clients for any reason,
including a decrease in pricing or activity, or a decision either to utilize another service provider or to no longer outsource
some or all of the services we provide, could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated revenue. For example, the
contract for one of our 10 largest clients, representing approximately 3% of our consolidated revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2019, is effective through September 2020 and is not expected to renew.

Card Services. Card Services represents 81% of our consolidated revenue for both of the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. Our 10 largest clients in this segment represented approximately 54% and 49%, respectively, of
our Card Services revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. L Brands and its retail affiliates represented
approximately 13% of this segment’s revenue for both of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our
contract with L Brands and its retail affiliates expires in 2026, subject to contract terms.

LoyaltyOne. LoyaltyOne represents 19% of our consolidated revenue for both of the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively. Our 10 largest clients in this segment represented approximately 54% and 56%, respectively, of our
LoyaltyOne revenue on a gross basis for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. Bank of Montreal represented
approximately 19% of this segment’s revenue on a gross basis for both of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Sobeys Inc. and its retail affiliates represented approximately 12% of this segment’s revenue on a gross basis for
both of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our contract with Bank of Montreal expires in 2023,
subject to further automatic renewals. Our contract with Sobeys Inc. and its retail affiliates expires in 2024, subject to
contract terms.

We expect growth in our Card Services segment to result from new and acquired credit card programs whose credit card
receivables performance could result in increased portfolio losses and negatively impact our profitability.

We expect an important source of growth in our credit card operations to come from the acquisition of existing credit
card programs and initiating credit card programs with retailers and others who do not currently offer a private label or co-
brand credit card. Although we believe our pricing and models for determining credit risk are designed to evaluate the credit
risk of existing programs and the credit risk we are willing to assume for acquired and start-up programs, we cannot be
assured that the loss experience on acquired and start-up programs will be consistent with our more established programs.
The failure to successfully underwrite these credit card programs may result in defaults greater than our expectations and
could have a material adverse impact on us and our profitability.

Increases in net charge-offs could have a negative impact on our net income and profitability.

The primary risk associated with unsecured consumer lending is the risk of default or bankruptcy of the borrower,
resulting in the borrower’s balance being charged-off as uncollectible. We rely principally on the customer’s creditworthiness
for repayment of the loan and therefore have no other recourse for collection. We may not be able to successfully identify
and evaluate the creditworthiness of cardholders to minimize delinquencies and losses. An increase in defaults or net charge-
offs could result in a reduction in net income. General economic factors, such as the rate of inflation, unemployment levels
and interest rates, may result in greater delinquencies that lead to greater credit losses. In addition to being affected by
general economic conditions and the success of our collection and recovery efforts, the stability of our delinquency and net
charge-off rates are affected by the credit risk of our credit card and loan receivables and the average age of our various
credit card account portfolios. Further, our pricing strategy may not offset the negative impact on profitability caused by
increases in delinquencies and losses, thus any material increases in delinquencies and losses beyond our current estimates
could have a material adverse impact on us. For 2019, our net
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charge-off rate was 6.1%, compared to 6.1% and 6.0% for 2018 and 2017, respectively. Delinquency rates were 5.8% of
principal credit card and loan receivables at December 31, 2019, compared to 5.7% and 5.1% at December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

A new accounting standard will require us to increase our allowance for loan loss and may have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board has adopted a new accounting standard that became effective for us January
1, 2020. This standard, referred to as Current Expected Credit Loss, or CECL, requires us to determine periodic estimates of
lifetime expected credit losses on loans, and recognize the expected credit losses as allowances for loan loss. The adoption of
this standard resulted in an increase in our allowance for loan loss of $644.0 million. For additional information regarding the
impact of the adoption of CECL, see “Recently Issued Accounting Standards” under Note 2, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The ongoing impact of CECL will be significantly
influenced by the composition, characteristics and quality of our credit card and loan portfolio, as well as the prevailing
economic conditions and forecasts utilized. The CECL model may create more volatility in the level of our allowance for
loan loss. If we are required to materially increase our level of allowance for loan loss, such increase could adversely affect
or our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to identify suitable acquisitions, dispositions or new business opportunities, or to effectively integrate the
businesses we acquire or disaggregate the businesses we divest, it could negatively affect our business.

Historically, we have engaged in a significant number of acquisitions, and those acquisitions have contributed to our
growth in revenue and profitability. We believe that acquisitions and the identification and pursuit of new business
opportunities will be a key component of our continued growth strategy. However, we may not be able to locate and secure
future acquisition candidates or to identify and implement new business opportunities on terms and conditions that are
acceptable to us. If we are unable to identify attractive acquisition candidates or successful new business opportunities, our
growth could be impaired.

Similarly, we may evaluate the potential disposition of, or elect to divest, assets or businesses that no longer complement
our long-term strategic objectives. When a determination is made to sell assets or businesses, we may encounter difficulty
attaining buyers or effecting desired exit strategies in a timely manner or on acceptable terms and may be subject to market
forces leading to a divestiture on less than optimal price or other terms.

In addition, there are numerous risks associated with acquisitions, dispositions and the implementation of new
businesses, including, but not limited to:

the difficulty and expense that we incur in connection with the acquisition, disposition or new business opportunity;

the inability to satisfy pre-closing conditions preventing consummation of the acquisition, disposition or new
business opportunity;

the potential for adverse consequences when conforming the acquired company’s accounting policies to ours;
the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

the potential loss of customers or key employees of the acquired company;

the impact on our financial condition due to the timing of the acquisition, disposition or new business
implementation or the failure of the acquired or new business to meet operating expectations;

e the acceptance of continued financial responsibility with respect to a divested business, including required equity
ownership, guarantees, indemnities or other financial obligations;

the assumption of unknown liabilities of the acquired company;

e the uncertainty of achieving expected benefits of an acquisition or disposition, including revenue, human resources,
technological or other cost savings, operating efficiencies or synergies;

e the reduction of cash available for operations, stock repurchase programs or other uses and potentially dilutive
issuances of equity securities or incurrence of debt;

e the requirement to provide transition services in connection with a disposition resulting in the diversion of resources
and focus; and

e the difficulty retaining and motivating key personnel from acquisitions or in connection with dispositions.
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For example, upon the sale of the Epsilon segment in July 2019, we have agreed to indemnify Publicis Groupe S.A. for
the matter included in Note 18, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. If
adversely determined, the financial impact of our indemnification obligation may be substantial.

Furthermore, if the operations of an acquired or new business do not meet expectations, our profitability may decline
and we may seek to restructure the acquired business or to impair the value of some or all of the assets of the acquired or new
business.

If actual redemptions by AIR MILES Reward Program collectors are greater than expected, or if the costs related to
redemption of AIR MILES reward miles increase, our profitability could be adversely affected.

A portion of our revenue is based on our estimate of the number of AIR MILES reward miles that will go unused by the
collector base. The percentage of AIR MILES reward miles not expected to be redeemed is known as “breakage.”

Breakage is based on management’s estimate after viewing and analyzing various historical trends including vintage
analysis, current run rates and other pertinent factors, such as the impact of macroeconomic factors and changes in the
program structure, the introduction of new program options and changes to rewards offered. Any significant change in or
failure by management to reasonably estimate breakage, or if actual redemptions are greater than our estimates, our
profitability could be adversely affected.

Our AIR MILES Reward Program also exposes us to risks arising from potentially increasing reward costs. Our
profitability could be adversely affected if costs related to redemption of AIR MILES reward miles increase. A 10% increase
in the cost of redemptions would have resulted in a decrease in pre-tax income of $31.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2019.

The loss of our most active AIR MILES Reward Program collectors could adversely affect our growth and profitability.

Our most active AIR MILES Reward Program collectors drive a disproportionately large percentage of our AIR MILES
Reward Program revenue. The loss of a significant portion of these collectors, for any reason, could impact our ability to
generate significant revenue from sponsors. The continued attractiveness of our loyalty and rewards programs will depend in
large part on our ability to remain affiliated with sponsors that are desirable to collectors and to offer rewards that are both
attainable and attractive.

Airline or travel industry disruptions, such as an airline insolvency, could negatively affect the AIR MILES Reward
Program, our revenues and profitability.

Air travel is one of the appeals of the AIR MILES Reward Program to collectors. If one of our existing airline suppliers
sharply reduces its fleet capacity and route network, we may not be able to satisfy our collectors’ demands for airline tickets.
Tickets or other travel arrangements, if available, could be more expensive than a comparable airline ticket under our current
supply agreements with existing suppliers, and the routes offered by other airlines or travel services may be inadequate,
inconvenient or undesirable to the redeeming collectors. As a result, we may experience higher air travel redemption costs,
and collector satisfaction with the AIR MILES Reward Program might be adversely affected.

As aresult of airline or travel industry disruptions, including, but not limited to, the current impacts of COVID-19,
political instability, terrorist acts or war, some collectors could determine that air travel is too dangerous or burdensome.
Consequently, collectors might forego redeeming AIR MILES reward miles for air travel and therefore might not participate
in the AIR MILES Reward Program to the extent they previously did, which could adversely affect our revenue from the
program.

The markets for the services that we offer may contract or fail to expand which could negatively impact our growth and
profitability.

Our growth and continued profitability depend on acceptance of the services that we offer. Our clients may not continue
to use the loyalty and targeted marketing strategies and programs that we offer. Changes in technology may
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enable merchants and retail companies to directly process transactions in a cost-efficient manner without the use of our
services. Additionally, downturns in the economy or the performance of retailers may result in a decrease in the demand for
our marketing strategies. Any decrease in the demand for our services for the reasons discussed above or any other reasons
could have a material adverse effect on our growth, revenue and operating results.

We may be unable to realize some or all of the anticipated benefits of restructuring initiatives and restructuring may
adversely affect our business.

In response to changes in industry and market conditions, we may undertake restructuring, reorganization, or other
strategic initiatives to realign our resources with our growth strategies, operate more efficiently, and control costs. The
successful implementation of these initiatives may require us to effect business and asset dispositions, workforce reductions,
management restructurings, decisions to limit investments in or otherwise exit businesses, office consolidations and closures,
and other actions, each of which depend on a number of factors that may not be within our control.

Any such effort to realign the organization may result in the recording of restructuring or other charges, such as asset
impairment charges, contract and lease termination costs, inventory write-offs, exit costs, termination benefits, and other
restructuring costs. Further, as a result of restructuring initiatives, we may experience a loss of continuity, loss of
accumulated knowledge and/or inefficiency, adverse effects on employee morale, loss of key employees and/or other
retention issues during transitional periods. Reorganization and restructuring can impact a significant amount of management
and other employees’ time and focus, which may divert attention from operating and growing our business.

We have undertaken, and may undertake in the future, restructuring initiatives to simplify our business structure as well
as focus capital on the highest earning and growth assets. The implementation of any restructuring initiatives may be costly
and disruptive to our business, and following their completion, our business may not be more efficient or effective than prior
to implementation of the plan. Although designed to deliver long-term sustainable growth, our restructuring activities,
including any related charges, could present significant potential risks that may impair our ability to achieve anticipated
operating enhancements or cost reductions, or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, competitive position,
operating results, and financial condition. For more information about our restructuring initiatives taken in 2019, see Note
14, “Restructuring and Other Charges” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Competition in our industries is intense and we expect it to intensify.

The markets for our products and services are highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify in each of those
markets. Some of our current competitors have longer operating histories, stronger brand names and greater financial,
technical, marketing and other resources than we do. Certain of our segments also compete against in-house staffs of our
current clients and others or internally developed products and services by our current clients and others. Our ability to
generate significant revenue from clients and partners will depend on our ability to differentiate ourselves through the
products and services we provide and the attractiveness of our programs to consumers. We may not be able to continue to
compete successfully against our current and potential competitors.

Liquidity, Market and Credit Risk

If we are unable to securitize our credit card receivables due to changes in the market, we may not be able to fund new
credit card receivables, which would have a negative impact on our operations and profitability.

A number of factors affect our ability to fund our receivables in the securitization market, some of which are beyond our
control, including:

e conditions in the securities markets in general and the asset-backed securitization market in particular;

conformity in the quality of our credit card receivables to rating agency requirements and changes in that quality or
those requirements; and

e ability to fund required overcollateralizations or credit enhancements, which are routinely utilized in order to
achieve better credit ratings to lower borrowing cost.
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In addition, on August 27, 2014, the SEC adopted a number of rules that will change the disclosure, reporting and
offering process for publicly registered offerings of asset-backed securities, including those offered under our credit card
securitization program. The adopted rules finalize rules that were originally proposed on April 7, 2010 and re-proposed on
July 26, 2011. A number of rules proposed by the SEC in 2010 and 2011, such as requiring group-level data for the
underlying assets in credit card securitizations, were not adopted in the final rulemaking but may be adopted by the SEC in
the future with or without further modifications. The adoption of further rules affecting disclosure, reporting and the offering
process for publicly registered offerings of asset-backed securities may impact our ability or desire to issue asset-backed
securities in the future.

Regulations adopted by the FDIC, the SEC, the Federal Reserve and certain other federal regulators mandate a minimum
five percent risk retention requirement for securitizations issued on and after December 24, 2016. Such risk retention
requirements may limit our liquidity by restricting the amount of asset-backed securities we are able to issue or affecting the
timing of future issuances of asset-backed securities; we intend to satisfy such risk retention requirements by maintaining a
seller’s interest calculated in accordance with Regulation RR.

Early amortization events may occur as a result of certain adverse events specified for each asset-backed securitization
transaction, including, among others, deteriorating asset performance or material servicing defaults. In addition, certain series
of funding notes issued by our securitization trusts are subject to early amortization based on triggers relating to the
bankruptcy of one or more retailers. Deteriorating economic conditions and increased competition in the retail industry,
among other factors, may lead to an increase in bankruptcies among retailers who have entered into credit card programs
with us. The bankruptcy of one or more retailers could lead to a decline in the amount of new receivables and could lead to
increased delinquencies and defaults on the associated receivables. Any of these effects of a retailer bankruptcy could result
in the commencement of an early amortization for one or more series of such funding securities, particularly if such an event
were to occur with respect to a retailer relating to a large percentage of such securitization trust’s assets. The occurrence of an
early amortization event may significantly limit our ability to securitize additional receivables.

As aresult of Basel III, which refers generally to a set of regulatory reforms adopted in the U.S. and internationally that
are meant to address issues that arose in the banking sector during the recent financial crisis, banks are becoming subject to
more stringent capital, liquidity and leverage requirements. In response to Basel III, investors of our securitization trusts’
funding securities have sought and obtained amendments to their respective transaction documents permitting them to delay
disbursement of funding increases by up to 35 days. Although funding may be requested from other investors who have not
delayed their funding, access to financing could be disrupted if all of the investors implement such delays or if the lending
capacities of those who did not do so were insufficient to make up the shortfall. In addition, excess spread may be affected if
the issuing entity’s borrowing costs increase as a result of Basel III. Such cost increases may result, for example, because the
investors are entitled to indemnification for increased costs resulting from such regulatory changes.

The inability to securitize card receivables due to changes in the market, regulatory proposals, the unavailability of credit
enhancements, or any other circumstance or event would have a material adverse effect on our operations and profitability.

Inability to grow our deposits in the future could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, ability to grow our
business and profitability.

We obtain deposits directly from retail and commercial customers or through brokerage firms that offer our deposit
products to their customers. Our funding strategy includes continued growth of our liquidity through deposits. The deposit
business is highly competitive, with intense competition in attracting and retaining deposits. We compete on the basis of the
rates we pay on deposits, the quality of our customer service and the competitiveness of our digital banking capabilities. Our
ability to originate and maintain retail deposits is also highly dependent on the strength of our bank subsidiaries and the
perceptions of consumers and others of our business practices and our financial health. Adverse perceptions regarding our
lending practices, regulatory compliance, protection of customer information or sales and marketing practices, or actions
taken by regulators or others with respect to our bank subsidiaries, could impede our competitive position in the deposits
market.

The demand for the deposit products we offer may also be reduced due to a variety of factors, including changes in
consumers’ preferences, demographics or discretionary income, regulatory actions that decrease consumer access to
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particular products or the development or availability of competing products. Competition from other financial services firms
and others that use deposit funding products may affect deposit renewal rates, costs or availability. Adjustments we make to
the rates offered on our deposit products to remain competitive may adversely affect either our liquidity or our profitability.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Act, or FDIA, prohibits an insured bank from accepting brokered deposits or offering
interest rates on any deposits significantly higher than the prevailing rate in the bank’s normal market area or nationally
(depending upon where the deposits are solicited), unless it is “well capitalized,” or it is “adequately capitalized” and
receives a waiver from the FDIC. A bank that is “adequately capitalized” and accepts brokered deposits under a waiver from
the FDIC may not pay an interest rate on any deposit in excess of 75 basis points over certain prevailing market rates. There
are no such restrictions under the FDIA on a bank that is “well capitalized” and at December 31, 2019, each of our bank
subsidiaries met or exceeded all applicable requirements to be deemed “well capitalized” for purposes of the FDIA.
However, there can be no assurance that our bank subsidiaries will continue to meet those requirements. Limitations on our
bank subsidiaries’ ability to accept brokered deposits for any reason (including regulatory limitations on the amount of
brokered deposits in total or as a percentage of total assets) in the future could materially adversely impact our liquidity,
funding costs and profitability. Any limitation on the interest rates our bank subsidiaries can pay on deposits may
competitively disadvantage us in attracting and retaining deposits, resulting in a material adverse effect on our business.

At December 31, 2019, we had $12.2 billion in deposits, with approximately $3.6 billion in money market deposits that
are redeemable on demand and approximately $8.6 billion in certificates of deposit.

Our level of indebtedness could materially adversely affect our ability to generate sufficient cash to repay our outstanding
debt, our ability to react to changes in our business and our ability to incur additional indebtedness to fund future needs.

We have a high level of indebtedness, which requires a high level of interest and principal payments. Subject to the
limits contained in our credit agreement, the indentures governing our senior notes and our other debt instruments, we may
be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness from time to time to finance working capital, capital expenditures,
investments or acquisitions, or for other purposes. If we do so, the risks related to our level of indebtedness could intensify.
Our level of indebtedness increases the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay, when due, the
principal of, interest on or other amounts due in respect of our indebtedness. Our higher level of indebtedness, combined with
our other financial obligations and contractual commitments, could:

e make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, and any failure to comply
with the obligations under any of our debt instruments, including restrictive covenants, could result in an event of
default under our credit agreement, the indentures governing our senior notes and the agreements governing our
other indebtedness;

e require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness,
thereby reducing funds available for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other corporate
purposes;

e increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions, which could place us at a competitive
disadvantage;

e limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industries in which we operate;

e limit our ability to borrow additional funds, or to dispose of assets to raise funds, if needed, for working capital,
capital expenditures, acquisitions and other corporate purposes;
delay investments and capital expenditures;
cause any refinancing of our indebtedness to be at higher interest rates and require us to comply with more onerous
covenants, which could further restrict our business operations; and

e prevent us from raising the funds necessary to repurchase all notes tendered to us upon the occurrence of certain
changes of control.
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Restrictions imposed by the indenture governing our senior notes, our credit agreement and our other outstanding or
future indebtedness may limit our ability to operate our business and to finance our future operations or capital needs or
to engage in other business activities.

The terms of the indenture governing our senior notes, our credit agreement and agreements governing our other debt
instruments limit us and our subsidiaries from engaging in specified types of transactions. These covenants limit our and our
subsidiaries’ ability, among other things, to:

incur additional debt;

declare or pay dividends, redeem stock or make other distributions to stockholders;
make investments;

create liens or use assets as security in other transactions;

merge or consolidate, or sell, transfer, lease or dispose of substantially all of our assets;
enter into transactions with affiliates;

sell or transfer certain assets; and

enter into any consensual encumbrance or restriction on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or
make loans or sell assets to us.

As a result of these covenants and restrictions, we may be limited in how we conduct our business and we may be unable
to raise additional indebtedness to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. The terms of any
future indebtedness we may incur could include more restrictive covenants. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
maintain compliance with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtain waivers from
the lenders and/or amend the covenants.

Interest rate increases on our variable rate debt could materially adversely affect our profitability.

We have both fixed-rate and variable-rate debt, and are subject to interest rate risk in connection with the issuance of
variable-rate debt. Our interest expense, net was $569.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, treating our former
Epsilon segment as a discontinued operation. To manage our risk from market interest rates, we actively monitor the interest
rates and the interest sensitive components to minimize the impact that changes in interest rates have on the fair value of
assets, net income and cash flow. In 2019, a 1% increase or decrease in interest rates on our variable-rate debt would have
resulted in a change to our interest expense of approximately $83 million.

Our variable-rate indebtedness bears interest at fluctuating interest rates, primarily based on the London interbank
offered rate (LIBOR) for deposits of U.S. dollars. LIBOR tends to fluctuate based on multiple factors, including general
short-term interest rates, rates set by the U.S. Federal Reserve and other central banks, the supply of and demand for credit in
the London interbank market and general economic conditions. At this time, we have not hedged our interest rate exposure
with respect to our floating rate debt. Accordingly, our interest expense for any particular period will fluctuate based on
LIBOR and other variable interest rates.

On July 27, 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced that it intends
to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. It is unclear whether new methods of
calculating LIBOR will be established or if LIBOR continues to exist after 2021. The U.S. Federal Reserve, in conjunction
with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, is considering replacing U.S. dollar LIBOR with a newly created index.
These changes may have a negative impact on our interest expense and profitability.

Future sales of our common stock, or the perception that future sales could occur, may adversely affect our common
stock price.

As of February 20, 2020, we had an aggregate of 79,212,386 shares of our common stock authorized but unissued and
not reserved for specific purposes. In general, we may issue all of these shares without any action or approval by our
stockholders. We have reserved 6,573,861 shares of our common stock for issuance under our employee stock purchase plan
and our long-term incentive plans, of which 1,278,642 shares have been issued and 596,822 shares are issuable upon vesting
of restricted stock awards and restricted stock units. We have reserved for issuance 1,500,000 shares of our common stock,
462,101 of which remain issuable, under our 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan as of December 31, 2019. In addition, we
may pursue acquisitions of competitors and related businesses and may issue shares of our
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common stock in connection with these acquisitions. Sales or issuances of a substantial number of shares of common stock,
or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock, and any
sale or issuance of our common stock will dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile and our stock price could decline.

The trading price of shares of our common stock has from time to time fluctuated widely and in the future may be
subject to similar fluctuations. The trading price of our common stock may be affected by a number of factors, including our
operating results, changes in our earnings estimates, additions or departures of key personnel, our financial condition,
legislative and regulatory changes, general conditions in the industries in which we operate, general economic conditions,
and general conditions in the securities markets. Other risks described in this report could also materially and adversely affect
our share price.

There is no guarantee that we will pay future dividends or repurchase shares at a level anticipated by stockholders, which
could reduce returns to our stockholders. Decisions to declare future dividends on, or repurchase, our common stock will
be at the discretion of our Board of Directors based upon a review of relevant considerations.

Since October 2016, our Board of Directors has declared quarterly cash dividend payments on our outstanding common
stock. Future declarations of quarterly dividends and the establishment of future record and payment dates are subject to
approval by our Board of Directors. Since 2001, our Board of Directors has approved various share repurchase programs,
including the share repurchase program approved in July 2019 for the repurchase of up to $1.1 billion of our common stock
through June 30, 2020. The Board’s determination to declare dividends on, or repurchase shares of, our common stock will
depend upon our profitability and financial condition, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and
other factors that the board deems relevant. Based on an evaluation of these factors, the Board of Directors may determine
not to declare future dividends at all, to declare future dividends at a reduced amount, not to repurchase shares or to
repurchase shares at reduced levels compared to historical levels, any or all of which could reduce returns to our
stockholders.

Our reported financial information will be affected by fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and
certain foreign currencies.

The results of our operations are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. We are exposed primarily to fluctuations
in the exchange rate between the U.S. and Canadian dollars and the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the
Euro. Upon translation, operating results may differ from our expectations. For the year ended December 31, 2019, foreign
currency movements relative to the U.S. dollar negatively impacted our revenue by approximately $45 million and
negatively impacted our income from continuing operations before income taxes by approximately $1 million.

Regulatory Environment

Current and proposed regulation and legislation relating to our card services could limit our business activities, product
offerings and fees charged and may have a significant impact on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), among other things,
includes a sweeping reform of the regulation and supervision of financial institutions, as well as of the regulation of
derivatives and capital market activities.

The full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act is not yet known because some of the final implementing regulations have not
yet been issued by the requisite federal agencies. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act mandates multiple studies, which could
result in future legislative or regulatory action. In particular, the Government Accountability Office issued its study on
whether it is necessary, in order to strengthen the safety and soundness of institutions or the stability of the financial system
of the United States, to eliminate the exemptions to the definition of “bank” under the Bank Holding Company Act for
certain institutions including limited purpose credit card banks and industrial loan companies. The study did not recommend
the elimination of these exemptions. However, if legislation were enacted to eliminate these exemptions without any
grandfathering of or accommodations for existing institutions, we could be required to become a
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bank holding company and cease certain of our activities that are not permissible for bank holding companies or divest our
credit card bank subsidiary, Comenity Bank, or our industrial bank subsidiary, Comenity Capital Bank.

The Dodd-Frank Act created the CFPB, a federal consumer protection regulator with authority to make further changes
to the federal consumer protection laws and regulations. The CFPB assumed rulemaking authority under the existing federal
consumer financial protection laws, and enforces those laws against and examines certain non-depository institutions and
insured depository institutions with total assets greater than $10 billion and their affiliates.

Since October 2016, both Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank are under the CFPB’s supervision and the CFPB
may, from time to time, conduct reviews of their practices. In addition, the CFPB’s broad rulemaking authority is expected to
impact their operations, including with respect to deferred interest products. For example, the CFPB’s rulemaking authority
may allow it to change regulations adopted in the past by other regulators including regulations issued under the Truth in
Lending Act by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. The CFPB’s ability to rescind, modify or interpret
past regulatory guidance could increase our compliance costs and litigation exposure. Further, the CFPB has broad authority
to prevent “unfair, deceptive or abusive” acts or practices and has taken enforcement action against other credit card issuers
and financial services companies. Evolution of these standards could result in changes to pricing, practices, procedures and
other activities relating to our credit card accounts in ways that could reduce the associated return. While the CFPB has taken
public positions on certain matters, it is unclear what additional changes may be promulgated by the CFPB and what effect, if
any, such changes would have on our credit accounts.

The Dodd-Frank Act authorizes certain state officials to enforce regulations issued by the CFPB and to enforce the
Dodd-Frank Act’s general prohibition against unfair, deceptive or abusive practices. To the extent that states enact
requirements that differ from federal standards or courts adopt interpretations of federal consumer laws that differ from those
adopted by the federal banking agencies, we may be required to alter products or services offered in some jurisdictions or
cease offering products, which will increase compliance costs and reduce our ability to offer the same products and services
to consumers nationwide.

Various federal and state laws and regulations significantly limit the retail credit card services activities in which we are
permitted to engage. Such laws and regulations, among other things, limit the fees and other charges that we can impose on
consumers, limit or proscribe certain other terms of our products and services, require specified disclosures to consumers, or
require that we maintain certain licenses, qualifications and minimum capital levels. In some cases, the precise application of
these statutes and regulations is not clear. In addition, numerous legislative and regulatory proposals are advanced each year
which, if adopted, could have a material adverse effect on our profitability or further restrict the manner in which we conduct
our activities. The CARD Act, as implemented by regulations issued under the Truth in Lending Act, acts to limit or modify
certain credit card practices and requires increased disclosures to consumers. The credit card practices addressed by the rules
include, but are not limited to, restrictions on the application of rate increases to existing and new balances, payment
allocation, default pricing, imposition of late fees and two-cycle billing. The failure to comply with, or adverse changes in,
the laws or regulations to which our business is subject, or adverse changes in their interpretation, could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to collect our receivables and generate fees on the receivables, thereby adversely affecting our
profitability.

In the normal course of business, from time to time, Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank have been named as
defendants in various legal actions, including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation arising in connection with their
business activities. While historically the arbitration provision in each bank’s customer agreement has generally limited such
bank’s exposure to consumer class action litigation, there can be no assurance that the banks will be successful in enforcing
the arbitration clause in the future. There may also be legislative, administrative or regulatory efforts to directly or indirectly
prohibit the use of pre-dispute arbitration clauses.

Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank are also involved, from time to time, in reviews, investigations, and
proceedings (both formal and informal) by governmental agencies regarding the banks’ business, which could subject the
banks to significant fines, penalties, obligations to change its business practices or other requirements. In September 2015,
each bank entered into a consent order with the FDIC in settlement of the FDIC’s review regarding the marketing, promotion
and sale of certain add-on products; these consent orders were terminated in August 2018.

The effect of the Dodd-Frank Act on our business and operations, which will depend upon final implementing
regulations, the actions of our competitors, the behavior of other marketplace participants and its interpretation and
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enforcement by federal or state officials or regulators, could be significant. In addition, we may be required to invest
significant management time and resources to address the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act and the regulations that are
required to be issued under it. The Dodd-Frank Act and any related legislation or regulations and their interpretation and
enforcement may have a material impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Legislation relating to consumer privacy and security may affect our ability to collect data that we use in providing our
loyalty and marketing services, which, among other things, could negatively affect our ability to satisfy our clients’ needs.

The evolution of legal standards and regulations around data protection and consumer privacy may affect our business.
The enactment of new or amended legislation or industry regulations pertaining to consumer, public or private sector privacy
issues could have a material adverse impact on our marketing services, including placing restrictions upon the collection,
sharing and use of information that is currently legally available. This, in turn, could materially increase our cost of
collecting certain data. These types of legislation or industry regulations could also prohibit us from collecting or
disseminating certain types of data, which could adversely affect our ability to meet our clients’ requirements and our
profitability and cash flow targets. In addition to the United States, Canadian and European Union regulations discussed
below, we have expanded our marketing services through the acquisition of companies formed and operating in foreign
jurisdictions that may be subject to additional or more stringent legislation and regulations regarding consumer or private
sector privacy.

There are also a number of specific laws and regulations governing the collection and use of certain types of consumer
data primarily in connection with financial services transactions that are relevant to our various businesses and services. In
the United States, federal laws such as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, or GLBA, and the Fair Credit Reporting Act, as
amended by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003, as well as similar and applicable state laws, make it more
difficult to collect, share and use information that has previously been legally available and may increase our costs of
collecting some data. These laws give bank customers, including cardholders and depositors, the ability to “opt out” of
having certain information generated by their applicable financial services transactions shared with other affiliated and
unaffiliated parties or the public. Our ability to gather, share and utilize this data will be adversely affected if a significant
percentage of the consumers whose purchasing behavior we track elect to “opt out,” thereby precluding us and our affiliates
from using their data.

In the United States, the federal Do-Not-Call Implementation Act makes it more difficult to telephonically communicate
with prospective and existing customers. Similar measures were implemented in Canada beginning September 1, 2008.
Regulations in both the United States and Canada give consumers the ability to “opt out,” through a national do-not-call
registry and state do-not-call registries, of having telephone solicitations placed to them by companies that do not have an
existing business relationship with the consumer. In addition, regulations require companies to maintain an internal do-not-
call list for those who do not want the companies to solicit them through telemarketing. These regulations could limit our
ability to provide services and information to our clients. Failure to comply with these regulations could have a negative
impact on our reputation and subject us to significant penalties. Further, the Federal Communications Commission has
approved interpretations of rules related to the Telephone Consumer Protection Act defining robo-calls broadly, which may
affect our ability to contact customers and may increase our litigation exposure.

In the United States, the federal Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003
restricts our ability to send commercial electronic mail messages, the primary purpose of which is advertising or promoting a
commercial product or service, to our customers and prospective customers. The act requires that a commercial electronic
mail message provide the customers with an opportunity to opt-out from receiving future commercial electronic mail
messages from the sender. Failure to comply with the terms of this act could have a negative impact on our reputation and
subject us to significant penalties.

In the United States, California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, which went into effect on
January 1, 2020. The CCPA creates new individual privacy rights for California consumers and places increased privacy and
security obligations on entities handling certain personal data of consumers and households. The CCPA includes new and
expanded disclosure requirements to consumers about companies’ data collection, use and sharing practices; provides
consumers new ways to opt-out of certain sales or transfers of personal information; and provides consumers with additional
causes of action. The CCPA prohibits companies from discriminating against consumers who have opted out of the sale of
their personal information, subject to a narrow exception. The CCPA provides for certain monetary
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penalties and for enforcement of the statute by the California Attorney General or by consumers whose rights under the law
are not observed. It also provides for damages, as well as injunctive or declaratory relief, if there has been unauthorized
access, theft or disclosure of personal information due to failure to implement reasonable security procedures. The CCPA
contains several exemptions, including a provision to the effect that the CCPA does not apply where the information is
collected, processed, sold or disclosed pursuant to the GLBA if the GLBA is in conflict with the CCPA. It remains unclear
what, if any, modifications will be made to the CCPA or how it will be interpreted.

Further, many other state governments are reviewing or proposing the need for greater regulation of the collection,
processing, sharing and use of consumer data for marketing purposes or otherwise. This may result in new laws or
regulations imposing additional compliance requirements.

In Canada, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, or PIPEDA, requires an organization to
obtain a consumer’s consent to collect, use or disclose personal information. Under this act, consumer personal information
may be used only for the purposes for which it was collected. We allow our customers to voluntarily “opt out” from receiving
either one or both promotional and marketing mail or promotional and marketing electronic mail. Heightened consumer
awareness of, and concern about, privacy may result in customers “opting out” at higher rates than they have historically.
This would mean that a reduced number of customers would receive bonus and promotional offers and therefore those
customers may collect fewer AIR MILES reward miles.

Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation, or CASL, may restrict our ability to send “commercial electronic messages,” defined
to include text, sound, voice and image messages to email, or similar accounts, where the primary purpose is advertising or
promoting a commercial product or service to our customers and prospective customers. CASL requires, in part, that a sender
have consent to send a commercial electronic message, and provide the customers with an opportunity to opt out from
receiving future commercial electronic email messages from the sender. Failure to comply with the terms of CASL could
have a negative impact on our reputation and subject us to significant monetary penalties.

On May 25, 2018, The General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, a European Union-wide legal framework to
govern data collection, use and sharing and related consumer privacy rights came into force. The GDPR replaced the
European Union Directive 95/46/EC and applies to and binds the 27 EU Member States. The GDPR details greater
compliance obligations on organizations, including the implementation of a number of processes and policies around data
collection and use. These, and other terms of the GDPR, could limit our ability to provide services and information to our
customers. In addition, the GDPR includes significant new penalties for non-compliance, with fines up to the higher of €20
million ($22 million as of December 31, 2019) or 4% of total annual worldwide revenue.

In general, GDPR, and other European Union and Member State specific privacy and data governance laws, could also
lead to adaptation of our technologies or practices to satisfy local privacy requirements and standards that may be more
stringent than in the U.S. Similarly, it is possible that in the future, U.S. and foreign jurisdictions may adopt legislation or
regulations that impair our ability to effectively track consumers’ use of our advertising services, such as the FTC’s proposed
“Do-Not-Track” standard or other legislation or regulations similar to EU Directive 2009/136/EC, commonly referred to as
the “Cookie Directive,” which directs EU Member States to ensure that accessing information on an internet user’s computer,
such as through a cookie, is allowed only if the internet user has given his or her consent. On January 31, 2020, the United
Kingdom left the European Union and entered into a Brexit transition period. During this period, which runs until the end of
December 2020, the GDPR will continue to apply to the United Kingdom. It is not yet known what the data protection
landscape will look like at the end of the transition period.

There is also rapid development of new privacy laws and regulations elsewhere around the globe, including amendments
of existing data protection laws to the scope of such laws and penalties for noncompliance. Failure to comply with these
international data protection laws and regulations could have a negative impact on our reputation and subject us to significant
penalties.

While all 50 U.S. states and the District of Columbia have enacted data breach notification laws, there is no such U.S.
federal law generally applicable to our businesses. Data breach notification legislation and regulations relating to mandatory
reporting came into force in Canada on November 1, 2018. Data breach notification laws have been proposed widely and
exist in other specific countries and jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Legislative and regulatory measures, such as
mandatory breach notification provisions, impose, among other elements, strict requirements on reporting time frames and
providing notice to individuals.
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Legislation relating to consumer protection may affect our ability to provide our loyalty and marketing services, which,
among other things, could negatively affect our ability to satisfy our clients’ needs.

The enactment of new or amended legislation or industry regulations pertaining to consumer protection, or any failure to
comply with such changes, could have a material adverse impact on our loyalty and marketing services. Such changes could
result in a negative impact to our reputation, an adverse effect on our profitability or an increase in our litigation exposure.

For example, Ontario’s Protecting Rewards Points Act (Consumer Protection Amendment), 2016, and additional related
regulations effective January 2018, prohibit suppliers from entering into or amending consumer agreements to provide for the
expiry of rewards points due to the passage of time alone, while permitting the expiry of rewards points if the underlying
consumer agreement is terminated and that agreement provides that reward points expire upon termination. Similar
legislation pertaining to the expiry of rewards points due to the passage of time alone was passed in Quebec in 2017, with
regulations taking effect in 2018 and 2019.

Our bank subsidiaries are subject to extensive federal and state reqgulation that may require us to make capital
contributions to them, and that may restrict the ability of these subsidiaries to make cash available to us.

Federal and state laws and regulations extensively regulate the operations of Comenity Bank, as well as Comenity
Capital Bank. Many of these laws and regulations are intended to maintain the safety and soundness of Comenity Bank and
Comenity Capital Bank, and they impose significant restraints on them to which other non-regulated entities are not subject.
As a state bank, Comenity Bank is subject to overlapping supervision by the State of Delaware and the FDIC. As a Utah
industrial bank, Comenity Capital Bank is subject to overlapping supervision by the FDIC and the State of Utah. Comenity
Bank and Comenity Capital Bank must maintain minimum amounts of regulatory capital. If Comenity Bank and Comenity
Capital Bank do not meet these capital requirements, their respective regulators have broad discretion to institute a number of
corrective actions that could have a direct material effect on our financial statements. Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital
Bank, as institutions insured by the FDIC, must maintain certain capital ratios, paid-in capital minimums and adequate
allowances for loan loss. If either Comenity Bank or Comenity Capital Bank were to fail to meet any of the capital
requirements to which it is subject, we may be required to provide them with additional capital, which could impair our
ability to service our indebtedness. To pay any dividend, Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank must each maintain
adequate capital above regulatory guidelines. Accordingly, neither Comenity Bank nor Comenity Capital Bank may be able
to make any of its cash or other assets available to us, including to service our indebtedness.

If our bank subsidiaries fail to meet certain criteria, we may become subject to reqgulation under the Bank Holding
Company Act, which could force us to cease all of our non-banking activities and lead to a drastic reduction in our
revenue and profitability.

If either of our depository institution subsidiaries failed to meet the criteria for the exemption from the definition of
“bank” in the Bank Holding Company Act under which it operates (which exemptions are described below), and if we did
not divest such depository institution upon such an occurrence, we would become subject to regulation under the Bank
Holding Company Act. This would require us to cease certain of our activities that are not permissible for companies that are
subject to regulation under the Bank Holding Company Act. One of our depository institution subsidiaries, Comenity Bank,
is a Delaware State FDIC-insured bank and a limited-purpose credit card bank located in Delaware. Comenity Bank will not
be a “bank” as defined under the Bank Holding Company Act so long as it remains in compliance with the following
requirements:

e it engages only in credit card operations;

it does not accept demand deposits or deposits that the depositor may withdraw by check or similar means for
payment to third parties;

e it does not accept any savings or time deposits of less than $100,000, except for deposits pledged as collateral for its
extensions of credit;

e it maintains only one office that accepts deposits; and
e it does not engage in the business of making commercial loans (except small business loans).
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Our other depository institution subsidiary, Comenity Capital Bank, is a Utah industrial bank that is authorized to do
business by the State of Utah and the FDIC. Comenity Capital Bank will not be a “bank” as defined under the Bank Holding
Company Act so long as it remains an industrial bank in compliance with the following requirements:

e it is an institution organized under the laws of a state which, on March 5, 1987, had in effect or had under
consideration in such state’s legislature a statute which required or would require such institution to obtain
insurance under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act; and

e it does not accept demand deposits that the depositor may withdraw by check or similar means for payment to third
parties.

Operational and Other Risk

We rely on third party vendors to provide products and services. Our profitability could be adversely impacted if they fail
to fulfill their obligations.

The failure of our suppliers to deliver products and services in sufficient quantities and in a timely manner could
adversely affect our business, including, but not limited to, supply chain disruptions resulting from the current impacts of
COVID-19. If our significant vendors were unable to renew our existing contracts, we might not be able to replace the
related product or service at the same cost which would negatively impact our profitability.

Failure to safeguard our databases and consumer privacy could affect our reputation among our clients and their
customers, and may expose us to legal claims.

Although we have extensive physical and cyber security controls and associated procedures, our data has in the past
been and in the future may be subject to unauthorized access. In such instances of unauthorized access, the integrity of our
data has in the past been and may in the future be affected. Security and privacy concerns may cause consumers to resist
providing the personal data necessary to support our loyalty and marketing programs. Information security risks for large
financial institutions have increased with the adoption of new technologies, including those used on mobile devices, to
conduct financial and other business transactions, and the increased sophistication and activity level of threat actors. The use
of our loyalty, marketing services or credit card programs could decline if any compromise of physical or cyber security
occurred. In addition, any unauthorized release of customer information or any public perception that we released consumer
information without authorization, could subject us to legal claims from our clients or their customers, consumers or
regulatory enforcement actions, which may adversely affect our client relationships.

Loss of data center capacity, interruption due to cyber-attacks, loss of network links or inability to utilize proprietary
software of third party vendors could affect our ability to timely meet the needs of our clients and their customers.

Our ability, and that of our third-party service providers, to protect our data centers against damage, loss or performance
degradation from fire, power loss, network failure, cyber-attacks, including ransomware or denial of service attacks, and
other disasters is critical. In order to provide many of our services, we must be able to store, retrieve, process and manage
large amounts of data as well as periodically expand and upgrade our technology capabilities. Any damage to our data
centers, or those of our third-party service providers, any failure of our network links that interrupts our operations or any
impairment of our ability to use our software or the proprietary software of third party vendors, including impairments due to
cyber-attacks, could adversely affect our ability to meet our clients’ needs and their confidence in utilizing us for future
services.

Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights may harm our competitive position, and litigation to protect our
intellectual property rights or defend against third party allegations of infringement may be costly.

Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our trademarks or other intellectual property rights, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results. The actions we take to protect our
trademarks and other proprietary rights may not be adequate. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property
rights, protect our trade secrets or determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. We may not be able to
prevent infringement of our intellectual property rights or misappropriation of our proprietary information. Any infringement
or misappropriation could harm any competitive advantage we currently derive or may derive from our proprietary rights.
Third parties may also assert infringement claims against us. Any claims and any resulting litigation could subject us to
significant liability for damages. An adverse determination in any litigation of this type
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could require us to design around a third party’s patent or to license alternative technology from another party. In addition,
litigation is time consuming and expensive to defend and could result in the diversion of our time and resources. Any claims
from third parties may also result in limitations on our ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims. Further,
our competitors or other third parties may independently design around or develop similar technology, or otherwise duplicate
our services or products in a way that would preclude us from asserting our intellectual property rights against them. In
addition, our contractual arrangements may not effectively prevent disclosure of our intellectual property or confidential and
proprietary information or provide an adequate remedy in the event of an unauthorized disclosure.

Our international operations, acquisitions and personnel subject us to complex U.S. and international laws and
regulations, which if violated could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

Our operations, acquisitions and employment of personnel outside the United States require us to comply with numerous
complex laws and regulations of the U.S. government and the various international jurisdictions where we do business. These
laws and regulations may apply to our company, or our individual directors, officers, employees or agents, and may restrict
our operations, investment decisions or other activities. Specifically, we are subject to anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws
and regulations, including, but not limited to, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA; the U.K. Bribery Act 2010,
or UKBA; and Canada’s Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act, or CFPOA. These laws generally prohibit providing
anything of value to foreign officials for the purpose of influencing official decisions, obtaining or retaining business, or
obtaining preferential treatment, and require us to maintain books and records that fairly and accurately reflect transactions
and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls. As part of our business, we or our partners may do business
with state-owned enterprises, the employees and representatives of which may be considered foreign officials for purposes of
the FCPA, UKBA or CFPOA. There can be no assurance that our policies, procedures, training and compliance programs
will effectively prevent violation of all U.S. and international laws and regulations with which we are required to comply.
Violations of such laws and regulations could subject us to penalties that could adversely affect our reputation, business,
financial condition or results of operations. In addition, some international jurisdictions in which we operate could subject us
to other obstacles, including lack of a developed legal system, elevated levels of corruption, strict currency controls, adverse
tax consequences or foreign ownership requirements, difficult or lengthy regulatory approvals, or lack of enforcement for
non-compete agreements.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change of
control, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock price adversely and
prevent or delay change of control transactions or attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management.

Delaware law, as well as provisions of our certificate of incorporation, including those relating to our Board’s authority
to issue series of preferred stock without further stockholder approval, our bylaws and our existing and future debt
instruments, could discourage unsolicited proposals to acquire us, even though such proposals may be beneficial to our
stockholders.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may
prohibit certain business combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and
other provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or
potential acquirers to obtain control of our Board of Directors or initiate actions that are opposed by our then-current Board
of Directors, including a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving us. Any delay or prevention of a change of control
transaction or changes in our Board of Directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline or delay or
prevent our stockholders from receiving a premium over the market price of our common stock that they might otherwise
receive.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

As of December 31, 2019, we lease approximately 50 general office properties worldwide, comprised of approximately
three million square feet. These facilities are used to carry out our operational, sales and administrative functions. Our
principal facilities are as follows:

Approximate

Location Segment Square Footage Lease Expiration Date
Plano, Texas Corporate 67,274  June 30, 2026
Columbus, Ohio Corporate, Card Services 567,006  September 12, 2032
Toronto, Ontario, Canada LoyaltyOne 205,525 March 31, 2033
Mississauga, Ontario, Canada LoyaltyOne 50,908 February 29, 2020
Den Bosch, Netherlands LoyaltyOne 132,482 December 31, 2033
Maasbree, Netherlands LoyaltyOne 668,923  September 1, 2033
Draper, Utah Card Services 134,903 May 31, 2031
Columbus, Ohio Card Services 103,161 December 31, 2027
Westminster, Colorado Card Services 120,132 June 30, 2028
Couer D’Alene, Idaho Card Services 114,000  July 31, 2038
Westerville, Ohio Card Services 100,800 July 31, 2024
Wilmington, Delaware Card Services 5,198 November 30, 2020

We believe our current facilities are suitable to our businesses and that we will be able to lease, purchase or newly
construct additional facilities as needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time we are involved in various claims and lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of our business that we
believe will not have a material effect on our business or financial condition, including claims and lawsuits alleging breaches

of our contractual obligations. See Indemnification in Note 18, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

Market Information
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, and trades under the symbol “ADS.”
Holders

As of February 20, 2020, the closing price of our common stock was $103.06 per share, there were 47,627,611 shares of
our common stock outstanding, and there were 97 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We paid cash dividends per share during the periods presented as follows:

Dividends Per Amount
Share (in millions)
Year Ended December 31, 2019
First quarter $ 063 $ 339
Second quarter 0.63 33.1
Third quarter 0.63 30.4
Fourth quarter 0.63 30.0
Total cash dividends paid $ 252 $ 127.4
Year Ended December 31, 2018
First quarter $ 057 $ 317
Second quarter 0.57 31.6
Third quarter 0.57 31.2
Fourth quarter 0.57 30.7
Total cash dividends paid $ 228 % 125.2

On January 30, 2020 our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.63 per share on our common stock,
payable on March 19, 2020 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 14, 2020.

Payment of future dividends is subject to declaration by our Board of Directors. Factors considered in determining
dividends include, but are not limited to, our profitability, expected capital needs, and contractual restrictions. See also “Risk
Factors—There is no guarantee that we will pay future dividends or repurchase shares at a level anticipated by stockholders,
which could reduce returns to our stockholders.” Subject to these qualifications, we presently expect to continue to pay
dividends on a quarterly basis.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table presents information with respect to purchases of our common stock made during the three months

ended December 31, 2019:

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased as  Value of Shares that

Part of Publicly May Yet Be
Total Number of Average Price Paid  Announced Plans or  Purchased Under the
Period Shares Purchased () per Share Programs Plans or Programs @
(Dollars in millions)

During 2019:

October 1-31 3,403 $ 116.83 — % 347.8
November 1-30 2,564 106.27 — 347.8
December 1-31 3,650 109.35 — 347.8
Total 9,617 $ 111.18 — % 347.8

(1) During the period represented by the table, 9,617 shares of our common stock were purchased by the administrator of our 401(k) and
Retirement Saving Plan for the benefit of the employees who participated in that portion of the plan.

(@ In 2019, our Board of Directors authorized a new stock repurchase program to acquire up to $1.1 billion of our outstanding common
stock from July 5, 2019 through June 30, 2020. Our authorization is subject to any restrictions pursuant to the terms of our credit
agreements and applicable securities laws or otherwise.

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock
since December 31, 2014, with the cumulative total return over the same period of (1) the S&P 500 Index and (2) a peer
group of sixteen companies selected by us and utilized in our prior Annual Report on Form 10-K, which we will refer to as
the 2018 Peer Group Index, and (3) a new peer group of fifteen companies selected by us, which we will refer to as the 2019
Peer Group Index.

The sixteen companies in the 2018 Peer Group Index are CDK Global, Inc., Discover Financial Services, Equifax, Inc.,
Experian PLC, Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., Fiserv, Inc., Global Payments, Inc., MasterCard Incorporated,
Nielsen Holdings plc, Omnicom Group Inc., Synchrony Financial, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, The Interpublic
Group of Companies, Inc., Total System Services, Inc., Vantiv, Inc. and WPP plc.

The fifteen companies in the 2019 Peer Group Index are PayPal Holdings, Inc., MasterCard Incorporated, Synchrony
Financial, Discover Financial Services, Fifth Third Bancorp, Key Corp, Citizens Financial Group, Inc., Ally Financial Inc.,
M&T Bank Corporation, Regions Financial Corporation, Huntington Bancshares Incorporated, Santander Consumer USA
Holdings Inc., Comerica Incorporated, SVB Financial Group and Popular, Inc. Management believes the new peer group
taken as a whole provides a more meaningful comparison subsequent to the sale of Epsilon in July 2019.

Pursuant to rules of the SEC, the comparison assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2014 in our common stock
and in each of the indices and assumes reinvestment of dividends, if any. Also pursuant to SEC rules, the returns of each of
the companies in the peer group are weighted according to the respective company’s stock market capitalization at the
beginning of each period for which a return is indicated. Historical stock prices are not indicative of future stock price
performance.
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COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION,
S&P 500 INDEX, 2018 PEER GROUP AND 2019 PEER GROUP
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Alliance Data
Systems 2018 Peer 2019 Peer

Corporation S&P 500 Group Index Group Index
December 31, 2014 $ 100.00 $ 100.00 $ 100.00 $ 100.00
December 31, 2015 96.69 101.38 109.78 101.61
December 31, 2016 80.09 113.51 122.61 122.77
December 31, 2017 89.65 138.29 147.82 165.75
December 31, 2018 53.78 132.23 153.09 166.66
December 31, 2019 40.98 173.86 230.35 240.21

Our future filings with the SEC may “incorporate information by reference,” including this Form 10-K. Unless we
specifically state otherwise, this Performance Graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference and shall not

constitute soliciting material or otherwise be considered filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION

The following table sets forth our summary historical consolidated financial information for the periods ended and as of
the dates indicated. You should read the following historical consolidated financial information along with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in this Form 10-K. The fiscal year
financial information included in the table below for the year ended December 31, 2015 and as of December 31, 2015 has

been recast to present our former Epsilon business as a discontinued operation and was derived from our audited

consolidated financial statements.

Income statement data
Total revenue
Cost of operations (exclusive of amortization and depreciation
disclosed separately below)
Provision for loan loss
General and administrative
Regulatory settlement
Depreciation and other amortization
Amortization of purchased intangibles
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Net income
Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interest
Net income attributable to common stockholders

Basic income attributable to common stockholders per share:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to common stockholders per share

Diluted income attributable to common stockholders per share:

Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to common stockholders per share

Weighted average shares:
Basic

Diluted

Dividends declared per share:
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Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in millions, except per share amounts)

$5581.3 $5,666.6 $5474.7 $5,013.2 $ 4,327.3
2,687.8 2,537.2 2,469.5 2,600.3 2,164.0
1,187.5 1,016.0 1,140.1 940.5 668.2
150.6 162.5 159.3 135.6 132.7
— — — — 64.6
79.9 80.7 73.7 67.3 60.3
96.2 112.9 114.2 119.6 104.8
71.9 — — — —
4,273.9 3,909.3 3,956.8 3,863.3 3,194.6
1,307.4 1,757.3 1,517.9 1,149.9 1,132.7
569.0 542.3 455.4 370.9 294.3
738.4 1,215.0 1,062.5 779.0 838.4
165.8 269.5 293.3 298.8 294.1
$ 5726 $ 9455 $ 769.2 $ 4802 $ 544.3
(294.6) 17.6 19.5 37.4 61.1
$ 2780 $ 963.1 $ 7887 $ 5176 $ 605.4
— — — 1.8 8.9
$ 2780 $ 9631 $ 7887 $ 5158 $ 596.5
$ 1125 $ 1724 $ 1382 $ 6.73 $ 7.93
$ (589 $ 032 $ 035 $ 064 $ 098
$ 536 $ 1756 $ 1417 $ 737 $ 8.91
$ 1124 $ 1717 $ 13.75 $ 6.71 $ 7.87
$ (578 $ 032 $ 035 $ 063 $ 098
$ 546 $ 1749 $ 1410 $ 734 $ 8.85
50.0 54.9 55.7 58.6 61.9
50.9 55.1 55.9 58.9 62.3
$ 252 $§ 228 $ 208 $ 052 $ —
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Balance sheet data

Credit card and loan receivables, net

Redemption settlement assets, restricted

Total assets

Deferred revenue

Deposits

Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization
entities

Long-term and other debt, including current maturities

Total liabilities

Redeemable non-controlling interest

Total stockholders’ equity

Cash flow data

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Other financial data W
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA, net

Segment operating data

Credit card statements generated

Credit sales

Average credit card and loan receivables
AIR MILES reward miles issued

AIR MILES reward miles redeemed

As of December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in millions)
$ 18,292.0 $16,816.7 $ 17,4945 $ 15,595.9 $ 13,057.9
600.8 558.6 589.5 324.4 456.6
26,494.8 30,387.7 30,684.8 25,514.1 22,349.9
922.0 875.3 966.9 931.5 844.9
12,151.7 11,793.7 10,930.9 8,391.9 5,605.9
7,284.0 7,651.7 8,807.3 6,955.4 6,482.7
2,849.9 5,725.4 6,070.9 5,595.4 5,017.4
24,906.5 28,055.6 28,829.5 23,855.9 20,172.5
— — — — 167.4
1,588.3 2,332.1 1,855.3 1,658.2 2,010.0
Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

(in millions)

$ 1,217.7 $ 2,7549 $ 2,599.1

$ 21272 $ 1,761.4

$ 2,860.8 $ (1,872.0) $ (4,268.1) $ (4,291.5) $ (3,298.7)

$ (4,091.7) $ (1,217.9) $ 4,004.9

$ 1,7103 $ 1,995.3
$ 1,2713 $ 1,609.4

$ 1,747.1
$ 1,465.4

281.1

$ 30,986.9
$ 17,298.2
5,511.1
4,415.7

300.7

$ 30,702.3
$ 17,412.1
5,500.0
4,482.0

296.7

$ 31,001.6
$ 16,185.5
5,524.2
4,552.1

$ 26374 $ 1,7189

$ 1,620.0
$ 1,404.2

$ 1,404.9
$ 1,223.3

279.4

$ 29,271.3
$ 14,085.8
5,772.3
7,071.6

242.3

$ 24,736.1
$ 11,364.6
5,743.1
4,406.3

(M) See “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” set forth in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” for a discussion of our use of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, net and a reconciliation to income
from continuing operations, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Overview

We are a leading global provider of data-driven marketing and loyalty solutions serving large, consumer-based
industries. We create and deploy customized solutions, enhancing the critical customer marketing experience and measurably
changing consumer behavior while driving business growth and profitability for some of today’s most recognizable brands.
We help our clients create and increase customer loyalty through solutions that engage millions of customers each day across
multiple touch points using traditional, digital, mobile and emerging technologies. We operate under two segments—
LoyaltyOne and Card Services. Our LoyaltyOne business owns and operates the AIR MILES Reward Program, Canada’s
most recognized loyalty program, and Netherlands-based BrandLoyalty, a global provider of tailor-made loyalty programs
for grocers. Our Card Services business is a provider of private label, co-brand, and business credit card programs. Effective
March 31, 2019, our Epsilon segment was treated as a discontinued operation, and was subsequently sold on July 1, 2019.

Year in Review

While our financial results did not meet original expectations, we made several strategic changes and achieved certain
objectives during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Organizational Changes

On June 5, 2019, the Board of Directors of Alliance Data appointed Melisa A. Miller, who led Alliance Data’s Card
Services business, as Alliance Data’s President and Chief Executive Officer as well as a Director of the Company. She
succeeded Ed Heffernan who announced his resignation as President and Chief Executive Officer and as a Director of the
Company.

On November 18, 2019, we announced that Ralph Andretta had been selected Alliance Data’s President and Chief
Executive Officer as well as a Director of the Company, which appointment became effective February 3, 2020. Melisa
Miller stepped down from those positions in November 2019 but continued to serve the Company in an advisory capacity
through February 16, 2020. Charles Horn, Executive Vice President, served as acting Chief Executive Officer until the
effective date of Mr. Andretta’s appointment and will continue to focus his attention on international operations, operating
efficiencies and strategic initiatives.

Additionally, during 2019, executive management and the Board of Directors evaluated the cost structure and potential
cost saving initiatives throughout the organization. As a result, we incurred $118.1 million in restructuring and other charges
in 2019 to streamline our cost structure, as described in more detail in Note 14, “Restructuring and Other Charges,” of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Capital Transactions

On July 1, 2019, we sold our former Epsilon segment to Publicis Groupe S.A. for $4.4 billion in cash. We incurred
approximately $79.0 million in transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2019 and recorded a $512.2 million pre-
tax gain ($252.1 million after-tax loss) on sale.

In July 2019, proceeds from the sale of Epsilon were used to extinguish all of our outstanding senior notes of $1.9 billion
and to make a mandatory payment of $500.0 million on our revolving credit facility, which reduced available credit
commitments in the same amount.

During 2019, we repurchased approximately 6.3 million shares of our common stock for aggregate consideration of
$976.1 million and paid dividends and dividend equivalent rights of $127.4 million.

During 2019, we purchased four credit card portfolios for aggregate cash consideration of $924.8 million and sold 13
credit card portfolios for aggregate cash consideration of $2,061.8 million.

In December 2019, we issued and sold $850.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.750% senior notes due December
15, 2024. The net proceeds of $833.0 million were used to make a prepayment of our term debt under the credit agreement.
We also amended our credit agreement, extending the maturity date from June 14, 2021 to December 31, 2022. As amended,
our credit agreement provides for a $2,028.8 million term loan and a $750.0 million revolving line of credit.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2019 2018
2019 2018 2017 to 2018 to 2017
(in millions, except percentages)
Revenues
Services $ 2155 $ 2954  $ 367.5 (27)% (20)%
Redemption, net 637.3 676.3 935.3 (6) (28)
Finance charges, net 4,728.5 4,694.9 4,171.9 1 13
Total revenue 5,581.3 5,666.6 5,474.7 2) 4
Operating expenses
Cost of operations (exclusive of depreciation and amortization
disclosed separately below) 2,687.8 2,537.2 2,469.5 6 3
Provision for loan loss 1,187.5 1,016.0 1,140.1 17 (11)
General and administrative 150.6 162.5 159.3 7) 2
Depreciation and other amortization 79.9 80.7 73.7 1) 10
Amortization of purchased intangibles 96.2 112.9 114.2 (15) 1)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 71.9 — — 100 —
Total operating expenses 4,273.9 3,909.3 3,956.8 9 (@)
Operating income 1,307.4 1,757.3 1,517.9 (26) 16
Interest expense
Securitization funding costs 213.4 220.2 156.6 3) 41
Interest expense on deposits 225.6 165.7 125.1 36 32
Interest expense on long-term and other debt, net 130.0 156.4 173.7 17) (10)
Total interest expense, net 569.0 542.3 455.4 5 19
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 738.4 1,215.0 1,062.5 (39) 14
Provision for income taxes 165.8 269.5 293.3 (38) (8)
Income from continuing operations 572.6 945.5 769.2 (39) 23
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes (294.6) 17.6 19.5 nm * (10)
Net income $ 2780 $ 963.1 $ 788.7 (71)% 22 %
Key Operating Metrics:
Credit card statements generated 281.1 300.7 296.7 (7% 1%
Credit sales $ 30,9869 $ 30,7023  $ 31,001.6 1% 1)%
Average credit card and loan receivables $ 17,2982 $ 17,4121  $ 16,185.5 ()% 8 %
AIR MILES reward miles issued 5,511.1 5,500.0 5,524.2 — % — %
AIR MILES reward miles redeemed 4,415.7 4,482.0 4,552.1 (1% 2)%

*  not meaningful

Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018

Revenue. Total revenue decreased $85.3 million, or 2%, to $5,581.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from
$5,666.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The net decrease was due to the following:

Services. Revenue decreased $79.9 million, or 27%, to $215.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019
primarily as a result of a $109.0 million decrease in merchant fee revenue due to increased royalty payments to our
retailers, including new clients, and a $10.0 million decrease in other servicing fees charged to cardholders due to a
decline in revenue from certain payment protection products. These decreases were offset in part by a $35.5 million
increase in other servicing revenue, resulting from fees generated from servicing certain third-party credit card
receivables.

Redemption. Revenue decreased $39.0 million, or 6%, to $637.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Redemption revenue from our coalition loyalty program decreased $46.4 million due to the net presentation of
$43.0 million of revenue from the outsourcing of additional rewards inventory during the year ended December 31,
2019. Redemption revenue from our short-term loyalty programs increased $7.4 million due to strong performance
in Europe, Asia and Brazil, offset in part by the decline in the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar.

Finance charges, net. Revenue increased $33.6 million, or 1%, to $4,728.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2019. The increase was driven by a 1% increase in normalized average receivables, which includes receivables held
for sale that increased revenue by $53.3 million, offset in part by an approximate 10 basis point decrease in finance
charge yield, which decreased revenue by $19.7 million.
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Cost of operations. Cost of operations increased $150.6 million, or 6%, to $2,687.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 as compared to $2,537.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The net increase was due to the
following:

e  Within the LoyaltyOne segment, cost of operations increased $23.4 million due primarily to $50.8 million of
restructuring and other charges incurred during the year ended December 31, 2019. See Note 14, “Restructuring and
Other Charges,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Additionally, data processing expense increased
$21.2 million driven by an increase in outsourced technology costs. These increases were offset in part by the net
presentation of $43.0 million in cost of redemptions within our coalition loyalty program as discussed in revenue
above.

e  Within the Card Services segment, cost of operations increased $127.2 million due primarily to an $88.1 million
increase in valuation adjustments to certain portfolios within credit card receivables held for sale and $29.4 million
of restructuring and other charges incurred during the year ended December 31, 2019. See Note 14, “Restructuring
and Other Charges,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Provision for loan loss. Provision for loan loss increased $171.5 million, or 17%, to $1,187.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 as compared to $1,016.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, as principal loss rates stabilized
in 2019 as compared to improved in 2018. Additionally, end of period credit card and loan receivables increased in the
current year as compared to the prior year.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased $11.9 million, or 7%, to $150.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to $162.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, driven by cost
saving initiatives implemented in the first half of 2019, which among other items included reduced headcount, office space,
charitable contributions and overall corporate overhead costs. These declines were offset in part by the $37.9 million in
restructuring costs and $10.7 million in strategic transaction costs incurred in the current year. See Note 14, “Restructuring
and Other Charges,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Depreciation and other amortization. Depreciation and other amortization decreased $0.8 million, or 1%, to $79.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $80.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, due to
certain fully depreciated property and equipment at LoyaltyOne, offset in part by additional assets placed into service from
recent capital expenditures.

Amortization of purchased intangibles. Amortization of purchased intangibles decreased $16.7 million, or 15%, to $96.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $112.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018,
primarily due to certain fully amortized intangible assets, including portfolio premiums and customer contracts.

Loss on extinguishment of debt. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded a $71.9 million loss on
extinguishment of debt resulting from the $49.9 million redemption price of the senior notes and the write-off of $22.0
million deferred issuance costs related to the July 2019 early extinguishment of $1.9 billion outstanding senior notes and the
amendment to the credit agreement, which was effective upon the consummation of the sale of Epsilon.

Interest expense, net. Total interest expense, net increased $26.7 million, or 5%, to $569.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 as compared to $542.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The net increase was due to the
following:

e  Securitization funding costs. Securitization funding costs decreased $6.8 million due to lower average borrowings,
which decreased funding costs by approximately $30.5 million, offset in part by higher average interest rates, which
increased funding costs by approximately $23.7 million.

e Interest expense on deposits. Interest expense on deposits increased $59.9 million due to higher average interest
rates, which increased interest expense by approximately $49.4 million, and higher average borrowings, which
increased interest expense by approximately $10.5 million.

e Interest expense on long-term and other debt, net. Interest expense on long-term and other debt, net decreased $26.4
million primarily due to a $9.5 million increase in interest income earned on the excess proceeds from the Epsilon
sale on July 1, 2019 and a $6.9 million decrease in interest expense due to the early redemption of senior notes due
in 2020 in April 2018, offset in part by the issuance of senior notes in December 2019. Additionally, interest
expense on the revolving line of credit decreased $4.3 million due to lower average
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borrowings in the current year, while interest expense on the BrandLoyalty credit agreement decreased $1.8 million
due to the September 2019 repayment and amortization of debt issuance costs decreased $2.2 million due to the
redemption of senior notes in 2019.

Taxes. Provision for income taxes decreased $103.7 million, or 38%, to $165.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 from $269.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily related to a decrease in taxable income. The
effective tax rate for the current year period was 22.5% as compared to 22.2% for the prior year period.

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes. Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes was ($294.6)
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to income from discontinued operations of $17.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018, due to the after-tax loss on the sale of Epsilon completed July 1, 2019 and a loss contingency
as described in Note 18, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For the year
ended December 31, 2018, loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes represents results of operations from our former
Epsilon segment, as well as certain direct costs identifiable to the Epsilon segment and allocations of interest expense on
corporate debt.

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017

Revenue. Total revenue increased $191.9 million, or 4%, to $5,666.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
$5,474.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The net increase was due to the following:

Services. Revenue decreased $72.1 million, or 20%, to $295.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018
primarily due to a $75.2 million decrease in merchant fee revenue due to increased royalty payments to our retailers
associated with higher volumes and new clients.

Redemption. Revenue decreased $259.0 million, or 28%, to $676.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Upon adoption of ASC 606, certain redemption revenue for which we do not control the good or service prior to
transferring it to the collector is recorded on a net basis, which reduced both redemption revenue and cost of
operations by $283.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. This decrease was partially offset by an
increase of $38.3 million in redemption revenue from our short-term loyalty programs due to an increase in the
number of active programs in market as compared to the prior year.

Finance charges, net. Revenue increased $523.0 million, or 13%, to $4,694.9 million for the year ended

December 31, 2018. This increase was driven by an 8% increase in average credit card and loan receivables, which
impacted revenue by $485.9 million through a combination of recent credit card portfolio acquisitions and new
client signings, and an increase in net finance charge yield of approximately 20 basis points, which increased
revenue by $37.1 million.

Cost of operations. Cost of operations increased $67.7 million, or 3%, to $2,537.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 as compared to $2,469.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The net increase resulted from
the following:

Within the LoyaltyOne segment, cost of operations decreased $230.6 million due to a $237.7 million decrease in
cost of redemptions. This decrease in cost of redemptions was driven by a $283.4 million decrease related to the
adoption of ASC 606 as discussed above, offset in part by the increase in cost of redemptions related to our short-
term loyalty programs due to the increase in revenue.

Within the Card Services segment, cost of operations increased $298.3 million due to $101.6 million in valuation
adjustments to certain portfolios within credit card receivables held for sale, a $67.4 million increase in payroll and
benefit expenses to support in-house collections and operational initiatives, and higher credit card processing costs
attributable to increases in volume.

Provision for loan loss. Provision for loan loss decreased $124.1 million, or 11%, to $1,016.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 as compared to $1,140.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, due to the change in credit card
and loan receivables in each respective period, including the impact of the classification of credit card receivables held for
sale, offset in part by an increase in net charge-offs.
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General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased $3.2 million, or 2%, to $162.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to $159.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, due to an increase
in professional fees, medical benefits and charitable contributions, which were offset in part by a decrease in net foreign
currency exchange losses realized and a decrease in incentive compensation driven by bonuses in 2017 to our non-executive
associates resulting from tax reform benefits.

Depreciation and other amortization. Depreciation and other amortization increased $7.0 million, or 10%, to $80.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2018, as compared to $73.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, due to
additional assets placed into service from capital expenditures.

Amortization of purchased intangibles. Amortization of purchased intangibles decreased $1.3 million, or 1%, to $112.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2018, as compared to $114.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017,
primarily due to certain fully amortized intangible assets, including portfolio premiums.

Interest expense, net. Total interest expense, net increased $86.9 million, or 19%, to $542.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 as compared to $455.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The net increase was due to the
following:

e  Securitization funding costs. Securitization funding costs increased $63.6 million due to higher average interest
rates, which increased funding costs by approximately $36.6 million, and higher average borrowings, which
increased funding costs by approximately $27.0 million.

e Interest expense on deposits. Interest expense on deposits increased $40.6 million due to higher average
borrowings, which increased interest expense by approximately $21.8 million, and higher average interest rates,
which increased interest expense by approximately $18.8 million.

e Interest expense on long-term and other debt, net. Interest expense on long-term and other debt, net decreased $17.3
million due to a $42.7 million decrease in interest expense on senior notes primarily due to the repayment of senior
notes due 2017 in December 2017 and senior notes due 2020 in April 2018, offset in part by a $26.5 million
increase in interest expense on term debt due to higher average interest rates due to increases in the LIBOR rate.

Taxes. Provision for income taxes decreased $23.8 million, or 8%, to $269.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2018 from $293.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, due to the reduction in the federal statutory rate pursuant to
tax reform enacted in December 2017. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2018 decreased to 22.2% as
compared to 27.6% for the year ended December 31, 2017. Additionally, income tax expense in 2018 was positively
impacted by a tax benefit associated with a foreign restructuring.

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes. Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes decreased $1.9
million, or 10%, to $17.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from $19.5 million the year ended December 31,
2017. Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes represents results of operations from our former Epsilon segment, as
well as certain direct costs identifiable to the Epsilon segment and allocations of interest expense on corporate debt.

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure equal to income from continuing operations, the most directly
comparable financial measure based on accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP,
plus stock compensation expense, provision for income taxes, interest expense, net, depreciation and other amortization, and
the amortization of purchased intangibles.

In 2019, adjusted EBITDA excluded costs for professional services associated with strategic initiatives, restructuring
and other charges as detailed in Note 14, “Restructuring and Other Charges,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, and loss related to the extinguishment of debt in July 2019. In 2016, adjusted EBITDA excluded the impact of
the cancellation of the AIR MILES Reward Program’s five-year expiry policy on December 1, 2016. In 2015, adjusted
EBITDA excluded costs associated with the consent orders with the FDIC. These costs, as well as stock compensation
expense, were not included in the measurement of segment adjusted EBITDA as the chief operating
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decision maker did not factor these expenses for purposes of assessing segment performance and decision making with
respect to resource allocations.

Adjusted EBITDA, net is also a non-GAAP financial measure equal to adjusted EBITDA less securitization funding
costs, interest expense on deposits and adjusted EBITDA attributable to the non-controlling interest. Effective April 1, 2016,
we acquired the remaining 20% interest in BrandLoyalty, which increased our ownership percentage to 100%.

We use adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, net as an integral part of our internal reporting to measure the
performance of our reportable segments and to evaluate the performance of our senior management, and we believe it
provides useful information to our investors regarding our performance and overall results of operations. Adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA, net are each considered an important indicator of the operational strength of our businesses. Adjusted
EBITDA eliminates the uneven effect across all business segments of considerable amounts of non-cash depreciation of
tangible assets and amortization of intangible assets, including certain intangible assets that were recognized in business
combinations. A limitation of this measure, however, is that it does not reflect the periodic costs of certain capitalized
tangible and intangible assets used in generating revenues in our businesses. Management evaluates the costs of such tangible
and intangible assets, such as capital expenditures, investment spending and return on capital and therefore the effects are
excluded from adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA also eliminates the non-cash effect of stock compensation expense.

Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, net are not intended to be performance measures that should be regarded as
an alternative to, or more meaningful than, either operating income, income from continuing operations or net income as
indicators of operating performance or to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. In addition, adjusted
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, net are not intended to represent funds available for dividends, reinvestment or other
discretionary uses, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

The adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, net measures presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies, and may not be identical to corresponding measures
used in our various agreements.

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

Income from continuing operations $ 5726 $ 9455 $ 769.2 $ 4802 $ 544.3
Stock compensation expense 25.1 44.4 41.3 41.5 42.5
Provision for income taxes 165.8 269.5 293.3 298.8 294.1
Interest expense, net 569.0 542.3 455.4 370.9 294.3
Depreciation and other amortization 79.9 80.7 73.7 67.3 60.3
Amortization of purchased intangibles 96.2 112.9 114.2 119.6 104.8
Impact of expiry () — — — 241.7 —
Regulatory settlement () — — — — 64.6
Strategic transaction costs () 11.7 — — — —
Restructuring and other charges () 118.1 — — — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt ) 71.9 — — — —

Adjusted EBITDA $ 17103 $ 19953 % 11,7471  $ 1,620.0 $ 1,404.9
Less: Securitization funding costs 213.4 220.2 156.6 125.6 97.1
Less: Interest expense on deposits 225.6 165.7 125.1 84.7 53.6
Less: Adjusted EBITDA attributable to non-

controlling interest — — — 55| 30.9

Adjusted EBITDA, net $ 12713 $§ 16094 $ 1,4654 $ 1,404.2  $ 1,223.3

() Represents the impact of the cancellation of the AIR MILES Reward Program’s five-year expiry policy on December 1, 2016.

(@ Represents costs associated with the consent orders with the FDIC to provide restitution to eligible customers and $2.5 million in civil
penalties.

(3 Represents costs for professional services associated with strategic initiatives.

() Represents costs associated with restructuring or other exit activities. See Note 14, “Restructuring and Other Charges,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

(5  Represents loss on extinguishment of debt resulting from the redemption price of senior notes and the write-off of deferred issuance
costs related to the July 2019 early extinguishment of $1.9 billion outstanding senior notes and the amendment to the
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credit agreement, which was effective upon the consummation of the sale of Epsilon. See Note 16, “Debt,” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

Segment Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA, net

Years Ended December 31, % Change
2019 2018
2019 2018 2017 to 2018 to 2017
(in millions, except percentages)
Revenue:
LoyaltyOne $ 1,033.1 $ 1,068.4 $ 1,303.5 3)% (18)%
Card Services 4,547.8 4,597.6 4,170.6 (1) 10
Corporate/Other 0.4 0.6 0.6 nm * nm *
Total $ 5,581.3 $ 5,666.6 $ 5,474.7 2)% 4%
Adjusted EBITDA, net:
LoyaltyOne $ 244.5 $ 254.2 $ 256.7 @)% ()%
Card Services 1,119.7 1,496.0 1,344.9 (25) 11
Corporate/Other (92.9) (140.8) (136.2) (34) 3
Total $ 1,271.3 $ 1,609.4 3 1,465.4 21)% 10 %

*  not meaningful

Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018

Revenue. Total revenue decreased $85.3 million, or 2%, to $5,581.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from
$5,666.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was due to the following:

e LoyaltyOne. Revenue decreased $35.3 million, or 3%, to $1,033.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
impacted by the decline in both the Euro and the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar, which resulted in a
$45.0 million decrease in revenue, and by a $43.0 million decrease in revenue related to the outsourcing of
additional rewards inventory recorded on a net basis. The declines were partially offset by strong performance in
Europe, Asia and Brazil related to our short-term loyalty programs.

e Card Services. Revenue decreased $49.8 million, or 1%, to $4,547.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
driven by a $109.0 million decrease in merchant fees as a result of increased payments associated with new clients
and a $10.0 million decrease in other servicing fees charged to cardholders related to certain payment protection
products. These decreases were offset in part by a $35.5 million increase in other servicing revenue related to fees
generated from servicing certain third-party credit card receivables and a $33.6 million increase in finance charges,
net due to an increase in normalized average receivables for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Adjusted EBITDA, net. Adjusted EBITDA, net decreased $338.1 million, or 21%, to $1,271.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 from $1,609.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The net decrease was due to the following:

e LoyaltyOne. Adjusted EBITDA, net decreased $9.7 million, or 4%, to $244.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019, as a result of an unfavorable foreign exchange rate impact due to the decline in both the Euro
and the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar, which resulted in an $8.3 million decrease in adjusted EBITDA,
net. Restructuring and other charges of $50.8 million and strategic transaction costs of $1.0 million were excluded
from adjusted EBITDA, net for the year ended December 31, 2019.

e Card Services. Adjusted EBITDA, net decreased $376.3 million, or 25%, to $1,119.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 primarily due to a $171.5 million increase in provision for loan loss, an $88.1 million increase
in valuation adjustments to certain portfolios within credit card receivables held for sale and a $53.1 million
increase in funding costs in the current year. Restructuring and other charges of $29.4 million were excluded from
adjusted EBITDA, net for the year ended December 31, 2019.

e Corporate/Other. Adjusted EBITDA, net improved $47.9 million to a loss of $92.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019 due to cost saving initiatives implemented in the first half of 2019, which among other
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items included reduced headcount, office space, charitable contributions and overall corporate overhead costs. Loss
on extinguishment of debt of $71.9 million, restructuring costs of $37.9 million and strategic transaction costs of
$10.7 million were excluded from adjusted EBITDA, net for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017

Revenue. Total revenue increased $191.9 million, or 4%, to $5,666.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 from
$5,474.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The net increase was due to the following:

e LoyaltyOne. Revenue decreased $235.1 million, or 18%, to $1,068.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018
primarily due to the adoption of ASC 606, which negatively impacted revenue by $283.4 million. This decrease
was offset in part by a 12% increase in revenue from our short-term loyalty programs primarily due to an increase
in the number of active programs in market.

e Card Services. Revenue increased $427.0 million, or 10%, to $4,597.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2018, driven by a $523.0 million increase in finance charges, net as a result of an 8% increase in average credit card
and loan receivables. This increase was offset in part by a decrease in servicing fees of $96.0 million, as merchant
fee revenue declined $75.2 million due to increased royalty payments to our retailers associated with higher
volumes and new clients, and other servicing fees charged to cardholders declined $19.2 million due in part to a
decline in revenue from certain payment protection products.

Adjusted EBITDA, net. Adjusted EBITDA, net increased $144.0 million, or 10%, to $1,609.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 from $1,465.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The net increase was due to the following:

e LoyaltyOne. Adjusted EBITDA, net decreased $2.5 million, or 1%, to $254.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018, as a result of lower margin programs in key markets within our short-term loyalty programs
and weakened performance in Asia.

e Card Services. Adjusted EBITDA, net increased $151.1 million, or 11%, to $1,496.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. Adjusted EBITDA, net was positively impacted by an increase in finance charges, net and a
decrease in the provision for loan loss, but offset in part by valuation adjustments to certain portfolios within credit
card receivables held for sale, higher funding costs, and an increase in payroll and benefit expenses to support in-
house collections and operational initiatives.

e  Corporate/Other. Adjusted EBITDA, net decreased $4.6 million to a loss of $140.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 due to an increase in professional fees, medical benefits and charitable contributions, which
were offset by a decrease in net foreign currency exchange losses realized and a decrease in incentive compensation
driven by bonuses in 2017 to our non-executive associates resulting from tax reform benefits.

Asset Quality

Our delinquency and net charge-off rates reflect, among other factors, the credit risk of our credit card and loan
receivables, the success of our collection and recovery efforts, and general economic conditions.

Delinquencies. A credit card account is contractually delinquent if we do not receive the minimum payment by the
specified due date on the cardholder’s statement. Our policy is to continue to accrue interest and fee income on all credit card
accounts beyond 90 days, except in limited circumstances, until the credit card account balance and all related interest and
other fees are paid or charged-off, typically at 180 days delinquent. When an account becomes delinquent, a message is
printed on the credit cardholder’s billing statement requesting payment. After an account becomes 30 days past due, a
proprietary collection scoring algorithm automatically scores the risk of the account becoming further delinquent. The
collection system then recommends a collection strategy for the past due account based on the collection score and account
balance and dictates the contact schedule and collections priority for the account. If we are unable to make a collection after
exhausting all in-house collection efforts, we may engage collection agencies and outside attorneys to continue those efforts.
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The following table presents the delinquency trends of our credit card and loan receivables portfolio:

December 31, % of December 31, % of
2019 Total 2018 Total
(in millions, except percentages)
Receivables outstanding - principal $ 18,413.1 100.0 % $ 16,869.9 100.0 %
Principal receivables balances contractually delinquent:
31 to 60 days $ 337.4 1.8% $ 303.2 1.8 %
61 to 90 days 233.6 1.3 207.9 1.3
91 or more days 496.5 2.7 443.4 2.6
Total $ 1,067.5 58% $ 954.5 5.7 %

Net Charge-Offs. Our net charge-offs include the principal amount of losses from cardholders unwilling or unable to pay
their account balances, as well as bankrupt and deceased credit cardholders, less recoveries and exclude charged-off interest,
fees and fraud losses. Charged-off interest and fees reduce finance charges, net while fraud losses are recorded as an expense.
Credit card and loan receivables, including unpaid interest and fees, are charged-off in the month during which an account
becomes 180 days contractually past due, except in the case of customer bankruptcies or death. Credit card and loan
receivables, including unpaid interest and fees, associated with customer bankruptcies or death are charged-off in each month
subsequent to 60 days after the receipt of notification of the bankruptcy or death, but in any case, not later than the 180-day
contractual time frame.

The net charge-off rate is calculated by dividing net charge-offs of principal receivables for the period by the average
credit card and loan receivables for the period. Average credit card and loan receivables represent the average balance of the
cardholder receivables at the beginning of each month in the periods indicated. The following table presents our net charge-
offs for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions, except percentages)
Average credit card and loan receivables $ 17,2982 $ 17,4121 $ 16,185.5
Net charge-offs of principal receivables 1,054.7 1,067.2 970.9
Net charge-offs as a percentage of average credit card and loan receivables 6.1 % 6.1 % 6.0 %

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity include cash generated from operating activities, our credit agreements and issuances of
debt or equity securities, our credit card securitization program and deposits issued by Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital
Bank. In addition to our efforts to renew and expand our current liquidity sources, we continue to seek new funding sources.
In April 2019, Comenity Capital Bank launched a consumer retail deposit platform, Comenity Direct™, to the public; retail
deposits comprised approximately $1.2 billion of our $12.2 billion deposits outstanding at December 31, 2019.

Our primary uses of cash are for ongoing business operations, repayments of our debt, capital expenditures, investments
or acquisitions, stock repurchases and dividends.

We may from time to time seek to retire or purchase our outstanding debt through cash purchases or exchanges for other
securities, in open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases or exchanges, if any,
will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors, and may
be funded through the issuance of debt securities. The amounts involved may be material.

On July 1, 2019, we sold our former Epsilon segment to Publicis Groupe S.A. for $4.4 billion in cash. Proceeds were
used for the repayment of corporate debt, share repurchases, and payment of taxes associated with the sale.

We believe that internally generated funds and other sources of liquidity discussed below will be sufficient to meet
working capital needs, capital expenditures, and other business requirements for at least the next 12 months.
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Cash Flow Activity

Operating Activities. We generated cash flow from operating activities of $1,217.7 million and $2,754.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease in operating cash flows of $1,537.2 million during the
year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily due to lower profitability and the sale of Epsilon in July 2019.

Investing Activities. Cash provided by investing activities was $2,860.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019,
and cash used in investing activities was $1,872.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Significant components of
investing activities are as follows:

Credit card and loan receivables. Cash decreased $2,586.8 million and $2,749.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, due to growth in credit card and loan receivables in each respective
year.

Proceeds from sale of business. Cash increased $4,409.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 due to the
sale of Epsilon on July 1, 2019.

Purchase of credit card portfolios. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we paid cash consideration of $924.8
million to acquire four credit card portfolios. No credit card portfolios were acquired in 2018.

Proceeds from sale of credit card portfolios. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we received cash
consideration of $2,061.8 million from the sale of 13 credit card portfolios. During the year ended December 31,
2018, we received cash consideration of $1,153.5 million from the sale of six credit card portfolios.

Capital expenditures. Cash paid for capital expenditures was $142.3 million and $199.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. We anticipate capital expenditures to continue to be less than 3% of
annual revenue.

Financing Activities. Cash used in financing activities was $4,091.7 million and $1,217.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Significant components of financing activities are as follows:

Debt. Cash decreased $2,870.5 million as a result of net repayments for the year ended December 31, 2019,
primarily due to the July 2019 early extinguishment of $1.9 billion outstanding senior notes upon consummation of
the sale of Epsilon and the mandatory payment of $500.0 million on our revolving credit facility. In December
2019, we issued $850.0 million in senior notes, of which the net proceeds of $833.0 million were used to make a
prepayment of our term debt under the credit agreement. Cash decreased $317.7 million in net repayments for the
year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to the redemption of $500.0 million senior notes due in 2020.

Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities. Cash decreased $367.2 million in net repayments

for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily due to net repayments under the conduit facilities. Cash decreased
$1,156.4 million in net repayments for the year ended December 31, 2018 due to $985.0 million in net repayments
under the conduit facilities and $171.4 million in net maturities under the asset-backed term notes.

Deposits. Cash increased $355.6 million and $864.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, due to new issuances, offset in part by timing of maturities.

Dividends. Cash paid for quarterly dividends and dividend equivalents was $127.4 million and $125.2 million for
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Treasury shares. Cash paid for treasury shares was $976.1 million and $443.2 million for the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Debt
Credit Agreement

At December 31, 2018, our credit agreement, as amended, provided for $3,052.6 million in term loans subject to certain
principal repayments and a $1,572.4 million revolving line of credit.

On April 30, 2019, we amended our credit agreement to provide that, upon consummation of the sale of Epsilon, the
maturity date of the credit agreement would be reduced by one year from June 14, 2022 to June 14, 2021, a mandatory
payment of $500 million of the revolving credit facility would be required, the aggregate revolving credit commitments
would be reduced in the same amount (to $1,072.4 million), all of our outstanding senior notes would be required to be
redeemed, net proceeds from future asset sales in excess of $50 million must be applied to repayment of the credit agreement
and certain other minor amendments.

In July 2019, we made a mandatory payment of $500.0 million on our revolving credit facility, with the aggregate
revolving credit commitments reduced to $1,072.4 million.

On December 20, 2019, we amended our credit agreement to extend the maturity date from June 14, 2021 to December
31, 2022, reduce the aggregate revolving credit commitments from $1,072.4 million to $750.0 million, add a consolidated
minimum tangible net worth covenant upon certain triggering events and make certain other amendments. The amendment
also required us to prepay the term loans to $2,028.8 million upon consummation of the offering of the Senior Notes due
2024, which obligation was satisfied in full with a prepayment of $833.0 million, representing the net proceeds from the
offering of the Senior Notes due 2024.

At December 31, 2019, our credit agreement, as amended, provided for $2,028.8 million in term loans subject to certain
principal repayments and a $750.0 million revolving line of credit. As of December 31, 2019, there were no amounts
outstanding under our revolving line of credit and the total availability was $750.0 million. Our total leverage ratio, as
defined in our credit agreement, was 1.6 to 1 at December 31, 2019, as compared to the maximum covenant ratio of 3.5 to 1.

As of December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with our debt covenants.

BrandLoyalty Credit Agreement

In September 2019, we repaid the €115.0 million in term loans outstanding under the BrandLoyalty credit agreement,
originally scheduled to mature in June 2020, and repaid the €32.5 million amount outstanding under the revolving line of
credit.

Senior Notes

In July 2019, with the proceeds from the Epsilon transaction, we extinguished all of our senior notes, which had an
outstanding balance of $1.9 billion.

In December 2019, we issued and sold $850.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.750% senior notes due December
15, 2024. The Senior Notes due 2024 accrue interest on the principal amount at the rate of 4.750% per annum from
December 20, 2019, payable semi-annually in arrears, on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15,
2020. The Senior Notes due 2024 will mature on December 15, 2024, subject to earlier repurchase or redemption.

See Note 16, “Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our debt.
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Funding Sources
Deposits

We utilize money market deposits and certificates of deposit to finance the operating activities, including funding for our
non-securitized credit card receivables, and fund securitization enhancement requirements of our bank subsidiaries,
Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank.

Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank offer non-maturity deposit programs through contractual arrangements with
various financial counterparties. As of December 31, 2019, Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank had $3.6 billion in
money market deposits outstanding with interest rates ranging from 1.84% to 3.50%. Money market deposits are redeemable
on demand by the customer and, as such, have no scheduled maturity date.

Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank issue certificates of deposit in denominations of at least $100,000 and
$1,000, respectively, in various maturities ranging between January 2020 and December 2024 and with effective annual
interest rates ranging from 1.33% to 4.00%. As of December 31, 2019, we had $8.6 billion of certificates of deposit
outstanding. Certificate of deposit borrowings are subject to regulatory capital requirements.

Securitization Program

We sell a majority of the credit card receivables originated by Comenity Bank to WFN Credit Company, LLC, which in
turn sells them to World Financial Network Credit Card Master Trust, World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note
Trust, or Master Trust I, and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Trust III, or Master Trust III, or collectively, the
WEFN Trusts, as part of our credit card securitization program, which has been in existence since January 1996. We also sell
our credit card receivables originated by Comenity Capital Bank to World Financial Capital Credit Company, LLC, which in
turn sells them to World Financial Capital Master Note Trust, or the WFC Trust. These securitization programs are a
principal vehicle through which we finance Comenity Bank’s and Comenity Capital Bank’s credit card receivables.
Historically, we have used both public and private term asset-backed securitization transactions as well as private conduit
facilities as sources of funding for our securitized credit card receivables. Private conduit facilities have been used to
accommodate seasonality needs and to bridge to completion of asset-backed securitization transactions.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Master Trust I issued $1.6 billion of asset-backed term notes with various
maturities ranging between February 2022 and September 2022, of which $74.1 million were retained by us and eliminated
from the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, $1.9 billion of asset-backed term notes matured and were repaid, of
which $347.9 million were retained by us and eliminated from the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2019, the WFN Trusts and the WFC Trust had approximately $13.5 billion of securitized credit card
receivables. Securitizations require credit enhancements in the form of cash, spread deposits, additional receivables and
subordinated classes. The credit enhancement is principally based on the outstanding balances of the series issued by the
WEN Trusts and the WFC Trust and by the performance of the credit card receivables in these credit card securitization
trusts.

We have access to committed undrawn capacity through three conduit facilities to support the funding of our credit card
receivables through Master Trust I, Master Trust III and the WFC Trust. As of December 31, 2019, total capacity under the
conduit facilities was $4.7 billion, of which $2.4 billion had been drawn and was included in non-recourse borrowings of
consolidated securitization entities in the consolidated balance sheets. Borrowings outstanding under each facility bear
interest at a margin above LIBOR or the asset-backed commercial paper costs of each individual conduit provider. The
conduits have varying maturities from September 2020 to April 2021 with variable interest rates ranging from 2.79% to
2.96% as of December 31, 2019.
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The following table shows the maturities of borrowing commitments as of December 31, 2019 for the WFN Trusts and
the WFC Trust by year:

2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
(in millions)
Term notes $ 1,4672 $ 1,8521 $ 1,571.7 $ — 3 — $ 4,891.0
Conduit facilities 2,480.0 2,175.0 — — — 4,655.0
Total @ $ 3,947.2 $ 40271 $ 1,571.7 $ — 3 — $ 9,546.0

(1) Amount represents borrowing capacity, not outstanding borrowings.

(2)  Total amounts do not include $1.4 billion of debt issued by the credit card securitization trusts, which was retained by us and has been
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

Early amortization events as defined within each asset-backed securitization transaction are generally driven by asset
performance. We do not believe it is reasonably likely that an early amortization event will occur due to asset performance.
However, if an early amortization event were declared, the trustee of the particular credit card securitization trust would
retain the interest in the receivables along with the excess interest income that would otherwise be paid to our bank
subsidiary until the credit card securitization investors were fully repaid. The occurrence of an early amortization event
would significantly limit or negate our ability to securitize additional credit card receivables.

We have secured and continue to secure the necessary commitments to fund our portfolio of credit card receivables
originated by Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank. However, certain of these commitments are short-term in nature
and subject to renewal. There is not a guarantee that these funding sources, when they mature, will be renewed on similar
terms or at all as they are dependent on the availability of the asset-backed securitization and deposit markets at the time.

See Note 16, “Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our
securitized debt.

Stock Repurchase Programs

We had an authorized stock repurchase program to acquire up to $500.0 million of our outstanding common stock from
August 1, 2018 through July 31, 2019. At December 31, 2018 we had $222.8 million remaining under the stock repurchase
program. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, we acquired a total of 1.3 million shares of our common stock for $222.8

million. At June 30, 2019, we did not have any amounts remaining under our authorization.

In July 2019, our Board of Directors authorized a new stock repurchase program to acquire up to $1.1 billion of our
outstanding common stock from July 5, 2019 through June 30, 2020.

In August 2019, we repurchased approximately 5.1 million shares of our outstanding common stock for an aggregate
cost of approximately $750.0 million as part of a “modified Dutch Auction” tender offer, as described in more detail in Note
19, “Stockholders’ Equity,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of December 31, 2019, we had $347.8 million remaining under our authorized stock repurchase program.

Dividends

For the year ended December 31, 2019, we paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.63 per share of $126.3 million and $1.1
million in cash related to dividend equivalent rights, for a total of $127.4 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, we paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.57 per share of $124.9 million and $0.3
million in cash related to dividend equivalent rights, for a total of $125.2 million.

On January 30, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.63 per share on our common
stock, payable on March 19, 2020 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 14, 2020.
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Contractual Obligations

In the normal course of business, we enter into various contractual obligations that may require future cash payments.
Our future cash payments associated with our contractual obligations and commitments to make future payments by type and
period as of December 31, 2019 are summarized below:

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total
(in millions)

Deposits D $ 7,189.8 $2303.7 $1,6381 $ 9640 $ 5329 $ —  $ 12,6285
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated

securitization entities (1 3,202.0 2,766.7 1,588.7 — — — 7,557.4
Long-term and other debt () 209.6 206.2 1,924.9 40.4 888.7 — 3,269.8
Operating leases 38.4 39.6 38.6 36.8 35.6 237.4 426.4
Software licenses 13.8 14.9 10.5 7.6 — — 46.8
ASC 740 obligations ) — — — — — — —
Purchase obligations ) 438.2 171.9 101.9 39.9 12.3 — 764.2

Total $11,091.8 $ 55030 $ 53027 $ 1,088.7 $ 1,469.5 $ 2374 $ 24,693.1

(1) The deposits, non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities and long-term and other debt represent our estimated
debt service obligations, including both principal and interest. Interest was based on the interest rates in effect as of December 31,
2019, applied to the contractual repayment period.

(2)  ASC 740 obligations do not reflect unrecognized tax benefits of $278.6 million, of which the timing remains uncertain.

(3)  Purchase obligations are defined as an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding and specifying
all significant terms, including the following: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price
provisions; and approximate timing of the transaction. The purchase obligation amounts disclosed above represent estimates of the
minimum for which we are obligated and the time period in which cash outflows will occur. Purchase orders and authorizations to
purchase that involve no firm commitment from either party are excluded from the above table. Purchase obligations include sponsor
commitments under our AIR MILES Reward Program, minimum payments under support and maintenance contracts and agreements
to purchase other goods and services.

We believe that we will have access to sufficient resources to meet these commitments.
Inflation and Seasonality

Although we cannot precisely determine the impact of inflation on our operations, we do not believe that we have been
significantly affected by inflation. For the most part, we have relied on operating efficiencies from scale, technology and
expansion in lower cost jurisdictions in select circumstances, as well as decreases in technology and communication costs, to
offset increased costs of employee compensation and other operating expenses. With respect to seasonality, our revenues,
earnings and cash flows are affected by increased consumer spending patterns leading up to and including the holiday
shopping period in the fourth quarter and, to a lesser extent, during the first quarter as credit card and loan receivable
balances are paid down.

Legislative and Regulatory Matters

Comenity Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the State of Delaware and the
FDIC. Comenity Capital Bank is subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by both the FDIC and the State of
Utah. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can trigger certain mandatory and possibly additional discretionary
actions by regulators. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, both
Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of its
assets and liabilities as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and classification are also
subject to qualitative judgments by these regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors. Both Comenity
Bank and Comenity Capital Bank are limited in the amounts that they can pay as dividends to us.

On September 10, 2019, Comenity Capital Bank submitted a bank merger application to the FDIC seeking the FDIC’s

approval to merge Comenity Bank with and into Comenity Capital Bank as the surviving bank entity. On the same date,
Comenity Capital Bank and Comenity Bank each submitted counterpart bank merger applications to the Utah

43




Table of Contents

Department of Financial Institutions and the Delaware Office of the State Bank Commissioner, respectively, in connection
with the proposed merger. The merger application remains subject to regulatory review and approval and no guarantee can be
provided as to the outcome or timing of such review.

Quantitative measures established by regulations to ensure capital adequacy require Comenity Bank and Comenity
Capital Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 and total capital to risk weighted
assets and of Tier 1 capital to average assets. Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank are considered well capitalized.
The actual capital ratios and minimum ratios as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Minimum Ratio to be
Minimum Ratio for Well Capitalized under

Actual Capital Adequacy Prompt Corrective
Ratio Purposes Action Provisions
Comenity Bank
Tier 1 capital to average assets 12.9 % 4.0 % 5.0 %
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.6 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.6 6.0 8.0
Total capital to risk-weighted assets 15.9 8.0 10.0
Comenity Capital Bank
Tier 1 capital to average assets 11.9 % 4.0 % 5.0 %
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.4 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.4 6.0 8.0
Total capital to risk-weighted assets 15.7 8.0 10.0

In September 2015, each bank entered into a consent order with the FDIC in settlement of the FDIC’s review regarding
the marketing, promotion and sale of certain add-on products; these consent orders were terminated in August 2018.

In August 2014, the SEC adopted a number of rules that will change the disclosure, reporting and offering process for
publicly registered offerings of asset-backed securities, including those offered under our credit card securitization program.
A number of rules proposed by the SEC in 2010 and 2011, such as requiring group-level data for the underlying assets in
credit card securitizations, were not adopted in 2014 but may be implemented by the SEC in the future with or without
modifications. The SEC has also issued an advance notice of proposed rulemaking relating to the exemptions that our credit
card securitization trusts rely on in our credit card securitization program to avoid registration as investment companies.

Regulations adopted by the FDIC, the SEC, the Federal Reserve and certain other federal regulators mandate a minimum
five percent risk retention requirement for securitizations issued on and after December 24, 2016, known as Regulation RR.
Such risk retention requirements may limit our liquidity by restricting the amount of asset-backed securities we are able to
issue or affecting the timing of future issuances of asset-backed securities; we intend to satisfy such risk retention
requirements by maintaining a seller’s interest calculated in accordance with Regulation RR.

Discussion of Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting policies that are described in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. We continually evaluate our judgments and estimates in determination of our financial condition and
operating results. Estimates are based on information available as of the date of the financial statements and, accordingly,
actual results could differ from these estimates, sometimes materially. Critical accounting estimates are defined as those that
are both most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and operating results and require management’s most
subjective judgments. The primary critical accounting estimates are described below.
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Allowance for Loan Loss.

‘We maintain an allowance for loan loss at a level that is appropriate to absorb probable losses inherent in credit card and
loan receivables. The estimate of our allowance for loan loss considers uncollectible principal as well as unpaid interest and
fees reflected in the credit card and loan receivables. While our estimation process includes historical data and analysis, there
is a significant amount of judgment applied in selecting inputs and analyzing the results to determine the allowance for loan
loss. We use a migration analysis to estimate the future likelihood that a credit card or loan receivable will progress through
the various stages of delinquency and to charge-off based on historical performance. In evaluating the allowance for loan loss
for both principal and unpaid interest and fees, past and current credit card and loan performance is considered in addition to
factors that may impact loan loss experience, including seasoning and growth, account collection strategies, economic
conditions, bankruptcy filings, policy changes, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties. Given the same information,
others may reach different reasonable estimates.

If we used different assumptions in estimating net charge-offs that could be incurred, the impact to the allowance for
loan loss could have a material effect on our consolidated financial condition and results of operations. For example, a 100
basis point change in our estimate of incurred net loan losses could have resulted in a change of approximately $186 million
in the allowance for loan loss at December 31, 2019, with a corresponding change in the provision for loan loss.

Effective January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.” For
additional information regarding the impact of this standard, see “Recently Issued Accounting Standards” under Note 2,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition.

We recognize revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customer, in an amount that
reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. In that determination, under
ASC 606, we follow a five-step model that includes: (1) determination of whether a contract, an agreement between two or
more parties that creates legally enforceable rights and obligations, exists; (2) identification of the performance obligations in
the contract; (3) determination of the transaction price; (4) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract; and (5) recognition of revenue when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied.

We enter into contracts with customers that may include multiple performance obligations. The transaction price is
allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. If the standalone selling price is
not directly observable, we estimate the standalone selling price based on either the adjusted market assessment or cost plus a
margin approach.

Certain of our contracts may provide for variable consideration. We estimate these amounts based on either the expected
amount or most likely amount to be provided to the customer to determine the transaction price for the contract. The
estimation method is consistent for contracts with similar terms and is applied consistently throughout each contract. The
estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are
based largely on an assessment of the anticipated performance and all information that is reasonably available.

AIR MILES Reward Program. The AIR MILES Reward Program collects fees from its sponsors based on the number of
AIR MILES reward miles issued and, in limited circumstances, the number of AIR MILES reward miles redeemed. Because
management has determined that the earnings process is not complete at the time an AIR MILES reward mile is issued, the
recognition of redemption and service revenue is deferred. Under certain of our contracts, a portion of the consideration is
paid to us upon the issuance of AIR MILES reward miles and a portion is paid at the time of redemption and therefore, we do
not have a redemption obligation related to these contracts.

Total consideration from the issuance of AIR MILES reward miles is allocated to three performance obligations:
redemption, service, and brand, based on a relative standalone selling price basis.

The estimated standalone selling price for the redemption and the service performance obligations are based on cost plus

a reasonable margin. The estimated standalone selling price of the brand performance obligation is determined using a relief
from royalty approach. Accordingly, management determines the estimated standalone selling price by
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considering multiple inputs and methods, including discounted cash flows and available market data in consideration of
applicable margins and royalty rates to utilize. The number of AIR MILES reward miles issued and redeemed are factored
into the estimates, as management estimates the standalone selling prices and volumes over the term of the respective
agreements in order to determine the allocation of consideration to each performance obligation delivered. The redemption
performance obligation incorporates the expected number of AIR MILES reward miles to be redeemed, and therefore, the
amount of redemption revenue recognized is subject to management’s estimate of breakage, or those AIR MILES reward
miles estimated to be unredeemed by the collector base. Additionally, the estimated life of an AIR MILES reward mile
impacts the timing of revenue recognition.

Breakage and the life of an AIR MILES reward mile are based on management’s estimate after viewing and analyzing
various historical trends including vintage analysis, current run rates and other pertinent factors, such as the impact of
macroeconomic factors and changes in the program structure.

Throughout 2018 and 2019, our estimated breakage rate remained 20%. Our cumulative redemption rate, which
represents program to date redemptions divided by program to date issuance, is 70% as of December 31, 2019. We expect the
ultimate redemption rate will approximate 80% based on our historical redemption patterns, statistical regression models, and
consideration of enacted program changes, as applicable.

Throughout 2018 and 2019, our estimated life of an AIR MILES reward mile remained 38 months. We estimate that a
change to the estimated life of an AIR MILES reward mile of one month would impact revenue by approximately $5 million.

Any future changes in collector behavior could result in further changes in our estimates of breakage or life of an AIR
MILES reward mile.

As of December 31, 2019, we had $922.0 million in deferred revenue related to the AIR MILES Reward Program that
will be recognized in the future. Further information is provided in Note 3, “Revenue,” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Goodwill.

We test goodwill for impairment annually, as of July 31, or when events and circumstances change that would indicate
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. ASC 350, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other,” permits the assessment of
qualitative factors to determine whether events and circumstances lead to the conclusion that it is necessary to perform the
two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test required under ASC 350. ASC 350 also allows the option to skip the
qualitative assessment and proceed directly to a quantitative assessment.

For our qualitative analysis, we consider the totality of relevant events and circumstances that affect the fair value or
carrying value of the reporting unit. These events and circumstances include macroeconomic conditions, industry and
competitive environment conditions, overall financial performance, reporting unit specific events and market considerations.
We may also consider recent valuations of the reporting unit, including the magnitude of the difference between the most
recent fair value estimate and the carrying value, as well as both positive and adverse events and circumstances, and the
extent to which each of the events and circumstances identified may affect the comparison of a reporting unit’s fair value
with its carrying value. If the qualitative assessment results in a conclusion that it is more likely than not that the fair value of
a reporting unit exceeds the carrying value, then no further testing is performed for that reporting unit.

For our quantitative analysis, the fair value of the reporting units is estimated using both an income- and market-based
approach. Our income-based approach utilizes a discounted cash flow analysis based on management's estimates of
forecasted cash flows, with those cash flows discounted to present value using rates commensurate with the risks associated
with those cash flows. The valuation includes assumptions related to revenue growth and profit performance, capital
expenditures, the discount rate and other assumptions that are judgmental in nature. Changes in these estimates and
assumptions could materially affect the results of our tests for goodwill impairment. The market-based approach involves an
analysis of market multiples of revenues and earnings to a group of comparable public companies and recent transactions, if
any, involving comparable companies. While the guideline companies in the market-based valuation method have
comparability to the reporting units, they may not fully reflect the market share, product portfolio and operations of the
reporting units. In addition, we also consult independent valuation experts in applying these valuation
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techniques. We generally base our measurement of the fair value of a reporting unit on a blended analysis of the present
value of future discounted cash flows and the market-based valuation approach.

For the 2019 annual impairment test, we performed a qualitative analysis for the Card Services reporting unit and
determined that it was more likely than not that there was no impairment of goodwill. We performed a quantitative analysis
for the reporting units within the LoyaltyOne segment, identified as BrandLoyalty and LoyaltyOne excluding BrandLoyalty.
We determined there was no impairment of goodwill on these reporting units.

As of December 31, 2019, we had goodwill of approximately $954.9 million. The following table presents the
December 31, 2019 goodwill by reporting unit as well as the percentage by which fair value of the reporting units exceeded
carrying value as of the 2019 annual impairment test:

Approximate
Reporting Unit Goodwill Excess Fair Value %
(in millions, except percentages)
BrandLoyalty $ 498.1 <10%
LoyaltyOne excluding BrandLoyalty 192.8 360 - 400%
Card Services 264.0 @

Total $ 954.9

(1) In 2019, the Company elected to perform a qualitative analysis for Card Services. In 2018, the fair value of Card Services exceeded
carrying value by approximately 390 to 460 percent.

As with all assumptions, there is an inherent level of uncertainty and actual results, to the extent they differ from those
assumptions, could have a material impact on fair value. For example, a reduction in customer demand would impact our
assumed growth rate resulting in a reduced fair value, or multiples for similar type reporting units could deteriorate due to
changes in technology or a downturn in economic conditions. Potential events or circumstances could have a negative effect
on the estimated fair value. The loss of a major customer or program could have a significant impact on the future cash flows
of the reporting unit(s).

We do not currently believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in estimates or
assumptions used to test goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment. However, if actual results are not consistent
with our estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed to an impairment charge that could be material.

Income Taxes.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, 740, “Income
Taxes.” The application of income tax law is inherently complex. Laws and regulations in this area are voluminous and are
often ambiguous. As such, we are required to make many subjective assumptions and judgments regarding our income tax
exposures. Interpretations of, and guidance surrounding, income tax laws and regulations change over time. Changes in our
subjective assumptions and judgments can materially affect amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets and
statements of income. See Note 22, “Income Taxes,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail
on our uncertain tax positions and further information regarding ASC 740.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See “Recently Issued Accounting Standards” under Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of certain accounting standards that we have recently adopted and
certain accounting standards that we have not yet been required to adopt and may be applicable to our future financial
condition, results of operations or cash flow.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and rates. Our primary market risks include interest

rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk.
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Interest Rate Risk. We have both fixed-rate and variable-rate debt, and are subject to interest rate risk in connection with
the issuance of variable-rate debt. Our interest expense, net was $569.0 million for 2019, treating our former Epsilon segment
as a discontinued operation. To manage our risk from market interest rates, we actively monitor interest rates and other
interest sensitive components to minimize the impact that changes in interest rates have on the fair value of assets, net
income and cash flow. To achieve this objective, we manage our exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates through the
use of fixed-rate debt instruments to the extent that reasonably favorable rates are obtainable with such arrangements. In
addition, we may enter into derivative instruments such as interest rate swaps and interest rate caps to mitigate our interest
rate risk on related financial instruments or to lock the interest rate on a portion of our variable debt. We do not enter into
derivative or interest rate transactions for trading or other speculative purposes.

The approach we use to quantify interest rate risk is a sensitivity analysis, which we believe best reflects the risk
inherent in our business. This approach calculates the impact on pre-tax income from an instantaneous and sustained increase
or decrease in interest rates of 1%. In 2019, a 1% increase or decrease in interest rates on our variable-rate debt would have
resulted in a change to our interest expense of approximately $83 million. Our use of this methodology to quantify the
market risk of financial instruments should not be construed as an endorsement of its accuracy or the appropriateness of the
related assumptions.

Credit Risk. We are exposed to credit risk relating to the credit card loans we make to our clients’ customers. Our credit
risk relates to the risk that consumers using the private label or co-brand credit cards that we issue will not repay their
revolving credit card loan balances. To minimize our risk of credit card loan charge-offs, we have developed automated
proprietary scoring technology and verification procedures to make risk-based origination decisions when approving new
accountholders, establishing or adjusting their credit limits and applying our risk-based pricing. We also utilize a proprietary
collection scoring algorithm to assess accounts for collections efforts if they become delinquent; after exhausting all in-house
collection efforts, we may engage collection agencies and outside attorneys to continue those efforts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk. We are exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. and the
Canadian dollar and between the U.S. dollar and the Euro. For the year ended December 31, 2019, an additional 10%
decrease in the strength of the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar and the Euro versus the U.S. dollar would have resulted
in an additional decrease in pre-tax income of approximately $13 million and $3 million, respectively. Conversely, a
corresponding increase in the strength of the Canadian dollar or the Euro versus the U.S. dollar would result in a comparable
increase to pre-tax income in these periods.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Our consolidated financial statements begin on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures.

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2019, we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based
upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of December 31, 2019, our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective. Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and include
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information we are required to disclose in such reports is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our
internal controls over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree or compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. In conducting
this evaluation, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this evaluation, management, with the
participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.

The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by Deloitte &
Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who also audited our consolidated financial statements.
Deloitte & Touche’s attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting appears on page F-
6.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the
Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of our stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31, 2019.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of our stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31, 2019.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of our stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31, 2019.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of our stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31, 2019.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of our stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC not later than 120 days after December 31, 2019.
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Item 15.

PART IV

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements
(2) Financial Statement Schedule

(3) The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or, where indicated, were

previously filed and are hereby incorporated by reference.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing
No. Filer Description Form Exhibit Date
3.1 (a) Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. 8-K 3.2 6/10/16
3.2 (a) Certificate of Designations of Series A Preferred Non-Voting Convertible 8-K 3.1 4/29/19

Preferred Stock of the Registrant
3.3 (a) Fifth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. 8-K 3.1 2/1/16
4.1 (a) Specimen Certificate for shares of Common Stock of the Registrant. 10-Q 4 8/8/03
*4.2 (a) Description of Registrant’s Common Stock
+10.1 (a) Alliance Data Systems Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, 8-K 10.1 11/24/17
amended and restated effective January 1, 2018.
+10.2 (a) Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan. DEF 14A A 4/29/05
+10.3 (a) Amendment Number One to the Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2005 Long 10-Q 10.8 11/9/09
Term Incentive Plan, dated as of September 24, 2009.
+10.4 (a) Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan. DEF 14A A 4/20/10
+10.5 (a) Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. DEF 14A B 4/20/15
+10.6 (a) Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Alliance 8-K 10.1 2/20/18
Data Systems Corporation 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
+10.7 (a) Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 8-K 10.2 2/20/18
Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2018 grant
EBT).
+10.8 (a) Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 8-K 10.2 2/20/19
Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2019 grant
ITSR).
+10.9 (a) Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 8-K 10.1 2/20/20
Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2020 grant
EBT).
+10.10 (a) Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 8-K 10.2 2/20/20

ITSR).
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121516000364/exhibit_3-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121519000085/exhibit_3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121516000262/exhibit_3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000104746903026831/a2114800zex-4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121517000236/exhibit_10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000095013405008459/d24296ddef14a.htm
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121520000033/exhibit_10-2.htm
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing
No. Filer Description Form  Exhibit Date
+10.11 (a) Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 8-K 10.3 2/20/20
Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2020 grant
Strategic)

+10.12 (a) Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 10-Q 10.10 8/8/08
the Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan.

+10.13 (a) Form of Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 10-K 10.52 2/28/13
the Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

+10.14 (a) Form of Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 10-Q 10.6 8/7/17
the Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

+10.15 (a) Alliance Data Systems Corporation Non-Employee Director Deferred 8-K 10.1 6/9/06
Compensation Plan.

+10.16 (a) Form of Alliance Data Systems Associate Confidentiality Agreement. 10-K 10.18 2/27/17

+10.17 (a) Form of Alliance Data Systems Corporation Indemnification Agreement for 8-K 10.1 6/5/15
Officers and Directors.

+10.18 (a) Alliance Data Systems Corporation 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, DEF 14A C 4/20/15
effective July 1, 2015.

+10.19 (a) LoyaltyOne, Inc. Registered Retirement Savings Plan, as amended. 10-Q 10.1 5/7/10

+10.20 (a) LoyaltyOne, Inc. Deferred Profit Sharing Plan, as amended. 10-Q 10.2 5/7/10

+10.21 (a) LoyaltyOne, Inc. Canadian Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective 10-Q 10.3 5/7/10
as of January 1, 2009.

+10.22 (a) Retirement Agreement, dated as of June 5, 2019, by and between Alliance Data 8-K 10.1 6/7/19
Systems Corporation, ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc. and Edward J.
Heffernan.

+10.23 (a) Executive Transition and Separation Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, 8-K 10.1 1/3/20
by and among Alliance Data Systems Corporation, ADS Alliance Data Systems,
Inc. and Melisa A. Miller.

10.24 (a) Amended and Restated License to Use the Air Miles Trade Marks in Canada, S-1 10.43 1/13/00

and Loyalty Management Group Canada Inc. (assigned by Air Miles
International Holdings N.V. to Air Miles International Trading B.V. by a
novation agreement dated as of July 18, 2001 and further assigned to AM

Corp., in connection with an asset purchase agreement dated August 25, 2017).
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121520000033/exhibit_10-3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312508171206/dex1010.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121513000051/exhibit_10-52.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121517000177/ads-20170630ex106dd924d.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000129993306004087/exhibit1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121517000063/ads-20161231ex101867906.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121515000137/exhibit_10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121515000099/form_def14a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312510111983/dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312510111983/dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312510111983/dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121519000109/exhibit_10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121520000002/exhibit_10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000091205700001201/0000912057-00-001201.txt
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Exhibit Filing
No. Filer Description Form  Exhibit Date
10.25 (a) Amended and Restated License to Use and Exploit the Air Miles Scheme in S-1 10.44 1/13/00

Canada, dated July 24, 1998, by and between Air Miles International Trading
B.V. and Loyalty Management Group Canada Inc. as assigned by Air Miles
International Trading B.V. to AM Royalties Limited Partnership, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Diversified Royalty Corp., in connection with an asset purchase
agreement dated August 25, 2017.
*#10.26 (a) Private Label Credit Card Program Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2018, by and
between Victoria’s Secret Stores, LL.C, Lone Mountain Factoring, LLC, L
Brands Direct Marketing, Inc., L. Brands Direct Fulfillment, Inc., Far West
Factoring, LL.C, Puerto Rico Store Operations LL.C, and Comenity Bank.
*10.27 (a) First Amendment to Private Label Credit Card Program Agreement, dated as of
July 1, 2019, by and between Victoria’s Secret Stores, LLC, Lone Mountain
Factoring, LL.C, L Brands Direct Marketing, Inc., L. Brands Direct Fulfillment,
Inc., Far West Factoring, LLC, Puerto Rico Store Operations LLC, and Comenity,
Bank.
10.28 (b) Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of 8-K 4.6 8/31/01
(o) January 17, 1996 as amended and restated as of September 17, 1999 and August
1,2001, by and among WEN Credit Company, LL.C, World Financial Network
National Bank, and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.29 (b) Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 8/4/04
(o) Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2004, among World Financial Network National
(d) Bank, WEN Credit Company, LLC and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.30 (b) Third Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 4/5/05
(o) Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2005, among World Financial Network
(d) National Bank, WEN Credit Company, LLC and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.31 (b) Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 6/15/07
(d) Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2007, among World Financial Network National
Bank, WEN Credit Company, LLC and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.32 (b) Fifth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 10/31/07
(c) Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2007, among World Financial Network
(d) National Bank, WEN Credit Company, LL.C and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.33 (b) Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 5/29/08
(d) Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2008, among World Financial Network National
Bank, WEN Credit Company, LL.C, and The Bank of New York Trust Company,
N.A.
10.34 (b) Seventh Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling and 8-K 4.2 6/30/10
(d) Servicing Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2010, among World Financial

Network National Bank, WEN Credit Company, LL.C, and The Bank of New

York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

53



http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000091205700001201/0000912057-00-001201.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000091205701531116/a2058322zex-4_6.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000110465904022067/a04-8661_1ex4d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000095013405006844/d23863exv4w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000095013407013486/d47576exv4w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000095013407022388/d50884exv4w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000095013408010459/d57243exv4w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000119312510151149/dex42.htm

Table of Contents

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing
No. Filer Description Form  Exhibit Date
10.35 (b) Supplemental Agreement to Second Amended and Restated Pooling and 8-K 4.1 8/12/10

(d) Servicing Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2010, among World Financial
Network National Bank, WEN Credit Company, LLC, and The Bank of New
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.
10.36 (b) Eighth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 11/14/11
(o) Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2011, among World Financial Network
(d) Bank, WEN Credit Company, LLC, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A.
10.37 (b) Ninth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 12/2/16
(o) Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2016, among Comenity Bank, WEN Credit
(d) Company, LLC, and MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
10.38 (b) Tenth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 8-K 4.1 8/20/18
(o) Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2018, among Comenity Bank, WEN Credit
(d) Company, LLC, and MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
10.39 (b) Collateral Series Supplement to Second Amended and Restated Pooling and 8-K 4.7 8/31/01
(o) Servicing Agreement, dated as of August 21, 2001, among WEN Credit
Company, LLC, World Financial Network National Bank and BNY Midwest
Trust Company.
10.40 (b) First Amendment to Collateral Series Supplement, dated as of November 7, 8-K 4.3 11/20/02
(o) 2002, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, World Financial Network National
Bank and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.41 (b) Second Amendment to Collateral Series Supplement, dated as of July 6, 2016, 8-K 4.1 7/8/16
(o) among WEN Credit Company, LL.C, Comenity Bank and MUFG Union Bank,
(d) N.A.
10.42 (b) Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2001, between WEN 8-K 4.3 8/31/01
(c) Credit Company, LL.C, World Financial Network National Bank, and World
Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.43 (b) First Amendment to the Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of 8-K 4.2 11/20/02
(c) November 7, 2002, among WEN Credit Company, LL.C, World Financial
Network National Bank and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note
Trust.
10.44 (b) Third Amendment to the Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of May 19, 8-K 4.2 8/4/04
(©) 2004, among WEN Credit Company, LL.C, World Financial Network National
(d) Bank and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.45 (b) Fourth Amendment to the Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of March 8-K 4.2 4/5/05
(©) 30, 2005, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, World Financial Network
(d) National Bank and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
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10.46 (b) Fifth Amendment to the Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of June 13, 8-K 4.2 6/15/07

(d) 2007, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, World Financial Network National
Bank and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.47 (b)  Sixth Amendment to the Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of October 8-K 4.2 10/31/07
(© 26,2007, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, World Financial Network
(d)  National Bank and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.48 (b) Seventh Amendment to Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of June 28, 8-K 4.4 6/30/10
(d) 2010, among World Financial Network National Bank, WEN Credit Company,
LLC, and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.49 (b) Supplemental Agreement to Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of 8-K 4.3 8/12/10
(d) August 9, 2010, among World Financial Network National Bank, WEN Credit
Company, LLC, and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.50 (b) Eighth Amendment to Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of June 15, 8-K 4.1 6/15/11
(o) 2011, among World Financial Network National Bank, WEN Credit Company,
(d) LLC, and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.51 (b) Ninth Amendment to Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of November 8-K 4.3 11/14/11
(o) 9,.2011, among World Financial Network Bank, WEN Credit Company, LLC,
(d) and World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.52 (b) Tenth Amendment to the Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of July 6, 8-K 44 7/8/16
(o) 2016, among Comenity Bank, WEN Credit Company, LL.C and World Financial
(d) Network Credit Card Master Note Trust.
10.53 (b) Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2001, between World 8-K 4.8 8/31/01
(o) Financial Network National Bank and WEN Credit Company, LLC.
10.54 (b) First Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 28, 8-K 4.3 6/30/10
(d) 2010, between World Financial Network National Bank and WEN Credit
Company, LLC.
10.55 (b) Supplemental Agreement to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of 8-K 4.2 8/12/10
(d) August 9, 2010, between World Financial Network National Bank and WEN
Credit Company, LLC.
10.56 (b) Second Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 8-K 4.2 11/14/11
(c) 9,2011, between World Financial Network Bank and WEN Credit Company,
(d LLC.
10.57 (b) Third Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 6, 2016, 8-K 4.2 7/8/16
(©) between Comenity Bank and WEN Credit Company, LLC.
(@
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10.58 (b) Master Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2001, between World Financial Network 8-K 4.1 8/31/01

(o) Credit Card Master Note Trust and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.59 (b) Omnibus Amendment, dated as of March 31, 2003, among WEN Credit 8-K 4 4/22/03
(o) Company, LLC, World Financial Network Credit Card Master Trust, World
Financial Network National Bank and BNY Midwest Trust Company.
10.60 (b) Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of August 13, 2003, between World 8-K 4.2 8/28/03
(o) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and BNY Midwest Trust
Company.
10.61 (b) Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated as of June 13, 2007, between World 8-K 4.3 6/15/07
(d) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and BNY Midwest Trust
Company.
10.62 (b) Supplemental Indenture No. 3, dated as of May 27, 2008, between World 8-K 4.2 5/29/08
(d) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and The Bank of New York
Trust Company, N.A.
10.63 (b Supplemental Indenture No. 4, dated as of June 28, 2010, between World 8-K 4.1 6/30/10
(d) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A.
10.64 (b) Supplemental Indenture No. 5, dated as of February 20, 2013, between World 8-K 4.2 2/22/13
(©) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and Union Bank, N.A.
(d
10.65 (b) Supplemental Indenture No. 6 to Master Indenture, dated as of July 6, 2016, 8-K 4.3 7/8/16
(©) between World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG
(d) Union Bank, N.A.
10.66 (b) Omnibus Amendment, dated as of July 10, 2017, between World Financial 8-K 4.1 7/11/17
(©) Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
(@
10.67 (b) Agreement of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated as of June 26, 8-K 4.1 6/26/12
(o) 2012, by and among World Financial Network Bank, World Financial Network
(d) Credit Card Master Note Trust, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A., and Union Bank, N.A.
10.68 (b) Agreement of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated as of June 26, 8-K 4.2 6/26/12
(o) 2012, by and among WEN Credit Company, LLC, The Bank of New York
(d) Mellon Trust Company, N.A., and Union Bank, N.A.
10.69 (b) Series 2015-B Indenture Supplement, dated as of August 21, 2015, between 8-K 4.1 8/25/15
(o) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union
(d) Bank, N.A.
10.70 (b) Series 2016-A Indenture Supplement, dated as of July 27, 2016, between World 8-K 4.1 7/28/16
(c) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
(d
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10.71 (b) Series 2017-A Indenture Supplement, dated as of May 22, 2017, between World 8-K 4.1 5/24/17
(o) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
(@

10.72 (b) Series 2017-C Indenture Supplement, dated as of November 15, 2017, between 8-K 4.1 11/17/17
(o) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union
(d) Bank, N.A.

10.73 (b) Series 2018-A Indenture Supplement, dated as of February 28, 2018, between 8-K 4.1 3/5/18
(o) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union
(d) Bank, N.A.

10.74 (b) Omnibus Amendment, dated as of May 3, 2018, between World Financial 8-K 4.1 5/4/18
() Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A.
()

10.75 (b) Series 2018-B Indenture Supplement, dated as of September 27, 2018, between 8-K 4.1 9/28/18
(o) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union
(d) Bank, N.A.

10.76 (b) First Amendment to Series 2018-B Indenture Supplement, dated as of November 8-K 4.2 11/8/18
(o) 7,.2018, between World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and
(d) MUEFG Union Bank, N.A.

10.77 (b)  Series 2018-C Indenture Supplement, dated as of November 7, 2018, between 8-K 4.1 11/8/18
() World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union
(d)  Bank,N.A.

10.78 (b)  Series 2019-A Indenture Supplement, dated as of February 20, 2019, between 8-K 41 2/21/19
() World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union
(@  Bank, N.A.

10.79 (b) Series 2019-B Indenture Supplement, dated as of June 26, 2019, between World 8-K 4.1 6/28/19
(o) Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Bank, N.A.
(@

10.80 (b) Series 2019-C Indenture Supplement, dated as of September 18, 2019, between 8-K 4.1 9/20/19
(©) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union
(d) Bank, N.A.

10.81 (b) Amended and Restated Trust Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2001, between 8-K 4.4 8/31/01
(c) WEN Credit Company, LLC and Chase Manhattan Bank USA, National

Association.

10.82 (b) Administration Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2001, between World Financial 8-K 4.5 8/31/01

(©) Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and World Financial Network National
Bank.

10.83 (b) First Amendment to Administration Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2009, 8-K 4.1 7/31/09

(d) between World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and World

Financial Network National Bank.
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10.84 (b) Third Amended and Restated Service Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2019, 8-K 99.1 4/23/19

(o) between Comenity Servicing LLC and Comenity Bank.
(@
10.85 (b) First Addendum to Appendix A of Third Amended and Restated Service 8-K 99.1 11/1/19
() Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2019 between Comenity Servicing LLC
(d) and Comenity Bank.
10.86 (b) Second Addendum to Appendix A of Third Amended and Restated Service 8-K 99.2 11/1/19
() Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2019, between Comenity Servicing LL.C and
(d) Comenity Bank.
10.87 (b) Asset Representations Review Agreement, dated as of July 6, 2016, among 8-K 10.1 7/8/16
(c) Comenity Bank, WEN Credit Company, LLC, World Financial Network Credit
(d) Card Master Note Trust and FTI Consulting, Inc.
10.88 (a) Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2001, between 10-Q 10.5 11/7/08
World Financial Network National Bank and WEN Credit Company, LLC.
10.89 (a) First Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 24, 10-K 10.94 3/2/09
2008, between World Financial Network National Bank and WEN Credit
Company, LLC.
10.90 (a) Second Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 30, 10-K 10.127 2/28/11
2010, between World Financial Network National Bank and WEN Credit
Company, LLC.
10.91 (a) Supplemental Agreement to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of 10-K 10.128 2/28/11
August 9, 2010, between World Financial Network National Bank and WEN
Credit Company, LLC.
10.92 (a) Third Amendment to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 10-Q 10.4 11/7/11
30,2011, between World Financial Network Bank and WEN Credit Company,
ILILC.,
10.93 (a) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Trust I Amended and Restated 10-Q 10.6 11/7/08
Pooling and Servicing Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2001, among WEN
Credit Company, LL.C, World Financial Network National Bank, and The Chase
Manhattan Bank, USA, National Association.
10.94 (a) First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 10-Q 10.7 11/7/08
Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2004, among WEN Credit Company, LLC,
World Financial Network National Bank, and The Chase Manhattan Bank, USA,
National Association.
10.95 (a) Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 10-Q 10.8 11/7/08
Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2005, among WEN Credit Company, LLC,
World Financial Network National Bank, and The Chase Manhattan Bank, USA,
National Association
10.96 (a) Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing 10-Q 10.9 11/7/08

Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2007, among WEN Credit Company,

58



http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000110121519000078/exhibit_99-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000110121519000221/exhibit_99-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000110121519000221/exhibit_99-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1139552/000110121516000387/exhibit_10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312508229118/dex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312509042284/dex1094.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000114036111012449/ex10_127.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000114036111012449/ex10_128.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000110121511000135/ex10_4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312508229118/dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312508229118/dex107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312508229118/dex108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101215/000119312508229118/dex109.htm

Table of Contents

Exhibit
No.

Filer

Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

Exhibit

Filing
Date

10.97

10.98

10.99

10.100

10.101

10.102

10.103

10.104

10.105

10.106

10.107

10.108

(@

(@

(@

(@

@

(€)

(€)

(©)

(©)

(©)

(@

(@

LLC, World Financial Network National Bank, and Union Bank of California,
N.A. (successor to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.).

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing Agreement,
dated as of March 30, 2010, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, World
Financial Network National Bank, and Union Bank, N.A.

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing Agreement,
dated as of September 30, 2011, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, World
Financial Network Bank, and Union Bank, N.A.

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing Agreement,
dated as of December 1, 2016, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, Comenity
Bank, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas.

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing

Comenity Bank, and U.S. Bank National Association (successor to Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas).

Supplemental Agreement to Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing
Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2010, among WFN Credit Company, LLC,
World Financial Network National Bank, and Union Bank, N.A.

Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2008, between
World Financial Capital Bank and World Financial Capital Credit Company,
LLC.

Amendment No. 1 to Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 4, 2010,
between World Financial Capital Bank and World Financial Capital Credit
Company, LLC.

Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2008, among

and World Financial Capital Master Note Trust.

Amendment No. 1 to Transfer and Servicing Agreement, dated as of June 4,
2010, among World Financial Capital Credit Company, LLC, World Financial
Capital Bank and World Financial Capital Master Note Trust.

Master Indenture, dated as of September 29, 2008, between World Financial

Capital Master Note Trust and U.S. Bank National Association, together with
Supplemental Indenture Nos. 1 - 3.

Fourth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VEN Indenture Supplement, dated as
of February 28, 2014, between World Financial Network Credit Card Master
Note Trust and Union Bank, N.A.

First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VEN Indenture

Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A., formerly known as
Union Bank, N.A.
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Second Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VFN

Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A., formerly
known as Union Bank, N.A.

Third Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VFN Indenture

Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A., formerly known as
Union Bank, N.A.

Fourth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VEN

Network Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A., formerly
known as Union Bank, N.A.

Fifth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VFN Indenture

Credit Card Master Note Trust and MUFG Union Bank, N.A., formerly known
as Union Bank, N.A.

28, 2017, among WEN Credit Company, LLC, Comenity Bank and Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas.

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Series 2009-VFC1

Comenity Bank and U.S. Bank National Association (successor to Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas).

Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Series 2009-VFC1

Comenity Bank and U.S. Bank National Association (successor to Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas).

Fifth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VEN Indenture Supplement, dated as
of November 1, 2016, between World Financial Capital Master Note Trust and
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas.

First Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VEN Indenture
Master Note Trust and U.S. Bank National Association (successor to Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas).

Second Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Series 2009-VFEN Indenture
Master Note Trust and U.S. Bank National Association (successor to Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas).

Amended and Restated Facilities Agreement, by and among Brand Loyalty
Group B.V. and certain subsidiaries parties thereto, as borrowers and
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guarantors, Deutsche Bank AG, Amsterdam Branch (as Arranger), ING Bank
N.V. (as Arranger, Agent and Security Agent), Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. (as
Arranger) and NIBC Bank N.V. (as Arranger).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of June 14, 2017, by and

as guarantors, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent,
and various other agents and lenders.

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Incremental

subsidiaries parties thereto, as guarantors, Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent, and various other lenders.

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of

as guarantors, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent,
and various other lenders.

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of

of its subsidiaries as guarantors, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and various other agents and lenders.

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of

its subsidiaries as guarantors, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and various other agents and lenders.

N.A., as trustee (including the form of the Company’s 4.750% Senior Note due
December 15, 2024).

Groupe, S.A. and certain subsidiaries thereof

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Alliance Data Systems Corporation
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)_promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.
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Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Alliance Data Systems Corporation
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)_promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Alliance Data Systems Corporation
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Alliance Data Systems Corporation
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code.

The following financial information from Alliance Data Systems Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019,
formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Income, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income,
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101).

Filed herewith

+  Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement

#  Pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K, certain identified information has been excluded from this exhibit because it is
both not material and would likely cause competitive harm to the registrant if publicly disclosed. Schedules have been omitted
pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. Registrant hereby undertakes to furnish supplementally an unredacted copy of the
exhibit or a copy of any omitted schedule upon request by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

(a) Alliance Data Systems Corporation

(b) WEN Credit Company

(c) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Trust

(d) World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Alliance Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes
and the schedule listed in the index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 28, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606,
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” using the modified retrospective approach on January 1, 2018, and adopted ASC
842, “Leases,” using the modified retrospective approach on January 1, 2019.

Emphasis of a Matter

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company’s financial statements have been presented with its former
Epsilon segment as a discontinued operation.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether
due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements
that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures
that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments.
The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Allowance for Loan Loss — Refer to Notes 2 and 7 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

Management’s methodology for assessing the appropriateness of the allowance for loan loss (ALL) consists of a migration
analysis of delinquent and current credit card and loan receivables, along with analyzing and considering several other
relevant internal and external factors. The estimate of the ALL covers uncollectible principal as well as unpaid interest and
fees. Migration analysis is the technique used to estimate the future likelihood that a credit card or loan receivable will
progress through the various stages of delinquency and to charge-off based on historical performance. In evaluating the ALL
for both principal and unpaid interest and fees, management also considers factors that may impact loan loss experience,
including seasoning and growth, account collection strategies, economic conditions, bankruptcy filings, policy changes,
payment rates, and forecasting uncertainties. Based on management’s review of these relevant factors, they evaluate the
reasonableness of the ALL on an ongoing basis and whether any changes need to be made to the ALL methodology.

Given the significant judgments made by management when developing the migration analysis and considering the additional
relevant factors, performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of the estimated ALL required a high degree of
auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the ALL included the following, among others:

e We tested the effectiveness of controls over management’s ALL calculation, including those related to the migration
analysis of delinquent and current credit card and loan receivables used to estimate future net charge-offs and those
related to factors that may impact loan loss experience, including seasoning and growth, account collection strategies,
economic conditions, bankruptcy filings, policy changes, payment rates, and forecasting uncertainties.

o We tested the completeness and accuracy of the data inputs to the migration analysis of delinquent and current credit
card and loan receivables and evaluated the relevance of historical data as inputs.

e  We tested the mathematical accuracy of the historical charge-off trends and evaluated the relevance of historical data as
input to the historical charge-off trends.

e We evaluated the factors that may impact loan loss experience, including seasoning and growth, account collection
strategies, economic conditions, bankruptcy filings, policy changes, payment rates, and forecasting uncertainties for the
ALL by comparing to historical results, internal communications with management and the Board of Directors, and
information included in Company press releases, as well as analyst and industry reports regarding the Company and
selected companies in its peer group.

e We evaluated the completeness of factors that may impact loan loss experience considered by management and
compared such factors to our independent research of external information, including publicly available information for
its peer group.

Goodwill — BrandLoyalty Reporting Unit — Refer to Notes 2 and 13 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company tests goodwill of the BrandLoyalty reporting unit for impairment annually, as of July 31, or when events and
circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company’s evaluation of
goodwill for impairment involves the comparison of the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. The Company
estimated the fair value of its reporting units using both an income and market-based approach. The Company’s income
approach utilizes a discounted cash flow model based on management’s estimates of forecasted cash flows, with those cash
flows discounted to present value using rates commensurate with the risks associated with those cash flows. The valuation
includes assumptions related to revenue growth and profit performance, capital expenditures, the discount rate, and other
assumptions that are judgmental in nature. The market-based approach involves an analysis of market multiples of revenues
and earnings to a group of comparable public companies and recent transactions, if any, involving comparable companies.
The fair value of the BrandLoyalty reporting unit exceeded its carrying value as of the measurement date by less than 10%
and, therefore, no impairment was recognized.
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Given the significant judgments made by management to estimate the fair value, and the difference between the fair value
over carrying value of the BrandLoyalty reporting unit, performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of
management’s estimates and assumptions related to the forecasts of revenue growth and profit performance, the selection of
the discount rate, and the selection of a market multiple required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of
effort, including involvement of our fair value specialists.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

e  We tested the effectiveness of controls over goodwill, including those over the forecasts of future revenue growth and
profit performance, the selection of the discount rate, and the selection of a market multiple.

e We evaluated management’s ability to accurately forecast by comparing actual results to management’s historical
forecasts.

e We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s forecasts of future revenues and profit performance including
operating margins, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) by comparing the forecasts to:

- Historical results,
- Internal communications to management and the Board of Directors,

- Forecasted information included in Company press releases, as well as analyst and industry reports for the Company
and certain peer companies.

e We evaluated the impact of actual results of revenues, operating margins, EBIT, and EBITDA from the measurement
date through year-end to the forecasted amounts.

e  With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the valuation methodologies, the discount rate, and the
market multiple by:

- Testing the source information underlying the determination of both the discount rate and the market multiple,
- Testing the mathematical accuracy of the calculations,

- Developing a range of independent estimates and comparing those to the discount rate and market multiple selected
by management.

Disclosure of ASU 2016-13 Adoption — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,” which
introduces a forward-looking “expected loss” model (the “Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL)” model) to estimate credit
losses over the remaining expected life of the Company’s loan portfolio upon adoption, rather than the incurred loss model
under current accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Estimates of expected credit losses
under the CECL model are based on relevant information about past events, current conditions, and reasonable and
supportable forward-looking forecasts regarding the collectability of the loan portfolio.

The Company formed a cross-functional implementation team to oversee the implementation of the standard, the loss
forecasting models, and the processes and controls necessary to satisfy the requirements of ASU 2016-13. Management
expects an increase in the ALL at adoption of $644 million, which will be recorded through a cumulative-effect adjustment to
retained earnings—net of taxes.

Given the estimation of credit losses significantly changes under the CECL model due to the application of new accounting
policies, the use of new subjective judgments, and changes made to the loss forecasting models, performing audit procedures
to evaluate the disclosure of ASU 2016-13 adoption involved a high degree of auditor judgment and required significant
effort, including the need to involve our credit-modeling specialists.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the disclosure of ASU 2016-13 adoption included the following, among others:

We tested the effectiveness of management’s controls over the implementation of the CECL standard including the
controls over the loss forecasting models.

We evaluated the Company’s accounting policies, methodologies, and elections involved in the adoption of the CECL
models.

We evaluated the completeness of the Company’s disclosure related to the adoption of ASU 2016-13.

We used our credit-modeling specialists to assist us in evaluating the appropriateness of the models used to determine the
CECL estimate and examine logic for selected components of the models.

We used our credit-modeling specialists to assist us in evaluating the reasonableness of the economic assumptions and
the portfolio segmentation used in the models.

We used our credit-modeling specialists to assist us in evaluating the reasonableness of the forecast period over which
the key economic assumptions are applied, by evaluating management’s support for the reasonable and supportable
forecast period used.

We evaluated the assumption of how expected credit card payments are applied to existing credit card balances to
determine if it is reasonable and consistent with the CECL standard. We used our credit-modeling specialists to evaluate
the conceptual soundness of the approach and its implementation within the CECL modeling framework.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 28, 2020

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1998.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Alliance Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company and our
report dated February 28, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an explanatory
paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of new accounting standards and an emphasis of matter paragraph regarding the
discontinued operations presentation.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 28, 2020
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2019 2018
(in millions, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,8744  $ 3,817.4
Accounts receivable, net, less allowance for doubtful accounts ($3.4 and $0.4 at December 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively) 451.1 404.0

Credit card and loan receivables:

Credit card receivables — restricted for securitization investors 13,504.2 13,418.3

Other credit card and loan receivables 5,958.9 4,436.7

Total credit card and loan receivables 19,463.1 17,855.0

Allowance for loan loss (1,171.1) (1,038.3)

Credit card and loan receivables, net 18,292.0 16,816.7
Credit card receivables held for sale 408.0 1,951.6
Inventories, net 218.0 248.0
Other current assets 268.4 293.2
Redemption settlement assets, restricted 600.8 558.6
Current assets of discontinued operations — 622.2

Total current assets 24,112.7 24,711.7
Property and equipment, net 282.3 288.2
Right of use assets - operating 264.3 —
Deferred tax asset, net 45.2 44.0
Intangible assets, net 153.3 217.4
Goodwill 954.9 954.8
Other non-current assets 682.1 636.4
Long-term assets of discontinued operations — 3,535.2

Total assets $ 26,4948 $ 30,387.7

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accounts payable $ 3008 $ 486.2
Accrued expenses 327.8 322.2
Current operating lease liabilities 22.6 —
Current portion of deposits 6,942.4 6,537.7
Current portion of non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities 3,030.8 2,717.6
Current portion of long-term and other debt 101.4 138.9
Other current liabilities 338.3 291.8
Deferred revenue 807.9 766.1
Current liabilities of discontinued operations — 223.5

Total current liabilities 11,872.0 11,484.0
Deferred revenue 114.1 109.2
Deferred tax liability, net 80.0 256.5
Long-term operating lease liabilities 291.7 —
Deposits 5,209.3 5,256.0
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities 4,253.2 4,934.1
Long-term and other debt 2,748.5 5,586.5
Other liabilities 337.7 392.4
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations — 36.9

Total liabilities 24,906.5 28,055.6

Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value; authorized, 200.0 shares; issued, 115.0 shares and 113.0 shares at

December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively 1.1 1.1
Additional paid-in capital 3,257.7 3,172.4
Treasury stock, at cost, 67.4 shares and 59.6 shares at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,

respectively (6,733.9) (5,715.7)
Retained earnings 5,163.3 5,012.4
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (99.9) (138.1)
Total stockholders’ equity 1,588.3 2,332.1
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 26,494.8 $ 30,387.7

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Revenues
Services
Redemption, net
Finance charges, net
Total revenue
Operating expenses

Cost of operations (exclusive of depreciation and amortization disclosed

separately below)
Provision for loan loss
General and administrative
Depreciation and other amortization
Amortization of purchased intangibles
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Securitization funding costs
Interest expense on deposits
Interest expense on long-term and other debt, net
Total interest expense, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Net income

Basic income (loss) per share (Note 4):
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net income per share

Diluted income (loss) per share (Note 4):
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net income per share

Weighted average shares (Note 4):
Basic

Diluted

Years Ended December 31,

2019

2018

2017

(in millions, except per share amounts)

$ 2155 $ 2954 $ 3675
637.3 676.3 935.3
4,728.5 4,694.9 4,171.9
5,581.3 5,666.6 5,474.7
2,687.8 2,537.2 2,469.5
1,187.5 1,016.0 1,140.1
150.6 162.5 159.3
79.9 80.7 73.7
96.2 112.9 114.2
71.9 — —
4,273.9 3,909.3 3,956.8
1,307.4 1,757.3 1,517.9
213.4 220.2 156.6
225.6 165.7 125.1
130.0 156.4 173.7
569.0 542.3 455.4
738.4 1,215.0 1,062.5
165.8 269.5 293.3
572.6 945.5 769.2
(294.6) 17.6 19.5

$ 2780 $ 9631 §$ 7887

$ 1125 $ 1724 $ 13.82

$ (89 $ 032 $ 035

$ 536 $ 1756 § 14.17

$ 1124 $ 1717 $ 1375

$ (578 $ 032 $ 035

$ 546 $ 1749 $ 14.10
50.0 54.9 55.7
50.9 55.1 55.9

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)
Net income $ 2780 $ 9631 $ 788.7
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available-for-sale 15.5 3.1 (7.3)
Tax benefit (expense) (2.3) 1.1 0.2
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available-for-sale, net of tax 13.2 (2.0) (7.1)
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 0.1 (0.1) 0.7)
Tax benefit — — 0.2
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax 0.1 (0.1) (0.5)
Unrealized gain (loss) on net investment hedge 6.5 39.1 (72.3)
Tax benefit (expense) (1.6) (9.5) 26.2
Unrealized gain (loss) on net investment hedge, net of tax 4.9 29.6 (46.1)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (inclusive of deconsolidation of $26.8
million related to sale of business for the year ended December 31, 2019) 20.0 (25.4) 64.2
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 38.2 2.1 10.5
Total comprehensive income, net of tax $ 3162 $ 9652 $ 799.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
C Stock Preferred Stock Paid-In Treasury  Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares A t  Capital Stock Earnings Loss Equity
(in millions)
January 1, 2017 1125 $ 1.1 — $ — $3,046.1 $(4,733.1) $3,4948 $ (150.7) $ 1,658.2
Net income — — — — — — 788.7 — 788.7
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — — 10.5 10.5
Stock-based compensation — — — — 75.1 — — — 75.1
Repurchases of common stock — — — — (14.3) (539.4) — — (553.7)
Dividends and dividend equivalent
rights declared ($0.52 per common
share) — — — — — — (116.4) — (116.4)
Other 0.3 — — — (7.1) — — — (7.1)
December 31, 2017 1128 $ 1.1 — $ — $3,09.8 $(5272.5) $4,167.1 $ (140.2) $ 1,855.3
Net income — — — — — — 963.1 — 963.1
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — — 2.1 2.1
Stock-based compensation — — — — 80.8 — — — 80.8
Repurchases of common stock — — — — — (443.2) — — (443.2)

Dividends and dividend equivalent

rights declared ($0.57 per common

share) — — — — — — (125.9) — (125.9)
Cumulative effect adjustment to

retained earnings in accordance

with ASC 606 — — — — — — 9.6 — 9.6
Cumulative effect adjustment to

retained earnings in accordance

with ASU 2016-01 — — — — — — (1.5) — (1.5)
Other 0.2 — — — (8.2) — — — (8.2)
December 31, 2018 1130 $ 1.1 — $ — $31724 $(5715.7) $5,0124 $ (138.1) $ 2,332.1
Net income — — — — — — 278.0 — 278.0
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — — 38.2 38.2
Stock-based compensation — — — — 54.5 — — — 54.5
Issuance of preferred stock — — 0.2 — 42.1 (42.1) — — —
Conversion of preferred stock to
common stock 1.5 — (0.2) — — — — — —
Repurchases of common stock — — — — — (976.1) — — (976.1)

Dividends and dividend equivalent
rights declared ($0.63 per common

share) — — — — — — (127.1) — (127.1)
Other 0.5 — — — (11.3) — — — (11.3)
December 31, 2019 1150 $ 1.1 — $ — $3257.7 $(6,733.9) $5163.3 $ (99.9) $ 11,5883

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(In millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income $ 278.0 $ 963.1 $ 788.7
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 249.3 487.3 497.6
Deferred income taxes (186.1) 16.3 (113.8)
Provision for loan loss 1,187.5 1,016.0 1,140.1
Non-cash stock compensation 54.8 80.8 75.1
Amortization of deferred financing costs 43.4 47.3 44.0
Gain on sale of business (512.2) — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt 71.9 —
Asset impairment charges 52.0 —
Change in other operating assets and liabilities, net of sale of business:
Change in deferred revenue 2.9 (17.5) (27.0)
Change in accounts receivable 4.1 (93.0) (10.3)
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses (255.0) (93.7) 167.4
Change in other assets (46.8) (29.8) (20.9)
Change in other liabilities 32.9 49.8 (24.9)
Originations of credit card and loan receivables held for sale — (4,799.0) (8,709.4)
Sales of credit card and loan receivables held for sale — 4,928.8 8,651.9
Other 241.0 198.5 140.6
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,217.7 2,754.9 2,599.1
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Change in redemption settlement assets (9.5) (42.2) (231.3)
Change in credit card and loan receivables (2,586.8) (2,749.6) (3,600.2)
Proceeds from sale of business 4,409.7 — —
Purchase of credit card portfolios (924.8) —
Proceeds from sale of credit card portfolios 2,061.8 1,153.5 797.7
Proceeds from sale of real estate 15.1 — —
Payments for acquired businesses, net of cash (6.7) — (945.6)
Capital expenditures (142.3) (199.8) (225.4)
Purchases of other investments (20.2) (89.5) (101.4)
Maturities/sales of other investments 60.0 47.4 42.5
Other 45 8.2 (4.4
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,860.8 (1,872.0) (4,268.1)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Borrowings under debt agreements 3,111.3 4,575.3 7,696.7
Repayments of borrowings (5,981.8) (4,893.0) (7,341.4)
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities 4,851.8 3,714.6 5,172.5
Repayments/maturities of non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities (5,219.0) (4,871.0) (3,320.3)
Net increase in deposits 355.6 864.1 2,543.2
Payment of debt extinguishment costs (46.1) — —
Payment of deferred financing costs (45.4) (25.8) (65.7)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 124 17.6 18.4
Dividends paid (127.4) (125.2) (115.5)
Purchase of treasury shares (976.1) (443.2) (553.7)
Other (27.0) (31.3) (29.3)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (4,091.7) (1,217.9) 4,004.9
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 3.6 (12.0) 10.3
Change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (9.6) (347.0) 2,346.2
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 3,967.7 4,314.7 1,968.5
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 3,958.1 $ 3,967.7 $ 4,314.7
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Interest paid p 671.9 h 719.8 551.4
Income taxes paid, net 1,070.6 234.0 344.1

The consolidated statements of cash flows are presented with the combined cash flows from discontinued operations with cash flows from continuing
operations within each cash flow statement category.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Description of the Business—Alliance Data Systems Corporation (“ADSC” or, including its consolidated subsidiaries
and variable interest entities, the “Company™) is a leading global provider of data-driven marketing and loyalty solutions
serving large, consumer-based businesses. The Company captures and analyzes data created during each customer
interaction, leveraging the insight derived from that data to enable clients to identify and acquire new customers and enhance
customer loyalty. The Company operates in two reportable segments: LoyaltyOne® and Card Services. LoyaltyOne provides
coalition and short-term loyalty programs through the Canadian AIR MILES® Reward Program and BrandLoyalty Group
B.V. (“BrandLoyalty”). Card Services encompasses credit card processing, billing and payment processing, customer care
and collections services for private label retailers as well as private label and co-brand retail credit card and loan receivables
financing, including securitization and other funding of certain credit card and loan receivables that it underwrites from its
private label and co-brand retail credit card programs.

Basis of Presentation—For purposes of comparability, certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to
the current year presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been presented with its former Epsilon® segment as a
discontinued operation. See Note 6, “Discontinued Operations,” for more information.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation—The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ADSC and
all subsidiaries in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. Controlling financial interest is determined by a
majority ownership interest and the absence of substantive third party participating rights. All intercompany transactions
have been eliminated.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 860, “Transfers and Servicing,” and ASC 810,
“Consolidation,” the Company is the primary beneficiary of World Financial Network Credit Card Master Trust (“Master
Trust”), World Financial Network Credit Card Master Note Trust (“Master Trust I”) and World Financial Network Credit
Card Master Trust III (“Master Trust I11”) (collectively, the “WFN Trusts), and World Financial Capital Master Note Trust
(the “WFC Trust”). The Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary for the WFN Trusts and the WFC Trust, as it is the
servicer for each of the trusts and is a holder of the residual interest. The Company, through its involvement in the activities
of these trusts, has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of such trusts,
and the obligation (or right) to absorb losses (or receive benefits) of the trusts that could potentially be significant. As such,
the Company consolidates these trusts in its consolidated financial statements.

For investments in any entities in which the Company owns 50% or less of the outstanding voting stock but in which the
Company has significant influence over operating and financial decisions, the Company applies the equity method of
accounting. In cases where the Company's equity investment is less than 20% and significant influence does not exist, such
investments are carried at cost.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable, net—Accounts receivable, net consist primarily of amounts receivable from customers, which are
recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for
estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable. The Company analyzes the appropriateness of its allowance for doubtful
accounts based on its assessment of various factors, including historical experience, the age of the accounts receivable
balance, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends, and changes in its customer payment terms and collection
trends. Account balances are charged-off against the allowance after all reasonable means of collection have been exhausted
and the potential for recovery is considered remote.
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (CONTINUED)

Credit Card and Loan Receivables— Credit card and loan receivables consist of credit card and loan receivables held
for investment. The Company sells a majority of the credit card receivables originated by Comenity Bank to WFN Credit
Company, LLC, which in turn sells them to the WFN Trusts as part of a securitization program. The Company also sells
certain of its credit card receivables originated by Comenity Capital Bank to World Financial Capital Credit Company, LLC,
which in turn sells them to the WFC Trust. The credit card receivables sold to each of the trusts are restricted for
securitization investors. All new originations of credit card and loan receivables are deemed to be held for investment at
origination because management has the intent and ability to hold them for the foreseeable future. In determining what
constitutes the foreseeable future, management considers the short average life and homogenous nature of the Company’s
credit card and loan receivables. In assessing whether these credit card and loan receivables continue to be held for
investment, management also considers capital levels and scheduled maturities of funding instruments used. Management
believes that the assertion regarding its intent and ability to hold credit card and loan receivables for the foreseeable future
can be made with a high degree of certainty given the maturity distribution of the Company’s money market deposits,
certificates of deposit and other funding instruments; the historic ability to replace maturing certificates of deposits and other
borrowings with new deposits or borrowings; and historic credit card payment activity. Due to the homogenous nature of the
Company’s credit card and loan receivables, amounts are classified as held for investment on an individual client portfolio
basis.

Credit Card and Loan Receivables Held for Sale—Credit card and loan receivables held for sale are determined on an
individual client portfolio basis. The Company carries these assets at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value. The fair value
of the credit card and loan receivables held for sale is determined on an aggregate homogeneous portfolio basis. The
Company continues to recognize finance fees on these credit card and loan receivables on the accrual basis. Cash flows
associated with credit card portfolios that are purchased with the intent to sell are included in cash flows from operating
activities. Cash flows associated with credit card and loan receivables originated or purchased for investment are classified as
investing cash flows, regardless of a subsequent change in intent.

Transfers of Financial Assets—The Company accounts for transfers of financial assets under ASC 860, “Transfers and
Servicing,” as either sales or financings. Transfers of financial assets that result in sales accounting are those in which (1) the
transfer legally isolates the transferred assets from the transferor, (2) the transferee has the right to pledge or exchange the
transferred assets and no condition both constrains the transferee’s right to pledge or exchange the assets and provides more
than a trivial benefit to the transferor and (3) the transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets. If
the transfer of financial assets does not meet these criteria, the transfer is accounted for as a financing. Transfers of financial
assets that are treated as sales are removed from the Company’s accounts with any realized gain or loss reflected in income
during the period of sale.

Allowance for Loan Loss—The Company maintains an allowance for loan loss at a level that is appropriate to absorb
probable losses inherent in credit card and loan receivables. The estimate of the allowance for loan loss covers uncollectible
principal as well as unpaid interest and fees. The allowance for loan loss is evaluated monthly for appropriateness.

In estimating the allowance for principal loan losses, management utilizes a migration analysis of delinquent and current
credit card and loan receivables. Migration analysis is a technique used to estimate the likelihood that a credit card or loan
receivable will progress through the various stages of delinquency and to charge-off. The allowance is maintained through an
adjustment to the provision for loan loss. Charge-offs of principal amounts, net of recoveries are deducted from the
allowance.

In estimating the allowance for uncollectible unpaid interest and fees, the Company utilizes historical charge-off trends,
analyzing actual charge-offs for the prior three months. The allowance is maintained through an adjustment to finance
charges, net.

In evaluating the allowance for loan loss for both principal and unpaid interest and fees, management also considers

factors that may impact loan loss experience, including seasoning and growth, account collection strategies, economic
conditions, bankruptcy filings, policy changes, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties.
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Effective January 1, 2020, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, “Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.” For additional information regarding the impact of the new standard, see “Recently
Issued Accounting Standards” below.

Inventories, net—Inventories, net are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value and valued primarily on a first-
in-first-out basis. The Company records valuation adjustments to its inventories if the cost of inventory exceeds the amount it
expects to realize from the ultimate sale or disposal of the inventory. These estimates are based on management’s judgment
regarding future market conditions and an analysis of historical experience.

Redemption Settlement Assets, Restricted—The cash and investments related to the redemption fund for the AIR
MILES Reward Program are subject to a security interest which is held in trust for the benefit of funding redemptions by
collectors. These assets are restricted to funding rewards for the collectors by certain of the Company’s sponsor contracts.
Investments in equity securities are stated at fair value, with holding gains and losses recognized through net income.
Investments in debt securities are stated at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), as the investments are classified as available-for-sale.

Property and Equipment—Furniture, equipment, computer software and development, buildings and leasehold
improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Land is carried at cost and is not
depreciated. Depreciation and amortization for furniture, equipment and buildings are computed on a straight-line basis,
using estimated lives ranging from one to twenty-one years. Software development is capitalized in accordance with
ASC 350-40, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use Software,” and is amortized on a straight-line basis over the
expected benefit period, which ranges from one to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the remaining
lives of the respective leases or the remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. Long-lived assets are
tested for impairment when events or conditions indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be fully recoverable
from future cash flows.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are not amortized, but are
reviewed at least annually for impairment or more frequently if circumstances indicate that an impairment is probable, using
qualitative or quantitative analysis. Separable intangible assets that have finite useful lives are amortized over their respective
useful lives.

Income Taxes— Income tax returns are filed in federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions as applicable. Provisions for
current income tax liabilities are calculated and accrued on income and expense amounts expected to be included in the
income tax returns for the current year. Income taxes reported in earnings also include deferred income tax provisions and
provisions for uncertain tax positions.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed on differences between the financial statement bases and tax
bases of assets and liabilities at the enacted tax rates. Changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities associated with
components of other comprehensive income are charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income. Otherwise,
changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities are included as a component of income tax expense. The effect on
deferred income tax assets and liabilities attributable to changes in enacted tax rates are charged or credited to income tax
expense in the period of enactment. Valuation allowances are established for certain deferred tax assets when realization is
less than more likely than not.

Liabilities are established for uncertain tax positions taken or positions expected to be taken in income tax returns when
such positions, in our judgment, do not meet a more-likely-than-not threshold based on the technical merits of the positions.
Additionally, liabilities may be established for uncertain tax positions when, in our judgement, the more-likely-than-not
threshold is met, but the position does not rise to the level of highly certain based upon the technical merits of the position.
Estimated interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are included as a component of income tax expense.

Derivative Instruments—The Company uses derivatives to manage its exposure to various financial risks. The Company
does not enter into derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes. Certain derivatives used to manage
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the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate movements are not designated as hedges and do not qualify for
hedge accounting.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments—The Company assesses both at the hedge’s inception and on an
ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging transaction, including net investment hedges, have been
highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows or remeasurement of the hedged items and whether the derivatives
may be expected to remain highly effective in future periods.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when (1) it determines that the derivative is no longer highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flow of the hedged item; (2) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised;
(3) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur; or (4) it determines that designating the derivative as a
hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedging instruments, excluding any ineffective portion,
are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) until the hedged transactions affect net income. The ineffective portion of
this hedging instrument is recognized through net income when the ineffectiveness occurs.

Derivatives not Designated as Hedging Instruments—Certain foreign currency exchange forward contracts are not
designated as hedges as they do not meet the specific hedge accounting requirements of ASC 815, “Derivatives and
Hedging.” Changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments are recorded in the
consolidated statements of income as they occur.

Net Investment Hedges—The Company used Euro-denominated debt to hedge a portion of its net investment in foreign
subsidiaries against adverse movements in exchange rates. The effective portion of the foreign currency gains and losses
related to the Euro-denominated debt is reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. The gains or losses will be subsequently reclassified into net income when the hedged net
investment is either sold or substantially liquidated.

Other Investments—Other investments consist of marketable securities and U.S. Treasury bonds and are included in
other current assets and other non-current assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Investments in equity
securities are stated at fair value, with holding gains and losses recognized through net income. Investments in debt securities
are stated at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), as the investments are classified as available-for-sale.

Revenue Recognition—Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers,” applying the modified retrospective method to those contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018.
The Company recognizes revenues when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customer, in an
amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. In that
determination, under ASC 606, the Company follows a five-step model that includes: (1) determination of whether a
contract, an agreement between two or more parties that creates legally enforceable rights and obligations, exists; (2)
identification of the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determination of the transaction price; (4) allocation of the
transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognition of revenue when (or as) the performance
obligation is satisfied.

Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented under ASC 606, while prior period amounts
have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with the Company’s historic accounting under ASC 605.
ASC 606 does not apply to financial instruments and other contractual rights or obligations.

See Note 3, “Revenue,” for more information about the Company’s revenue and the associated timing and basis of
revenue recognition.

Earnings Per Share—Basic earnings per share is based only on the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding, excluding any dilutive effects of options or other dilutive securities. Diluted earnings per share is based on the
weighted average number of common and potentially dilutive common shares (dilutive stock options, unvested
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restricted stock units and other dilutive securities outstanding during the year), pursuant to the treasury stock method. For
periods with participating securities, the Company computes earnings per share using the two-class method, which is an
allocation of earnings between the holders of common stock and a company’s participating security holders.

Currency Translation—The assets and liabilities of the Company’s subsidiaries outside the U.S. are translated into U.S.
dollars at the rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet dates, primarily from Canadian dollars and Euros. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Gains and losses resulting from
currency transactions are recognized currently in income and those resulting from translation of financial statements are
included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The Company recognized net foreign transaction gains of $1.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2019, gains of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, and losses of
$9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Leases —The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease at inception. Operating lease right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement based on the present value of lease payments over the lease
term. As the implicit rate is typically not readily determinable in the Company’s lease agreements, the Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate as of the lease commencement date to determine the present value of the lease payments. The
incremental borrowing rate is based on the Company’s specific rate of interest to borrow on a collateralized basis, over a
similar term and in a similar economic environment as the lease. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recognized on the balance sheet; the Company recognizes
lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Additionally, the Company accounts for lease and
nonlease components as a single lease component for its identified asset classes. As of December 31, 2019, the Company
does not have any finance leases.

Marketing and Advertising Costs—The Company participates in various marketing and advertising programs, including
collaborative arrangements with certain clients. The cost of marketing and advertising programs is expensed in the period
incurred. The Company has recognized marketing and advertising expenses, including on behalf of its clients, of $229.4
million, $244.5 million and $236.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Stock Compensation Expense—The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation.” Under the fair value recognition provisions, stock-based compensation expense is
measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized ratably over the requisite service period.

Management Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments.” ASU 2016-13 requires entities to utilize a financial instrument impairment model to
establish an allowance based on expected losses over the life of the exposure rather than a model based on an incurred loss
approach. Estimates of expected credit losses under the current expected credit loss model are based on relevant information
about past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forward-looking forecasts regarding the collectability
of the loan portfolio. ASU 2016-13 also expands the disclosure requirements regarding an entity’s assumptions, models, and
methods for estimating the allowance. In addition, ASU 2016-13 modifies the impairment model for available-for-sale debt
securities and provides for a simplified accounting model for purchased financial assets with credit deterioration since their
origination. ASU 2016-13 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with
early adoption permitted beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company formed a cross-functional implementation team
to oversee the implementation of the standard, developed loss forecasting models and processes to satisfy the requirements of
ASU 2016-13. The Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2020. Management expects an increase in the
allowance for loan loss at adoption of $644.0 million,
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which will be recorded through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings, net of taxes. The scope of this standard
also impacts the Company’s accounts receivable and available-for-sale debt securities, for which the Company’s adoption did
not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement.” ASU 2018-13 modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements from Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 820, “Fair Value Measurement.” ASU 2018-13 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The effect of the adoption of ASU 2018-13 will be a
change to the disclosure requirements for certain fair value measurements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud
Computing Arrangement that is a Service Contract.” ASU 2018-15 requires customers in a cloud computing arrangement that
is a service contract to follow the internal-use software guidance in ASC 350-40, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—
Internal-Use Software,” to determine which implementation costs may be capitalized. ASU 2018-15 is effective for interim
and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in ASU
2018-15 can be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption.
The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2018-15 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.” ASU 2019-12
eliminates certain exceptions within ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” and clarifies certain aspects of ASC 740 to promote
consistency among reporting entities. ASU 2019-12 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. Most amendments within the standard are required to be applied on a
prospective basis, while certain amendments must be applied on a retrospective or modified retrospective basis. The
Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of ASU 2019-12 will have on its consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” ASC 842, that replaced previous lease guidance and
required lessees to record right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities on the balance sheet. Companies continue to
classify leases as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the statements
of income. Companies were permitted to adopt ASC 842 using a modified retrospective approach or transition relief provided
by ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements,” that removed certain comparative period requirements and
required a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The Company
adopted the standard on January 1, 2019 using the transition relief provided by ASU 2018-11.

During 2018, the Company completed its evaluation of ASC 842, including the impact on its policies, processes, systems
and controls. As a result, the Company identified changes to and modified certain of its accounting policies and practices,
including the implementation of new lease accounting software. Although there were no significant changes to the
Company’s accounting systems or controls upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company modified certain of its existing controls
and added new controls to incorporate the revisions made to its accounting policies and practices.

The Company elected the transition practical expedients permitted under ASC 842-10-65-1 under which it was not
required to reassess (i) whether expired or existing contracts were or contained leases as defined by ASC 842, (ii) the
classification of such leases, and (iii) whether previously capitalized initial direct costs qualified for capitalization under ASC
842. The Company also elected the practical expedient to use hindsight in determining the lease term. Additionally, the
Company made the accounting policy election to account for lease and nonlease components as a single lease component for
its identified asset classes.

The cumulative effect of the changes made to the consolidated January 1, 2019 balance sheet for the adoption of ASC
842 established operating lease liabilities of approximately $324.5 million and corresponding right-of-use assets of
approximately $269.9 million, based upon the operating lease liabilities adjusted for deferred rent and lease incentives,
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which resulted in the reclassification of approximately $54.6 million in liabilities to the right-of-use asset. There was no
cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as a result of the adoption of ASC 842.

Additionally, the cumulative effect of the changes made to the consolidated January 1, 2019 balance sheet for the
adoption of ASC 842 for the Epsilon segment, presented as a discontinued operation for the periods presented, established
operating lease liabilities of approximately $208.7 million and corresponding right-of-use assets of approximately $181.1
million, based upon the operating lease liabilities adjusted for prepaid and deferred rent, unamortized initial direct costs, and
lease incentives, which resulted in the reclassification of approximately $30.5 million in liabilities and $2.9 million in assets
to the right-of-use asset. As part of the adoption of ASC 842, capital leases were recognized as finance leases at their existing
carrying amounts effective January 1, 2019, and the accounting remained substantially unchanged, with capital lease assets
totaling $13.0 million and capital lease liabilities totaling $12.6 million.

The Company’s adoption of ASC 842 had no significant impact to our consolidated statements of income or
consolidated statements of cash flows. Based on the evaluation of ASC 842, the Company does not expect it to have a
material impact on its results of operations or cash flows in the periods after adoption.

ASC 842 also requires expanded qualitative and quantitative disclosure regarding the Company’s leasing activities. See
Note 11, “Leases,” for the Company’s ASC 842 disclosures.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, “Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities.” ASU
2017-12 expanded and refined the hedge accounting model for both financial and non-financial risk components, aligned the
recognition and presentation of the effects of hedging instruments and hedged items in the financial statements, and made
certain targeted improvements to simplify the application of hedge accounting guidance related to the assessment of hedge
effectiveness. The Company’s adoption of this standard on January 1, 2019 did not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, “Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income.” ASU 2018-02 allowed for reclassification of stranded tax effects on items resulting from the
change in the corporate tax rate as a result of H.R. 1, originally known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, from
accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings. Tax effects unrelated to H.R. 1 were permitted to be released
from accumulated other comprehensive income using either the specific identification approach or the portfolio approach,
based on the nature of the underlying item. The Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2019 using the portfolio
approach and did not reclassify the stranded tax effects to retained earnings as these amounts did not have a material impact
on its consolidated financial statements.

3. REVENUE

Under ASC 606, revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customer, in
an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The
Company’s contracts with its customers state the terms of sale, including the description, quantity, and price of the product or
service purchased. Payment terms can vary by contract, but the period between invoicing and when payment is due is not
significant. Taxes assessed on revenue-producing transactions are excluded from revenues.
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The Company’s products and services are reported under two segments—LoyaltyOne and Card Services, as shown
below. The following tables present revenue disaggregated by major source, as well as geographic region based on the
location of the subsidiary that generally correlates with the location of the customer:

Corporate/
Year Ended December 31, 2019 LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Total
(in millions)
Disaggregation of Revenue by Major Source:
Coalition loyalty program $ 290.1 $ — 3 — 5 290.1
Short-term loyalty programs 635.5 — — 635.5
Servicing fees, net — (180.7) — (180.7)
Other 94.9 — 0.4 95.3
Revenue from contracts with customers $ 1,020.5 $ (180.7) $ 04 $ 840.2
Finance charges, net — 4,728.5 — 4,728.5
Investment income 12.6 — — 12.6
Total $ 1,033.1 $ 4,547.8 $ 04 $ 55813
Corporate/
Year Ended December 31, 2018 LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Total
(in millions)
Disaggregation of Revenue by Major Source:
Coalition loyalty program $ 3523 $ — — 352.3
Short-term loyalty programs 613.8 — — 613.8
Servicing fees, net — (97.3) — (97.3)
Other 90.7 — 0.6 91.3
Revenue from contracts with customers $ 1,056.8 $ 973) $ 06 $ 960.1
Finance charges, net — 4,694.9 — 4,694.9
Investment income 11.6 — — 11.6
Total $ 1,0684 $ 4,597.6 $ 06 $ 5,666.6
Corporate/
Year Ended December 31, 2019 LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Total
(in millions)
Disaggregation of Revenue by Geographic Region:
United States $ 401 $ 45478 $ 04 $ 4,588.3
Canada 352.2 — — 352.2
Europe, Middle East and Africa 449.1 — — 449.1
Asia Pacific 121.7 — — 121.7
Other 70.0 — — 70.0
Total $ 1,033.1 $ 4,547.8 % 04 $ 5,581.3
Corporate/
Year Ended December 31, 2018 LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Total
(in millions)
Disaggregation of Revenue by Geographic Region:
United States $ 231 $ 4,597.6 $ 06 $ 46213
Canada 411.3 — — 411.3
Europe, Middle East and Africa 463.2 — — 463.2
Asia Pacific 122.0 — — 122.0
Other 48.8 — — 48.8
Total $ 1,0684 $ 4,597.6 % 06 $ 5,666.6
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LoyaltyOne

LoyaltyOne provides coalition and short-term loyalty programs through the Company’s Canadian AIR MILES Reward
Program and BrandLoyalty. The AIR MILES Reward Program is a coalition loyalty program for sponsors, who pay
LoyaltyOne a fee per AIR MILES reward mile issued, in return for which LoyaltyOne provides all marketing, customer
service, rewards and redemption management. BrandLoyalty designs, implements, conducts and evaluates innovative and
tailor-made short-term loyalty programs for grocers worldwide.

Total consideration from the issuance of AIR MILES reward miles is allocated to three performance obligations:
redemption, service, and brand, based on a relative standalone selling price basis. Because the standalone selling price is not
directly observable for the three performance obligations, the Company estimates the standalone selling price for the
redemption and the service performance obligations based on cost plus a reasonable margin. The Company estimates the
standalone selling price of the brand performance obligation using a relief from royalty approach. Accordingly, management
determines the estimated standalone selling price by considering multiple inputs and methods, including discounted cash
flows and available market data in consideration of applicable margins and royalty rates to utilize. The number of AIR
MILES reward miles issued and redeemed are factored into the estimates, as management estimates the standalone selling
prices and volumes over the term of the respective agreements in order to determine the allocation of consideration to each
performance obligation delivered. The redemption performance obligation incorporates the expected number of AIR MILES
reward miles to be redeemed, and therefore, the amount of redemption revenue recognized is subject to management’s
estimate of breakage, or those AIR MILES reward miles estimated to be unredeemed by the collector base.

Redemption revenue is recognized at a point in time, as the AIR MILES reward miles are redeemed. For the fulfillment
of certain rewards where the AIR MILES Reward Program does not control the goods or services before they are transferred
to the collector, revenue is recorded on a net basis. Service revenue is recognized over time using a time-elapsed output
method, the estimated life of an AIR MILES reward mile. Revenue from the brand is recognized over time, using an output
method, when an AIR MILES reward mile is issued. Revenue associated with both the service and brand is included in
service revenue in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.

The amount of revenue recognized in a period is subject to the estimate of breakage and the estimated life of an AIR
MILES reward mile. Breakage and the life of an AIR MILES reward mile are based on management’s estimate after viewing
and analyzing various historical trends including vintage analysis, current run rates and other pertinent factors, such as the
impact of macroeconomic factors and changes in the program structure. Throughout 2017, 2018 and 2019, the Company’s
breakage rate was 20%. During 2017, the Company changed its estimated life of an AIR MILES reward mile from 42 months
to 38 months. Throughout 2018 and 2019, the Company’s estimated life of a mile was 38 months.

The short-term loyalty programs typically last between 12 and 20 weeks, depending on the nature of the program, with
contract terms usually less than one year in length. These programs are tailored for the specific retailer client and are
designed to reward key customer segments based on their spending levels during defined campaign periods. Revenue is
recognized at the point in time control passes from BrandLoyalty to the retailer.
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Contract Liabilities. The Company records a contract liability when cash payments are received in advance of its
performance, which applies to the service and redemption of an AIR MILES reward mile and the reward products for its
short-term loyalty programs.

A reconciliation of contract liabilities for the AIR MILES Reward Program is as follows:

Deferred Revenue

Service Redemption Total
(in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2018 $ 2838 $ 6831 $ 966.9
Cash proceeds 194.7 324.8 519.5
Revenue recognized () (209.2) (328.4) (537.6)
Other — 0.7 0.7
Effects of foreign currency translation (21.3) (52.9) (74.2)

Balance at December 31, 2018 248.0 627.3 875.3
Cash proceeds 192.0 313.3 505.3
Revenue recognized () (193.7) (309.2) (502.9)
Other — 0.6 0.6
Effects of foreign currency translation 12.3 314 43.7

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2586 $ 6634 $ 9220

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

Deferred revenue (current) $ 1445 $ 6634 $ 8079
Deferred revenue (non-current) $ 1141 $ — § 1141

(1) Reported on a gross basis herein.

The deferred redemption obligation associated with the AIR MILES Reward Program is effectively due on demand from
the collector base, thus the timing of revenue recognition is based on the redemption by the collector. Service revenue is
amortized over the expected life of a mile, with the deferred revenue balance expected to be recognized into revenue in the
amount of $144.5 million in 2020, $79.5 million in 2021, $33.5 million in 2022, and $1.1 million in 2023.

Additionally, contract liabilities for the Company’s short-term loyalty programs are recognized in other current liabilities
in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. In 2019, the beginning balance as of January 1, 2019 was $110.2 million and
the closing balance as of December 31, 2019 was $122.8 million, with the change due to cash payments received in advance
of program performance, offset in part by revenue recognized of approximately $526.6 million during the year ended
December 31, 2019. In 2018, the beginning balance as of January 1, 2018 was $87.5 million and the closing balance as of
December 31, 2018 was $110.2 million, with the change due to cash payments received in advance of program performance
revenue, offset in part by revenue recognized of approximately $506.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Card Services

Card Services is a provider of branded credit card programs, both private label and co-brand, that drive sales for its brand
partners. For these private label and co-brand programs, Card Services provides risk management solutions, account
origination, funding, transaction processing, customer care, collections and marketing services.

Finance charges, net. Finance charges, net represents revenue earned on customer accounts owned by the Company, and
is recognized in the period in which it is earned. The Company recognizes earned finance charges, interest income and fees
on credit card and loan receivables in accordance with the contractual provisions of the credit arrangements, which are within
the scope of ASC 310, “Receivables.” Interest and fees continue to accrue on all credit card accounts beyond 90 days, except
in limited circumstances, until the credit card account balance and all related interest and other fees are paid or charged-off,
in the month during which an account becomes 180 days delinquent. Charge-offs for unpaid interest and fees as well as any
adjustments to the allowance associated with unpaid interest and fees are recorded as a reduction to finance charges, net.
Pursuant to ASC 310-20, “Receivables - Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs,” direct
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loan origination costs on credit card and loan receivables are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over a one-year
period and recorded as a reduction to finance charges, net. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the remaining unamortized
deferred costs related to loan origination were $47.1 million and $40.6 million, respectively.

Servicing fees, net. Servicing fees, net represents revenue earned from retailers and cardholders from processing and
servicing accounts, and is recognized as such services are performed.

Revenue earned from retailers primarily consists of merchant and interchange fees, which are transaction fees charged to
the merchant for the processing of credit card transactions. Merchant and interchange fees are recognized at a point in time
upon the cardholder purchase.

Our credit card program agreements may also provide for payments to the retailer based on purchased volume or if
certain contractual incentives are met, such as if the economic performance of the program exceeds a contractually defined
threshold. These amounts are recorded as a reduction of revenue.

Revenue earned from cardholders primarily consists of monthly fees from the purchase of certain payment protection
products purchased by our cardholders. The fees are based on the average cardholder account balance, and these products can
be cancelled at any time by the cardholder. Revenue is recognized over time using a time-elapsed output method.

Contract Costs. The Company recognizes an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining or fulfilling a contract with the
retailer for a credit card program agreement to the extent it expects to recover those costs, in accordance with ASC 340-40.
Contract costs are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the respective term of the agreement, which represents
the period of service. Depending on the nature of the contract costs, the amortization is recorded as a reduction to revenue, or
costs of operations, in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the remaining
unamortized contract costs were $406.8 million and $372.5 million, respectively, and are included in other current assets and
other non-current assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, amortization of contract costs recorded as a reduction to revenue totaled $71.8
million and amortization of contract costs recorded to cost of operations expense totaled $11.9 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, amortization of contract costs recorded as a reduction to revenue totaled $68.7 million and amortization
of contract costs recorded to cost of operations expense totaled $9.8 million. No impairment was recognized during the
periods presented.

Practical Expedients

The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original
expected length of one year or less and (ii) contracts for which we recognize revenue at the amount to which the Company
has the right to invoice for services performed.

The Company has elected the practical expedient from ASC 340-40 with respect to contract costs, and expenses the

incremental costs as incurred for those costs that would otherwise be recognized with an amortization period of one year or
less. These costs are recorded to cost of operations expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.
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4. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share of common stock for the periods

indicated:

Basic income per share:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations
Less: Dividends declared on preferred stock
Less: Allocation of undistributed earnings
Income from continuing operations - basic
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income - basic

Denominator:
Weighted average shares, basic

Basic income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per share:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations

Net income per share

Diluted income per share (1:

Numerator:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income

Denominator:
Weighted average shares, basic
Weighted average effect of dilutive securities:
Shares from assumed conversion of preferred stock
Net effect of dilutive stock options and unvested restricted stock (2)

Denominator for diluted calculation

Diluted income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per share:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations

Net income per share

(1) Computed using the if-converted method, as the result was more dilutive.

Years Ended December 31,

2019

2018

2017

(in millions, except per share amounts)

$ 5726 $ 9455 $ 7692
2.8 — —

6.8 — —
563.0 9455 769.2
(294.6) 17.6 19.5
$ 2684 $ 9631 $ 7887
50.0 54.9 55.7

$ 1125 $ 1724 $ 13.82
$ (589 $ 032 $ 035
$ 536 $ 1756 $ 1417
$ 5726 $ 9455 $ 7692
(294.6) 17.6 19.5
$ 2780 $ 9631 $ 7887
50.0 54.9 55.7
0.8 — —

0.1 0.2 0.2
50.9 55.1 55.9

$ 1124 $ 1717 $ 1375
$ (78 $ 032 $ 035
$ 546 $ 1749 $ 14.10

(2 For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, a de minimis amount of restricted stock units was excluded
from each calculation of weighted average dilutive common shares as the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

On April 25, 2019, the Company entered into an exchange agreement with ValueAct Holdings, L.P. pursuant to which
ValueAct exchanged an aggregate of 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for an aggregate of 150,000 shares of
Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock (“preferred stock”). In October 2019, ValueAct exchanged all 150,000
shares of preferred stock back to common stock. See Note 19, “Stockholders’ Equity,” for more information. At December

31, 2019, the Company did not have any shares of preferred stock outstanding.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s calculation of basic and diluted EPS was computed using the
two-class method for those periods in which participating securities were outstanding. The two-class method is an earnings
allocation that determines EPS for each class of common stock and participating securities according to dividends declared
and participation rights in undistributed earnings.

5. ACQUISITIONS

2019 Acquisitions:

On February 7, 2019, the Company acquired certain assets as well as the assembled workforce and related office lease
agreements of blispay inc. (“Blispay™), a financial technology company, for cash consideration of $6.7 million, and a $1.0
million limited guarantee was issued by the Company as part of the transaction. The acquisition was determined to constitute
a business combination under ASC 805, “Business Combinations.” Total assets acquired were $7.3 million, including $5.0
million of capitalized software and $2.3 million of goodwill, with the fair value of the guarantee determined to be
approximately $0.6 million on the acquisition date.

2017 Acquisitions:

On October 20, 2017, the Company acquired credit card receivables and the associated accounts and assumed a portion
of an existing customer care operation, including a facility sublease agreement and approximately 250 employees, from
Signet Jewelers Limited (“Signet”) for cash consideration of approximately $945.6 million. This acquisition increases the
Company’s presence in the jewelry vertical. The Company determined these acquired activities and assets constituted a
business under ASC 805, “Business Combinations,” based on the nature of the inputs, processes and outputs acquired from
the transaction. In addition, the parties entered into a long-term agreement under which the Company became the primary
issuer of private-label credit cards and related marketing services for Signet. The Company obtained control of the assets and
assumed the liabilities on October 20, 2017, and the results of operations have been included since the date of acquisition in
the Company’s Card Services segment.

The Company engaged a third party specialist to assist it in the measurement of the fair value of the assets acquired. The
fair value of the assets acquired exceeded the cost of the acquisition. Consequently, the Company reassessed the recognition
and measurement of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and concluded that the valuation procedures and
resulting measures were appropriate. The excess value of the net assets acquired over the purchase price of $7.9 million was
recorded as a bargain purchase gain, which was included in cost of operations in the Company’s consolidated statement of
income for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in the Signet acquisition
as of October 20, 2017:

As of
October 20, 2017
(in millions)

Credit card receivables $ 906.3
Intangible assets 52.3

Total assets acquired 958.6
Other liabilities 0.2
Deferred tax liability 4.9

Total liabilities assumed 5.1
Net assets acquired $ 953.5
Total consideration paid 945.6
Gain on business combination $ 7.9
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6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Effective April 12, 2019, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell its Epsilon segment to Publicis Groupe
S.A. for $4.4 billion in cash, subject to certain specified adjustments. Beginning in the first quarter of 2019, Epsilon met the

criteria set forth in ASC 205-20, “Presentation of Financial Statements — Discontinued Operations.”

The sale of Epsilon was completed on July 1, 2019, and the pre-tax gain is shown in the table below.

July 1,
2019
(in millions)
Consideration received () $ 44519
Net carrying value of assets and liabilities (including other comprehensive income) 3,939.7
Pre-tax gain on deconsolidation $§ 5122

(1) Consideration as defined included cash associated with the sold Epsilon entities, which was $42.2 million.

The Company recorded transaction costs of approximately $79.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and
recorded an after-tax loss on sale of $252.1 million, which is included in loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes.
Following the sale of Epsilon, Card Services has continued its existing contractual relationships with Epsilon for digital
marketing services.

The following table summarizes the results of discontinued operations for the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(in millions)
Revenue $ 9996 $ 2,175.1 $ 2,272.1
Cost of operations (exclusive of depreciation and amortization disclosed separately
below) 993.9 1,744.4 1,834.8

Depreciation and other amortization 29.7 1154 109.4
Amortization of purchased intangibles 43.5 178.3 200.3
Interest expense (1) 64.1 128.3 109.0
Gain on sale of Epsilon (512.2) — —
Income before provision (benefit) from income taxes 380.6 8.7 18.6
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 675.2 8.9) 0.9)
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes (2) $ (2946) $ 176 $ 19.5

(1)  The Company’s credit agreement, as amended, provided that upon consummation of the sale of Epsilon, a mandatory
payment of $500.0 million of the revolving credit facility was required and all of the Company’s outstanding senior
notes were required to be redeemed. As such, interest expense has been allocated to discontinued operations on the basis
of the Company’s $500.0 million mandatory repayment of its revolving line of credit and redemption of its $1.9 billion
in senior notes outstanding.

(2 Reflects the results of operations of the Company’s former Epsilon segment, direct costs identifiable to the Epsilon
segment including a loss contingency associated with indemnification issues with the purchaser as described in Note 18,
“Commitments and Contingencies,” and the allocation of interest expense on corporate debt.
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The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities of discontinued operations at December 31, 2018:

December 31,
2018
(in millions)

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 45.7
Accounts receivable, net 519.9
Other current assets 56.6
Property and equipment, net 306.9
Intangible assets, net 322.3
Goodwill 2,886.2
Other assets 19.8
Total assets of discontinued operations $ 4,1574
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 72.2
Accrued expenses 98.8
Other current liabilities 52.5
Other liabilities 36.9
Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 260.4

Depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures from discontinued operations for the periods presented are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)
Depreciation and amortization $ 732 $ 2937 $ 309.7
Capital expenditures $ 558 $ 1065 $ 107.2

7. CREDIT CARD AND LOAN RECEIVABLES

The Company’s credit card and loan receivables are the only portfolio segment or class of financing receivables.
Quantitative information about the components of credit card and loan receivables is presented in the table below:

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
Principal receivables $ 18,413.1 $ 16,869.9
Billed and accrued finance charges 977.3 898.3
Other 72.7 86.8
Total credit card and loan receivables 19,463.1 17,855.0
Less: Credit card receivables — restricted for securitization investors 13,504.2 13,418.3
Other credit card and loan receivables $ 59589 $ 4,436.7

Allowance for Loan Loss
The Company maintains an allowance for loan loss at a level that is appropriate to absorb probable losses inherent in

credit card and loan receivables. The estimate of the allowance for loan loss covers uncollectible principal as well as unpaid
interest and fees. The allowance for loan loss is evaluated monthly for appropriateness.
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The following table presents the Company’s allowance for loan loss for the years indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)

Balance at beginning of year $ 1,0383 $ 1,1193 $  948.0
Provision for loan loss 1,187.5 1,016.0 1,140.1
Allowance associated with credit card and loan receivables transferred

to held for sale — (54.8) (27.9)
Change in estimate for uncollectible unpaid interest and fees — 25.0 30.0
Recoveries 234.5 214.2 196.6
Principal charge-offs (1,289.2) (1,281.4) (1,167.5)

Balance at end of year $ 1,1711 $ 1,0383 $ 1,119.3

Net charge-offs include the principal amount of losses from credit cardholders unwilling or unable to pay their account
balances, as well as bankrupt and deceased credit cardholders, less recoveries and exclude charged-off interest, fees and fraud
losses. Charged-off interest and fees reduce finance charges, net while fraud losses are recorded as a cost of operations
expense. Credit card and loan receivables, including unpaid interest and fees, are charged-off in the month during which an
account becomes 180 days contractually past due, except in the case of customer bankruptcies or death. Credit card and loan
receivables, including unpaid interest and fees, associated with customer bankruptcies or death are charged-off in each month
subsequent to 60 days after the receipt of notification of the bankruptcy or death, but in any case, not later than the 180-day
contractual time frame.

The Company records the actual charge-offs for unpaid interest and fees as a reduction to finance charges, net. For the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, actual charge-offs for unpaid interest and fees were $808.6 million, $803.1
million and $653.2 million, respectively.

Delinquencies

A credit card account is contractually delinquent if the Company does not receive the minimum payment by the specified
due date on the cardholder’s statement. It is the Company’s policy to continue to accrue interest and fee income on all credit
card accounts beyond 90 days, except in limited circumstances, until the credit card account balance and all related interest
and other fees are paid or charged-off, typically at 180 days delinquent. When an account becomes delinquent, a message is
printed on the credit cardholder’s billing statement requesting payment. After an account becomes 30 days past due, a
proprietary collection scoring algorithm automatically scores the risk of the account becoming further delinquent. The
collection system then recommends a collection strategy for the past due account based on the collection score and account
balance and dictates the contact schedule and collections priority for the account. If the Company is unable to make a
collection after exhausting all in-house collection efforts, the Company may engage collection agencies and outside attorneys
to continue those efforts.

The following table presents the delinquency trends of the Company’s credit card and loan receivables portfolio:

December 31, % of December 31, % of

2019 Total 2018 Total
(in millions, except percentages)
Receivables outstanding - principal $ 18,413.1 100.0% $ 16,869.9 100.0 %
Principal receivables balances contractually delinquent:
31 to 60 days $ 337.4 1.8% $ 303.2 1.8 %
61 to 90 days 233.6 1.3 207.9 1.3
91 or more days 496.5 2.7 443.4 2.6
Total $ 1,067.5 58% $ 954.5 5.7 %
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The practice of re-aging an account may affect credit card loan delinquencies and charge-offs. A re-age of an account is
intended to assist delinquent cardholders who have experienced financial difficulties but who demonstrate both an ability and
willingness to repay the amounts due. Accounts meeting specific defined criteria are re-aged when the cardholder makes one
or more consecutive payments aggregating a certain pre-defined amount of their account balance. With re-aging, the
outstanding balance of a delinquent account is returned to a current status. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, the Company’s re-aged accounts represented 2.4%, 2.1% and 1.4%, respectively, of total credit card and loan
receivables for each period and thus do not have a significant impact on the Company’s delinquencies or net charge-offs. The
Company’s re-aging practices comply with regulatory guidelines.

Modified Credit Card Receivables

The Company holds certain credit card receivables for which the terms have been modified. The Company’s modified
credit card receivables include credit card receivables for which temporary hardship concessions have been granted and
credit card receivables in permanent workout programs. These modified credit card receivables include concessions
consisting primarily of a reduced minimum payment and an interest rate reduction. The temporary programs’ concessions
remain in place for a period no longer than twelve months, while the permanent programs remain in place through the payoff
of the credit card receivables if the credit cardholder complies with the terms of the program. These concessions do not
include the forgiveness of unpaid principal, but may involve the reversal of certain unpaid interest or fee assessments. In the
case of the temporary programs, at the end of the concession period, credit card receivable terms revert to standard rates.
These arrangements are automatically terminated if the customer fails to make payments in accordance with the terms of the
program, at which time their account reverts back to its original terms.

Credit card receivables for which temporary hardship and permanent concessions were granted are each considered
troubled debt restructurings and are collectively evaluated for impairment. Modified credit card receivables are evaluated at
their present value with impairment measured as the difference between the credit card receivable balance and the discounted
present value of cash flows expected to be collected. Consistent with the Company’s measurement of impairment of modified
credit card receivables on a pooled basis, the discount rate used for credit card receivables is the average current annual
percentage rate the Company applies to non-impaired credit card receivables, which approximates what would have been
applied to the pool of modified credit card receivables prior to impairment. In assessing the appropriate allowance for loan
loss, these modified credit card receivables are included in the general pool of credit card receivables with the allowance
determined under the contingent loss model of ASC 450-20, “Loss Contingencies.” If the Company applied accounting under
ASC 310-40, “Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors,” to the modified credit card receivables in these programs, there
would not be a material difference in the allowance for loan loss.

The Company had $308.7 million and $292.4 million, respectively, as a recorded investment in impaired credit card
receivables with an associated allowance for loan loss of $75.4 million and $101.3 million, respectively, as of December 31,
2019 and 2018. These modified credit card receivables represented less than 2% of the Company’s total credit card
receivables as of both December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The average recorded investment in the impaired credit card receivables was $295.4 million and $340.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Interest income on these modified credit card receivables is accounted for in the same manner as other accruing credit
card receivables. Cash collections on these modified credit card receivables are allocated according to the same payment
hierarchy methodology applied to credit card receivables that are not in such programs. The Company recognized $22.6
million, $27.9 million and $19.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, in interest
income associated with modified credit card receivables during the period that such credit card receivables were impaired.
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The following tables provide information on credit card receivables that are considered troubled debt restructurings as
described above, which entered into a modification program during the specified periods:

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Year Ended December 31, 2018
Pre- Post- Pre- Post-
modification modification modification modification
Number of Outstanding  Outstanding Number of Outstanding  Outstanding
Restructurings Balance Balance Restructurings Balance Balance
(Dollars in millions)
Troubled debt restructurings — credit card receivables 259,311 $ 3814 $ 380.8 501,906 $ 6214 $ 620.7

The tables below summarize troubled debt restructurings that have defaulted in the specified periods where the default
occurred within 12 months of their modification date:

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Year Ended December 31, 2018
Number of Outstanding Number of Outstanding
Restructurings Balance Restructurings Balance

(Dollars in millions)
Troubled debt restructurings that subsequently defaulted — credit card

receivables 126,476  $ 170.8 293,591 $ 340.5

Age of Credit Card and Loan Receivable Accounts
The following tables set forth, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the number of active credit card and loan receivable
accounts with balances and the related principal balances outstanding, based upon the age of the active credit card and loan

receivable accounts from origination:

December 31, 2019

Percentage of

Number of Percentage of Principal Principal
Active Accounts  Active Accounts Receivables Receivables
Age of Accounts Since Origination with Balances with Balances Outstanding Outstanding
(in millions, except percentages)
0-12 Months 7.1 27.8% $ 4,585.1 24.9 %
13-24 Months 3.9 15.3 2,826.6 154
25-36 Months 3.2 12.6 2,423.1 13.2
37-48 Months 2.5 9.7 2,051.7 11.1
49-60 Months 1.8 7.0 1,509.7 8.2
Over 60 Months 7.0 27.6 5,016.9 27.2
Total 25.5 100.0 % $ 18,413.1 100.0 %

December 31, 2018

Percentage of

Number of Percentage of Principal Principal
Active Accounts  Active Accounts Receivables Receivables
Age of Accounts Since Origination with Balances with Balances Outstanding Outstanding
(in millions, except percentages)
0-12 Months 6.5 26.7% $ 4,099.9 243 %
13-24 Months 4.2 17.1 2,887.8 17.1
25-36 Months 3.1 13.0 2,428.9 14.4
37-48 Months 2.2 9.1 1,795.0 10.7
49-60 Months 1.7 7.1 1,367.2 8.1
Over 60 Months 6.5 27.0 4,291.1 254
Total 24.2 100.0 % $ 16,869.9 100.0 %
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Credit Quality

The Company uses proprietary scoring models developed specifically for the purpose of monitoring the Company’s
obligor credit quality. The proprietary scoring models are used as a tool in the underwriting process and for making credit
decisions. The proprietary scoring models are based on historical data and require various assumptions about future
performance, which the Company updates periodically. Information regarding customer performance is factored into these
proprietary scoring models to determine the probability of an account becoming 91 or more days past due at any time within
the next 12 months. Obligor credit quality is monitored at least monthly during the life of an account. The following table
reflects the composition of the Company’s credit card and loan receivables by obligor credit quality as of December 31, 2019
and 2018:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Percentage of Percentage of
Total Principal Principal Total Principal Principal
Probability of an Account Becoming 91 or More Days Past Receivables Receivables Receivables Receivables
Due or Becoming Charged-off (within the next 12 months) Qutstanding Outstanding Qutstanding Qutstanding
(in millions, except percentages)
No Score $ 290.0 1.6 % $ 249.0 1.5 %
27.1% and higher 1,591.4 8.6 1,394.0 8.2
17.1% - 27.0% 1,065.4 5.8 770.1 4.6
12.6% - 17.0% 1,127.7 6.1 1,047.6 6.2
3.7% - 12.5% 7,985.8 43.4 6,877.6 40.8
1.9% - 3.6% 3,285.3 17.8 3,060.7 18.1
Lower than 1.9% 3,067.5 16.7 3,470.9 20.6
Total $ 18,413.1 100.0 % $ 16,869.9 100.0 %

Transfer of Financial Assets

During 2018, the Company originated loan receivables under one previous client agreement, and after origination, these
loan receivables were sold to the client at par value plus accrued interest. These transfers qualified for sale treatment as they
met the conditions established in ASC 860-10, “Transfers and Servicing.” Following the sale, the client owned the loan
receivables, assumed the risk of loss in the event of loan defaults and was responsible for all servicing functions related to the
loan receivables. Effective July 2, 2018, the Company no longer originates loan receivables for this client. Originations and
sales of these loan receivables held for sale were reflected as operating activities in the Company’s consolidated statements of
cash flows.

Portfolios Held for Sale

The Company has certain credit card portfolios held for sale, which are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, of
$408.0 million and $1,951.6 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company transferred one credit card portfolio totaling approximately
$510.3 million into credit card receivables held for sale, and sold 13 credit card portfolios for cash consideration of
approximately $2.1 billion and recognized approximately $43.9 million in net gains on the transactions. The Company
recorded portfolio valuation adjustments, which are reflected in cost of operations expense, of $189.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the portfolio sales were as follows:

e In April 2019, the Company sold one credit card portfolio for final cash consideration of approximately $356.6
million and recognized a $0.4 million loss on the transaction.

e In June 2019, the Company sold three credit card portfolios for final cash consideration of approximately
$217.7 million and recognized approximately $2.9 million in gains on the transactions.

e In August 2019, the Company sold one credit card portfolio for final cash consideration of approximately $70.4
million and recognized a $1.7 million gain on the transaction.
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e In September 2019, the Company sold one credit card portfolio for final cash consideration of approximately
$334.7 million and recognized a $15.2 million gain on the transaction.

e In December 2019, the Company sold seven credit card portfolios for preliminary cash consideration of
approximately $1,082.4 million, subject to customary sale price adjustments, and recognized approximately
$24.5 million in net gains on the transactions.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company transferred 11 credit card portfolios totaling approximately
$2.3 billion into credit card receivables held for sale, and sold six credit card portfolios for cash consideration of
approximately $1.2 billion and recognized approximately $29.2 million in net gains on the transactions. The Company
recorded portfolio valuation adjustments of $101.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

In February 2020, the Company sold one credit card portfolio, subject to certain conditions as defined in the purchase
and sale agreement. At December 31, 2019, the carrying value of this portfolio was $313.9 million and included in credit
card receivables held for sale in the Company’s consolidated December 31, 2019 balance sheet.

Portfolio Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company acquired four credit card portfolios for cash consideration of
approximately $924.8 million, which consisted of approximately $843.5 million of credit card receivables, $35.7 million of
intangible assets and $45.6 million of other non-current assets, subject to customary purchase price adjustments.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired approximately $906.3 million of credit card
receivables in connection with the Signet acquisition. For more information, see Note 5, “Acquisitions.”

Securitized Credit Card Receivables

The Company regularly securitizes its credit card receivables through its credit card securitization trusts, consisting of
the WFN Trusts and the WFC Trust. The Company continues to own and service the accounts that generate credit card
receivables held by the WEN Trusts and the WFC Trust. In its capacity as a servicer, each of the respective banks earns a fee
from the WFN Trusts and the WFC Trust to service and administer the credit card receivables, collect payments and charge-
off uncollectible receivables. These fees are eliminated and therefore are not reflected in the consolidated statements of
income for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

The WFN Trusts and the WFC Trust are VIEs and the assets of these consolidated VIEs include certain credit card
receivables that are restricted to settle the obligations of those entities and are not expected to be available to the Company or
its creditors. The liabilities of the consolidated VIEs include non-recourse secured borrowings and other liabilities for which
creditors or beneficial interest holders do not have recourse to the general credit of the Company.

During the initial phase of a securitization reinvestment period, the Company generally retains principal collections in
exchange for the transfer of additional credit card receivables into the securitized pool of assets. During the amortization or
accumulation period of a securitization, the investors’ share of principal collections (in certain cases, up to a maximum
specified amount each month) is either distributed to the investors or held in an account until it accumulates to the total
amount due, at which time it is paid to the investors in a lump sum.

The Company is required to maintain minimum interests ranging from 4% to 10% of the securitized credit card
receivables. This requirement is met through transferor’s interest and is supplemented through excess funding deposits.
Excess funding deposits represent cash amounts deposited with the trustee of the securitizations. Cash collateral, restricted
deposits are generally released proportionately as investors are repaid, although some cash collateral, restricted deposits are
released only when investors have been paid in full. No cash collateral, restricted deposits were required to be used to cover
losses on securitized credit card receivables in the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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The tables below present quantitative information about the components of total securitized credit card receivables,
delinquencies and net charge-offs:

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)

Total credit card receivables — restricted for securitization investors $ 13,504.2 $ 13,418.3
Principal amount of credit card receivables — restricted for securitization investors, 91 days or

more past due $ 3218 $ 301.6

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)

Net charge-offs of securitized principal $ 907.7 $ 9270 $ 741.1
8. INVENTORIES, NET

Inventories, net of $218.0 million and $248.0 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, primarily consist of
finished goods to be utilized as rewards in the Company’s loyalty programs. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the
Company recorded an inventory write-down of $18.4 million on certain discontinued product lines. See Note 14,
“Restructuring and Other Charges,” for more information.

9. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Other investments consist of marketable securities and U.S. Treasury bonds and are included in other current assets and
other non-current assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Marketable securities include available for sale debt
securities, mutual funds and domestic certificate of deposit investments. The principal components of other investments,
which are carried at fair value, are as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in millions)
Marketable securities $ 2572 $ 30 $ (04) $ 2598 $ 2728 $ 01 $ (65 $ 266.4
U.S. Treasury bonds — — — — 25.0 — (0.1) 24.9
Total $2572 $ 30 $ (04) $ 2598 $2978 $ 01 $ (66) $ 2913

The following tables show the unrealized losses and fair value for those investments that were in an unrealized loss
position as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, aggregated by investment category and the length of time that individual
securities have been in a continuous loss position:

December 31, 2019

Less than 12 months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
(in millions)
Marketable securities $ 188 $ (02) $ 131 $ (@©2 $ 319 $ (0.4
Total $ 188 $ (02) $ 131 $ (02 $ 319 $ (0.4
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December 31, 2018

Less than 12 months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
(in millions)
Marketable securities $ 573 $ (05 $ 1640 $ (600 $ 2213 $ (6.5
U.S. Treasury bonds — — 24.9 (0.1) 24.9 (0.1)
Total $ 573 $ (05 $ 1889 $ (61) $ 2462 $ (6.6)

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of the marketable securities and U.S. Treasury bonds at December 31, 2019
by contractual maturity are as follows:

Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value

(in millions)
Due in one year or less $ 313 §$ 313
Due after one year through five years 1.7 1.7
Due after five years through ten years — —
Due after ten years 224.2 226.8
Total $ 2572 § 259.8

Market values were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio. When evaluating the investments
for other-than-temporary impairment, the Company reviews factors such as the length of time and extent to which fair value
has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the security's issuer, and the Company's intent to sell the security and
whether it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost
basis. The Company typically invests in highly-rated securities with low probabilities of default and has the intent and ability
to hold the investments until maturity. As of December 31, 2019, the Company does not consider the investments to be other-
than-temporarily impaired.

There were no realized gains or losses from the sale of investment securities for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017.

10. REDEMPTION SETTLEMENT ASSETS

Redemption settlement assets consist of restricted cash and securities available-for-sale and are designated for settling
redemptions by collectors of the AIR MILES Reward Program in Canada under certain contractual relationships with
sponsors of the AIR MILES Reward Program. The principal components of redemption settlement assets, which are carried
at fair value, are as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in millions)

Restricted cash $ 393 $ — $ — $ 393 $ 439 $ — 3 — $ 439
Mutual funds 25.1 — — 25.1 23.2 — — 23.2
Corporate bonds 536.0 24 (2.0) 536.4 497.5 0.1 (6.1) 491.5
Total $ 6004 $ 24 $ (0) $ 6008 $ 5646 $ 01 $ (6.1) $ 5586
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The following tables show the unrealized losses and fair value for those investments that were in an unrealized loss
position as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, aggregated by investment category and the length of time that
individual securities have been in a continuous loss position:

December 31, 2019

Less than 12 months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
(in millions)
Corporate bonds $ 1666 $ (1.3) $ 1551 $ (0.7) $ 321.7 $ (2.0
Total $1666 $ (1.3) $1551 $ (0.7) $ 321.7 $ (2.0)

December 31, 2018

Less than 12 months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
(in millions)
Corporate bonds $ 312 $ (0.1) $ 4144 $ (6.00 $ 4456 $ (6.1)
Total $ 312 $ (0.1) $ 4144 $ (6.0) $ 4456 $ (6.1)

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of the securities at December 31, 2019 by contractual maturity are as
follows:

Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value

(in millions)
Due in one year or less $ 1295 $ 1294
Due after one year through five years 427.8 428.2
Due after five year through ten years 3.8 3.9
Total $ 561.1 $ 5615

Market values were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio. When evaluating the investments
for other-than-temporary impairment, the Company reviews factors such as the length of time and extent to which fair value
has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the security’s issuer, and the Company’s intent to sell the security and
whether it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost
basis. The Company typically invests in highly-rated securities with low probabilities of default and has the intent and ability
to hold the investments until maturity. As of December 31, 2019, the Company does not consider the investments to be other-
than-temporarily impaired.

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, realized gains and losses from the sale of investment securities
were de minimis.

11. LEASES

The Company has operating leases for general office properties, warehouses, data centers, call centers, automobiles and
certain equipment. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of less than 1 year to 19
years, some of which may include renewal options. For leases in which the implicit rate is not readily determinable, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as of the lease commencement date to determine the present value of the lease
payments. The incremental borrowing rate is based on the Company’s specific rate of interest to borrow on a collateralized
basis, over a similar term and in a similar economic environment as the lease.

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recognized on the balance sheet; the Company recognizes lease
expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Additionally, the Company accounts for lease and
nonlease components as a single lease component for its identified asset classes.
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The components of lease expense were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, 2019
(in millions)

Operating lease cost $ 41.1
Short-term lease cost 2.7
Variable lease cost 6.8

Total $ 50.6

Lease expense was $47.5 million and $67.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Other information related to leases was as follows:

December 31,

2019
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Operating leases 11.5
Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating leases 5.2%
Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:
Year Ended

December 31, 2019
(in millions)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 46.6
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases $ 28.4

Maturities of the lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Operating
Year Leases
(in millions)

2020 $ 38.4
2021 39.6
2022 38.6
2023 36.8
2024 35.6
Thereafter 237.4

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 426.4
Less: Amount representing interest (112.1)

Total present value of minimum lease payments $ 314.3

Amounts recognized in the December 31, 2019 consolidated balance sheet:

Current operating lease liabilities $ 22.6
Long-term operating lease liabilities 291.7
Total $ 314.3
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Under ASC 840, future annual minimum rental payments required under noncancellable operating leases as of December
31, 2018 were as follows:

Operating
Year Leases
(in millions)
2019 $ 42.0
2020 39.9
2021 37.7
2022 36.8
2023 35.6
Thereafter 256.4
Total $ 448.4
12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consist of the following:
December 31,
2019 2018
(in millions)
Computer software and development $ 3271 $ 3319
Furniture and equipment 164.3 166.4
Land, buildings and leasehold improvements 126.0 128.1
Construction in progress 46.2 22.7
Total 663.6 649.1
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (381.3) (360.9)
Property and equipment, net $ 2823 $ 2882

Depreciation expense totaled $40.6 million, $41.2 million and $40.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively, and includes purchased software. Amortization expense on capitalized software totaled $39.3
million, $39.5 million and $32.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the net amount of unamortized capitalized software costs included in the
consolidated balance sheets was $74.0 million and $87.5 million, respectively.

Sale of Real Estate

In October 2019, the Company sold a building and land for cash proceeds of $15.1 million and simultaneously entered
into a new 15 year lease agreement for the building, with four consecutive tenant options to extend the lease for five-year
terms. Under the criteria of ASC 842, the transaction met the definition of a sale and the Company recognized a $6.1 million
gain on the transaction, which was included in cost of operations in the Company’s consolidated statement of income for the
year ended December 31, 2019.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of the following:

December 31, 2019
Gross Accumulated
Assets Amortization Net Amortization Life and Method
(in millions)

Finite Lived Assets

Customer contracts and lists $ 3251 $ (278.7) $ 46.4 7 years—straight line
Premium on purchased credit card portfolios 192.6 (93.2) 99.4  1-13 years—straight line
Collector database 53.9 (52.9) 1.0 5 years—straight line
Tradenames 31.8 (26.5) 5.3  8-15 years—straight line

$ 6034 $ (451.3) $ 1521
Indefinite Lived Assets

Tradename 1.2 — 1.2 Indefinite life
Total intangible assets $ 6046 $ (451.3) $ 153.3
December 31, 2018
Gross Accumulated
Assets Amortization Net Amortization Life and Method
(in millions)
Finite Lived Assets

Customer contracts and lists $ 3395 $ (2444) $ 95.1 3-7 years—straight line
Premium on purchased credit card portfolios 286.0 (172.9) 113.1  3-13 years—straight line
Collector database 51.3 (49.9) 1.4 5 years—straight line
Tradenames 32.5 (25.9) 6.6  8-15 years—straight line

$ 7093 $ (493.1) $ 2162
Indefinite Lived Assets
Tradename 1.2 — 1.2 Indefinite life
Total intangible assets $ 7105 $ (493.1) $ 217.4

As part of the portfolio acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company acquired $35.7 million of
intangible assets, consisting of $21.8 million of customer relationships being amortized over a life of 2.7 years and $13.9
million of marketing relationships being amortized over a life of 5.9 years.

As part of the Signet acquisition in October 2017, the Company acquired $52.3 million of intangible assets, consisting of
$35.9 million of customer relationships being amortized over a life of 3.0 years and $16.4 million of marketing relationships

being amortized over a life of 7.0 years. For more information on this acquisition, see Note 5, “Acquisitions.”

Amortization expense related to the intangible assets was approximately $96.2 million, $112.9 million and $114.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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The estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets for the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

Goodwill

For the Years Ending
December 31,
(in millions)

$ 82.7

22.4

17.6

12.9

10.7

5.8

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, are as

follows:

Balance at January 1, 2018
Effects of foreign currency translation
Balance at December 31, 2018

Goodwill acquired during the period

Effects of foreign currency translation
Balance at December 31, 2019

LoyaltyOne Card Services Total
(in millions)

$ 731.1 261.7 $ 992.8
(38.0) — (38.0)

$ 693.1 261.7 $ 954.8

2.3 2.3
2.2) — (2.2)

$ 690.9 264.0 $ 954.9

The Company completed annual impairment tests for goodwill on July 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and determined at each
date that no impairment exists. No further testing of goodwill impairments will be performed until July 31, 2020, unless
events occur or circumstances indicate an impairment is probable.
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14. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES

In 2019, the Company, under the direction of the Board of Directors, evaluated the cost structure and executed on certain
cost saving initiatives at each segment. As a result, the Company incurred restructuring and other charges of $118.1 million.
These charges included restructuring and other exit activities related to reductions in force, terminations of certain product
lines, reduction or closure of certain leased office space, asset impairments, changes in management structure and
fundamental reorganizations that affect the nature and focus of operations. Restructuring and other charges incurred at the
Corporate segment of $37.9 million were recorded to general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated
statements of income. Restructuring and other charges incurred in the LoyaltyOne and Card Services segments of $50.8
million and $29.4 million, respectively, were recorded to cost of operations in the Company’s consolidated statements of
income. These charges are not expected to continue in 2020.

LoyaltyOne

In the first quarter of 2019, BrandLoyalty incurred $7.9 million in restructuring charges associated with the wind-down
of Merison, a retail marketing division included in the LoyaltyOne segment. The restructuring charges consisted of inventory
impairment charges of $3.4 million, contract termination costs of $2.1 million, fixed asset impairment charges of $1.2 million
and termination benefits of $1.2 million. In the third quarter of 2019, asset impairment charges of $33.5 million were
recorded related to the discontinuance of certain product lines within inventory and the impairment of certain prepaid assets
and fixed assets, and termination benefits of $8.1 million were incurred, primarily related to changes in management
structure. LoyaltyOne also incurred lease termination costs of $0.2 million related to the closure of leased office space and
contract termination costs of $0.2 million. In the fourth quarter of 2019, as a result of certain changes in estimates,
LoyaltyOne incurred an additional $2.6 million of impairment charges and decreased its termination benefits accrual by $1.7
million.

Corporate/Other

Effective April 12, 2019, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell its Epsilon segment to Publicis Groupe
S.A. for $4.4 billion in cash, subject to certain specified adjustments. Due to the pending sale of Epsilon, in the second
quarter of 2019, the Company incurred restructuring charges at Corporate as a result of efforts to realign the organization,
including termination benefits of $11.3 million and asset impairment charges of $11.1 million related to assets primarily
utilized to support the Epsilon segment. Subsequent to the sale of Epsilon, the Company further sought to eliminate
redundancies and executed a second reduction in force with further management changes and incurred $3.3 million and $4.0
million in termination benefits in the third and fourth quarters of 2019, respectively. Additionally, the Company incurred
lease termination costs of $7.0 million related to the reduction of its leased office space, as well as other exit costs of $1.2
million.

Card Services
In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company executed a significant reduction in force in its Card Services segment and
incurred $27.3 million in termination benefits. For the year ended December 31, 2019, Card Services also incurred lease

termination costs of $1.9 million related to the reduction of its leased office space as well as the related impairment of certain
assets of $0.2 million.
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Restructuring and other charges incurred by reportable segment for all restructuring activities for the year ended
December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Termination Asset Lease Other
Year Ended December 31, 2019 Benefits Impairments Termination Costs Exit Costs Total
(in millions)
Corporate/Other $ 186 $ 11 $ 70 $ 12 3 37.9
LoyaltyOne 7.6 40.7 0.2 2.3 50.8
Card Services 27.3 0.2 1.9 — 294
Total $ 535 $ 520 $ 9.1 $ 35 % 118.1

The Company’s liability for restructuring and other charges is recognized in accrued expenses and other liabilities in its
consolidated balance sheets. The following table summarizes the activities related to the restructuring and other charges, as
discussed above, for the year ended December 31, 2019:

Termination Asset Lease Other
Year Ended December 31, 2019 Benefits Impairments Termination Costs Exit Costs Total
(in millions)
Liability as of December 31, 2018 $ — — % — % — % —
Charged to expense 53.5 52.0 9.1 3.5 118.1
Adjustments for non-cash charges @) — (52.0) 0.7 (0.1) (51.4)
Cash payments (18.8) — (9.8) 3.3) (31.9)
Liability as of December 31, 2019 $ 347 $ — $ — $ 01 § 34.8

(1) Adjustments for non-cash charges primarily relate to asset impairments. For the year ended December 31, 2019, lease termination
costs were netted against a $0.7 million gain upon derecognition of right-of-use assets and related liabilities.

The Company’s outstanding liability related to restructuring and other charges is expected to be settled by the end of
2021, with the majority settled in 2020.

15. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
Accrued payroll and benefits $ 1334 $ 187.1
Accrued taxes 18.1 22.6
Accrued other liabilities 176.3 112.5
Accrued expenses $ 3278 § 3222
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16. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

December 31, December 31,

Description 2019 2018 Maturity Interest Rate
(Dollars in millions)

Long-term and other debt:
2017 revolving line of credit $ — 740.0  December 2022 )
2017 term loans 2,028.8 2,938.1 December 2022 )
BrandLoyalty credit agreement — 183.7  June 2020 3)
Senior notes due 2021 — 500.0
Senior notes due 2022 — 600.0
Senior notes due 2022 (€400.0 million) — 458.8
Senior notes due 2023 (€300.0 million) — 344.1
Senior notes due 2024 850.0 —  December 2024 4.750%
Total long-term and other debt 2,878.8 5,764.7
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs 28.9 39.3
Less: Current portion 101.4 138.9
Long-term portion $ 2,748.5 $ 5,586.5
Deposits:
Certificates of deposit $ 8,585.2 $ 8,395.1 Various — Jan 2020 to Dec 2024 1.33% to 4.00%
Money market deposits 3,589.8 3,424.3  Non-maturity (4)
Total deposits 12,175.0 11,819.4
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs 23.3 25.7
Less: Current portion 6,942.4 6,537.7
Long-term portion $ 52093 $ 5,256.0
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization

entities:
Fixed rate asset-backed term note securities $ 4,891.0 $ 4,893.3  Various — May 2020 to Sep 2022 2.03% to 3.95%
Conduit asset-backed securities 2,405.0 2,770.0  Various — Sep 2020 to Apr 2021 (5)
Total non-recourse borrowings of consolidated

securitization entities 7,296.0 7,663.3
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs 12.0 11.6
Less: Current portion 3,030.8 2,717.6
Long-term portion $ 42532 $ 4,934.1

(1) The interest rate is based upon the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an applicable margin. At December 31, 2018, the
weighted average interest rate for the revolving line of credit was 4.22%.

(@ The interest rate is based upon the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an applicable margin. The weighted average
interest rate for the term loans was 3.30% and 4.27% at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

() The interest rate is based upon the Euro Interbank Offered Rate plus an applicable margin. At December 31, 2018, the weighted

average interest rate was 1.22% and 1.65% for the BrandLoyalty revolving line of credit and term loans, respectively.

() The interest rates are based on the Federal Funds rate plus an applicable margin. At December 31, 2019, the interest rates ranged from
1.84% to 3.50%. At December 31, 2018, the interest rates ranged from 1.90% to 2.71%.

() The interest rate is based upon LIBOR or the asset-backed commercial paper costs of each individual conduit provider plus an
applicable margin. At December 31, 2019, the interest rates ranged from 2.79% to 2.96%. At December 31, 2018, the interest rates

ranged from 3.48% to 3.79%.

At December 31, 2019, the Company was in compliance with its financial covenants.
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Long-term and Other Debt
Credit Agreement

The Company, as borrower, and ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc., ADS Foreign Holdings, Inc., Alliance Data Foreign
Holdings, Inc., Alliance Data International LL.C, Comenity LLC and Comenity Servicing LLC, as guarantors, are party to a
credit agreement with various agents and lenders dated June 14, 2017 (the “2017 Credit Agreement”).

At December 31, 2018, the 2017 Credit Agreement provided for $3,052.6 million in term loans (the “2017 Term
Loans”) and a $1,572.4 million revolving credit facility (the “2017 Credit Facility”), with total availability under the 2017
Credit Facility of $832.4 million.

On April 30, 2019, the Company amended its credit agreement to provide that, upon consummation of the sale of
Epsilon, the maturity date of the credit agreement would be reduced by one year from June 14, 2022 to June 14, 2021, a
mandatory payment of $500 million of the revolving credit facility would be required, the aggregate revolving credit
commitments would be reduced in the same amount (to $1,072.4 million), all of the Company’s outstanding senior notes
would be required to be redeemed, net proceeds from future asset sales in excess of $50 million must be applied to repayment
of the credit agreement and certain other minor amendments.

In July 2019, the Company made a mandatory payment of $500.0 million of the revolving credit facility, with the
aggregate revolving credit commitments reduced to $1,072.4 million.

On December 20, 2019, the Company amended its credit agreement to extend the maturity date from June 14, 2021 to
December 31, 2022, reduce the aggregate revolving credit commitments from $1,072.4 million to $750.0 million, add a
consolidated minimum tangible net worth covenant upon certain triggering events and make certain other amendments. The
amendment also required the Company to prepay the term loans to $2,028.8 million upon consummation of the offering of
the $850.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.750% senior notes due December 15, 2024 (“Senior Notes due 2024”),
which obligation was satisfied in full with a prepayment of $833.0 million, representing the net proceeds from the offering of
the Senior Notes due 2024.

At December 31, 2019, the credit agreement, as amended, provided for a $2,028.8 million term loan, subject to certain
principal repayments, and a $750.0 million revolving credit facility.

Total availability under the 2017 Credit Facility at December 31, 2019 was $750.0 million.

The loans under the credit agreement are scheduled to mature on December 31, 2022. The 2017 Term Loan provides for
aggregate principal payments of 1.25% of the $2,028.8 million term loan amount, payable in equal quarterly installments
beginning on March 31, 2020. The credit agreement is unsecured.

The credit agreement contains the usual and customary negative covenants for transactions of this type, including, but
not limited to, restrictions on the Company’s ability and in certain instances, its subsidiaries’ ability to consolidate or merge;
substantially change the nature of its business; sell, lease, or otherwise transfer any substantial part of its assets; create or
incur indebtedness; create liens; and make acquisitions. The negative covenants are subject to certain exceptions as specified
in the credit agreement. The credit agreement also requires the Company to satisfy certain financial covenants, including a
maximum total leverage ratio and a minimum ratio of consolidated operating EBITDA to consolidated interest expense, each
as determined in accordance with the credit agreement. The credit agreement also includes customary events of default.
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BrandLoyalty Credit Agreement

BrandLoyalty and certain of its subsidiaries, as borrower and guarantors, are parties to a credit agreement that provides
for an A-1 term loan facility of €90.0 million and an A-2 term loan facility of €100.0 million, subject to certain principal
repayments, a committed revolving line of credit of €37.5 million and an uncommitted revolving line of credit of €37.5
million, all of which mature in June 2020.

In September 2019, the Company repaid the €115.0 million in term loans outstanding under the BrandLoyalty credit
agreement, originally scheduled to mature in June 2020, and repaid the €32.5 million amount outstanding under the revolving
line of credit.

Senior Notes

In July 2019, with the proceeds from the Epsilon transaction, the Company extinguished all of its senior notes, which
had an outstanding balance of $1.9 billion. The Company incurred a loss from the extinguishment of debt of approximately
$71.9 million, resulting from the redemption price of each of the notes of $49.9 million and the write-off of deferred issuance
costs of $22.0 million. The senior notes extinguished were as follows:

$500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.875% senior notes due November 1, 2021
$600.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior notes due August 1, 2022
€400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.500% senior notes due March 15, 2022
€300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.2500% senior notes due November 15, 2023

In December 2019, the Company issued and sold $850.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.750% senior notes due
December 15, 2024. The Senior Notes due 2024 accrue interest on the principal amount at the rate of 4.750% per annum
from December 20, 2019, payable semi-annually in arrears, on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15,
2020. The Senior Notes due 2024 will mature on December 15, 2024, subject to earlier repurchase or redemption.

The Senior Notes due 2024 are governed by an indenture that includes usual and customary negative covenants and
events of default. The Senior Notes due 2024 are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by each of the Company’s existing
and future domestic restricted subsidiaries that incurs or in any other manner becomes liable for any debt under the
Company’s domestic credit facilities, including the credit agreement.

Deposits

Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank issue certificates of deposit in denominations of at least $100,000 and
$1,000, respectively, in various maturities ranging between January 2020 and December 2024 and with effective annual
interest rates ranging from 1.33% to 4.00%, with a weighted average interest rate of 2.66%, at December 31, 2019. At
December 31, 2018, interest rates ranged from 1.25% to 4.00%, with a weighted average interest rate of 2.44%. Interest is
paid monthly and at maturity.

Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank offer non-maturity deposit programs through contractual arrangements with
various financial counterparties. Money market deposits are redeemable on demand by the customer and, as such, have no
scheduled maturity date. As of December 31, 2019, Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank had $3.6 billion in money
market deposits outstanding with annual interest rates ranging from 1.84% to 3.50%, with a weighted average interest rate of
2.05%. As of December 31, 2018, Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank had $3.4 billion in money market deposits
outstanding with annual interest rates ranging from 1.90% to 2.71%, with a weighted average interest rate of 2.59%.
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Non-Recourse Borrowings of Consolidated Securitization Entities

An asset-backed security is a security whose value and income payments are derived from and collateralized (or
“backed”) by a specified pool of underlying assets. The sale of the pool of underlying assets to general investors is
accomplished through a securitization process. The Company regularly sells its credit card receivables to its credit card
securitization trusts, the WFN Trusts and the WFC Trust, which are consolidated on the balance sheets of the Company under
ASC 860 and ASC 810. The liabilities of the consolidated VIEs include asset-backed securities for which creditors or
beneficial interest holders do not have recourse to the general credit of the Company.

Asset-Backed Term Notes

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the following asset-backed term notes were issued by Master Trust I:

e In February 2019, the Company issued $562.5 million of Series 2019-A asset-backed term notes, which mature
in February 2022. The offering consisted of $500.0 million of Class A notes with a fixed interest rate of 3.14%
per year, $37.2 million of Class M Notes with a fixed interest rate of 3.61% per year and $25.3 million of notes
that were retained by the Company and eliminated from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

e In June 2019, the Company issued $399.2 million of Series 2019-B asset-backed term notes, which mature in
June 2022. The offering consisted of $350.0 million of Class A notes with a fixed interest rate of 2.49% per
year, $31.2 million of Class M notes with a fixed interest rate of 3.04% per year and $18.0 million of notes
which were retained by the Company and eliminated from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

e In September 2019, the Company issued $684.2 million of Series 2019-C asset-backed term notes, which
mature in September 2022. The offering consisted of $600.0 million of Class A notes with a fixed interest rate
of 2.21% per year, $53.4 million of Class M notes with a fixed interest rate of 2.71% per year and $30.8 million
of notes which were retained by the Company and eliminated from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the following asset-backed term notes from Master Trust I matured and were
repaid:

e In March 2019, $550.0 million of Series 2012-A asset-backed term notes, $137.5 million of which were
retained by the Company and eliminated from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

e InJune 2019, $466.7 million of Series 2012-D asset-backed term notes, $77.0 million of which were retained
by the Company and eliminated from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

e In August 2019, $444.7 million of Series 2017-B asset-backed term notes, $44.7 million of which were retained
by the Company and eliminated from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

e In October 2019, $460.5 million of Series 2016-C asset-backed term notes, $88.7 million of which were
retained by the Company and eliminated from the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Conduit Facilities

The Company has access to committed undrawn capacity through three conduit facilities to support the funding of its
credit card receivables through Master Trust I, Master Trust III and the WFC Trust. Borrowings outstanding under each
facility bear interest at a margin above LIBOR or the asset-backed commercial paper costs of each individual conduit
provider.

In May 2019, the WFC Trust amended its 2009-VFN conduit facility, increasing the capacity from $1,975.0 million to
$2,175.0 million and extending the maturity to April 2021.
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As of December 31, 2019, the conduits have varying maturities from September 2020 to April 2021 with variable
interest rates ranging from 2.79% to 2.96%. Total capacity under the conduit facilities was $4.7 billion, of which $2.4 billion
had been drawn and was included in non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Maturities

The future principal payments for the Company’s debt as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Non-Recourse
Borrowings of

Long-Term Consolidated
and Securitization
Year Other Debt Deposits Entities
(in millions)
2020 $ 1014 $ 6,944.8 $ 3,032.2
2021 101.4 2,193.9 2,692.1
2022 1,826.0 1,574.0 1,571.7
2023 — 935.0 —
2024 850.0 527.3 —
Thereafter — — —
Total maturities 2,878.8 12,175.0 7,296.0
Unamortized debt issuance costs (28.9) (23.3) (12.0)

$ 2,8499 §$ 12,151.7  $ 7,284.0

17. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses derivatives to manage risks associated with certain assets and liabilities arising from the potential
adverse impact of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company limits its exposure on derivatives by entering into contracts with institutions that are established dealers
who maintain certain minimum credit criteria established by the Company. At December 31, 2019, the Company does not
maintain any derivative instruments subject to master agreements that would require the Company to post collateral or that
contain any credit-risk related contingent features.

The Company enters into foreign currency derivatives to reduce the volatility of the Company’s cash flows resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates associated with certain inventory transactions, some of which are designated
as cash flow hedges. The Company generally hedges foreign currency exchange rate risks for periods of 12 months or less.
As of December 31, 2019, the maximum term over which the Company is hedging its exposure to the variability of future
cash flows associated with certain inventory transactions is 7 months.

The following tables present the fair values of the derivative instruments included within the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

December 31, 2019
Notional
Amount Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Maturity
(in millions)
Designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange hedges $ 55 §$ 0.2 Other current assets January 2020 to February 2020
Foreign currency exchange hedges $ 78 % 0.3 Other current liabilities February 2020 to July 2020
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December 31, 2018

Notional
Amount Fair Value Balance Sheet Location Maturity
(in millions)

Designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange hedges $ 52 § 0.3 Other current assets January 2019 to April 2019
Foreign currency exchange hedges $ 203 $ 0.3 Other current liabilities ~ March 2019 to November 2019
Not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange forward contract $ 616 $ 3.5  Other current assets January 2019 to February 2019

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

For the year ended December 31, 2019, gains of $0.1 million, net of tax, were recognized in other comprehensive
income related to foreign currency exchange hedges designated as effective, losses of $0.1 million, net of tax, were
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into net income (cost of operations), and a de minimis amount of
ineffectiveness was recorded. Changes in the fair value of these hedges, excluding any ineffective portion are recorded in
other comprehensive income until the hedged transactions affect net income. The ineffective portion of these cash flow
hedges impacts net income when the ineffectiveness occurs. At December 31, 2019, $0.1 million is expected to be
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into net income in the coming 12 months.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, losses of $0.1 million, net of tax, were recognized in other comprehensive
income related to foreign currency exchange hedges designated as effective, gains of $0.2 million, net of tax, were
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into net income (cost of operations), and a de minimis amount of
ineffectiveness was recorded.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, losses of $0.5 million, net of tax, were recognized in other comprehensive
income related to foreign currency exchange hedges designated as effective, gains of $0.2 million, net of tax, were
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into net income (cost of operations), and $0.1 million of
ineffectiveness was recorded.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized losses of $1.4 million, gains of $10.6
million, and gains of $12.5 million, respectively, related to foreign currency exchange forward contracts not designated as
hedging instruments in general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company did not hold any derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.
Net Investment Hedges

The Company previously designated its Euro-denominated 5.250% senior notes due 2023 (€300.0 million) and €340.0
million of its Euro-denominated 4.500% senior notes due 2022 (€400.0 million) as a net investment hedge of its investment
in BrandLoyalty on an after-tax basis. The net investment hedge was intended to reduce the volatility in stockholders’ equity
caused by the changes in foreign currency exchange rates of the Euro with respect to the U.S. dollar.

On July 1, 2019, the Company dedesignated its net investment hedge, and the Euro-denominated senior notes were
repaid in July 2019. The $7.5 million unamortized amount of the net investment hedge will remain in accumulated other
comprehensive loss until the Company’s investment in BrandLoyalty is disposed of or substantially liquidated.

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded unrealized gains of $4.9 million,

unrealized gains of $29.6 million, and unrealized losses of $46.1 million, net of tax, respectively, in other comprehensive
income and no ineffectiveness was recorded on the net investment hedges.
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

AIR MILES Reward Program

The Company has entered into contractual arrangements with certain AIR MILES Reward Program sponsors that result
in fees being billed to those sponsors upon the redemption of AIR MILES reward miles issued by those sponsors. The
Company has obtained letters of credit and other assurances from those sponsors for the Company’s benefit that expire at
various dates. These letters of credit and other assurances totaled $141.7 million at December 31, 2019, which exceeds the
amount of the Company’s estimate of its obligation to provide travel and other rewards upon the redemption of the AIR
MILES reward miles issued by those sponsors.

The Company currently has an obligation to provide AIR MILES Reward Program collectors with travel and other
rewards upon the redemption of AIR MILES reward miles. The Company believes that the redemption settlement assets,
including the letters of credit and other assurances mentioned above, are sufficient to meet that obligation.

The Company has entered into certain long-term arrangements with airlines and other suppliers in connection with
reward redemptions under the AIR MILES Reward Program. These long-term arrangements allow the Company to retain
preferred pricing subject to meeting agreed upon annual volume commitments for rewards purchased.

Regulatory Matters

Comenity Bank is regulated, supervised and examined by the State of Delaware and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”). Comenity Bank remains subject to regulation by the Board of the Governors of the Federal Reserve
System. The Company’s industrial bank, Comenity Capital Bank, is regulated, supervised and examined by the State of Utah
and the FDIC. Both Comenity Bank and Comenity Capital Bank are under the supervision of the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), a federal consumer protection regulator with authority to make further changes to the federal
consumer protection laws and regulations, and the CFPB may, from time to time, conduct reviews of their practices.

Quantitative measures established by regulations to ensure capital adequacy require Comenity Bank and Comenity
Capital Bank (collectively, the “Banks™) to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 and total
capital to risk weighted assets and of Tier 1 capital to average assets. Based on these guidelines, the Banks are considered
well capitalized.

The actual capital ratios and minimum ratios as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Minimum Ratio to be
Minimum Ratio for Well Capitalized under

Actual Capital Adequacy Prompt Corrective
Ratio Purposes Action Provisions
Comenity Bank
Tier 1 capital to average assets 12.9 % 4.0 % 5.0 %
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.6 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.6 6.0 8.0
Total capital to risk-weighted assets 15.9 8.0 10.0
Comenity Capital Bank
Tier 1 capital to average assets 11.9 % 4.0 % 5.0 %
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.4 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.4 6.0 8.0
Total capital to risk-weighted assets 15.7 8.0 10.0
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The actual capital ratios and minimum ratios as of December 31, 2018 are as follows:
Minimum Ratio to be
Minimum Ratio for Well Capitalized under

Actual Capital Adequacy Prompt Corrective
Ratio Purposes Action Provisions
Comenity Bank
Tier 1 capital to average assets 13.1 % 4.0 % 5.0 %
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.6 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.6 6.0 8.0
Total capital to risk-weighted assets 15.9 8.0 10.0
Comenity Capital Bank
Tier 1 capital to average assets 12.1 % 4.0 % 5.0 %
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.4 4.5 6.5
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 14.4 6.0 8.0
Total capital to risk-weighted assets 15.7 8.0 10.0

On September 10, 2019, Comenity Capital Bank submitted a bank merger application to the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) seeking the FDIC’s approval to merge Comenity Bank with and into Comenity Capital Bank as the
surviving bank entity. On the same date, Comenity Capital Bank and Comenity Bank each submitted counterpart bank
merger applications to the Utah Department of Financial Institutions and the Delaware Office of the State Bank
Commissioner, respectively, in connection with the proposed merger. The merger application remains subject to regulatory
review and approval and no guarantee can be provided as to the outcome or timing of such review.

Cardholders

The Company’s Card Services segment is active in originating private label and co-brand credit cards in the United
States. The Company reviews each potential customer’s credit application and evaluates the applicant’s financial history and
ability and perceived willingness to repay. Credit card loans are made primarily on an unsecured basis. Cardholders reside
throughout the United States and are not significantly concentrated in any one area.

Holders of credit cards issued by the Company have available lines of credit, which vary by cardholder. These lines of
credit represent elements of risk in excess of the amount recognized in the financial statements. The lines of credit are subject
to change or cancellation by the Company. At December 31, 2019, the Company had 61.0 million total accounts, including
both active and inactive, having unused lines of credit averaging $2,307 per account.

Indemnification

On July 1, 2019, the Company completed the sale of its Epsilon segment to Publicis Groupe S.A. (“Publicis”). Under the
terms of the agreement governing that transaction, the Company agreed to indemnify Publicis and its affiliates from and
against any losses arising out of or related to a Department of Justice (“DOJ”) investigation. The DOJ investigation relates to
third-party marketers who sent, or allegedly sent, deceptive mailings and the provision of data and services to those
marketers by Epsilon’s data practice. Epsilon has actively cooperated with the DOJ in connection with its ongoing
investigation. The Company records a loss contingency when a loss is probable and an amount can be reasonably estimated.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded a loss contingency of $32.9 million, net of tax, which was
included in loss from discontinued operations. As these estimates are initially developed substantially earlier than when the
ultimate loss is known, no assurance can be given that the investigation will be resolved on these, or other, terms. Therefore,
this loss contingency may be refined each period as additional information becomes available. For the year ended December
31, 2019, the Company incurred $3.2 million in legal fees associated with this matter, which was included in cost of
operations in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.
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Legal Proceedings

From time to time the Company is involved in various claims and lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business that
it believes will not have a material effect on its business, financial condition or cash flows, including claims and lawsuits
alleging breaches of the Company’s contractual obligations.

19. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Stock Repurchase Programs

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company repurchased approximately 6.3 million, 2.2
million and 2.3 million shares of its common stock, respectively, for an aggregate amount of $976.1 million, $443.2 million
and $553.7 million, respectively.

2017 Authorization

In January 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program to acquire up to $500.0
million of the Company’s outstanding common stock from January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017. In July 2017, the
Company's Board of Directors authorized an increase to the stock repurchase program originally approved on January 1,
2017 to acquire an additional $500.0 million of the Company’s outstanding common stock through July 31, 2018, for a total
stock repurchase authorization of up to $1.0 billion. At July 31, 2018, $280.3 million of this program expired unused.

2018 Authorization

On July 26, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a new stock repurchase program to acquire up to $500.0
million of the Company’s outstanding common stock from August 1, 2018 through July 31, 2019.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company acquired approximately 0.8 million shares of its common stock for
$166.0 million under its previous stock repurchase program and acquired approximately 1.4 million shares of its common
stock for $277.2 million under its current stock repurchase program.

For the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company acquired a total of 1.3 million shares of its common stock for
$222.8 million under its stock repurchase program. As of June 30, 2019, the Company did not have any amounts remaining
under its authorized stock repurchase program.

2019 Authorization

In July 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a new stock repurchase program to acquire up to $1.1 billion
of its outstanding common stock from July 5, 2019 through June 30, 2020.

On July 19, 2019, the Company commenced a “modified Dutch Auction” tender offer to acquire up to $750.0 million in
aggregate purchase price of its issued and outstanding common stock at a price not greater than $162.00 nor less than
$144.00 per share, to the seller in cash, less any applicable withholding taxes and without interest, upon the terms and subject
to the conditions described in the Offer to Purchase dated July 19, 2019 and in the related Letter of Transmittal. The tender
offer expired on August 15, 2019, and the Company repurchased 5,050,505 shares of its issued and outstanding common
stock at a price of $148.50 per share, for an aggregate cost of approximately $750.0 million. Additionally, the Company
incurred approximately $3.3 million of direct costs related to the repurchase, including $2.2 million in commissions, which
have been recorded to treasury stock in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had $347.8 million remaining under its authorized stock repurchase program.
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Stock Compensation Plans

The Company has adopted equity compensation plans to advance the interests of the Company by rewarding certain
employees for their contributions to the financial success of the Company and thereby motivating them to continue to make
such contributions in the future.

The 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan became effective July 1, 2010 and reserved 3,000,000 shares of common stock for
grants of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance share awards, cash incentive awards, deferred stock units, and other stock-based and cash-based awards to
selected officers, employees, non-employee directors and consultants who performed services for the Company or its
affiliates, with only employees eligible to receive incentive stock options. The 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan expired on June
30, 2015.

In March 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which
was subsequently approved by the Company’s stockholders on June 3, 2015. The 2015 Plan became effective July 1, 2015
and expires on June 30, 2020. The 2015 Plan reserves 5,100,000 shares of common stock for grants of nonqualified stock
options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance share awards,
cash incentive awards, deferred stock units, and other stock-based and cash-based awards to selected officers, employees,
non-employee directors and consultants performing services for the Company or its affiliates, with only employees being
eligible to receive incentive stock options.

On June 5, 2015, the Company registered 5,100,000 shares of its common stock for issuance in accordance with the
2015 Plan pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-204758.

Beginning February 15, 2017, the restricted stock unit award agreements under the 2015 Plan provide for dividend
equivalent rights (“DERs”), which entitle holders of restricted stock units to the same dividend value per share as holders of
common stock. DERs are subject to the same vesting and other terms and conditions as the corresponding unvested restricted
stock units. DERs are paid only when the underlying shares vest.

Terms of all awards under the 2015 Plan are determined by the Board of Directors or the compensation committee of the
Board of Directors or its designee at the time of award.

Stock Compensation Expense

Under the fair value recognition provisions, stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on
the fair value of the award and is recognized ratably over the requisite service period.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of income for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)
Cost of operations $ 165 $ 233 $ 188
General and administrative 8.6 21.1 22.5
Total $ 251 $ 444 $ 413

Effective April 12, 2019, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell its Epsilon segment to Publicis Groupe
S.A. for $4.4 billion in cash, subject to certain specified adjustments. The agreement provided for certain unvested restricted
stock units held by Epsilon employees to be modified, with original vesting conditions to be accelerated upon consummation
of the sale of Epsilon. Additionally, the agreement provided for certain other awards held by Epsilon employees to be
forfeited upon consummation of the sale of Epsilon, which occurred July 1, 2019. As a result, in April 2019 the Company
recorded $19.4 million of incremental stock-based compensation expense in discontinued operations related to the
modifications, net of forfeitures. Stock-based compensation expense included in
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loss from discontinued operations totaled $29.7 million, $36.4 million and $33.8 million for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The income tax benefits related to stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017 were $3.6 million, $7.3 million and $5.4 million, respectively.

As the amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, the
amount recognized in the Company’s results of operations has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. In connection with the
Company’s adoption of ASU 2016-09, the Company elected to continue to estimate forfeitures at each grant date, with
forfeiture estimates to be revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
Forfeitures were estimated based on the Company’s historical experience, with a forfeiture rate of 5% for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

As of December 31, 2019, there was approximately $29.4 million of unrecognized expense, adjusted for estimated
forfeitures, related to non-vested, stock-based equity awards granted to employees, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of approximately 1.3 years.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards

During 2019, the Company awarded service-based, performance-based and market-based restricted stock units. In
accordance with ASC 718, the Company recognizes the estimated stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, over the applicable service period.

For service-based and performance-based awards, the fair value of the restricted stock units was estimated using the
Company’s closing share price on the date of grant. Service-based restricted stock unit awards typically vest ratably over a
three year period. Performance-based restricted stock unit awards typically vest ratably over a three year period if specified
performance measures tied to the Company’s financial performance are met.

For the market-based award granted in 2019, the fair value of the restricted stock units was estimated utilizing Monte
Carlo simulations of the Company’s stock price correlation (0.55), expected volatility (29.2%) and risk-free rate (2.5%) over
two-year time horizons matching the performance period. Upon determination of the market condition, the restrictions will
lapse with respect to the entire award on February 15, 2021, provided that the participant is employed by the Company on
such vesting date.
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The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity under the Company’s equity compensation plans:

Balance at January 1, 2017
Shares granted
Shares vested
Shares forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2017
Shares granted
Shares vested
Shares forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2018
Shares granted
Shares vested
Shares forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2019

Outstanding and Expected to Vest

Weighted
Market- Performance- Service- Average

Based 1) Based ®) Based Total Fair Value
— 444,319 332,378 776,697 $ 216.89
28,172 282,311 126,051 436,534 229.37
— (188,929) (96,723) (285,652) 248.70
— (87,122) (32,647) (119,769) 211.69
28,172 450,579 329,059 807,810 $ 207.45
28,057 263,542 138,160 429,759 233.98
= (188,680) (130,823) (319,503) 224.62
— (102,199) (18,955) (121,154) 227.66
56,229 423,242 317,441 796,912 $ 21881
37,878 420,239 246,118 704,235 161.05
= (262,773) (178,730) (441,503) 218.45
(69,819) (350,436) (126,257) (546,512) 188.40
24,288 230,272 258,572 513,132 $ 172.06
271,685 $ 200.63

(1) Shares granted reflects a 100% target attainment of the respective market-based or performance-based metric. Shares forfeited include
those restricted stock units forfeited as a result of the Company not meeting the respective market-based or performance-based metric

conditions.

The total fair value of restricted stock units vested was $96.4 million, $71.8 million and $71.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock units outstanding
and expected to vest was $30.5 million at December 31, 2019. The weighted-average remaining contractual life for unvested
restricted stock units was 1.3 years at December 31, 2019.

Stock Options

Stock option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock on the date of
grant. Options typically vest ratably over three years and expire ten years after the date of grant. There were no stock options

outstanding as of December 31, 2019.

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the Company’s equity compensation plans:

Balance at January 1, 2017
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2017
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2018
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2019
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Outstanding

Exercisable

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Options  Exercise Price _Options  Exercise Price
18,866 $ 37.60 18,864 $ 37.60
(7,004) 60.85
3) 35.56
11,859 § 23.87 11,859 $ 23.87
(886) 12.70
(119) 2.74
10,854 $ 25.01 10,854 $ 25.01
(10,854) 25.01
— 3 — — % —
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Based on the market value on their respective exercise dates, the total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was
approximately $1.3 million, $0.2 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The Company received $0.3 million of cash proceeds from stock options exercised during the year ended
December 31, 2019.

Dividends

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.63 per share, for a total
of $127.1 million. The Company paid cash dividends and dividend equivalents aggregating $127.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019, and $1.2 million of dividend equivalents were accrued but not yet paid at December 31, 2019.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.57 per share, for a total
of $125.9 million. The Company paid cash dividends and dividend equivalents aggregating $125.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018, and $0.7 million of dividend equivalents were accrued but not yet paid at December 31, 2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.52 per share, for a total
of $116.4 million. The Company paid cash dividends and dividend equivalents aggregating $115.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017, and $0.9 million of dividend equivalents were accrued but not yet paid at December 31, 2017.

On January 30, 2020 the Company’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.63 per share on the
Company’s common stock, payable on March 19, 2020 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 14,
2020.

Preferred Stock

In April 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors designated 300,000 shares of its authorized and unissued preferred
stock as Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock and the Company filed with the Delaware Secretary of State a
Certificate of Designations of Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock to create the new Series A Non-Voting
Convertible Preferred Stock, authorized 300,000 shares and designated the preferences, rights and limitations of the Series A
Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock. Each share of preferred stock will initially be convertible into ten shares of common
stock (subject to adjustment and the other terms described in the Certificate of Designations) at the holder’s election or upon
the Company’s written request, provided that upon such conversion the holder, together with its affiliates, will not own or
control in the aggregate more than 9.9% of the Company’s outstanding common stock (or any class of the Company’s voting
securities). Shares of preferred stock will also be subject to automatic conversion if a holder transfers such shares pursuant to
a transfer (a) to the Company, (b) in a widespread public distribution of common stock or preferred stock, (c) in which no one
transferee (or group of associated transferees) would receive 2% or more of any class of the Company’s voting securities then
outstanding (including pursuant to a related series of such transfers), or (d) to a transferee that would control more than 50%
of the Company voting securities (not including voting securities such person is acquiring from the transferor). Upon such a
transaction, the transferred shares of preferred stock will automatically be converted into shares of common stock on a ten-
for-one basis (subject to adjustment as described in the Certificate of Designations).

The shares of preferred stock have no voting rights, except as otherwise required by the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware. The preferred stock will, with respect to rights upon liquidation, winding up and dissolution, rank
(i) subordinate and junior in right of payment to all other securities of the Company that, by their respective terms, are senior
to the preferred stock, and (ii) pari passu with the common stock.

On April 25, 2019, the Company entered into an exchange agreement with ValueAct Holdings, L.P. (“ValueAct”)

pursuant to which ValueAct exchanged an aggregate of 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for an aggregate
of 150,000 shares of preferred stock. The issuance to ValueAct of the shares of preferred stock was, and the
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issuance of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the preferred stock was, made in reliance upon the
exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In October 2019, ValueAct exchanged all 150,000 shares of preferred stock back to common stock. At December 31,
2019, the Company did not have any shares of preferred stock outstanding.

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2015 ESPP”),
which was subsequently approved by the Company’s stockholders on June 3, 2015. The 2015 ESPP became effective July 1,
2015 with no definitive expiration date. The Company’s Board of Directors may at any time and for any reason terminate or
amend the 2015 ESPP. No employee may purchase more than $25,000 in stock under the 2015 ESPP in any calendar year,
and no employee may purchase stock under the 2015 ESPP if such purchase would cause the employee to own more than 5%
of the voting power or value of the Company’s common stock. The 2015 ESPP provides for six month offering periods,
commencing on the first trading day of the first and third calendar quarter of each year and ending on the last trading day of
each subsequent calendar quarter. The purchase price of the common stock upon exercise shall be 85% of the fair market
value of shares on the applicable purchase date as determined by averaging the high and low trading prices of the last trading
day of the six-month period. An employee may elect to pay the purchase price of such common stock through payroll
deductions. The 2015 ESPP provides for the issuance of any remaining shares available for issuance under the 2005 ESPP,
which were 441,327 shares at June 30, 2015. The 2015 ESPP reserved an additional 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock for issuance under the 2015 Plan, bringing the maximum number of shares reserved for issuance under the
2015 ESPP to 1,441,327 shares, subject to adjustment as provided in the 2015 ESPP.

On June 5, 2015, the Company registered 1,441,327 shares of its common stock for issuance in accordance with the
2015 ESPP pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-204759.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 107,167 shares of common stock under the 2015 ESPP
at a weighted-average issue price of $113.17. Since its adoption on July 1, 2015, 448,682 shares of common stock have been
issued, with 992,645 shares available for issuance under the 2015 ESPP.

2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan

The 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan authorizes the compensation committee to grant cash-based and other equity-based or
equity-related awards, including deferred stock units. The maximum cash amount that may be awarded to any single
participant in any one calendar year may not exceed $7.5 million. See Note 19, “Stockholders’ Equity,” for more information
about the 2015 Plan.

401 (k) Retirement Savings Plan

The Alliance Data Systems 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan is a defined contribution plan that is qualified under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. The Company amended its 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan
effective January 1, 2019. The 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan is an IRS-approved safe harbor plan design that
eliminates the need for most discrimination testing. Eligible employees can participate in the 401(k) and Retirement Savings
Plan immediately upon joining the Company and after 180 days of employment begin receiving company matching
contributions. In addition, “seasonal” or “on-call” employees must complete a year of eligibility service before they may
participate in the 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan. The 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan permits eligible employees to
make Roth elective deferrals, which are included in the employee’s taxable income at the time of contribution, but not when
distributed. Regular, or Non-Roth, elective deferrals made by employees, together with contributions by the Company to the
401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan, and income earned on these contributions, are not taxable to employees until withdrawn
from the 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan. The 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan covers U.S. employees, who are at
least 18 years old, of ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc., one of the
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Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and any other subsidiary or affiliated organization that adopts this 401(k) and
Retirement Savings Plan. Employees of the Company, and all of its U.S. subsidiaries, are currently covered under the 401(k)
and Retirement Savings Plan.

The Company matches an employee’s contribution dollar-for-dollar up to five percent of the employee’s eligible
compensation. All company matching contributions are immediately vested. Company matching contributions for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $35.3 million, $44.8 million and $41.6 million, respectively.

The participants in the plan can direct their contributions and the Company’s matching contribution to numerous
investment options, including the Company’s common stock. On July 20, 2001, the Company registered 1,500,000 shares of
its common stock for issuance in accordance with its 401(k) and Retirement Savings Plan pursuant to a Registration
Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-65556. As of December 31, 2019, 462,101 of such shares remain available for issuance.

Group Retirement Savings Plan and Deferred Profit Sharing Plan (LoyaltyOne)

The Company provides for its Canadian employees the Group Retirement Savings Plan of the Loyalty Group (“GRSP”),
which is a group retirement savings plan registered with the Canada Revenue Agency. Contributions made by Canadian
employees on their behalf or on behalf of their spouse to the GRSP, and income earned on these contributions, are not taxable
to employees until withdrawn from the GRSP. Employee contributions eligible for company match may not exceed the
overall maximum allowed by the Income Tax Act (Canada); the maximum tax-deductible GRSP contribution is set by the
Canada Revenue Agency each year. The Deferred Profit Sharing Plan (“DPSP”) is a legal trust registered with the Canada
Revenue Agency. Eligible full-time employees can participate in the GRSP after three months of employment and eligible
part-time employees after six months of employment. Employees become eligible to receive company matching contributions
into the DPSP on the first day of the calendar quarter following twelve months of employment. Based on the eligibility
guidelines, the Company matches an employee’s contribution dollar-for-dollar up to five percent of the employee’s eligible
compensation. Contributions made to the DPSP reduce an employee’s maximum contribution amounts to the GRSP under the
Income Tax Act (Canada) for the following year. All company matching contributions into the DPSP vest after receipt of one
continuous year of DPSP contributions. LoyaltyOne matching and discretionary contributions were $1.8 million, $1.7 million
and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Executive Deferred Compensation Plan and the Canadian Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

The Company also maintains an Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (“EDCP”). The EDCP permits a defined group
of management and highly compensated employees to defer on a pre-tax basis a portion of their base salary and incentive
compensation (as defined in the EDCP) payable for services rendered. Deferrals under the EDCP are unfunded and subject to
the claims of the Company’s creditors. Each participant in the EDCP is 100% vested in their account, and account balances
accrue interest at a rate established and adjusted periodically by the committee that administers the EDCP.

The Company provides a Canadian Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan for a defined group of management and
highly compensated employees of LoyaltyOne, Co., one of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. Similar to the EDCP,
participants may defer on a pre-tax basis a portion of their compensation and bonuses payable for services rendered and to
receive certain employer contributions.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s outstanding liability related to these plans and included in accrued
expenses in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets was $33.3 million and $63.2 million, respectively.
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21. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax effects, are as follows:

Accumulated
Net Unrealized Net Unrealized Net Unrealized Foreign Currency Other
Gains (Losses) on  Gains (Losses) on Gains (Losses) on Translation Comprehensive
Securities Cash Flow Hedges  Net Investment Hedge Adjustments () Loss
(in millions)
Balance as of January 1, 2017 $ 16) $ 04 $ 41 $ (153.6) $ (150.7)
Changes in other comprehensive
income (loss) (7.1) (0.5) (46.1) 64.2 10.5
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 8.7) $ 0.1) $ (42.0) $ (89.4) $ (140.2)
Changes in other comprehensive
income (loss) (2.0) (0.1) 29.6 (25.4) 2.1
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (10.7) $ 02 $ (124) $ (114.8) $ (138.1)
Changes in other comprehensive
income (loss) 13.2 0.1 4.9 (6.8) 11.4
Recognition resulting from the sale
of Epsilon's foreign subsidiaries — — — 26.8 26.8
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 25 % 0.1) $ (75) $ 94.8) $ (99.9)

(1) Primarily related to the impact of changes in the Canadian dollar and Euro foreign currency exchange rates.

In accordance with ASC 830, “Foreign Currency Matters,” upon the sale of Epsilon on July 1, 2019, $26.8 million of
accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments attributable to Epsilon’s foreign subsidiaries sold were reclassified
from accumulated other comprehensive loss and included in the calculation of the gain/loss on sale of Epsilon segment.
Additionally, as of January 1, 2018, a cumulative-effect adjustment of $1.5 million, net of tax, was reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive loss to retained earnings related to the adoption of ASU 2016-01, “Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” For more information, see Note 2, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies.” Other reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net income for each of the
periods presented were not material.
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22. INCOME TAXES
The components of income from continuing operations before income taxes and income tax expense are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)

Components of income from continuing operations before income taxes:

Domestic $591.9 $1,052.7 $ 883.8
Foreign 146.5 162.3 178.7
Total $ 738.4 $1,2150 $ 1,062.5
Components of income tax expense:
Current
Federal $ 1260 $ 1522 $ 295.0
State 35.8 58.0 17.5
Foreign 11.5 52.8 56.7
Total current 173.3 263.0 369.2
Deferred
Federal (11.8) 48.0 (65.3)
State 6.7 14.7 6.2
Foreign 2.4) (56.2) (16.8)
Total deferred (7.5) 6.5 (75.9)
Total provision for income taxes $ 1658 $ 269.5 $ 293.3

A reconciliation of recorded federal provision for income taxes to the expected amount computed by applying the federal
statutory rate for all periods to income from continuing operations before income taxes is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(in millions)

Expected expense at statutory rate $ 1551 $ 2551 $ 3719
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

State income taxes, net of federal benefit 33.6 57.4 14.5

Foreign rate differential (2.3) 11.6 (26.0)

Foreign restructuring — (48.0) —

Impact of 2017 Tax Reform (30.2) (29.7) (64.9)

Global intangible low-taxed income 8.7 15.5 —

Non-deductible expenses (non-taxable income) 9.1 3.7 4.6)

Other (8.2) 3.9 2.4

Total $ 1658 $ 269.5 $ 293.3

H.R. 1, originally known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “2017 Tax Reform”) was enacted on December 22,
2017. The 2017 Tax Reform permanently reduced the corporate tax rate to 21% from 35%, effective January 1, 2018 and
implemented a change from a system of worldwide taxation with deferral to a hybrid territorial system. This system taxes
excess foreign profits above a deemed routine return through the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) regime.
The Company recognizes tax on GILTI as an expense in the period incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the
Company recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $30.2 million related to a decrease in unrecognized tax benefits as
a result of a tax accounting method change required by the 2017 Tax Reform.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,
2019 2018
(in millions)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred revenue $ 95 $ 10.6
Allowance for doubtful accounts 267.6 267.0
Net operating loss carryforwards and other carryforwards 69.0 57.8
Stock-based compensation and other employee benefits 13.7 24.4
Lease liabilities 74.4 —
Accrued expenses and other 40.3 66.2
Intangible assets 23.2 —
Total deferred tax assets 497.7 426.0
Valuation allowance (64.0) (36.3)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 433.7 389.7
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred income $ 3656 $ 409.8
Depreciation 41.8 79.0
Right of use assets 61.1 —
Intangible assets — 113.4
Total deferred tax liabilities 468.5 602.2
Net deferred tax liability $ (34.8) $ (212.5)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:
Non-current assets $ 452 $ 44.0
Non-current liabilities (80.0) (256.5)
Total — Net deferred tax liability $ (348 $ (2125

At December 31, 2019, included in the Company’s U.S. tax returns are approximately $20.1 million of U.S. federal net
operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) and approximately $33.8 million of foreign tax credits. With the exception of NOLs
generated after December 31, 2017, these attributes expire at various times through the year 2037. Pursuant to Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code, the Company’s utilization of a portion of such NOLs is subject to an annual limitation. The
Company does not believe it is more likely than not that all of its NOLs will be utilized and has therefore, in accordance with
ASC 740-10-30, “Income Taxes-Overall-Initial Measurement,” established a valuation allowance against a portion of the
NOLs. At December 31, 2019, the Company has state income tax NOLs of approximately $175.4 million and state credits of
approximately $5.9 million available to offset future state taxable income. The state NOLs and credits will expire at various
times through the year 2038. The Company believes a majority of these NOLs will expire before utilization and has therefore
established a valuation allowance against those NOLs expected to expire unutilized. The Company has $216.3 million of
foreign NOLs and $5.6 million of foreign capital losses at December 31, 2019. The foreign NOLs and capital losses have an
unlimited carryforward period. The Company does not believe it is more likely than not that the NOLs or capital losses will
be utilized and has therefore, in accordance with ASC 740-10-30, “Income Taxes—Overall—Initial Measurement,”
established a full valuation allowance against them. The Company’s valuation allowance increased $27.7 million during the
year ended December 31, 2019, due primarily to an increase in the amount of state and foreign NOLSs that the Company does
not believe will be utilized. The Company’s valuation allowance decreased $40.1 million during the year ended December
31, 2018 and increased $31.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2017.

Should certain substantial changes in the Company’s ownership occur, there could be an annual limitation on the amount
of carryovers and credits that can be utilized. The impact of such a limitation would likely not be significant.

At December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any excess financial reporting basis over tax basis from a U.S. federal
tax perspective primarily as a result of the GILTI regime pursuant to the 2017 Tax Reform. The Company may
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have, in certain state or foreign jurisdictions, amounts of financial reporting basis that exceeds tax basis as of December 31,
2019. However, these amounts are immaterial and no additional state or foreign tax liability has been recorded. Finally,
despite the immaterial nature, the Company intends to permanently reinvest any previously undistributed earnings of our
foreign subsidiaries in the operations outside the United States to support its international growth.

The net tax impact of the change in the carrying value of the Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2022 and 2023 due to
foreign exchange fluctuations that was recorded directly to other comprehensive income was an expense of $1.6 million, an
expense of $9.5 million and a benefit of $26.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
These notes were repaid in July 2019.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions):

Balance at January 1, 2017 $ 1920
Increases related to prior years’ tax positions 9.3
Decreases related to prior years’ tax positions (15.7)
Increases related to current year tax positions 33.0
Settlements during the period (6.7)
Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation (3.6)

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 2083
Increases related to prior years’ tax positions 41.3
Decreases related to prior years’ tax positions (9.6)
Increases related to current year tax positions 61.5
Settlements during the period (1.0)
Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation 4.2)

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 296.3
Increases related to prior years’ tax positions 2.7
Decreases related to prior years’ tax positions (76.6)
Increases related to current year tax positions 58.3
Settlements during the period (0.6)
Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation (5.8)

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2743

Included in the balance at December 31, 2019 are tax positions reclassified from deferred income taxes. Deductibility or
taxability is highly certain for these tax positions but there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility or taxability.
Because of the impact of deferred tax accounting, other than interest and penalties, this timing uncertainty, if realized, would
not have a material effect on the annual effective tax rate but could accelerate the payment of cash to the taxing authority to
an earlier period.

The Company recognizes potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense. The Company has potential cumulative interest and penalties with respect to unrecognized tax benefits of
approximately $67.0 million, $66.7 million and $41.6 million at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. For the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded approximately an $0.8 million benefit, a $24.5
million expense and a $5.7 million expense, respectively, for potential interest and penalties with respect to unrecognized tax
benefits.

At December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $255.1 million,
$247.7 million and $170.0 million, respectively, that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate. The Company does
not anticipate a significant change to the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits over the next twelve months.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state and foreign jurisdictions. With
some exceptions, the tax returns filed by the Company are no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for the
years before 2015, state and local examinations for years before 2014 or foreign income tax examinations for years before
2013.
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with ASC 825, “Financial Instruments,” the Company is required to disclose the fair value of financial
instruments for which it is practical to estimate fair value. To obtain fair values, observable market prices are used if
available. In some instances, observable market prices are not readily available and fair value is determined using present
value or other techniques appropriate for a particular financial instrument. These techniques involve judgment and as a result
are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company would realize in a current market exchange. The use of different
assumptions or estimation techniques may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

(in millions)
Financial assets

Credit card and loan receivables, net $ 18,292.0 $ 19,126.0 $ 16,816.7 $ 17,472.7
Credit card receivables held for sale 408.0 436.2 1,951.6 1,995.5
Redemption settlement assets, restricted 600.8 600.8 558.6 558.6
Other investments 259.8 259.8 291.3 291.3
Derivative instruments 0.2 0.2 3.8 3.8
Financial liabilities
Derivative instruments 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3
Deposits 12,151.7 12,303.6 11,793.7 11,768.7
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities 7,284.0 7,333.6 7,651.7 7,626.9
Long-term and other debt 2,849.9 2,878.8 5,725.4 5,755.3

The following techniques and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair values of financial instruments
as disclosed herein:

Credit card and loan receivables, net — The Company utilizes a discounted cash flow model using unobservable inputs,
including estimated yields (interest and fee income), loss rates, payment rates and discount rates to estimate the fair value
measurement of the credit card and loan receivables.

Credit card receivables held for sale — The Company utilizes a discounted cash flow model using unobservable inputs,
including forecasted yields and net charge-off estimates to estimate the fair value measurement of the credit card portfolios
held for sale, as well as market data as applicable.

Redemption settlement assets, restricted — Redemption settlement assets, restricted are recorded at fair value based on
quoted market prices for the same or similar securities.

Other investments — Other investments consist of marketable securities and U.S. Treasury bonds and are included in
other current assets and other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Other investments are recorded at fair
value based on quoted market prices for the same or similar securities.

Deposits — For money market deposits, carrying value approximates fair value due to the liquid nature of these deposits.
For certificates of deposit, the fair value is estimated based on the current observable market rates available to the Company
for similar deposits with similar remaining maturities.

Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization entities — The fair value is estimated based on the current

observable market rates available to the Company for similar debt instruments with similar remaining maturities or quoted
market prices for the same transaction.
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Long-term and other debt — The fair value is estimated based on the current observable market rates available to the
Company for similar debt instruments with similar remaining maturities or quoted market prices for the same transaction.

Derivative instruments — The Company’s foreign currency cash flow hedges are recorded at fair value based on a
discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflected the contractual terms of
the derivatives, including the period to maturity, and used observable market-based inputs. The fair value of the foreign
currency forward contracts is estimated based on published quotations of spot foreign currency rates and forward points
which are converted into implied foreign currency rates.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Fair Value Hierarchy

ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the
inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include:

e Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;

e Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable;
and

e Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs where little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to
develop its own assumptions.

Financial instruments are considered Level 3 when their values are determined using pricing models, discounted cash
flow methodologies or similar techniques and at least one significant model assumption or input is unobservable. Level 3
financial instruments also include those for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment
or estimation. The use of different techniques to determine fair value of these financial instruments could result in different
estimates of fair value at the reporting date.

The following tables provide information for the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Fair Value Measurements at

December 31, 2019 Using
Balance at
December 31,
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Mutual funds $ 251 $ 251 $ — 5 —
Corporate bonds () 536.4 — 536.4 —
Marketable securities (2) 259.8 26.2 233.6 —
Derivative instruments () 0.2 — 0.2 —
Total assets measured at fair value $ 8215 $ 51.3  $ 7702  $ —
Derivative instruments ) $ 03 $ — 3 03 $ —
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 03 $ — 3 03 $ —
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Fair Value Measurements at

December 31, 2018 Using
Balance at
December 31,
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Mutual funds $ 232 $ 232 $ — —
Corporate bonds (1 491.5 — 491.5 —
Marketable securities (2) 266.4 25.0 241.4 —
U.S. Treasury bonds 24.9 24.9 — —
Derivative instruments () 3.8 — 3.8 —
Total assets measured at fair value $ 809.8 $ 731  $ 736.7 —
Derivative instruments ) $ 03 $ — 3 0.3 —
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 03 $ — 3 0.3 —

(1) Amounts are included in redemption settlement assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

(2)  Amounts are included in other current assets and other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

(3)  Amounts are included in other current assets and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 within the fair value hierarchy for the years ended December 31, 2019

and 2018.

Financial Instruments Disclosed but Not Carried at Fair Value

The following tables provide assets and liabilities disclosed but not carried at fair value as of December 31, 2019 and

2018:

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2019

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)

Financial assets:
Credit card and loan receivables, net $ 19,126.0 — 3 — 19,126.0
Credit card receivables held for sale 436.2 — — 436.2

Total $ 19,562.2 — 3 — 19,562.2
Financial liabilities:
Deposits $ 12,303.6 — $ 12,303.6 —
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization

entities 7,333.6 — 7,333.6 —

Long-term and other debt 2,878.8 — 2,878.8 —

Total $ 22,516.0 — $ 22,516.0 —
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Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2018

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(in millions)
Financial assets:

Credit card and loan receivables, net $ 17,4727 $ — 3 — 3 17,472.7
Credit card receivables held for sale 1,995.5 — — 1,995.5
Total $ 194682 $ —  $ —  $ 19,468.2

Financial liabilities:

Deposits $ 11,768.7 $ — $ 11,7687 $ —
Non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitization
entities 7,626.9 — 7,626.9 —
Long-term and other debt 5,755.3 — 5,755.3 —
Total $ 251509 $ — $ 251509 $ —

24. PARENT-ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following ADSC financial statements are provided in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, which require such disclosure when the restricted net assets of consolidated subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of
consolidated net assets. Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries may be restricted in distributing cash or other assets to ADSC,
which could be utilized to service its indebtedness. The stand-alone parent-only financial statements are presented below.

Balance Sheets

December 31,
2019 2018
(in millions)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 02 $ 0.1
Investment in subsidiaries 5,326.2 8,606.0
Other assets 3.4 20.1
Total assets $ 53298 $ 8,626.2
Liabilities:
Current portion of long-term and other debt $ 101.4 $ 114.4
Long-term and other debt 2,748.5 5,427.7
Intercompany liabilities 806.7 395.9
Other liabilities 84.9 356.1
Total liabilities 3,741.5 6,294.1
Stockholders’ equity 1,588.3 2,332.1
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 53298 $ 8,626.2

See Note 16, “Debt,” for more information regarding the Company’s long-term and other debt.
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Statements of Income

Interest from loans to subsidiaries
Dividends from subsidiaries
Total revenue
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest expense, net
Other expenses, net
Total expenses
Income before income taxes and equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries
Benefit for income taxes
Income before equity in undistributed net (loss) income of subsidiaries
Equity in undistributed net (loss) income of subsidiaries ()
Net income

(1) Includes $252.1 million after-tax loss on sale of Epsilon.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Total comprehensive income, net of tax

Statements of Cash Flows

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Investment in subsidiaries
Proceeds from sale of business
Dividends received
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities:
Borrowings under debt agreements
Repayments of borrowings
Payment of debt extinguishment costs
Payment of deferred financing costs
Purchase of treasury shares
Dividends paid
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Other
Net cash used in financing activities
Change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)

$ 192 $ 179 $ 13.8

922.6 810.1 360.6
941.8 828.0 374.4
71.9 — —
130.0 281.2 278.9
(0.7) (0.4) 12.9
201.2 280.8 291.8
740.6 547.2 82.6
42.1 7.0 322.7
782.7 554.2 405.3
(504.7) 408.9 383.4
$ 2780 $ 9631 $ 7887
Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)
$ 2780 $ 9631 $ 7887
4.9 29.6 (46.1)
$ 2829 $ 9927 $ 7426
Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(in millions)
$(1,029.1) $ 823 $ 723
(135.0) — (164.0)
4,118.3 — —
922.6 810.1 360.6
4,905.9 810.1 196.6
3,083.0 4,527.0 7,673.6
(5,778.2)  (4,838.3)  (7,232.4)
(46.1) — —
(20.7) (4.6) (33.7)
(976.1) (443.2) (553.7)
(127.4) (125.2) (115.5)
12.4 17.6 18.4
(23.6) (25.7) (25.6)
(3,876.7) (892.4) (268.9)
0.1 — —
0.1 0.1 0.1

$ 02 §$ 01 $ 0.1

Non-cash investing activities related to the parent-only statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019
included a $3.0 billion non-cash dividend in the form of an intercompany return of capital from ADS Alliance Data Systems,

Inc. to ADSC.
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined by ASC 280, “Segment Reporting,” as components of an enterprise about which
separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how
to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The operating segments are reviewed separately because each operating
segment represents a strategic business unit that generally offers different products and services.

As discussed in Note 6, “Discontinued Operations,” in the first quarter of 2019 the Company’s Epsilon segment was
classified as a discontinued operation and was sold on July 1, 2019. The Company operates in the LoyaltyOne and Card
Services reportable segments, which consist of the following:

e LoyaltyOne provides coalition and short-term loyalty programs through the Company’s Canadian AIR MILES
Reward Program and BrandLoyalty; and

e (Card Services provides risk management solutions, account origination, funding, transaction processing, customer

care, collections and marketing services for the Company’s private label and co-brand credit card programs.
Corporate and other immaterial businesses are reported collectively as an “all other” category labeled “Corporate/Other.”
Income taxes are not allocated to the segments in the computation of segment operating profit for internal evaluation
purposes and have also been included in “Corporate/Other.”

Corporate/
Year Ended December 31, 2019 LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Total
(in millions)
Revenues $ 1,033.1 § 4,547.8 $ 04 $ 5,581.3
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 103.1 % 991.7 $ (356.4) $ 738.4
Interest expense, net 2.3 439.0 127.7 569.0
Operating income (loss) 105.4 1,430.7 (228.7) 1,307.4
Depreciation and amortization 80.1 89.3 6.7 176.1
Stock compensation expense 7.2 9.3 8.6 25.1
Strategic transaction costs 1.0 — 10.7 11.7
Restructuring and other charges 50.8 294 37.9 118.1
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — 71.9 71.9
Adjusted EBITDA @ 244.5 1,558.7 (92.9) 1,710.3
Less: Securitization funding costs — 2134 — 213.4
Less: Interest expense on deposits — 225.6 — 225.6
Adjusted EBITDA, net () $ 2445 $ 1,119.7 $ (92.9) $ 1,271.3
Capital expenditures $ 415 $ 442 $ 08 $ 86.5
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Corporate/
Year Ended December 31, 2018 LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Total
(in millions)
Revenues $ 1,068.4 $ 45976 $ 06 $ 5,666.6
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 153.8 $ 1,381.6 $ (320.4) $ 1,215.0
Interest expense, net 5.6 385.9 150.8 542.3
Operating income (loss) 159.4 1,767.5 (169.6) 1,757.3
Depreciation and amortization 84.8 101.1 7.7 193.6
Stock compensation expense 10.0 13.3 21.1 44.4
Adjusted EBITDA (U 254.2 1,881.9 (140.8) 1,995.3
Less: Securitization funding costs — 220.2 — 220.2
Less: Interest expense on deposits — 165.7 — 165.7
Adjusted EBITDA, net () $ 2542 § 1,496.0 $ (140.8) $ 1,609.4
Capital expenditures $ 340 $ 538 $ 55 $ 93.3
Corporate/
Year Ended December 31, 2017 LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Total
(in millions)
Revenues $ 11,3035 $ 4,1706 $ 06 $ 5,474.7
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 1616 $ 1,235.7 $ (334.8) $ 1,062.5
Interest expense, net 5.4 281.7 168.3 455.4
Operating income (loss) 167.0 1,517.4 (166.5) 1,517.9
Depreciation and amortization 81.7 98.4 7.8 187.9
Stock compensation expense 8.0 10.8 22.5 41.3
Adjusted EBITDA @ 256.7 1,626.6 (136.2) 1,747.1
Less: Securitization funding costs — 156.6 — 156.6
Less: Interest expense on deposits — 125.1 — 125.1
Adjusted EBITDA, net () $ 256.7 $ 1,3449 $ (136.2) $ 1,465.4
Capital expenditures $ 552 $ 542 $ 88 $ 118.2

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure equal to income from continuing operations, the most directly comparable
financial measure based on GAAP plus stock compensation expense, provision for income taxes, interest expense, net, depreciation
and other amortization, and amortization of purchased intangibles. In 2019, adjusted EBITDA also excluded costs for professional
services associated with strategic initiatives, restructuring and other charges as detailed in Note 14, “Restructuring and Other
Charges,” and loss related to the Company’s extinguishment of debt in July 2019.

Adjusted EBITDA, net is also a non-GAAP financial measure equal to adjusted EBITDA less securitization funding costs and interest
expense on deposits. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, net are presented in accordance with ASC 280 as they are the primary

performance metrics utilized to assess performance of the segments.

The table below reconciles the reportable segments’ total assets to consolidated total assets:

Total Assets
December 31, 2019
December 31, 2018

Corporate/ Discontinued
LoyaltyOne Card Services Other Operations Total

(in millions)
$ 23380 $ 239311 $ 2257 $ — $ 264948
$ 2,200.2 $ 23,9042 $ 1259 $ 4,157.4 $ 30,387.7
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With respect to information concerning principal geographic areas, revenues are based on the location of the subsidiary
that generally correlates with the location of the customer. Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606,
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” applying the modified retrospective method to those contracts that were not
completed as of January 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented under ASC 606,
while prior period amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with the Company’s historic
accounting under ASC 605. Information concerning principal geographic areas is as follows:

Europe,
United Middle East
States Canada and Africa Asia Pacific Other Total
(in millions)

Revenues
Year Ended December 31, 2019 $ 45883 $ 3522 $ 4491 $ 121.7  $ 70.0 $ 5,581.3
Year Ended December 31, 2018 $ 46213 $ 4113 $ 4632 $ 1220 $ 488 $ 5,666.6
Year Ended December 31, 2017 $ 41925 $ 7266 $ 4114 $ 1292 $ 15.0 $ 5,474.7
Long Lived Assets
December 31, 2019 $ 1,361.1 $ 3111 $ 696.2 $ 128 $ 09 $ 23821
December 31, 2018 $ 46931 $ 261.0 $ 698.6 $ 225 $ 08 $ 5,676.0

As of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, revenues from L Brands and its affiliates represented approximately 10.6%,
10.8% and 12.0%, respectively, of consolidated revenues and are included in the Card Services segment.

26. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The consolidated statements of cash flows are presented with the combined cash flows from discontinued operations
with cash flows from continuing operations within each cash flow statement category. The following table provides a
reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the total of the amounts reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows:

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 38744 $ 3,863.1 $ 4,190.0
Restricted cash included within other current assets (1) 44.4 60.7 50.4
Restricted cash included within redemption settlement assets, restricted (2) 39.3 43.9 74.3
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 39581 $ 39677 $ 43147

(1) Includes cash restricted for principal and interest repayments of non-recourse borrowings of consolidated securitized debt and other
restricted cash within other current assets.

(@) See Note 10, “Redemption Settlement Assets,” for additional information regarding the nature of restrictions on redemption
settlement assets.

Non-cash financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 included an exchange agreement with ValueAct
Holdings, L.P. pursuant to which ValueAct exchanged an aggregate of 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for
an aggregate of 150,000 shares of preferred stock, and ValueAct’s subsequent exchange of all 150,000 shares of preferred
stock back to common stock. For more information, see Note 19, “Stockholders’ Equity.”
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27. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

Unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are presented below.

Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2019 @ 2019 2019 2019
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Revenues $ 13342 $ 13485 $ 14376 $ 1,461.0
Operating expenses 977.3 1,011.2 1,133.4 1,152.0
Operating income 356.9 337.3 304.2 309.0
Interest expense, net 143.9 143.5 140.0 141.6
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 213.0 193.8 164.2 167.4
Provision for income taxes 34.8 51.4 42.6 37.0
Income from continuing operations 178.2 142.4 121.6 130.4
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes (29.1) 3.4) (229.2) (32.9)
Net income (loss) $ 1491 $ 139.0 $ (107.6) $ 97.5
Basic income (loss) per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 336 $ 272 $ 247  $ 2.73

Loss from discontinued operations $ (055 $ (0.07) $ (4.69) $ (0.70)

Net income (loss) per share $ 281 $ 265 $ (2.22) 3% 2.03
Diluted income (loss) per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 33 $ 271 § 241 $ 2.74

Loss from discontinued operations $ (055 $ (0.07) $ (454) $ (0.69)

Net income (loss) per share $ 280 $ 264 $ (2.13) $ 2.05

(D) In the first quarter of 2019, Epsilon was presented as a discontinued operation in accordance with ASC 205 in our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. Included in our presentation was the allocation of interest expense associated with $1.9 billion in senior notes for the three
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. On April 30, 2019, the Company amended its credit agreement, which among
other items, provided that upon consummation of the sale of Epsilon, a mandatory payment of $500.0 million of the revolving credit
facility was required and all of the Company’s outstanding senior notes were required to be redeemed. The table above includes the
allocation of interest expense associated with the $500.0 million mandatory repayment of the revolving credit facility, as well as the
related income tax effect, which was not reflected in our historical results in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
March 31, 2019. The impact was $5.6 million of interest expense and an income tax benefit of $1.7 million.
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ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (CONTINUED)

Revenues

Operating expenses

Operating income

Interest expense, net

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Income from continuing operations

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes
Net income

Basic income (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net income per share

Diluted income (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net income per share

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2018 2018 2018 2018

(in millions, except per share amounts)

$ 1,381.7 $ 1,397.2 $ 1,4232 $ 1,4645
1,009.4 1,000.5 943.4 956.0
372.3 396.7 479.8 508.5
127.2 133.6 136.8 144.7
245.1 263.1 343.0 363.8
65.2 39.3 54.3 110.7
179.9 223.8 288.7 253.1
(16.0) (6.0) 7.8 31.8
$ 1639 $ 2178 $ 2965 $ 284.9
$ 325 $ 405 $ 527 $ 4.69
$ (029 $ (011) $ 014 $ 059
$ 296 $ 394 $ 541 $ 5.28
$ 323 $ 404 $ 525 $ 4.67
$ (028 $ (0.11) $ 014 $ 0.58
$ 295 $ 393 § 539 $ S|

In January 2020, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement and effectuated the sale of Precima, a
provider of retail strategy and customer data applications and analytics, for total consideration of approximately $40.0
million, of which $10.0 million is contingent upon the occurrence of specified events and performance of the business.
Precima was included in the Company’s LoyaltyOne segment.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Alliance Data Systems
Corporation has duly caused this annual report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.
ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION
By: /S/' CHARLES L. HORN
Charles L. Horn
Executive Vice President and Senior Advisor

DATE: February 28, 2020
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of Alliance Data Systems Corporation and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name

Title

President, Chief Executive

Date

February 28, 2020

/S/ RALPH J. ANDRETTA

Ralph J. Andretta

/S/ TIMOTHY P. KING

Timothy P. King

/S/ LAURA SANTILLAN

Laura Santillan

/S/ BRUCE K. ANDERSON

Bruce K. Anderson

/S/ ROGER H. BALLOU

Roger H. Ballou

/S/ KENNETH R. JENSEN

Kenneth R. Jensen

/S/ ROBERT A. MINICUCCI

Robert A. Minicucci

/S/ TIMOTHY J. THERIAULT

Timothy J. Theriault

/S/ LAURIE A. TUCKER

Laurie A. Tucker

/S/ SHAREN J. TURNEY

Sharen J. Turney

Officer and Director

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
Director
Director
Director
Chairman of the Board, Director
Director

Director

Director

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020
February 28, 2020
February 28, 2020
February 28, 2020
February 28, 2020
February 28, 2020

February 28, 2020
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SCHEDULE II
ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charged to Chargedto  Write-Offs  Balance at
Beginning of  Costs and Other Net of End of
Description Year Expenses Accounts __ Recoveries (1) Year
(in millions)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—Accounts receivable:

Year Ended December 31, 2019 $ 04 $ 35 § — 3 (05 $ 34
Year Ended December 31, 2018 $ 01 $ 04 $ — 3 01) $ 04
Year Ended December 31, 2017 $ 03 $ 01 $ (01) $ 02) $ 01

(1) Accounts written off during the year, net of recoveries and foreign exchange impact.
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Exhibit 4.2
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

Alliance Data Systems Corporation’s (the “Company,” “us,” “we” or “our”) Third Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (“charter”) is filed as Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 to this Annual Report on Form
10-K and incorporated herein by reference. Our Fifth Amended and Restated Bylaws (“bylaws”) is filed as
Exhibit 3.3 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. As of December 31, 2019,
we had one class of securities, our common stock, outstanding and registered under Section 12(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ADS.” The transfer agent and
registrar for our common stock is Computershare Investor Services.

The following summary is not complete. You should refer to the applicable provisions of our charter and bylaws
as well as to Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) for a complete statement of the terms and rights
of our common stock.

Authorized Capital Stock

Our charter currently authorizes issuance of 219,880,000 shares, including 200,000,000 shares of Common Stock,
$.01 par value per share and 19,880,000 shares of preferred stock, $.01 par value per share, of which 300,000
have been designated as Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock.

Undesignated Preferred Stock

The board of directors of the Company is authorized to determine the powers, designations, preferences and
relative, participating, optional or other special rights, including voting rights, and the qualifications, limitations
or restrictions thereof of each class of capital stock and of each series within such class.

Common Stock

The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of our Common Stock are subject to and qualified by
the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock.

Dividends

Holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by our board of directors out
of funds legally available for their payment, subject to the rights of holders of any preferred stock that may be
issued and outstanding and to restrictions contained in agreements to which the Company is a party.

Voting_Rights

Subject to the rights of holders of any preferred stock that may be issued and outstanding, each share of Common
Stock entitles the holder to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. In general,
matters submitted for stockholder action shall be approved if the votes cast “for” the matter exceed the votes cast
“against” a matter, unless a greater or different vote threshold is required by any applicable law, rule or regulation,
the rights of any authorized class of stock, or our charter or bylaws. Other than in a contested election where
directors are elected by a plurality vote, a director nominee shall be elected to the




board if the votes cast “for” such nominee’s election exceed the votes cast “against” such nominee’s election.
Holders of Common Stock may not cumulate their votes.

Consents in Lieu of Meetings

Any action required to be, or that may be taken, at any meeting of stockholders may be taken without a meeting,
without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by
the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to
authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and

voted. Prompt, written notice of the action taken by means of any such consent that is other than unanimous shall
be given to those stockholders who have not consented in writing.

Rights upon Liquidation

In the event of the liquidation or dissolution of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, holders of the
Common Stock will be entitled to receive all assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders,
subject to the rights of any then outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Other Rights

Holders of Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive, conversion or redemption rights and there are no
sinking fund provisions applicable to shares of our Common Stock. All outstanding share of Common Stock are
fully paid and non-assessable.

Special Meetings

Special meetings of the stockholders of the Company, for any purpose(s), may be called by (i) the chief executive
officer or president; (2) the secretary of the Company upon a resolution adopted by a majority of the whole board;
or (iii) the secretary of the Company upon the request of the stockholders of record of at least 25% of the
Common Stock entitled to vote.

Proxy Access

Our bylaws permit a stockholder, or a group of up to 20 stockholders, owning at least three percent of our
outstanding common stock continuously for at least three years to nominate and include in our annual meeting
proxy materials director nominees constituting up to the greater of two directors or twenty percent of our board of
directors, provided that the stockholders and nominees satisfy the requirements specified in our bylaws.

Removal of Directors; Vacancies

Any director may be removed at any annual or special stockholders’ meeting upon the affirmative vote of the
holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of voting stock entitled to vote on the matter. Vacancies and
newly-created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a
majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director

Other Provisions of Our Charter, Bylaws or the Delaware General Corporation Law That May Have Anti-
Takeover Effects

Advance Notice Provisions for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations

Our bylaws provide that a stockholder must notify us in writing, within timeframes specified in the bylaws, of any
stockholder nomination of a director and of any other business that the stockholder intends to bring at a




meeting of stockholders. Our bylaws further provide requirements as to the timing, form and content of a
stockholder’s notice.

Amendments to our Bylaws

Our charter and bylaws provide that our bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of
the majority of the whole board or by the stockholders at any annual or special meeting providing notice of such
action.

Delaware Business Combination Statute

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL. In general, the statute prohibits a Delaware
corporation that has either a class of stock listed on a national stock exchange or at least 2,000 stockholders of
record from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder (generally, the beneficial owner of
15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock) for three years following the time the stockholder
became an interested stockholder, unless, prior to that time: (1) the corporation’s board of directors approved
either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested
stockholder, (2) at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares not owned by that interested stockholder approve the
business combination, or (3) upon becoming an interested stockholder, that stockholder owned at least 85% of the
outstanding shares, excluding those held by officers, directors and some employee stock plans. A “business
combination” includes a merger, asset sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit, other than
proportionately as a stockholder, to the interested stockholder.




Exhibit 10.26
EXECUTION VERSION
CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THE EXHIBIT
BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE
HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. SUCH EXCLUSIONS HAVE
BEEN MARKED WITH A [***+],
PRIVATE LABEL CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT
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COMENITY BANK
AND
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AND
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PRIVATE LABEL CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT

THIS PRIVATE LABEL CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made as of
this 29" day of June, 2018 (the “Execution Date”) by and between Victoria’'s Secret Stores, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, with its principal office at Four Limited Parkway, Reynoldsburg, OH
43068, (hereinafter referred to as “Victoria’s Secret”), Lone Mountain Factoring, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company, with its principal office at 4441 South Polaris Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
(hereinafter referred to as “Lone Mountain”), L Brands Direct Marketing, Inc. and L Brands Direct
Fulfilment, Inc., each a Delaware corporation, with principal offices at Five Limited Parkway,
Reynoldsburg, OH 43068, (collectively hereinafter referred to as “Direct”) and Far West Factoring, LLC
a Nevada limited liability company, with its principal office at 4441 South Polaris Avenue, Las Vegas,
Nevada 89103, (hereinafter referred to as “Far West”), and Puerto Rico Store Operations LLC, a
Puerto Rico limited liability company, with Its principal office at. 361 San Francisco Street, San Juan,
Puerto Rico 00901-1783 (hereinafter referred to as "Puerto Rico™) (Victoria’s Secret, Lone Mountain,
Direct, Far West and Puerto Rico collectively hereinafter referred to as “VS”) and COMENITY BANK, a
Delaware state bank, with its principal office at One Righter Parkway, Suite 100, Wilmington,
DE 19803, (hereinafter referred to as “Bank”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, VS and Bank entered into that certain Private Label Credit Card Program
Agreement dated May 9, 2011, as amended (the “Prior Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, VS and Bank now wish to enter into this Agreement setting forth certain
agreements with respect to the provision of VS’s private label credit card program, the terms of which
shall supersede and replace the Prior Agreement; and

WHEREAS, VS and Bank desire that the terms of this Agreement be effective as of June 1,
2018 (“Effective Date”), unless otherwise specifically set forth herein;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions hereof, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby mutually acknowledged by the parties, Bank
and VS agree as follows.

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS

11 Certain Definitions. As used herein and unless otherwise required by the context, the
following terms shall have the following respective meanings.

“Account” shall mean an individual open-end revolving line of credit established by Bank for a
Customer pursuant to the terms of a Credit Card Agreement, including without limitation, each
of the Existing Accounts.

“Accounts Receivable Balance” shall mean at the time of reference, any and all amounts owing
to Bank on the aggregate of all Accounts, including, without limitation, principal balances from
Purchases, BBW Purchases, fees related to Protection Programs and Enhancement Marketing
Services, accrued finance charges (whether or not posted or billed to an Account), late fees,
and all other fees and charges assessed by Bank on the Accounts, less any payments and
credits received by Bank with respect to the Accounts. This definition
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specifically excludes any amounts which have been written-off by Bank with respect to such
Accounts.

“Accountholder” shall mean any natural person to whom an Account has been issued by Bank.

“Affiliate” shall mean with respect to any Person, any Person directly or indirectly controlling,
controlled by, or under common control with such other Person. For purposes of this definition,
"control" when used with respect to any Person means the power to direct the management
and policies of such Person, directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise, and the terms "controlling" and "controlled" have meanings
correlative to the foregoing. In addition, any entity (and its successors by way of change of
organizational form) through which VS or L Brands is pursuing a business venture will be
deemed an Affiliate of VS so long as VS possesses the power to elect not less than 25% of the
whole number of the board of directors of such entity or own not less than 25% of the assets or
equity of such entity.

“Agreement” shall mean this Private Label Credit Card Program Agreement and any future
amendments or supplements thereto.

“Applicable Law” shall mean any applicable federal, state or local law, rule, regulation, or
guidance, including but not limited to Consumer Laws.

“Applicant” shall mean an individual who is a Customer who applies for an Account under the
Plan.

“Authorized User” shall mean an individual authorized by the primary Cardholder(s) to use an
Account and as established in accordance with the Operating Procedures.

“Bank Customer Information” shall mean Customer Information, to the extent that Bank obtains
Customer Information by virtue of this Agreement directly from a person who transacts with
Bank for Bank’s goods and/or services or has requested to receive marketing materials related
to such goods or services. Bank Customer Information includes all information obtained
through a Bank card application, including but not limited to Consumer Personal Information
such as name, address, e-mail address, telephone number, and Social Security Number, as
well as all Account information such as performance data, transactional data, Credit Card
numbers, and credit information. For avoidance of doubt, Bank Customer Information shall
constitute a type of Customer Information.

“Bank Matters” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(b).

“Batch Prescreen Application” shall mean a process where Bank’s offer of credit is made in
accordance with Applicable Law to certain Customers prequalified by Bank, in a batch mode.

“BBW” shall mean Bath and Body Works, LLC, an Affiliate of VS.
“BBW Credit Sales” shall mean BBW Purchases less shipping and handling and less credits or

refunds for BBW Goods, all as shown in the transaction records received by the Bank from
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BBW each Business Day (as corrected by Bank in the event of any computational error), and
calculated each Business Day.

“BBW Goods” shall mean those goods and/or services sold by BBW to the general public and
are intended for individual, personal, family or household use.

“BBW Purchase” shall mean a purchase of BBW Goods, including without limitation, all
applicable taxes and shipping and handling costs, with a Credit Card Account as provided for
under Section 3.1 of this Agreement.

“Benchmarking” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.6(d)(ii).

“Business Day” shall mean any day, except Saturday, Sunday, federal holidays or a day on
which banks in Delaware are required to be closed.

“Cardholder” shall mean any natural person to whom an Account has been issued by Bank
and/or any Authorized User of the Account.

“Charge Slip” shall mean a sales receipt, register receipt tape, invoice or other documentation,
whether in hard copy or electronic form, in each case evidencing a Purchase that is to be
charged to a Cardholder's Account.

“Co-Funded Marketing Fund” shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule 1.1.
“Common Information” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(f).

“Consumer Laws” shall mean, collectively, as applicable, (i) any federal, state or local laws,
rules, regulations or guidance applicable to the extension of credit to consumers, the collection
of amounts from consumers or consumer protection generally (including, without limitation, the
Truth-in-Lending Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Fair
and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003 and the Telephone Consumer Protection Act), (ii)
the federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and any laws, rules, regulations or guidance relating to
data security breaches, breach notifications or consumer privacy, data security or marketing
communications, that apply to Bank and/or VS by virtue of this Agreement, (iii) federal and
state bankruptcy and debtor relief laws, and (iv) state information security breach notification
laws (such as Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1798.29, 1798.82 - 1798.84).

“Consumer Personal Information” shall mean with respect to Applicants, Cardholders and
Customers, any (1) non-public personal information or (2) any other information relating to an
identified or identifiable individual, that may be: (i) obtained or processed at any time by either
party in anticipation of, in connection with or incidental to the performance of this Agreement, or
(ii) derived by either party from the information described in (i) above.

“Credit Card” shall mean the plastic credit card bearing one or more of the Marks issued by
Bank to Cardholders for purchasing Goods and/or Services pursuant to the Plan.

“Credit Card Agreement” shall mean the open-end revolving credit agreement between a
Cardholder and Bank governing the Account and Cardholder's use of the Credit Card,
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together with any modifications or amendments which may be made to such agreement as
permitted in this Agreement.

“Credit Sales Day” shall mean any day, whether or not a Business Day, on which Goods and/or
Services are sold.

“Credit Slip” shall mean a sales credit receipt or other documentation, whether in hard copy or
electronic form, evidencing a return or exchange of Goods or a credit on an Account as an
adjustment by VS for goodwill or for Services rendered or not rendered by VS to a Cardholder.

“Customer” shall mean any individual consumer who is a customer or potential customer of VS
who (i) becomes subject, in any way, to the services performed under this Agreement, (ii)
whose information, in any way, is collected, used, or disclosed to provide services under this
Agreement, and/or (iii) who otherwise visits or interacts with any Platform(s) covered by this
Agreement.

“Customer Information” shall mean any information (irrespective of media or format) about
Customers or their computers or devices that either party obtains, derives, or accesses by
virtue of this Agreement, whether such information is in individual or aggregate form. Customer
Information includes, without limitation names, user profiles, consumer-interest segments,
addresses, telephone numbers, email addresses, geo-location information (including, without
limitation, information derived from IP addresses, GPS, cell-tower triangulation, or cell-tower
ID), demographic information, anonymous or pseudonymous identifiers (such as cookies and
UIDs), or any other information that, either alone or in combination with other data, identifies, or
could be used to identify, a particular device, individual, or individual’'s propensities, interests or
characteristics, or that relates to a person, whether that person is identified to such party or
not. For avoidance of doubt, Consumer Personal Information relating to Customers shall
constitute a type of Customer Information.

“Daily Settlement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.6(a).

“Deferred Billing Programs” shall mean any special Cardholder payment terms mutually agreed
to by Bank and VS for certain Purchases, including without limitation deferred finance charges
and deferred payments and subject to any terms and conditions set forth in writing by Bank.
“Direct” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph.

“Effective Date” shall mean the date set forth in the recitals.

“Electronic Customer Service” shall mean a web-based service provided by Bank where (i)
Customers can electronically apply for an Account; (i) Cardholders can manage their Accounts
electronically; and (iii) Cardholders can remit their Account payment to Bank electronically.
“Execution Date” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph.

“Existing Accounts” shall mean all of the Accounts in existence as of the Effective Date opened
under and/or subject to the Plan provided by Bank pursuant to the Prior Agreement.
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“Fiscal Year” shall mean the fiscal year set forth in the calendar published by the National Retail
Federation setting forth the fiscal year for retailers on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the
Saturday closest to January 31.

"Force Majeure Event" shall mean fire, flood, elements of nature, acts of God, acts of war,
terrorism, civil unrest, epidemics, pandemics, nuclear disasters, government action (including
any laws, ordinances, regulations or the like which restrict or prohibit the providing of the
services contemplated by this Agreement) or any other similar event beyond the reasonable
control of a party to this Agreement.

“Forms” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

“Goods and/or Services” shall mean those goods and/or services sold at retail by VS through
its Sales Channels to the general public and are intended for individual, personal, family or
household use.

“Initial Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

“Instant Credit Application” shall mean an Account application procedure designed to open
Accounts whereby the application information is communicated to Bank either (i) verbally at
Point of Sale; or (ii) systemically during the order entry process.

“L Brands” shall mean L Brands, Inc., the parent company of VS.
“Loyalty Program” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.11.

“Mark” shall mean a trademark or service mark owned by or licensed to VS and designated by
VS to Bank for use in connection with the Plan.

“Name Rights” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.10.

“Net Proceeds” shall mean Purchases: (i) less credits to Accounts for the return or exchange
of Goods or a credit on an Account as an adjustment by VS for goodwill or for Services
rendered or not rendered by VS to a Cardholder, all as shown in the Transaction Records (as
corrected by Bank in the event of any computational error), calculated each Business Day; (ii)
less payments from Cardholders received by VS from Cardholders on Bank’s behalf; (iii) plus
the Royalty Payments, (iv) plus Bank’s Co-Funded Marketing Fund payments.

“Net Sales” shall mean Purchases less credits or refunds for Goods and/or Services, all as
shown in the Transaction Records received by the Bank each Business Day (as corrected by
Bank in the event of any computational error), and calculated each Business Day.

“Nominated Purchaser” shall mean the potential third party purchaser(s) of Accounts or VS
Affiliate nominated by VS.

“On-Line Prescreen” shall mean a process where a pre-screened offer of credit is made to

credit-worthy Customers meeting Bank’s credit criteria in a real-time pre-approved process
according to Bank’s Operating Procedures. The process utilizes traditional order entry data
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elements to build Customer records. The Customer records are pre-screened by a credit
bureau using Bank's established criteria to determine if an offer of credit is
appropriate. Customer records passing the Bank’s pre-screening credit criteria are returned to
the point of order entry where the pre-approved offer to open an Account is made. Records not
passing the credit criteria are not returned and no offer is made.

“Operating Procedures” shall mean Bank's procedures, as of the Effective Date and as further
amended from time to time in accordance with Section 3.2(b), for (1) processing applications;
(2) processing Transaction Records; and (3) processing Cardholder disputes and chargebacks
or additional or different procedures which satisfy the requirements of Section 3.2, to be
followed by VS in connection with the Plan.

“Participating Affiliates” shall mean Victoria’s Secret, Direct and Puerto Rico.

“Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a trust or other
entity or organization, including a government or political subdivision or an agency or
instrumentality thereof.

“Point of Sale (or POS)” shall mean the physical or electronic location at which transactions
(sales, credits, and returns) take place. This includes but is not limited to a cash register, point
of order entry, or website (as applicable).

“Plan” shall mean the private label credit card program established and administered by Bank
in the United States and Puerto Rico for Customers of VS by virtue of this Agreement.

“Plan Promotion Purposes” shall mean marketing efforts to promote the Plan and use of the
Credit Cards for Purchases and to acquire new Cardholders, as determined by VS in its
reasonable discretion.

“Plan Year” shall mean each one year period beginning on the first day of the VS fiscal
calendar. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the first Plan Year shall begin on the Effective
Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the first Plan Year shall begin on the Effective Date and
end on the last day of VS’s 2018 fiscal calendar.

“Platform” shall mean a server, website, application and/or other online or digital services, as
applicable to the services performed under this Agreement, including without limitation any
software or other technology developed by or for either Bank or its Affiliates, on the one hand,
or VS or its Affiliates, to facilitate the Program or Relevant Websites.

“Processing” shall mean performing any operation(s) (whether automated, manual or some
combination thereof) to or concerning Consumer Personal Information, including, without
limitation, accessing, collecting, organizing, storing, using, disclosing, manipulating, adapting,
analyzing and deriving information from such Consumer Personal Information.

“Program Economics” shall mean, taken as a whole, all of the economics set forth in Schedule
1.1, whether paid by Bank or VS.

“Puerto Rico” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph.
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“Purchase” shall mean a purchase of Goods and/or Services, including without limitation all
applicable taxes and shipping and handling costs, with a specific extension of credit by Bank to
a Cardholder using an Account or to an Accountholder, and as provided for under this
Agreement. Bank reserves the right to deny (or reverse) an extension of credit for particular
transactions in order to comply with Applicable Law, which might include but not be limited to
prohibitions against transactions related to gambling.

“Quick Credit” shall mean an in-store application procedure designed to open Accounts as
expeditiously as possible at point of sale, whereby an application for an Account is processed
without a paper application being completed by an Applicant. An Applicant's credit card (Visa,
MasterCard, American Express, Discover or other Bank approved private label card) is
electronically read by a terminal that captures the Applicant's name and credit card account
number. Other data shall be entered into that same terminal by VS’s Store associate as
specified in the Operating Procedures.

“Regular Revolving Purchases” shall mean Purchases which are not subject to any Deferred
Billing Programs.

“Relevant Website” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
“Renewal Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.

“Sales Channels” shall mean those certain sales channels through which VS sells the Goods
and/or Services during the Term, including (as applicable) but not limited to VS's: (i) retail
locations; (ii) websites and other electronic venues; and (iii) catalogs. As a point of clarification,
this definition includes different or additional sales channels that are part of VS’s expansion of
their businesses as then constituted, if such expansion does not include an entity other than
VS. For example: the opening of a new store or development of a website through either (i)
“organic growth” or (ii) acquisition of the assets of a competitor.

“Season” shall mean (i) the period from the first day of the fiscal month of February to the last
day of the fiscal month of July and (i) the period from the first day of the fiscal month of August
to the last day of the fiscal month of January. For the purposes hereof, a “fiscal month” is a
monthly period defined by VS in writing to Bank from time to time to coincide with VS's fiscal
calendar.

“Second Look Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.11(c).

“Service Event” shall mean a failure by Bank to meet any single Critical or Non-Critical Service
Standard Service Level, as applicable and as further defined and identified in Schedule 1.2, for
a single Service Standard during one calendar month; provided that such failure was not
caused by any action in violation of this Agreement by VS or by a force majeure event specified
in Section 10.11.

“Service Standard” shall mean the performance or quantitative levels of performance set forth
in Schedule 1.2.

“Service Standard Termination Event” shall have the meaning given in Section 9.6.
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"Statemented Account" shall mean each Account for which a billing statement is generated
within a particular billing cycle.

“Store” shall mean that certain retail location selling Goods and/or Services.
“Term” shall mean the Initial Term and any Renewal Terms.

“Transaction Record” shall mean, with respect to each Purchase of Goods and/or Services by a
Cardholder or Accountholder, each credit or return applicable to a Purchase of Goods and/or
Services, and each payment received by VS from a Cardholder or Accountholder on Bank's
behalf: (a) the Charge Slip or Credit Slip corresponding to the Purchase, credit or return; or (b)
a computer readable tape/cartridge or electronic transmission containing the following
information: the Account number of the Cardholder or account number of the Accountholder,
Store number at which the Purchase, credit or return was made, the total of (i) the Purchase
price of Goods and/or Services purchased or amount of the credit, as applicable, plus (ii) the
date of the transaction, a description of the Goods and/or Services purchased, credited or
returned and the authorization code, if any, obtained by a Store prior to completing the
transaction; or (c) electronic record whereby VS electronically transmits the information
described in subsection (b) hereof to a network provider (selected by VS at its expense), which
in turn transmits such information to Bank by a computer tape/cartridge or electronic tape or
transmission.

User ID (“UID") shall mean a unique identifier that is assigned to a Customer or a Customer’s
computer or device.

“Victoria’s Secret” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph.
“VS” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph.

“VS Customer Information” shall mean Customer Information, to the extent that VS obtains
Customer Information directly from a person who transacts with VS for Goods and/or Services
or has requested to receive marketing materials related to such Goods or Services. VS
Customer Information includes all information obtained through VS'’s ongoing retail operations
(such as tokenized account numbers), including but not limited to its marketing activities,
payment card tokenization controls and/or multi-tender loyalty program (if applicable), including
but not limited to Consumer Personal Information such as name, address, e-mail address, and
telephone number. For avoidance of doubt, VS Customer Information shall constitute a type of
Customer Information.

“VS Deposit Account” shall mean a deposit account maintained by VS as set forth in Section
3.6(a).

“VS Matters” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(b).
1.2 Other Definitions. As used herein, terms defined in the introductory paragraph hereof

and in other sections of this Agreement shall have such respective defined meanings. Defined terms
stated in the singular shall include reference to the plural and vice versa.

SECTION 2. THE PLAN
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2.1 Establishment and Operation of the Plan. (a) The Plan is established for the primary
purpose of providing Customer financing and a convenient payment vehicle for purchases of Goods
and/or Services. The Plan is also established to promote customer loyalty and to support VS’s retail
marketing efforts. Qualified Applicants desiring to use the Plan shall be granted an Account by Bank
with a credit line in an amount to be determined by Bank in its discretion, and subject to the terms of
this Agreement, for each individual Applicant. Subject to Section 3.6(d), Bank shall determine the
terms and conditions of the Account to be contained in a Credit Card Agreement, which Credit Card
Agreement shall be subject to change upon notice given by Bank to the Cardholders in accordance
with Applicable Law and subject to the terms of this Agreement. All Existing Accounts are deemed
provided under the Plan. Bank and BBW have not established a credit card program for BBW,;
however, BBW has the right to honor the Credit Cards as provided in Section 3.1 of this Agreement.

(b) Bank shall operate the Plan in accordance with the Service Standards set forth in
Schedule 1.2 to this Agreement, as such performance standards may be modified from time to time at
the reasonable request of Bank or VS and with the written consent of the other party, any such
requests shall be submitted to the Business Review Committee for review, and upon approval by the
Business Review Committee the parties shall enter into a written amendment to this Agreement.

(©) Enhancements to, and modifications or upgrades of, the computer processing,
payment, billing and information services provided by the Bank will be made from time to time at the
reasonable request of VS. Any such enhancements, modifications or upgrades shall, to the extent
requested by VS, be made on terms to be agreed upon, notwithstanding, however, VS shall not be
responsible for any reimbursement beyond Bank’s actual costs for such modifications or
upgrades. Bank may not incorporate any functionality, executable code, or files (JavaScript or
otherwise) into VS’s technology, Platform or physical environment (whether contracted, controlled, or
owned by VS), or a Customer’'s device hardware or software, other than updates to the Bank-
controlled aspects of the mobile application in the ordinary course, without first obtaining prior written
approval from VS. VS may deny such authorization at any time and in its sole discretion. This
obligation is ongoing and continuous under the Agreement.

(d) Other Technology. (i) Provided that VS has completed an upgrade of its POS systems
to accept contact EMV-enabled Credit Cards with an embedded microchip (a “Chip Card”), Bank shall
convert the Credit Cards to Chip Cards on or before [****], or such other date as the parties shall
mutually agree (the “2019/2020 Chip Card Reissue”). Prior to the conversion of the Credit Cards to
Chip Cards, the parties will work in good faith to identify changes in the technical aspects of the
operation of the Plan (for example, authorization being governed by MasterCard Network rules and
regulations) and, if necessary, document any resulting changes to the Program Agreement required by
the conversion.

(ii) The parties will work together in good faith through the Business Review
Committee to create a three (3) year roadmap for technology modifications and improvements for each
party and the Plan (“Technology Plan”). The initial Technology Plan, to be completed no later than
October 31, 2018, shall include dynamic email templates to permit customization by the
parties. Thereafter, by June 1 of each year, Bank shall provide its internal roadmap for VS's
consideration, and no later than September 1 of each year, the parties shall jointly present an updated
three (3) year Technology Plan to the Business Review Committee for discussion.
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2.2 Plan Economics. The contributions and credits and payments for the funding of
services to be provided by Bank under the Plan and the obligations of VS for marketing the Plan are
set forth in Schedules 1.1 and 2.6, which shall be made pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.6(a),
Daily Settlement unless specified otherwise.

2.3 Applications for Credit Under the Plan;_Billing_Statements. (a) Applicants who wish to
apply for an Account under the Plan must submit a completed application in a format approved by
Bank, and Bank shall grant or deny the request for credit based upon Bank’s credit criteria and the
creditworthiness of the individual Applicant. The decision to extend credit to any Applicant under the
Program shall be solely Bank’s decision, provided, however, that Bank shall not take any risk action on
any segment of Accounts that is any less favorable than Bank’s actions on account segments of
similar creditworthiness across Bank’s comparable private label credit card programs with similar
economics, not including any special credit programs offered by any program and paid for by Bank’s
customer with respect thereto through recourse provisions, increased discount fees or other financial
accommodations.

Unless applying online, VS shall provide a copy of the Credit Card Agreement to the Applicant
to be retained for the Applicant's records. The application shall be submitted to Bank by the Applicant
or submitted by VS on behalf of the Applicant, as required in the Operating Procedures. If Bank grants
the request for an Account, Bank will issue a Credit Card to the Applicant which accesses an individual
line of credit in an amount determined by Bank.

(b) Bank shall make available to VS and VS shall utilize primarily a Quick Credit
application procedure. Bank shall also make available to VS and VS may elect to utilize in its
discretion, Instant Credit, pre-approved solicitations, Batch Prescreen and On-Line Prescreen
application procedures as mutually agreed upon and in accordance with the Fair Credit Reporting Act
and other Applicable Law, and the Operating Procedures.

(@) All Cardholders will receive from Bank a periodic statement (the “Billing Statement”)
listing the amounts of Purchases made and credits received with respect to an Account and other
information as required by Applicable Law or deemed desirable by Bank but only to the extent such
information is consistent with Applicable Law. VS may if desired place a message or messages on the
statements as approved by Bank, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(d) (i) Bank, at its sole expense, shall make available to VS and its Customers Internet-
based application procedures and Internet-based Cardholder Account customer service. These
Internet-based applications shall be available via a link to Bank’s Internet website from VS’s website, if
VS elects to operate and maintain a website on which it deems a link to Bank’s Internet website
appropriate (“Relevant Website”). If such Relevant Website is, at VS’s option, operated and
maintained by VS it will be maintained consistent with this Section 2.3(d) (the “Website Link”) and via a
redirected Internet link from a URL (the “Redirected URL") that may be printed on marketing materials
issued by VS consistent with this Agreement from time to time.

(i) If VS elects to operate and maintain a Relevant Website, VS or its
website provider shall be responsible for integrating and maintaining on its website at its sole expense
the Website Link. If VS elects to operate and maintain a Relevant Website, VS or its website provider
will integrate and maintain the Website Link to ensure access to the Bank's Internet website and to
reduce technical errors, and will endeavor, using not less than those efforts used by VS or its website
provider to maintain VS'’s website in good operating condition, to cause its software providing the
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link to function, and continue to function, in a sound technical manner. If VS elects to operate and
maintain a Relevant Website, VS or its website provider shall appropriately monitor the link to ensure it
is functioning properly consistent with VS’s or its website provider’s standard practices concerning the
monitoring of outside links. In the event Bank changes or otherwise modifies URL at the Bank’s
Internet site to which the Website Link is directed, VS or its website provider will either update or
modify the link as directed by Bank. In providing the Website Link, VS or its website provider shall
make it clear and appropriately conspicuous that the Customer is leaving VS’s website and is being
directed to Bank’s website for the exclusive purpose of accessing Bank’s website. VS reserves the
right to post an intermediate page directing return to VS’s website during the continuance of any period
when Bank’s website is down or not accessible via the Website Link.

(i) If VS elects to use its own Redirect URL, VS or its website provider
shall cause such Redirect URL to point to an IP address at the Bank’s Internet site specified by Bank
from time to time. VS grants Bank the right to use such Redirect URL solely for the purposes of this
Agreement during the Term of this Agreement as well as where Bank retains the Accounts after
termination of this Agreement as set forth in Article 9 until the servicing of such Accounts has
ceased. Alternately, VS may elect to use a Redirect URL maintained by an Affiliate under a similar
agreement with Bank and maintained by such Affiliate under a provision equivalent to this Section
2.3(d)(iii) (“Qualifying Affiliate’s Redirect URL"), for the purpose of VS directing Cardholders to Bank’s
Electronic Customer Service.

(iv) VS agrees that, in connection with any Website Link and printed
references to its own or a Qualifying Affiliate’s Redirected URL, it or its website provider will only use
Bank’s name, or any logo, statements, or any other information that is related to Bank, only as directed
by Bank, or as approved in advance and in writing by Bank. Without limiting the generality of the
scope of required approvals, but by way of example, VS or its website provider shall seek Bank’s
approval not only with respect to content, but also with respect to any typestyle, color, or abbreviations
used in connection with any such link. The parties shall work together with respect to the design of
Bank’s Internet website, subject to and in compliance with Applicable Law and Section 2.5 of the
Agreement. The parties shall work together on implementing such links from the Bank’s Internet
application processing website back to VS’s Internet site, if VS has elected to operate and maintain a
Relevant Website, when the Website Link has been used to enter the Bank’s website. Bank shall take
reasonable efforts to ensure that navigation back to VS's Internet site, if VS has elected to operate and
maintain a Relevant Website, from the Bank’s Internet application processing website, whether through
a particular pointer or link, the “back” button on an Internet browser, the closing of an active window, or
any other return mechanism, shall not be interrupted by Bank through the use of any intermediate
screen or other device not specifically requested by the user, including without limitation through the
use of any html pop-up window or any other similar device. VS will use its commercially reasonable
efforts to promote to its Cardholders the Bank’s Electronic Customer Service.

(V) For any approved Bank owned or controlled Relevant Website or any
other Bank owned or controlled website that represents VS (or a Cardholder service), Bank:

(A) May only Process Consumer Personal Information to
fulfill its obligations under the Agreement. Accordingly, activities such as post-transaction marketing of
non-VS goods and services are prohibited unless expressly in accordance with Section 2.9 or
authorized by written agreement between Bank and VS;
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(B) Will not (1) employ any capability to log end user’s
keystrokes, except for keyword search queries, or (2) rely on automated geo-location of end users
through the use of WiFi reference points, cell-tower reference points, or GPS capabilities, other than
for prevention of fraud and/or security breaches or with prior written consent of VS; and

© Will not, without VS’s prior written consent, rely on any
type of device, file, script, code or program (including, without limitation, flash cookies and local stored
objects) that would be set, stored or otherwise executed or enabled on a website visitor’'s (“Visitor's”)
computer (1) to allow tracking of Visitors across multiple websites, other than multiple VS sites for the
benefit of the Visitors in question in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, (2) to allow the
overriding of the security settings on a Visitor's computer designed to remove files, scripts, code or
programs, (3) to restore deleted files, scripts, code or programs without a Visitor’s affirmative action,
and/or (4) to prevent a Visitor from opting out of files, scripts, codes or programs being set, stored or
otherwise executed or enabled on a Visitor's computer. Bank may, however, without VS’s consent,
use text-based browser cookies, web beacons, and basic navigational information (such as browser
type and version, service-provider identification, and site from which the Visitor came and to which it
goes) solely to (1) manage sessions to fulfill the primary purpose of obligations under the Agreement,
(2) facilitate first-party-only analytics to optimize the website, and (3) prevent fraud and security
breaches.

(vi) For persons with disabilities, and to the extent applicable, Bank shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver any electronic or digital Services under this Agreement
in full compliance with the Level A Success Criteria and Conformance Requirements of the Web
Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.0 (“WCAG 2.0"), published by Worldwide Web Consortium, as of the
Effective Date of this Agreement, and Level AA Success Criteria and Conformance Requirements of
the WCAG 2.0, by [***]. Bank will further comply with any federal Applicable Law for
online/digital/electronic assistive capabilities for persons with disabilities that supplants and/or
incorporates WCAG. Moreover, Bank will comply with best industry practice to ensure such
compliance through processes, such as training, testing, policies, and assistance.

2.4 Plan Documents. (a) Subject to and in compliance with the requirements of
Applicable Law, Bank shall solely author the specific content (i) related to Bank’s or the Cardholder’s
rights or obligations under the Account and Bank’s privacy policy (subject to the requirements set forth
in Section 2.8(b)) or (ii) required by Applicable Law to be included within the Plan documents including
but not limited to the Credit Card Agreement, application, pre-approved solicitations, Credit Card, card
mailer, customer service letters, and billing statements (collectively, “Forms”) to be used under the
Plan.

(b) Bank and VS shall jointly design all other aspects of the Forms (except for Cardholder
letters and other documents and forms used by Bank in maintaining and servicing the Accounts, which
Bank shall solely design), subject to and in compliance with the requirements of Applicable Law.

(c) Bank will provide VS with copies of the template of any Forms, Cardholder letters or other
form of communications which are to be provided by Bank in a mass mailing or distribution to all
Cardholders as a whole or to all Cardholders in a particular state. Bank shall provide at Bank’s
expense appropriate quantities of the quick pad applications, mail-in applications, Credit Card
Agreements, all components of upgrade and new account credit card packages including, but not
limited to, temporary cards, Credit Card (Chip Card) plastics, chips, card carriers, Credit Card
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fulfillment/processing, postage, card carrier envelopes, and Bank marketing inserts for welcome kits
(“Account Documents”), provided that (i) the costs for the marketing elements and creative aspects of
such Account Documents are within ten percent (10%) of the cost of the design specifications at
Execution Date, and (ii) any design costs in excess of such ten percent (10%) due to VS’s requests for
non-standard documents beyond the design costs at the Execution Date, shall be reviewed by the
Business Review Committee and paid for by VS, unless Bank agrees to pay for the excess costs. See
Schedule 2.4(c), Design Specifications, for design specifications and costs at Execution Date. In
addition, Bank shall bear all bureau costs, costs of email delivery and servicing of Accounts related to
pre-approved solicitations for mutually agreed programs. Bank shall maintain a centralized inventory
of all materials associated with the welcome kit, Credit Card Agreements and plastics and will provide
replenishment copies to the centralized locations designated by VS for distribution by VS to the
stores. The parties will agree at the Business Now Committee level on appropriate Bank inventory
levels for Credit Card Agreements for welcome kits and plastics, and Bank will periodically report
actual inventory levels to VS as set forth in Schedule 2.12(b). Bank and VS will work to develop a
process that will allow Bank access to VS's inventory system for Plan documents and Forms. Bank
shall notify VS in advance if any form is not consistent with Bank’s base costs and will provide VS with
a written estimate of the excess costs to be borne by VS for such form.

(d) VS shall pay [****] Plan documentation including, without limitation, promotional material
(i.e. collateral), creative and production costs for catalogue pre-approved solicitations and creative for
email pre-approved solicitations, special offers, reissued Credit Card plastics (other than Credit Card
plastics being reissued in the ordinary course due to pending expiration dates), including but not
limited to embossing and encoding, card carriers, envelopes, Credit Card Agreements and postage
related to any Plan-wide Credit Card reissuances or other re-issuances not in the ordinary course
requested by VS (by way of example, the “limited edition” reissue completed in 2017 was a reissuance
not in the ordinary course). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the parties agree and
acknowledge that Bank will pay for the 2019/2020 Chip Card Reissue. Package components, as of
the Execution Date, are set forth on Schedule 2.4(d).

(e) Bank shall have the right to review and approve all materials prepared by VS (or an
Affiliate or third party) that refer in any way to the Plan in order to verify that such materials comply with
Applicable Law and Bank policy, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. VS's
submission of materials for approval shall be in accordance with the applicable operating procedures
mutually agreed by the parties. Approval will be deemed given unless Bank (i) provides objection
within [****] Business Days following VS’s delivery of materials to Bank for review, and (ii) either
addresses any identified issues with respect to the materials, or provides VS with a reasonably
detailed plan for addressing such issues, within [****] Business Days following VS's delivery of such
materials to Bank for review. In the event any Forms and other Plan documents used by Bank become
obsolete as a result of changes requested by VS (other than changes effected in connection with the
parties’ agreement to enter into this Agreement), VS shall reimburse Bank for the direct costs
associated with any unused obsolete Forms and other Plan documents. VS shall pay the actual and
direct costs associated with any Forms and other Plan document changes or Cardholder notices
required as a result of any additions or deletions of VS honored credit cards requested by VS pursuant
to Section 3.1.

25 Marketing.
€) VS agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to engage in marketing of the

Plan. Additionally, the Co-Funded Marketing Fund shall be used by the parties to assist with agreed-
upon
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incremental marketing expenses for the Plan. When using any trademarks, logos, service marks or
tradenames of the other party, each party will comply with all written guidelines provided to it by the
other party related to use of the other party’s marks.

(b) The Co-Funded Marketing Fund shall be available during the Term of this Agreement;
provided, however, Bank shall have the right to cease the availability of Bank’s share of the Co-Funded
Marketing Funds for any future marketing or promotions if either party terminates this Agreement.

(©) Each Plan Year, the Business Review Committee shall meet to discuss and agree upon
a marketing plan for the upcoming Plan Year and will approve expenditures of the Co-Funded
Marketing Fund designed to market, promote and support the Plan in fulfillment of identified programs
pursuant to this Section 2.5. Neither party shall deploy any Plan related marketing, including but not
limited to promotions, surveys, communications, interest-based advertising, online ad-serving, email,
telephone communication, sweepstakes, social media marketing, contests, location-aware
technologies, coupons or offers unless agreed upon in the marketing plan or otherwise agreed upon in
writing. Both parties hereby represent and warrant that they shall engage their respective regulatory
counsel as necessary in an attempt to ensure all such marketing activities are compliant with
Applicable Law.

2.6 Administration of Accounts. Bank shall perform, at its expense and in compliance
with Applicable Law, all functions necessary to administer and service the Accounts including but not
limited to: credit decisioning and investigations, Applicant notification regarding acceptance or
rejection of credit under the Plan, preparation and distribution of paper and electronic billing
statements, credit collections, customer servicing and handling of Cardholder inquiries, and delivery of
annual Cardholder privacy notifications, and processing payments. The Bank is solely responsible for
determining the requirements, the method, and the content of any notices to Cardholders required by
Applicable Law, however, Bank shall provide VS with reasonable time and opportunity to review the
forms of all Plan related notices and/or communications with Cardholders that are not solely required
by Applicable Law. Bank and VS shall each perform their respective obligations with respect to
administration and promotion of the Plan, as set forth in this Agreement. A list of each party’s key
obligations is set forth on Schedule 2.6, which list is not intended to be exhaustive. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Bank will not purge any accounts from its system
without prior consent from VS not to be unreasonably withheld.

2.7 Credit Decision. The decision to extend credit to any Applicant under the Plan shall be
Bank's decision and shall be made in accordance with Applicable Law. Bank will work in good faith
with VS to develop business strategies with respect to the issuance of Credit Cards which are intended
to maximize the potential of the Plan, and which are mutually beneficial to Bank and VS. VS may from
time to time request Bank to consider offering certain types of special credit programs. Bank shall
reasonably consider VS’s requests and negotiate with VS in good faith. However, Bank shall, in its
sole discretion, subject to Applicable Laws and safety and soundness considerations, determine
whether or not to offer any of such programs. In the event Bank agrees to any special credit program,
Bank and VS shall mutually agree upon any special terms and fees associated with the program. Bank
shall conduct, [****] during each calendar year, a meeting with VS to review the credit standards being
applied by Bank in reaching its credit decisions and supporting its risk management strategies for such
activities as credit line increases and Cardholder reissues. See also Schedule 2.7.
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2.8 Ownership of and Rights in Information. (@) Bank shall, upon VS’s request or
periodically as specified in Schedule 2.8, provide to VS free of charge the data files identified on
Schedule 2.8 (containing the information set forth therein) for VS to the extent such information is
available to Bank, and any other information, including, without limitation, monetary and credit data
requested by VS, agreed to by Bank and VS (collectively, the “Master File Information”), to the extent
permitted by Applicable Law, which VS may use solely in connection with maintaining and servicing
the Accounts or for the purpose of marketing goods and services to the Cardholders, including sharing
with third parties so long as such third parties are obligated to confidentiality obligations consistent with
industry standards, as permitted by Applicable Law. The Master File Information may include, at VS’s
request, the information set forth on Schedule 2.8 for Affiliates of VS, to the extent permitted by
Applicable Law.

(b) To the extent permitted by Applicable Law and without undue burden, cost or expense
to Bank, Bank intends and will exert its diligent good faith efforts to maintain during the Term a privacy
policy, which will permit Bank to allow VS to use the Master File Information for purposes in addition to
those set forth in Section 2.8(a) above (the “Additional Purposes”) and, upon prior written consent from
Bank which shall not be unreasonably withheld, to share such information with third parties for the
Additional Purposes subject to Cardholder opt out and Applicable Law. Bank will provide Customers
with consumer notice and choice mechanisms, as may be required by Applicable Law (including, but
not limited to, Consumer Laws).

(©) The Bank is the owner of all Bank Customer Information, Common Information
(which is co-owned), and other information relating to the Cardholders (including names and
addresses) as collected by or on behalf of Bank or as set forth in Bank’s records, the Accounts and the
Credit Cards, the copyright to all written material contained in any Credit Card Agreements,
applications, billing statements and other Forms used by the Bank in the administration of its
agreements with the Cardholders, all credit scoring systems and Bank’s Debt Cancellation Programs
with respect to any Cardholder; provided, however, that Bank shall not be entitled to sell, rent or
otherwise disclose any information relating to the Cardholders to any third party other than (i) such
disclosure as is required in connection with the administration and servicing by Bank of the Program
and in such case in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, including without limitation
Bank’s securitization, management and collection of charged off Accounts and disclosure to credit
agencies, (i) as required by Applicable Law, and/or (iii) as otherwise expressly permitted by this
Agreement or by VS.

(d) The Transaction Records (except for any Account payment information received by
VS on Bank’s behalf) are the sole property of VS. Bank may use the Transaction Records solely for
the purposes permitted by this Agreement (provided that this limitation shall not limit Bank’s rights with
respect to any Account information) and in accordance with Applicable Law. Account payment
information received by VS on Bank’s behalf shall be the sole property of Bank, provided that VS may
use such information solely for the purposes permitted by this Agreement and in accordance with
Applicable Law.

(e) Except for Bank Customer Information and Common Information (which is co-owned),
VS exclusively owns and controls all right, title and interest in and to VS Customer Information, and
Bank otherwise has no rights in VS Customer Information except as enumerated in this Agreement, or
as authorized in writing by VS. VS Customer Information is provided “as is.” VS does not make any
representation or warranty about VS Customer Information, including that such information is accurate,
complete, reliable, current or error-free. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
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VS is the owner of the names and addresses of Customers, as set forth in VS’s records and collected
by VS from a source other than Bank. Upon request of Bank and consent of VS, not to be
unreasonably withheld, VS shall make the names and addresses of Customers available to Bank, as
permitted by Applicable Law, during the Term of this Agreement to be used only for purposes of
solicitation of such Customers to become Cardholders of Bank and in connection with the
administration of the Plan in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, Applicable Law and VS’s
and the Bank’s respective privacy policies. Names, addresses and other information of Customers
obtained by VS from the Customer (and not on Bank’s behalf) in connection with point-of-sale, mail
order, telephone, internet or other sale (regardless of whether the Customer makes payment for such
sale through the use of a Credit Card) are “collected by VS from a source other than Bank.”

) For the avoidance of doubt, the parties acknowledge that the items of information
allocated to each party in this Section 2.8 may overlap, and that each party may independently
possess and own the same specific items of information, such as but not limited to, names and
addresses of persons who are both Customers and Cardholders (“Common Information”). When
either party to this Agreement is in possession of such Common Information, or such Common
Information is transmitted by either party, electronically or otherwise, the party, either possessing or
transmitting, is obligated to maintaining the security and confidentiality of such Common Information as
set forth in this Agreement.

(9) Bank and VS agree to limit Processing Consumer Personal Information solely to the
extent necessary to deliver the services under this Agreement or as otherwise agreed. For this
Agreement, the acts or omissions of either party, or its respective employees, and its respective
affiliates, agents, contractors, and/or subcontractors, constitute such party’s acts or omissions.

2.9 Debt Cancellation Programs and Enhancement Marketing_Services. (a) Bank and VS
agree that Bank may, in accordance with Applicable Law and with VS’s prior consent, which consent is
hereby provided as of the Effective Date with respect to those debt cancellation programs already in
effect as of the Effective Date, exclusively make available to Cardholders debt cancellation programs
(“Debt Cancellation Programs”) offered by Bank and/or its vendors or Affiliates designed to cancel
some or all of a Cardholder’s debt obligations under the Plan in the event of a Cardholder’s inability to
pay Bank, the costs for which are based on the Cardholder’'s Account balance. The solicitations and
offerings shall not contain VS’s endorsement, and Bank shall ensure that all disclosures and the
procedures used to offer such programs are in compliance with Applicable Law. Bank may make no
more than four (4) mailed offers per Plan Year or two (2) times per Season at its expense. In addition,
Bank may, during eight (8) calendar weeks per Season, position the Debt Cancellation Programs as
the first item in the cue of programs to be marketed to incoming Cardholder calls. Such eight (8)
week-long periods shall occur at times when the incoming Cardholder call volume is anticipated to be
near the average Cardholder call volume observed for the Plan in general (as opposed to a period
during which call volume is anticipated to be unusually high or low) and shall be determined by the
Program Strategy Committee. The Bank may not cause the Debt Cancellation Programs to be first in
such cue during any other period. The monthly charges for Debt Cancellation Programs shall be
charged to the applicable Cardholder’s Account.

(b) Bank and VS agree that Bank may make available to Cardholders offerings other than
Debt Cancellation Programs, including identity protection plans and various types of other insurance,
products and services (“Enhancement Marketing Services”) at its expense through solicitations made
in connection with their Accounts, subject to VS’s approval as provided in Section 2.9(d). Such
Enhancement Marketing Services may include but are not limited to insurance of types not listed in
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Section 2.9(a), travel clubs, legal services, card registration programs, Identity Protector and
merchandise products. Such Enhancement Marketing Services may be offered through various direct
marketing channels including but not limited to direct mail, telemarketing, statement inserts, statement
messaging, call transfer and IVR. The charges for the products and services will be billed to the
applicable Cardholder’s Account when appropriate. The solicitations and offerings shall not contain
VS’s endorsement, and Bank shall be responsible for all disclosures and procedures required under
Applicable Law in connection with the Enhancement Marketing Services offered. VS may require Bank
to stop offering any Enhancement Marketing Service or any Debt Cancellation Program at any time
upon notice to Bank; however, when terminating the Account Assure program, VS agrees to provide
Bank with at least ninety (90) days prior notice of termination, after first reviewing the matter with the
Business Review Committee in order for the Business Review Committee to discuss the issues,
alternatives and the projected economic impact on the Plan.

(©) VS shall receive from Bank [****] of the net profit (Bank’s revenues from commissions
and other incentives from the vendor minus Bank’s total expenses directly related to providing the
Enhancement Marketing Services and Debt Cancellation Program) generated by any Enhancement
Marketing Services and any Debt Cancellation Program, payment to be made on a monthly basis
through ACH transfer to VS Deposit Account (unless otherwise directed by VS) not later than thirty
(30) days following the end of the month, together with a statement setting forth the revenues,
expenses and profits in reasonable detail.

(d) Each and every Enhancement Marketing Service and the related advertising materials
shall be subject to the prior approval of VS, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed (it being understood that VS may withhold such approval if it determines in its reasonable
discretion that the advertising of such products or services is inconsistent with the image of VS'’s
business). With [****] days prior written notice to Bank, VS may reasonably withdraw its approval for
an Enhancement Marketing Service.

2.10 Ownership of VS Name. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding,
VS shall retain all rights in and to VS's name, the Marks and all trademarks, service marks and other
rights pertaining to such names (collectively, the “Name Rights”) and all goodwill associated with the
use of the Name Rights whether under this Agreement or otherwise shall inure to the benefit of
VS. VS shall have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to prohibit the use of any of its Name
Rights in any Forms, advertisements or other materials proposed to be used by Bank. However, no
reasonable use, which use is consistent with this Agreement, of the Marks for the purpose of
identifying the Accounts in connection with maintaining and servicing such Accounts will be prohibited.
Bank shall cease all use of the Name Rights upon the termination of this Agreement for any reason
unless Bank retains the Accounts after termination of the Agreement, in which case Bank may use the
Name Rights solely in connection with the administration and collection of the balance due on the
Accounts. Provided, however, that VS grants Bank the right to use VS’s Name Rights on a case by
case basis (excluding any such marketing, materials or literature related to a Debt Cancellation
Program or Enhancement Marketing Service) and with thirty (30) days advance notice of each
category of use in connection with Bank and its Affiliates’ product marketing, promotional materials and
literature in written and electronic form and their business client lists until such time as this Agreement
is terminated or VS chooses to revoke this right for any or all product marketing, promotional materials,
literature or client list purposes. All uses of VS’s Name Rights are subject to the terms and conditions
of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, this Section 2.10 and Section 2.5.
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2.11 Cardholder Loyalty Program. Bank will provide VS with system functionality tied to
the Accounts to support VS’s Cardholder loyalty program (the “Loyalty Program”), at no additional
charge, to the extent VS’s Loyalty Program is consistent with Bank’s existing or future functionality
offered to other Bank clients and is facilitated using monthly billing statements to active Accounts and
does not include stand-alone mailings. Provided, however, that Bank will support stand-alone
Cardholder mailings and zero-balance statements in conjunction with the Loyalty Program at VS’s
expense. Bank will, at VS’s request, upon the terms, conditions and fees mutually agreed upon in
writing by the parties, provide back office servicing and administration support for VS’s Loyalty
Program. The Loyalty Program will provide for loyalty point accumulation, tracking, lookup/reporting,
and redemption where coupon is part of the billing statement, and redemption data files contained in
Bank’'s system to a party designated by VS, at no additional charge to VS, consistent with Bank’s
existing or future functionality offered to other Bank clients. Subject to Section 2.14(b)(i)(F), VS is the
owner of the Loyalty Program and will be responsible for determining and funding the reward related to
the Loyalty Program and for ensuring that the Loyalty Program complies with all Applicable Laws.

2.12 Relationship Management,_Resources and Reporting. (a) (i) As of the Execution
Date, Bank shall provide a minimum of [****] associates (excluding future, incremental field sales
associates) in support of the Plan (“Bank Credit Relationship Services Team”). As of the Execution
Date, VS shall provide no less than [****] associates in support of the Plan (“VS Credit Relationship
Services Team”). After the first Plan Year, Bank may propose to increase (or decrease) the number of
dedicated associates with any such increase (or decrease) subject to the approval of VS (in its sole

discretion). See also Schedule 2.12(a).

(i) It is the intent of the parties that the associates of Bank will not be employees of VS, or any
of its Affiliates, and the parties shall structure and maintain their operations in such a manner that is
consistent with this intent. Bank employees are expected to perform their responsibilities as specified
by Bank and without day-to-day control from VS personnel. Bank acknowledges and agrees that: (a)
VS will have no responsibility to provide to any Bank employee insurance, vacation, or other fringe
benefits normally associated with employee status including, but not limited, to participation in any
welfare benefit plan sponsored by VS for the benefit of its employees; (b) Bank will not hold itself or its
staff out as, nor claim to be, an officer, partner, joint venture, employee, or agent of VS; (c) Bank shall
be responsible for reporting, withholding and payment of all income, unemployment, FICA, or similar
taxes for Bank employees; and (d) Bank shall, at its expense, comply with all applicable laws, including
but not limited to the National Labor Relations Act, the Americans With Disabilities Act, all applicable
employment discrimination laws, overtime laws, immigration laws, workers’ compensation laws, and
occupational safety and health laws and any related regulations with regard to Bank employees.

(b) Bank will maintain levels of outsourcing for call center operations supporting the Plan
consistent with those as of the Effective Date and will provide live agent customer service during Store
hours across all U.S. time zones as mutually agreed by the parties. For the avoidance of doubt, all call
center operations will be in the U.S. For the avoidance of doubt, all call center operations will be in the
U.S., with the exception of the current practice to offshore call center operations for collection (inbound
calls on accounts 60+ days delinquent), skip trace calls, Pay by Phone calls, back office handling of
address changes, or as otherwise approved by VS. Bank agrees to incorporate into Bank’s training
curriculum, in consultation with VS, VS brand and service philosophy. Bank shall provide appropriate
“soft-skill” training to customer-facing representatives, including initial training for new hires as well as
refresher training for existing representatives twice a year.
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(c) Bank shall provide to VS in electronic format the reports and data feed identified in
Schedule 2.12(b), at the frequency set forth therein. In addition, at VS’s request, Bank will provide VS
with a written list of the Plan documents that will become obsolete as a result of one or more specific
changes contemplated by VS, together with a written estimate of the costs to be borne by VS if such
documents are deemed obsolete. Also, at VS’s request, Bank will provide VS with the following
information, the scope of which shall be mutually agreed upon by the parties: (i) customer service
related questions received through the “contact us” email functionality and how those questions were
resolved; and (ii) cardholder complaints related to enhancement marketing and debt cancellation
programs.

(d) Bank will cause its affiliated service provider to make available to VS experienced and
knowledgeable representatives of those Affiliates of Bank selected by VS to consult up to forty (40)
hours per calendar year with VS and/or meet with the Business Review Committee to identify
opportunities to enhance the Plan and to provide value add services to VS.

2.13 Plan Competitiveness. (a) Bank covenants and agrees that it shall, through its
participation in the Business Review Committee and otherwise as permitted in this Agreement, exert
good faith diligent efforts to maintain the Plan in a position reasonably competitive with the top tier of
well-managed private label credit card programs within the soft goods retail industry, consistent with
the Bank’s overall economic assumptions for the Plan. These efforts will include Bank’'s active
management of the Plan, through the Business Review Committee and otherwise as permitted in this
Agreement, to maintain material elements of the Plan within competitive market ranges, including but
not limited to the APR assessed on revolving balances, the fee amounts, fee assessment practices,
and customer service standards. In the event Bank fairly believes that decisions of VS are impairing
the competitive position of the Plan, Bank will notify VS promptly, and in any event not later than the
next ensuing Business Review Committee meeting.

(b) Twice per year, Bank will conduct a competitive patterning survey to assess the Plan’s
features and capabilities against features and capabilities of other programs offered by competing
issuers in the private label marketplace in general and in the soft goods retail environment specifically.
This survey will also include analysis of marketplace and industry trends and innovations. Bank will
provide VS a copy of this survey. Bank may at its option conduct the survey and analysis using
qualified and experienced resources, whether internal resources, Affiliates, third parties or a
combination thereof.

(c) Bank will monitor Cardholder and non-Cardholder Customer satisfaction by measuring
agreed upon criteria including (i) habits and practices related to card usage, (i) awareness of
Cardholder benefits, (iii) intention to participate in the card program, (iv) barriers to Cardholder
acquisition, (v) satisfaction with existing Cardholder benefits, (vi) interest in specific card benefits (new
or improved), (vii) intention to continue using the Card for future purchases or (viii) any other credit or
marketing topic reasonably requested by VS based upon its business needs. Quarterly, Bank will fund
and execute a formal survey of Cardholder and non-Cardholder Customer satisfaction jointly
developed by the Bank and VS (the “Tracking Survey”) and conducted by Bank using qualified and
experienced resources, whether internal resources, Affiliates, third parties or a combination thereof. All
results of the survey will be delivered to VS within forty-five (45) days of the end of the relevant quarter
and shared with the Business Review Committee.
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(d) Subject to the requirements of Applicable Law, VS will have the right to monitor
Customer service calls for quality on a random, periodic basis with at least three (3) Business Days
prior notice. Should the Tracking Survey or the call monitoring results indicate issues, shortfalls
relative to the Service Standards, or unfavorable trends, Bank will develop and present to the Business
Review Committee an action plan to remedy the identified shortfalls.

2.14 Engagement Committees. (a) As more fully set forth in Schedule 2.14, the CEO
Program Review Committee, Business Review Committee, Program Strategy Committee and
Business Now Committee (collectively the “Engagement Committees”) shall work cooperatively with
regard to various aspects of the Plan, setting the strategic direction relating to the Plan, including but
not limited to program oversight and problem resolution for the Plan and the decisions related to Plan
matters not otherwise expressly addressed in this Agreement.

(b) Escalation of Business Review Committee Matters. In the event that the Business Review
Committee fails to agree by consensus on an appropriate course of action or resolution with respect to
any matter, such matter shall be submitted to the appropriate executives of each of VS and Bank for
further review and resolution. If such executives fail to agree on the appropriate course of action or
resolution, the ultimate decision on the matter shall be made by VS with respect to VS Matters and
Bank with respect to Bank Matters. Any matters that are neither a VS Matter nor a Bank Matter shall
remain within the auspices of the Business Review Committee for further discussion, escalation and/or
resolution.

For the purposes of this Agreement:
0] “VS Matters” include:

(A) Design of Credit Cards, Account statements, Plan websites and Plan collateral
(subject to Applicable Law and Bank system specifications and capabilities);

(B) Decrease of Bank Credit Relationship Services Team below [****] associates;

(C) VS capital expenditures;

(D) Except as required by Applicable Law, changes by Bank that require a systems
change by VS;

(E) Decisions to utilize new credit card products and/or marketing channels proposed
by Bank;

(F) Changes to the program value proposition (in consultation with Bank);

(G) Subject to (F) above, decisions to change or terminate any VS Loyalty Program,
provided there is no incremental expense to Bank as a result of such decision by
VS;

(H) Decisions related to ancillary products and cross-selling as set forth in Section
2.9; and

()  Changes to VS privacy policies.

(i) “Bank Matters” include:
(A) Cardholder account documentation (such as billing statements and letters) and

decisions related to the form of Cardholder communications, provided, however,
that except for Cardholder disclosures required by Applicable Law, VS shall
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have the right to review and approve all forms of Cardholder communications
used by the Bank to manage the Plan (which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld and shall be provided within a commercially reasonable time);

(B) Changes to risk management policies and underwriting, subject to Section 2.7 and
Schedule 2.7;

(C) Subject to Section 3.6(d), changes to Cardholder Terms;

(D) Bank capital expenditures;

(E) Subject to Section 3.2, changes to Bank Operating Procedures;

(F) Development of new credit card products and/or marketing channels; and

(G) Servicing of the Loyalty Program referenced in Section 2.11.

(c) Either VS or Bank may from time to time, with reasonable prior notice to the other party,
invite other appropriate employees or its Affiliates to attend Engagement Committee meetings to
inform the conversations, provided, however, that such guests may not approve or disapprove of any
matter to be reviewed by such committee pursuant to this Agreement, including the Business Review
Committee pursuant to Section 2.14(b).

2.15 Material Adverse Change; Remediation.

€) Except for changes required by Applicable Law, Bank will provide VS with at least [****]
days prior notice of any changes Bank proposes to make to the Plan which Bank reasonably believes
could have a material impact on customer service, “customer experience” and/or the customer
database information which is maintained by Bank and provided to VS and the parties shall meet to
discuss any concerns raised by VS and any alternatives.

(b) Except for changes required by Applicable Law, VS will use commercially reasonable
efforts to provide Bank with at least [****] days prior notice, but not less than [****] days prior notice of
any changes VS proposes to make which VS reasonably believes could have a material impact on the
Plan, and the parties shall meet to discuss any concerns raised by Bank and any alternatives.

(c) With regard to the changes implemented in (a) and (b) above by either party, if the
implementation of such changes causes a material impact on the other party in excess of [****], then
the parties shall meet to discuss alternatives to remediate or reduce the impact of the change.

2.16 SMS Marketing_ Communications. VS and Bank may send marketing
communications via SMS or other text messaging protocols to Cardholders, Applicants and/or
Customers only if (i) such marketing communication is sent on the sending party’s sole behalf for that
party’s own marketing purposes, with no reference or attribution to the other party, or (ii) with the other
party’s prior written approval. For an avoidance of doubt, with respect to any joint-marketing
communications, Bank and VS shall obtain the other party’s prior written approval of the
communication’s content (including, without limitation, sign-up, notice and consent language) before
sending any marketing communication via SMS (including, without limitation, an SMS service
communication with a marketing or upsell element) or other text messaging protocol on behalf of the
other party or for the other party’s marketing purposes.

2.17 Marketing_and Other Communications Compliance. With respect to all SMS,
telecommunications, email and other electronic communications sent by a party as part of the Plan,
Bank and VS will comply with all laws that apply to Bank and VS by virtue of this Agreement and the
Services, including, without limitation, the Federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act (“TCPA"),
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and all rules, regulations, and guidance promulgated under the TCPA. Without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, Bank and VS shall obtain the recipient’s prior affirmative consent prior to sending
SMS communications. In addition, prior to sending SMS marketing messages or other telephonic
marketing communications to mobile numbers, the party deploying such marketing messages will
scrub the mobile numbers pursuant to Applicable Law and its policies and will additionally identify itself
as the entity responsible for originating or transmitting such SMS marketing message (i.e., using its
own originating or identifying information, numbers, or addresses). Further, such party represents and
warrants that it does and will maintain copies of all consumer-facing content for SMS marketing at
least four years after it was last used, and evidence of consumer consent from the time it was received
to at least four years after the consumer stops receiving SMS marketing messages or other telephonic
marketing communications from such party. Bank and VS shall not engage in any outbound
telephonic (including SMS) upselling in connection with the Agreement.

SECTION 3. OPERATION OF THE PLAN

3.1 Honoring Credit Cards. VS will honor, and agrees that as long as BBW is an Affiliate of VS,
BBW may have the right to honor pursuant to a separate agreement with Bank, any Credit Card
properly issued and currently authorized by Bank pursuant to the Plan and subject to the terms of the
Agreement. VS agrees that it shall deliver to Bank all Transaction Records evidencing transactions
made under the Plan, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Operating
Procedures.

3.2 Operating Procedures; Amendment. (a) VS shall observe and comply with the Operating
Procedures. VS shall ensure that their respective Stores personnel are trained regarding the
Operating Procedures. The Bank will, upon reasonable advance notice provided in each instance to
VS'’s Director of Credit Card Marketing, conduct regular visits to VS’s Stores to observe VS personnel
when taking Applicant applications and when making sales where Credit Cards are used to ensure
compliance with Applicable Law and to confirm use of the correct Plan documents. Bank shall conduct
such visits in such a manner as to not disrupt or unreasonably interfere with VS’s business
operations. In the event non-compliance is observed, Bank will document the non-compliant
procedures and formally communicate in writing to VS. VS will have up to [****] days to address such
matter.

VS agrees to comply with the following procedures:

()In each Credit Card transaction to obtain all the information contained in clause (b) of
the definition of “Transaction Record.” The date which appears on the Charge Slip or Credit Slip will
be prima facie evidence of the transaction date, and VS shall be required to transmit all Transaction
Records relating to such Charge Slip and/or Credit Slip so that Bank receives such Transaction
Records no later than the second Business Day after the transaction date; provided that if, as a result
of technical disruptions, any Store locations are not polled within a normal period after the occurrence
of the underlying Transactions, VS may transmit such information relating to such Store locations as
soon as reasonably practicable after polling is completed. The “Cardholder Copy” of each Charge Slip
shall be delivered to the Cardholder at the time of the transaction if the Cardholder is in the
Store.

(iDAll Charge Slips will evidence the total price of the sale minus any cash down
payment. VS shall retain the “Merchant Copy” of all VS and BBW generated Charge and Credit Slips
for each transaction for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of presentation to Bank or in
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the case of Deferred Billing Programs, twelve (12) months from the end of the applicable Deferred
Billing Program. The provisions set forth in this subsection (ii) shall take precedence over any
provisions governing retention of Charge Slips set forth in the Operating Procedures.

(VS at its sole discretion will develop and maintain a policy for the exchange and
return of Goods and adjustment for Services rendered and for that purpose will give credit to Accounts
upon such exchange, return or adjustment. VS will not make cash refunds to Cardholders on Credit
Card Purchases. If any Goods are returned, price adjustment is allowed, or debt for Services is
adjusted, VS will notify the Bank and provide appropriate documentation thereof to the
Cardholder. Upon receipt of Transaction Records reflecting a credit to which there has been a
corresponding debit, Bank will net against amounts payable by Bank to VS the total shown on the
Credit Slip, and credit the Cardholder's Account in the amount of such Credit Slip. If on any day the
total amount of the Net Proceeds is a negative amount, VS shall remit the difference to Bank
immediately upon written demand.

(iv)Stores shall not, when the Cardholder is present in the Store, accept a transaction to
be charged to an Account without either: presentation of a Credit Card and following any additional
identification outlined in the Operating Procedures; or following such proper identification procedures
for transactions where a Credit Card is not presented as outlined in the Operating Procedures (a “Card
Not Present" transaction). For Card Not Present transactions, Stores must collect the information
enumerated in this paragraph to the extent Applicable Law authorizes, or allows by exception, such
information collection. Subject to the foregoing in this Section and, subject to Bank's ability to amend or
revise the Operating Procedures as set forth in paragraph (b) below, the parties agree and
acknowledge that the requirements of the Card Not Present section of the Operating Procedures
relating to proper identification of a Cardholder where a Credit Card is not presented may be satisfied
by Stores by collecting and recording the following information from the Cardholder (or Authorized
Buyer): (w) Cardholder (or Authorized Buyer's) name; and (x) type of photo ID checked; and (y) either
Cardholder's (or Authorized Buyer's) state of residence and zip code or Cardholder's (or Authorized
Buyer) Driver's License state and ID number, and (z) Cardholder's (or Authorized Buyer's) signature.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the parties agree and acknowledge that Bank is not
providing to VS any legal advice, and Bank makes no representation whatsoever as to whether the
above procedure is compliant with state point of sale requirements for retailers ("POS Laws"). VS and
Stores are solely responsible for compliance with POS Laws, to the extent of VS's control over such
procedures, and (to such extent) VS therefore holds Bank harmless for any liability which may arise
due to a failure of VS and/or Stores to comply with POS Laws.

(b)The Operating Procedures may be amended or modified by Bank from time to time in its
reasonable discretion; provided, however, a written copy of any such amendment or modification shall
be provided to VS at least [****] days before its effective date (the “Notice Date”) unless otherwise
required by Applicable Law. For those amendments requiring technology changes, the parties shall
work in good faith to align on an implementation date based upon the scope of the required changes.
For those changes required by Applicable Law (“Required Changes”), notice shall be given as soon as
practicable. Unless such change is a Required Change, VS shall have the right within [****] days after
the Notice Date to object to such change. The Business Review Committee shall meet promptly
following such objection by VS and shall endeavor to discuss such amendment or modification in good
faith in order to accept the amendment or modification or reach a mutually agreeable alternative to the
amendment or modification. In the event the Business Review Committee is unable to agree upon the
amendment or modification or an alternative thereto within
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[****] days after the Notice Date, then a senior executive from both VS and Bank shall meet to
negotiate in good faith in order to reach a mutually agreeable alternative. If the parties’ senior
executives are unable to mutually agree within [****] days after the Notice Date, then Bank shall not
implement the initially proposed change; provided, however, that if Bank implements such change for
other similar clients and within [****] days after such implementation can provide analysis that the
change did not have a material adverse effect on such other clients, then VS shall implement the
amendment or modifications within [****] days thereafter. In addition, with respect to any change other
than a Required Change implemented by Bank, VS shall have the further right within a [****] month
period after such implementation by Bank to request an Business Review Committee review of any
material adverse financial or operational effects of the amendment or modification, discuss alternatives
and to require Bank to remediate the same or revoke the amendment or modification.

3.3 Cardholder Disputes Regarding_Goods and/or Services. VS with Bank’s assistance shall
act promptly to investigate and work to resolve disputes with Cardholders regarding Goods and/or
Services obtained through VS pursuant to the Plan. VS shall timely process credits or refunds for
Cardholders utilizing the Plan.

3.4 No Special Agreements. VS will not extract any special agreement, condition or security
from Cardholders in connection with their use of a Credit Card, unless approved in advance by Bank in
writing.

3.5 Cardholder Disputes Regarding_Violations of Law or Regulation. VS shall assist Bank
in further investigating and using its reasonable efforts to help resolve any Applicant or Cardholder
claim, dispute, or defense which may be asserted under Applicable Law.

3.6 Payment to VS; Ownership of Accounts; Fees; Accounting. (a) VS shall electronically
transmit all Transaction Records to Bank in a format acceptable to Bank. Upon receipt, Bank shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to promptly verify and process such Transaction Records, and in the
time frames specified herein, Bank will remit to VS an amount equal to the Net Proceeds indicated by
such Transaction Records for the Credit Sales Day(s) for which such remittance is made (the “Daily
Settlement”). In the event Bank discovers any discrepancies in the amount of Transaction Records
submitted by VS or paid by Bank to VS, Bank shall notify VS in detail of the discrepancy, and credit
VS, or net against amounts owed to VS, as the case may be, in a subsequent Daily Settlement. Bank
will transfer funds via Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) to an account designated in writing by VS to
Bank (the “VS Deposit Account”). If Transaction Records are received by Bank’s processing center
before 12 noon Eastern time on a Business Day, Bank will initiate such ACH transfer the same day
and in the event that the Transaction Records are received after 12 noon Eastern time on a Business
Day, then Bank will initiate such transfer no later than 12 noon Eastern time on the following Business
Day. Bank shall, as directed by VS, remit funds to (i) one account, or (ii) to one account for each of
Victoria’s Secret, Direct, Puerto Rico and BBW, and shall not remit funds to individual Stores. The
term “initiate” shall mean that Bank shall transmit an ACH file to Bank’s financial institution for
settlement on the next Business Day.

(b) Bank shall own all the Accounts under the Plan from the time of establishment, and
except as otherwise provided herein, VS shall not have any right to any indebtedness on an Account
or to any Account payment from a Cardholder arising out of or in connection with any Purchases under
the Plan. Effective upon payment to VS by Bank pursuant to Section 3.6(a), with respect to each
Charge Slip VS shall be deemed to have transferred, conveyed, assigned and surrendered to
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Bank all right, title or interest in all such Charge Slips and in all other rights and writings evidencing
such Purchases, if any.

(c)All Transaction Records are subject to review and acceptance by Bank. In the event of a
computational or similar error of an accounting or record keeping nature with respect to such
Transaction Records, Bank may credit to VS’s Deposit Account or net against the Net Proceeds (as
the case may be) the proper amount as corrected. If the Net Proceeds are insufficient, VS shall remit
the proper amount to Bank immediately upon written demand. Upon any such correction Bank shall
give prompt notice and explanation thereof to VS.

(d)Cardholder Terms.

(DSubject to Applicable Law, Bank shall initially charge each Cardholder the rates and
fees set forth in Schedule 3.6(d) (the “Cardholder Terms”).

(i)See also Schedule 3.6(d).

(e) VS shall obtain and maintain [****] such point of sale terminals, cash registers, network
(electronic communication interchange system), telephone or other communication lines, software,
hardware and other items of equipment as are necessary for it to request and receive authorizations,
transmit Charge Slip and Credit Slip information, process Credit Card Applications and perform its
obligations under this Agreement. The computer programs and telecommunications protocols
necessary to facilitate communications between Bank and VS and the Stores shall be determined by
Bank from time to time subject to reasonable prior notice of any change in such programs, equipment
or protocols.

(VS may from time to time offer Deferred Billing Programs to Cardholders. VS shall be
responsible for ensuring that all Purchases subject to any Deferred Billing Programs are properly
designated as such on the Transaction Record in accordance with Bank’s instructions.

(9) Bank may if VS fails to pay Bank any amounts due (and such amounts are not subject
to a good faith dispute of which Bank has been notified) to Bank pursuant to this Agreement for more
than [****] days after the due date, offset such amounts against the Net Proceeds or any other
amounts owed by Bank to VS under this Agreement.

3.7 Insertion of VS’s Promotional Materials. Bank will upon request of VS from time to
time insert VS’s promotional materials for VS’s Goods and/or Services, which are provided by VS at
VS’s expense, into the Account billing statements and new Credit Card mailers, so long as: (a) for
insertion into Account billing statements, the materials are provided to Bank at least [****] Business
Days prior to the scheduled mailing date of such statements; (b) for insertion into new Credit Card
mailers, the materials are provided to Bank at least [****] Business Days prior to the scheduled mailing
date of such notice; (c) if the materials reference Bank or the Plan in any manner, are approved by
Bank as to content, in Bank’s reasonable discretion; (d) the materials meet all size, weight, or other
specifications for such inserts as shall be set forth in the Operating Procedures; (e) there is sufficient
space in Bank’s standard envelope for the insert in addition to any legally required material,
Cardholder notices and other materials which Bank is including in the mailing; and (f) VS pays any and
all additional postage costs caused by Bank’s insertion of materials provided by VS, provided that
Bank shall first notify VS of any additional postage cost and Bank will include the materials only if
instructed by VS to insert regardless of the additional postage costs.
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3.8 Payments by Cardholders. (a) Except as provided in this Section 3.8, all payments to
be made by Cardholders with respect to any amounts outstanding on the Accounts shall be made in
accordance with the instructions of Bank and at the location or address specified by Bank. VS hereby
authorizes Bank, or any of its employees or agents, to endorse “COMENITY BANK” upon all or any
checks, drafts, money orders or other evidence of payment, made payable to VS and intended as
payment on an Account, that may come into Bank’s possession from Cardholders and to credit said
payment against the appropriate Cardholder’s Account. VS further agrees that where, consistent with
Section 3.8(b), or such other circumstance authorized by Bank, VS is permitted by Bank to receive any
payment made with respect to the Plan, VS will on Bank’s behalf hold such payment in trust for Bank
and will include the amount of such payment in the Transaction Records sent to Bank pursuant to this
Agreement within [****] Business Days after receipt provided that if, as a result of technical disruptions,
any Store locations are not polled within a normal period after the receipt of the payment, VS may
transmit such information relating to such Store locations as soon as reasonably practicable after
polling is completed. Bank will charge the amount of such payment against the settlement amount, or,
if the settlement amount is insufficient to cover such payments, VS shall remit the amount of such
payment, or any unpaid portion thereof, to Bank immediately upon written demand. Payments made
by Cardholders at VS'’s Stores shall not be deemed received by Bank until Bank receives and accepts
the Transaction Records. Bank has the sole right to receive and retain all payments made with respect
to all Accounts and to pursue collection of all amounts outstanding, unless an Account or Purchase is
charged back to VS pursuant to the provisions of Sections 3.9 and 3.10 hereof. Should any payment
made by Cardholders at VS’s Stores be made by check and such check is subsequently returned
unpaid, VS will include a debit for the face amount of the check plus any actual return check fees paid
by VS to its third party depository bank to which the check is first deposited and third party re-
presentment to vendor in the Transaction Records sent to Bank pursuant to this Agreement. VS will
process such returned check in accordance with the procedures mutually agreed upon in writing by
Bank and VS. In the event the return check fees imposed by or through any third party vendor retained
by VS for re-presentment of such checks for payment following any initial return increase after the
Effective Date, VS shall give Bank written notice of the increase in such fees and Bank shall have the
right to discontinue paying the fees imposed by or through such third party re-presentment vendor, in
which event, VS may discontinue processing such returned checks through the re-presentment vendor
and shall submit checks returned unpaid by the bank of first deposit to Bank.

(b) VS will, consistent with past practices, accept payments from Cardholders for amounts
due on Credit Card Accounts (“In-Store Payments”). Any In-Store Payments received by VS will be
held in trust for Bank and its assigns and netted against amounts payable by Bank pursuant to the
Daily Settlement (provided that VS shall not be required to keep In-Store Payments separate from
other payments received by VS) and evidence of such payments will be transmitted to Bank on a daily
basis, provided that (i) if, as a result of technical disruptions, any Store locations are not polled within a
normal period after the receipt of the payment, VS may transmit such evidence relating to such Store
locations as soon as reasonably practicable after polling is completed or (i) if transmittal is not
possible due to a force majeure event, such transmittal will be completed within a time reasonable
under the circumstances. Notwithstanding the foregoing:

1) if any bankruptcy or other insolvency proceeding has been commenced

against VS (and so long as the same has not been dismissed), VS shall promptly comply with any
written instruction (a “Store Payment Notice”) received by VS from Bank or any successor to Bank
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(Bank or any such successor being the “Servicer”) to take either of the following actions (as specified
in such instruction):

0] cease accepting In-Store Payments and thereafter inform
Cardholders who wish to make In-Store Payments that payment should instead be sent to Servicer
(but only if the Servicer is required to give such notice); or

(i) (A) deposit an amount equal to all In-Store Payments received by each retalil
location operated by VS, not later than the Business Day following receipt, into a segregated trust
account (the “Store Account”) established by VS for this purpose and, pending such deposit, to hold all
In-Store Payments in trust for Bank and its assigns, (B) use commercially reasonable efforts not to
permit any amounts or items not constituting In-Store Payments to be deposited in the Store Account
and (C) cause all available funds in each Store Account to be transferred on a daily basis to an
account designated in the Store Payment Notice;

provided that VS need not take the actions specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) if VS or any of its
Affiliates provides the Servicer with a letter of credit, surety bond or other similar instrument covering
collection risk with respect to In-Store Payments and all required conditions with respect to such letter
of credit, surety bond or other similar instrument are satisfied;

(2) if and to the extent that Bank so requests in writing at a time when Bank
is required to make such request and Bank provides to VS evidence reasonable under the
circumstances of such requirement, In-Store Payments shall no longer be netted against amounts
payable by Bank pursuant to subsection 3.8(a), but instead VS shall transfer to Bank by ACH of
immediately available funds not later than the [****] Business Day following receipt of any In-Store
Payments, an amount equal to the sum of such In-Store Payments. Upon written request, VS and
Bank shall work in good faith to agree on an implementation date.

So long as VS complies with instructions delivered in accordance with paragraph (1) or (2), any
amounts payable by Bank to VS pursuant to Section 3.6 shall be made without deduction for In-Store
Payments.

3.9 Chargebacks. Bank shall have the right to demand, with appropriate documentation,
immediate purchase by VS of any Purchase and charge back to VS the unpaid principal balance
relating to any such Purchase, for any chargeback reason as set forth in the Operating
Procedures. Bank and VS shall use commercially reasonable efforts to manage the Plan in a manner
that minimizes chargebacks including sharing industry practices that may reduce or prevent
chargebacks.

3.10 Assignment of Title in Charged Back Purchases. With respect to any amount of a
Purchase to be charged back to and to be purchased by VS, VS shall either pay such amount directly
to Bank in immediately available funds or Bank will offset such amount as part of the Net Proceeds to
be paid to VS, to the extent the balance thereof is sufficient. Upon payment of such amount by VS to
Bank, or off-setting, as the case may be, Bank shall assign and transfer to VS, without recourse, all of
Bank’s right, title and interest in and to such Purchase and will deliver all documentation (or copies) in
Bank’s possession, including but not limited to, Cardholder correspondence regarding such Purchase.
VS further consents to all extensions or compromises given any Cardholder with respect to any such
Purchase, and agrees that such shall not affect any liability of VS hereunder or right of Bank to charge
back any Purchase as provided in this Agreement;
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provided, however, that Bank shall not have the right to charge back for any Purchase the amount of
any reductions, or compromises of amounts owed by a Cardholder to Bank. VS shall not resubmit or
re-transmit any charged back Purchases to Bank, without Bank’s prior written consent.

3.11 Promotion of Program and Card Plan; Non-Competition. (a) Except as otherwise provided
in this Section 3.11, VS agrees that in consideration and as an inducement for Bank to make the Plan
available to VS as outlined in this Agreement and the Operating Procedures, from the Effective Date
and for the Term of this Agreement, VS will not (nor will VS permit any Affiliate to do so on VS’s
behalf), without the prior written consent of Bank, contract or establish with any other credit card
processor/provider or provide or process on its own behalf any “private label” revolving credit or other
credit card issuance or processing arrangement or programs similar in purpose to the Plan or to the
services and transactions contemplated under this Agreement in the United States, Puerto Rico and
other U.S. territories; provided, however, that VS may establish a co-branded program subject to
Section 3.11(d), and provided that if either party provides notice of termination pursuant to Section 9.1
of this Agreement or if VS terminates under Sections 9.3 or 9.5, VS may enter into a contract with
another “private label” credit card processor/provider effective on or after termination of this Agreement
(and any agreement for preliminary or planning services related thereto shall not violate this
provision).

(b)Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained in this Agreement will be construed to
prohibit or prevent VS from: (i) accepting any major general purpose credit card (including without
limitation, American Express (and Optima) Card, MasterCard, Visa, or Discover/NOVUS), any form of
general purpose debit card or fixed payment (installment) credit programs for Applicants declined by
Bank, as a means of payment by Cardholders for purchase of Goods and/or Services; (ii) accepting a
proprietary credit card issued by Bank for an Affiliate; (iii) entering into a contract with another credit
card provider for a particular state after Bank has terminated (or given notice of such termination) the
operation of the Plan in such state pursuant to Section 9.4; (iv) entering into a contract with another
credit card provider for the provision of a Second Look Plan described in Section 3.11(c); or (v)
accepting any non-credit payment type including, but not limited to, Google Pay, Apple Pay,
etc.

(c)See Schedule 3.11, Second Look Plan.

(d)Through a competitive bidding process (“RFP”), VS shall be entitled to negotiate with any
third party with respect to the issuance of co-brand or affinity bank credit cards bearing a Mark or any
of VS’s other Name Rights, provided that VS permits Bank to participate in an RFP for the issuance of
co-brand or affinity bank credit cards. As part of such RFP, Bank will, upon VS’s request, but no more
than once per RFP, provide VS, within [****] days after such request, with the Plan metrics set forth in
Schedule 9.5, RFP Plan Metrics, with respect to any Co-Brand Pilot, in order to permit potential third
parties (who have executed a non-disclosure agreement containing terms and conditions customary in
the industry) to value a portfolio in the marketplace. VS will provide to Bank a copy of all materials
(such as requests for proposals and the like) provided by VS to all third parties in the RFP at the same
time VS provides them to the third parties. Furthermore, if Bank and VS had previously launched a
“pilot” co-brand credit product bearing a Mark or any of VS’s other Name Rights (“Co-Brand Pilot”) then
upon VS accepting an offer from a third party (other than Bank) to issue co-brand or affinity bank
cards, [****].

(e) Following the Execution Date, VS may request that the parties finalize plans to pursue
the potential mutual development of a “pilot” co-brand credit product bearing a Mark or any of VS'’s
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other Name Rights. Before issuance, the parties will mutually agree on the terms, costs, timing, and
scope of the pilot co-brand credit product.

(NIn the event VS enters into a co-brand or affinity bank credit card program with a third party
pursuant to 3.11(d), VS agrees to use the Mark and/or Name Rights in a manner that differentiates
their use with the co-brand or affinity bank credit card from the use in connection with the Plan. For
the avoidance of doubt, the addition of a card brand logo is sufficient for differentiation
purposes.

(9)VS shall have the right to pursue other alternatives, including from third party providers,
should Bank be unable to meet the needs of VS with respect to mobile payments, e-commerce,
international markets or related products, services or functionality for the Plan; provided, however, that
Bank shall have a first right of refusal to provide such products, services or functionality if Bank can
offer such capabilities within industry-competitive economics, technology and delivery
benchmarks.

3.12 Enhanced Customer Service. Bank will route [****] of VS’s best Cardholders, as identified
to Bank by VS, to Bank’s most experienced customer service representatives. VS shall work with Bank
to establish a process for VS to provide such best Cardholder information to Bank in a format and
cadence as agreed upon by the parties, provided however, that, if at any time the Plan’s Accounts
Receivable Balance decreases by more than [****] as compared to the Plan’s Accounts Receivable
Balance as of the Effective Date, then Bank may discontinue such routing upon notice to VS. Prior to
any such discontinuance, Bank will discuss with the Business Review Committee alternatives to
termination that address Bank’s costs of continuing the routing. This enhanced customer service
routing requirement shall not apply during VS'’s scheduled semi-annual sales.

SECTION 4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF VS

Each VS entity hereby jointly and severally represents and warrants to Bank as follows:

4.1 Organization,_Power and Qualification. It is duly qualified and in good standing to do
business in all jurisdictions where it is located, except where the failure to so qualify would not have a
material adverse effect on the business of such entity, or where the failure to so qualify would not have
a material adverse effect on such entity or Bank’s ability to continue operation of the Plan.

4.2 Authorization,_Validity and Non-Contravention. (a) This Agreement has been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate proceedings, has been duly executed and delivered by such
entity and is a valid and legally binding agreement of such entity duly enforceable in accordance with
its terms (except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and by general equity
principles).

(b)No consent, approval, authorization, order, registration or qualification of or with any court or
regulatory authority or other governmental body having jurisdiction over such entity is required for, and
the absence of which would adversely affect, the legal and valid execution and delivery of this
Agreement, and the performance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

29

VS and Comenity Bank Private Label Credit Card Program Agreement
Confidential and Proprietary




EXECUTION VERSION

(c)The execution and delivery of this Agreement by such entity hereunder and the compliance
by such entity with all provisions of this Agreement: (i) will not conflict with or violate any Applicable
Law; and (ii) will not conflict with or result in a breach of or default under any of the terms or provisions
of any indenture, loan agreement or other contract or agreement under which such entity is an obligor
or by which its property is bound where such conflict, breach or default would have a material adverse
effect on such entity, nor will such execution, delivery or compliance violate or result in the violation of
the Articles of Incorporation or By-Laws of such entity.

4.3 Accuracy of Information. All factual information furnished by such entity to Bank in writing
at any time pursuant to any requirement of, or furnished in response to any written request of Bank
under this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby has been, and all such factual
information hereafter furnished by such entity to Bank will be, to the best of such entity’s knowledge,
true and accurate in every respect material to the transactions contemplated hereby on the date as of
which such information was or will be stated or certified.

4.4 Validity of Charge Slips. (a) As of the date any Transaction Records are presented to Bank
in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, each Charge Slip relating to such Transaction
Records shall represent the obligation of a Cardholder in the respective amount set forth therein for
Goods sold or Services rendered, together with applicable taxes, if any, and shall not involve any
element of credit for any other purpose.

(b)As of the date any Transaction Records are presented to Bank in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement, such entity has no knowledge or notice of any fact or matter which would
immediately or ultimately impair the validity of any Charge Slip relating to such Transaction Records,
the transaction evidenced thereby, or whether it is able to be collected.

4.5 Compliance with Law. Any action or inaction taken by such entity (where such
entity has a duty to act) in connection with the Plan and the sales of Goods and/or Services and the
use and disclosure of Cardholder information by such entity shall be in compliance with all Applicable
Law.

4.6 VS’'s Name, Trademarks and Service Marks. VS has the legal right to use and
to permit the Bank to use, to the extent set forth herein, the Mark and Name Rights utilized by VS in
the conduct of its business.

4.7 Intellectual Property Rights. In the event VS provides any software or
hardware to Bank, VS has the legal right to such software or hardware and the right to permit Bank to
use such software or hardware, and such use shall not violate any intellectual property rights of any
third party. Any software or other technology developed by or for VS or its Affiliates, to facilitate the
Program, including but not limited to, software and software modifications developed in response to
Bank’s request or to accommodate Bank’s special requirements and all derivative works, regardless of
the developer thereof, will remain the exclusive property of VS and/or its Affiliates. Nothing in this
Agreement shall be deemed to convey a proprietary interest to Bank or any third party in any of the
software, hardware, technology or any of the derivative works thereof which are owned or licensed by
VS and/or its Affiliates.

SECTION 5. COVENANTS OF VS

VS hereby covenants and agrees as follows:
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5.1 Notices of Changes. VS will as soon as reasonably possible notify Bank of any: (a)
change in the name or form of business organization of any VS entity, change in the location of its
chief executive office or the location of the office where its records concerning the Plan are kept; (b)
merger or consolidation of any VS entity or the sale of a significant portion of its stock or of any
substantial amount of its assets not in the ordinary course of business or any Change of Control of any
VS entity; (c) material adverse change in its financial condition or operations or the commencement of
any litigation which would have a material adverse effect on any VS entity; or (d) the planned opening
or closing of any Store. VS will furnish such additional information with respect to any of the foregoing
as Bank may reasonably request for the purpose of evaluating the effect of such change on the
financial condition and operations of any VS entity and on the Plan.

5.2 Financial Statements. In the event L Brands ceases to be publicly traded company, VS

shall make available to Bank [****] the following information pertaining to each of the VS entities
[****].

5.3 Inspection. VS will permit, if Bank has reasonable cause to do so, authorized
representatives designated by Bank, at Bank’s expense, to visit and inspect, to the extent permitted by
Applicable Law, any of VS'’s books and records pertaining to Transaction Records and the Plan and to
make copies and take extracts there from, and to discuss the same with its officers and independent
public accountants, all at such reasonable times during normal business hours.

5.4 VS's Business. VS shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to
preserve and keep in full force and effect its corporate existence and to comply with all Applicable
Laws in connection with its business and the sale of Goods and/or Services.

5.5 Insurance. VS shall self-insure or at its option maintain insurance policies with insurers and
in such amounts and against such types of loss and damage as are customarily maintained by other
companies within VS’s industry engaged in similar businesses as VS.

SECTION 6. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BANK

Bank hereby represents and warrants to VS as follows:

6.1 Organization, Power and Qualification. Bank is a Delaware state bank duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the United States of America and has full
corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out the provisions of this
Agreement. Bank is duly qualified and in good standing to do business in all jurisdictions where such
gualification is necessary for Bank to carry out its obligations under this Agreement.

6.2 Authorization,_Validity and Non-Contravention. (a) This Agreement has been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate proceedings, has been duly executed and delivered by Bank
and is a valid and legally binding agreement of Bank duly enforceable in accordance with its terms
(except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium
and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and by general equity
principles).

(b)No consent, approval, authorization, order, registration or qualification of or with any court or
regulatory authority or other governmental body having jurisdiction over Bank is required for,
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and the absence of which would materially adversely affect, the legal and valid execution and delivery
of this Agreement, and the performance of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

(c)The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Bank hereunder and the compliance by
Bank with all provisions of this Agreement: (i) will not conflict with or violate any Applicable Law; (ii)
will not conflict with or result in a breach of the terms or provisions of any indenture, loan agreement or
other contract or agreement under which Bank is an obligor or by which its property is bound where
such conflict, breach or default would have a material adverse effect on Bank, nor will such execution,
delivery or compliance violate or result in the violation of the Charter or By-Laws of Bank or any
applicable law or statute or any order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency or body
having jurisdiction over the Bank.

6.3 Accuracy of Information. All factual information furnished by Bank to VS in writing at any
time pursuant to any requirement of, or furnished in response to any written request of VS under this
Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby has been, and all such factual information
hereafter furnished by Bank to VS will be to the best of Bank’s knowledge true and accurate in every
respect material to the transactions contemplated hereby on the date as of which such information has
or will be stated or certified.

6.4 Compliance with Law. Any action or inaction taken by Bank (where Bank has a
duty to act) in connection with the Plan shall be in compliance with all Applicable Law, including,
without limitation, all Consumer Laws.

6.5 Intellectual Property Rights. In the event Bank provides any software or hardware to VS,
Bank has the legal right to such software or hardware and the right to permit VS to use such software
or hardware, and such use shall not violate any intellectual property rights of any third party. Any
software or other technology developed by or for Bank or its Affiliates, to facilitate the Program,
including but not limited to, software and software modifications developed in response to VS'’s request
or to accommodate VS's special requirements and all derivative works, regardless of the developer
thereof, will remain the exclusive property of Bank and/or its Affiliates. Nothing in this Agreement shall
be deemed to convey a proprietary interest to VS or any third party in any of the software, hardware,
technology or any of the derivative works thereof which are owned or licensed by Bank and/or its
Affiliates.

SECTION 7. COVENANTS OF BANK

Bank hereby covenants and agrees as follows:

7.1 Notices of Changes. Bank will as soon as reasonably possible notify VS of any: (a)
change in the name or form of business organization of Bank, change in the location of its chief
executive office or the location of the office where its records concerning the Plan are kept; (b) merger
or consolidation of Bank or the sale of a significant portion of its stock or of any substantial amount of
its assets not in the ordinary course of business or any change in the control of Bank; or (c) material
adverse change in its financial condition or operations or the commencement of any litigation which
would have a material adverse effect on the Plan. Bank will furnish such additional information with
respect to any of the foregoing as VS may reasonably request for the purpose of evaluating the effect
of such transaction on the financial condition and operations of Bank and on the Plan.
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7.2 Einancial Statement. Bank shall furnish to VS upon request by VS and as soon as
available the following information pertaining to Bank: (a) a consolidated balance sheet as of the close
of each fiscal year; (b) a consolidated statement of income, retained earnings and paid-in capital to the
close of each fiscal year; (c) a consolidated statement of cash flow to the close of each such period,;
and (d) a copy of the opinion submitted by Bank’s independent certified public accountants in
connection with such of the financial statements as have been audited.

7.3 Inspection. (a) Bank will permit, [****] unless VS has reasonable cause to request more
frequent access, authorized representatives designated by VS, at VS’s expense, to visit and inspect, to
the extent permitted by Applicable Law, any of Bank’s books and records pertaining to the (i) Co-
Funded Marketing Fund contributions and Royalty Payments, all as set forth in Schedule 1.1, and (ii)
the Debt Cancellation Program and Enhancement Marketing Services net profit sharing as set forth in
Section 2.9 and to make copies and take extracts therefrom, and to discuss the same with its officers
and independent public accountants, all at such reasonable times during normal business hours.

(b)Bank shall permit VS, [****] unless VS has reasonable cause to request more frequent
access or as otherwise allowed in the Agreement, during normal business hours and upon reasonable
notice, and in a manner which does not disrupt the operations, to visit the offices at which services
relating to the Plan are provided, to review and monitor the activities of Bank and its subcontractors
with respect to the performance of services hereunder. Bank shall provide VS with a copy of any
annual Type Il SAS 70 technical audits performed on the servicing of the Accounts by its outside
auditors.

7.4 Bank’s Business. Bank shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and
keep in full force and effect its corporate existence and to comply with all Applicable Laws in
connection with its business and the issuance of credit by Bank.

7.5 Insurance. Bank shall maintain insurance policies with insurers and in such amounts and
against such types of loss and damage as are customarily maintained by other banks engaged in
similar businesses as Bank (but including, without limitation cyber coverage).

SECTION 8. INDEMNIFICATION; CLAIMS AND ACTIONS

8.1. Indemnification by VS. Each Participating Affiliate hereby jointly and severally agrees
to indemnify Bank, its Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees and agents of Bank or any
Affiliate of Bank (each, a “Related Party”) against, and agrees to hold them harmless from, (a) any and
all losses, claims, damages and liabilities (including, without limitation, the legal fees and other
expenses reasonably incurred in connection with any suit, action or proceeding or any claim asserted)
(“Damages”) incurred or suffered by any of them arising out of or in any way related to any
misrepresentation, breach of any warranty or nonperformance of any obligation made by such entity
under this Agreement, and (b) claims relating to any personal or bodily injury or property damage
alleged to be caused by the sale of Goods or rendering of Services by such Participating Affiliate, and
(c) () claims based upon a Participating Affiliate’s failure to perform its obligations under this
Agreement, or its or its Related Parties’ negligence or willful misconduct or failure to comply with any
Applicable Law, (ii) claims by employees or subcontractors of a Participating Affiliate arising from this
Agreement (other than claims based upon a Participating Affiliate’s or its Related Parties’ negligence
or willful misconduct), and (iii) third-party claims (including, without limitation, any demand, suit,
proceeding, subpoena, request for information, civil investigative proceeding or
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demand or civil proceeding from a private party, government agency or regulatory authority) that arise
from, or may be [****] to, Security Incidents caused by a Participating Affiliate’s breach of Section 10.17
of this Agreement.

8.2 Indemnification by Bank. Bank hereby indemnifies the Participating Affiliates and their
Related Parties against, and agrees to hold them harmless from, (a) any and all Damages incurred or
suffered by any of them arising out of or in any way related to any misrepresentation, breach of any
warranty, or nonperformance of any obligation made by Bank under this Agreement and (b) (i) claims
based upon Bank’s failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement, its or any of its Related
Parties’ negligence or willful misconduct or its failure to comply with any Applicable Law (including,
without limitation, any Consumer Law), (ii) claims by employees or subcontractors of Bank arising from
this Agreement (other than claims based upon a Participating Affiliate’s or any of its Related Parties’
negligence or willful misconduct), (iii) claims relating to acts or omissions of Bank and its agents in
connection with the collection of amounts owing from Cardholders, (iv) claims relating to the
submission by Bank or its agents of data concerning Cardholders to credit agencies, and the use and
disposal of data concerning Cardholders received by Bank from credit agencies), even if Bank has
been advised of the possibility of such claims, (v) third-party claims (including, without limitation, any
demand, suit, proceeding, subpoena, request for information, civil investigative proceeding or demand
or civil proceeding from a private party, government agency or regulatory authority) that arise from, or
may be in any way attributable to, Security Incidents caused by Bank’s breach of Section 10.17 of this
Agreement, and (vi) claims related to Bank’s failure to comply with Level A or Level AA Success
Criteria and Conformance Requirements of the WCAG 2.0.

8.3. Third Party Claims. (a) Bank shall not be liable to the Participating Affiliates for or in
connection with any claim made against a Participating Affiliate by any other Person relating in any
manner to this Agreement or to any services or any other transactions contemplated hereby (other
than (i) claims based upon Bank’s failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement, its or any of
its Related Parties’ negligence or willful misconduct or its failure to comply with any Applicable Law
(including, without limitation, any Consumer Law), (ii) claims by employees or subcontractors of Bank
arising from this Agreement (other than claims based upon a Participating Affiliate’s or any of its
Related Parties’ negligence or willful misconduct), (iii) claims relating to acts or omissions of Bank and
its agents in connection with the collection of amounts owing from Cardholders and (iv) claims relating
to the submission by Bank or its agents of data concerning Cardholders to credit agencies, and the
use and disposal of data concerning Applicants or Cardholders received by Bank from credit
agencies), even if Bank has been advised of the possibility of such claims. For the avoidance of
doubt, nothing in this Section 8.3 shall be construed to relieve the Bank of its obligations and
responsibilities set forth in Section 10.17 of this Agreement.

(b) A Participating Affiliate shall not be liable to Bank for or in connection with any claim
made against Bank by any other Person relating in any manner to this Agreement or to any services or
other transactions contemplated hereby (other than (i) claims based upon a Participating Affiliate’s
failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement, its or any of its Related Parties’ negligence or
willful misconduct or its failure to comply with any Applicable Law (including, without limitation, any
Consumer Law), (ii) claims by employees or subcontractors of a Participating Affiliate arising from this
Agreement and (iii) claims relating to Goods and/or Services, even if such Participating Affiliate has
been advised of the possibility of such claims. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Section 8.3
shall be construed to relieve a Participating Affiliate of its obligations and responsibilities set forth in
Section 10.17 of this Agreement.
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(c) Each party shall exert its good faith efforts to notify the other of any claims described in
clauses (i) through (iv) of subsections (a) and (b) above of which such party receives notice.

8.4. Dispute Resolution and Actions. The parties shall use their commercially reasonable
efforts to resolve informally any claim of either party under this Agreement. No action at law or in
equity may be instituted by any party with respect to any such claim unless such party has satisfied its
obligation under the first sentence of this Section 8.4.

8.5. Limitation on Actions. No action against either party, regardless of form, arising out of
or incidental to the matters contemplated by this Agreement, may be brought by the other party more
than four (4) years after the event giving rise to such cause of action occurred and is known or upon
the exercise of reasonable diligence should have been known to the injured party. For the avoidance
of doubt, this Section shall not apply to or limit any third party claims.

8.6. Reimbursement for Losses. If, as a result of any claim made by Bank against any third
party (including, but not limited to, an insurer), Bank actually receives from such third party cash
proceeds (or non-cash proceeds, whether in the form of goods or services) which represent, in whole
or in part, compensation for or reimbursement of losses or costs actually incurred by a Participating
Affiliate, then Bank will hold that portion of such proceeds fairly allocable to such Participating Affiliate
(taking into consideration all losses or costs actually incurred by all parties for whose benefit such
payments have been received) in trust on behalf of such Participating Affiliate and will promptly pay
over to such Participating Affiliate such allocable amount of any such cash proceeds (or, as to non-
cash proceeds, the allocable portion or, at the discretion of Bank, the cash equivalent thereof).

8.7. Survival. The provisions of this Section 8 shall survive the termination of this
Agreement.

SECTION 9. TERM AND TERMINATION

9.1 Term. This Agreement shall become effective as of the Effective Date when executed by
authorized officers of each of the parties and shall remain in effect until May 9, 2026 (the “Initial Term”)
and shall automatically renew for successive one-year terms (each a “Renewal Term”) thereafter
unless either party provides the other with at least [****] month’s written notice of its intention to
terminate the Agreement prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or then current Renewal Term, or
unless otherwise terminated as provided herein.

9.2 Termination with Cause by Bank; Bank Termination Events. Any of the
following conditions or events shall constitute a “Bank Termination Event” hereunder, and Bank may
terminate this Agreement immediately with notice, but without any further action if VS causes such
Bank Termination Event to occur and be continuing:

(a)If VS shall: (i) generally not pay its debts as they become due; (ii) file, or consent by answer
or otherwise to the filing against it, of a petition for relief, reorganization or arrangement or any other
petition in bankruptcy, for liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy or insolvency law of any
jurisdiction; (iii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (iv) consent to the appointment of a
custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers of itself or of any substantial part of its
property; (v) be adjudicated insolvent or be liquidated; (vi) take corporate action for the purpose of any
of the foregoing and such event shall materially adversely affect the ability of such entity to perform
under this Agreement or the Plan; (vii) receive an adverse opinion by its
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auditors or accountants as to its viability as a going concern; or (viii) have a materially adverse change
in its financial condition indicated by receiving a bond downgrade or being downgraded by a rating
agency to a rating below a [****] according to Standard & Poor’s index or an equivalent rating from a
comparable source.

(b)If a court or government authority of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order appointing,
without consent by such entity, a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with
respect to it or with respect to any substantial part of its property, or if an order for relief shall be
entered in any case or proceeding for liquidation or reorganization or otherwise to take advantage of
any bankruptcy or insolvency law of any jurisdiction, or ordering the dissolution, winding up or
liquidation of such entity, or if any petition for any such relief shall be filed against such entity and such
petition shall not be dismissed within [****] days; or

(c)If VS shall default in the performance of or compliance with any material term or violates in a
material manner any of the covenants, representations, warranties or agreements contained in this
Agreement (including, without limitation, any material breach by VS of Section 10.17 of this
Agreement) and VS shall not have remedied such default within [****] days after written notice thereof
shall have been received by VS from Bank.

9.3 Termination with Cause by VS; VS Termination Events. Any of the following conditions or
events shall constitute a “VS Termination Event” hereunder, and VS may terminate this Agreement
immediately with notice, but without any further action (unless provided otherwise) if Bank causes such
VS Termination Event to occur and be continuing:

(a) If Bank shall: (i) generally not be paying its debts as they become due; (ii) file or
consent by answer or otherwise to the filing against it, of a petition for relief, reorganization or
arrangement or any other petition in bankruptcy, for liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy
or insolvency law of any jurisdiction; (iii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (iv)
consent to the appointment of a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers for itself
or of any substantial part of its property; (v) be adjudicated insolvent or be liquidated; (vi) take
corporate action for the purpose of any of the foregoing and such event shall materially adversely
affect the ability of Bank to perform under this Agreement or the operation of the Plan; (vii) receive an
adverse opinion by its auditors or accountants as to its viability as a going concern; or (viii) have a
materially adverse change in its financial condition, including, but not limited to Bank being
downgraded by a rating agency to a rating below an investment grade rating; or

(b)If a court or government authority of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order appointing,
without consent by Bank, a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with respect
to it or with respect to any substantial part of its property, or if an order for relief shall be entered in any
case or proceeding for liquidation or reorganization or otherwise to take advantage of any bankruptcy
or insolvency law of any jurisdiction, or ordering the dissolution, winding up or liquidation of Bank, or if
any petition for any such relief shall be filed against Bank and such petition shall not be dismissed
within [****] days; or

(c)If Bank shall default in the performance of or compliance with any material term (other than
the Service Standards) or violates in a material manner any of the covenants, representations,
warranties or agreements contained in this Agreement (including, without limitation, any material
breach by Bank of Section 10.17 of this Agreement) and Bank shall not have remedied such default
within [****] days after written notice thereof shall have been received by Bank from VS; or
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(d)A Service Standard Termination Event as specified in Schedule 9.3 shall have occurred;
or

(e) If Bank terminates the operation of the Plan in one or more states or jurisdictions and the
gross dollar value of Purchases in the [****] consecutive month period following any such termination
would, as a result of such termination, reasonably be expected to decrease by more than [****] as
compared to the gross dollar value of Purchases in the [****] consecutive month period immediately
prior to such termination. If Bank, at different times, terminates the operation of the Plan in more than
one state or jurisdiction, then the amount of the decrease in the gross dollar value of Purchases
following each such termination shall be aggregated to determine whether the above threshold has
been met; or

(HIf Bank fails to pay VS any amounts due through Daily Settlement within [****] days of when
such payments are due; or

(9)If Bank falls below the minimum requirements to remain adequately capitalized, as
determined by Bank’s primary federal regulator, and Bank has not remedied such failure and notified
VS of such remedy within [****] days after the day that Bank first failed to satisfy such capital
requirement;

(h)If a Cardholder Satisfaction Survey Failure as specified in Section 9.7(b) shall have
occurred; or

(DIf a Total Sales Threshold Termination Event as specified in Schedule 9.3 shall have
occurred.

9.4 Termination of Particular State. In addition, Bank may terminate the operation of the Plan
in a particular state if the Applicable Law of the state or jurisdiction is amended or interpreted in such a
manner so as to render all or any part of the Plan illegal or unenforceable, and in such event Bank will,
if requested, assist VS with finding a new credit provider for such state. Bank will provide VS with as
much advance notice of such termination as is reasonable under the circumstances.

9.5 Purchase of Accounts. Upon termination of this Agreement, VS or its Nominated
Purchaser will have the option to purchase the Accounts and then-outstanding Account balances
related thereto except for those Accounts previously written-off by Bank and those in litigation (in
accordance with the write-off policy then applicable to the Plan and subject to the terms of any
securitization of such Account balances) without recourse to Bank, and will be provided with the
Master File Information set forth in Schedule 2.8 and such other information as mutually agreed by the
parties. All securitized receivables will be transferred back to Bank prior to the purchase. The purchase
price for the Accounts shall be [****]. If accounts are purchased more than [****] days after termination,
fair market value shall be determined by assuming a viable, ongoing program with VS in the
valuation. If the parties are unable to mutually agree to the fair market value of the receivables within
[****] days of a requested valuation, the Business Review Committee shall select a neutral party to
determine the fair market value. The cost for such neutral appraisal shall be incurred equally by the
parties. If the Business Review Committee cannot together agree on the neutral party to determine the
fair market value, then each party shall select, retain, and pay the full cost of its own such recognized,
experienced professional, and those two professionals shall together select a
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professional appraiser (entity or individual) with recognized standing and experience in valuing retalil
credit card portfolios (the “Appraiser”). Each of Bank and VS (and/or its designee) shall provide such
information to the Appraiser as is necessary to permit the Appraiser to provide a valuation as of a
common date, which shall be within a reasonable time of the date the Appraiser was retained. The
Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize transaction costs and Bank shall provide
VS and the Nominated Purchaser and their respective representatives reasonable access to the
records and accounts for the purpose of conducting due diligence investigations to determine whether
they wish to purchase the Accounts and Account balances and shall provide as soon as reasonably
practicable (but in no event more than [****] days following a request therefore from VS or its
Nominated Purchaser) a master file of the Accounts (which shall include data for at least the [****]
month period preceding the month in which the master file is requested and shall be updated upon
request of VS); provided, however, that Bank shall be entitled to require any Nominated Purchaser to
enter into customary confidentiality arrangements before providing it with such access. Beginning
[****] months prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term, Bank will, upon VS’s
request, but no more than once per quarter, provide VS with Bank’s standard master file of monthly
Plan data and Bank shall provide VS, within [****] weeks after such request, the Plan metrics set forth
in Schedule 9.5, RFP Plan Metrics, in order to permit potential third party purchasers (who have
executed a non-disclosure agreement containing terms and conditions customary in the industry) to
value a portfolio in the marketplace. The Parties shall promptly negotiate in good faith and execute a
purchase agreement for the Accounts and Account balances to be repurchased. The Parties shall not
unreasonably withhold or delay execution of such purchase agreement or any other documents
necessary to effectuate such sale. The Parties shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that the closing
for the repurchase of the Accounts and Account balances occurs as promptly as reasonably
practicable following the execution of such purchase agreement. All payments by VS or its Nominated
Purchaser pursuant to this Section 9.5 shall be made on the date of the completion of the purchase
transaction. If VS exercises its option to purchase the Accounts, or have the Accounts purchased by a
Nominated Purchaser: (a) Bank will provide reasonable cooperation as is typical within the credit card
industry regarding the transfer of the Accounts to a new processor including, without limitation,
provision of a Cardholder master file updated on a quarterly basis; (b) Bank will upon termination of
this Agreement destroy any Customer lists provided to it by VS; (c) Bank shall subject to the terms of
mutually agreeable Purchase Agreement between Bank and the new processor agree to transfer its
rights in the eligible Accounts upon the closing thereof; and (d) after termination of this Agreement,
consummation of the Purchase and conversion of the purchased Accounts to the new provider, Bank
shall not thereafter solicit any of the Cardholders (except for any Accounts not included by Bank in the
sale), based on such Cardholder’s status as a Plan Cardholder, with respect to any loan, product or
service. Upon any termination of this Agreement, (i) VS (at its sole expense) shall notify all
Cardholders that Bank is no longer the processor of their Credit Card accounts, and (ii) VS and Bank
shall cooperate in facilitating the transition to a new processor. In the event at the time of termination of
this Agreement VS has an existing co-brand credit program with another provider or if at any time
within [****] months after termination of this Agreement VS elects to enter into a private label or co-
brand credit program with another provider or starts such program for itself, then VS or its Nominated
Purchaser shall be obligated to purchase the Accounts and receivables related thereto as set forth
above. Bank shall provide reasonable assistance in connection with the conversion of the Accounts
and Account balances to the systems of VS or the Nominated Purchaser, including provision of
termination assistance services in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, as specified in
Section 9.8, until such conversion occurs. If VS elects not to purchase the Accounts, or have the
Accounts purchased by a Nominated Purchaser, then upon termination of this Agreement (A) Bank
shall remain the owner of the Accounts and receivables, (B) Bank shall destroy all Customer lists
provided to it by VS, and (C) VS shall have the right to retain
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the Cardholder list as a part of VS’s customer database with no restrictions as to its use other than
those that may be imposed by Applicable Law. Notwithstanding Bank’s ownership of the Accounts and
receivables, Bank agrees that Bank will not sell the Accounts and associated receivables to, or
rebrand the Accounts for the benefit of, any specialty retailer that competes with VS in the marketplace
including, without limitation, [****] including all divisions, subsidiaries and brands of any of the
foregoing.

9.6 Remedies for Failure to Meet Service Standards. (a) Each time a Service Event occurs,
Bank shall: (i) promptly investigate the root cause(s) of the failure and deliver to VS a written report
identifying such root cause(s); (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to correct the problem and to
begin meeting such Service Standard as soon as practicable; (iii) provide to VS a schedule and plan
for correction of the root cause(s) of the Service Events, and (iv) at VS’s request, advise VS of the
status of such corrective efforts.

(b)In the event more than [****] Service Events occur during any calendar month, Bank will, in
addition to those steps set forth in Section 9.6(a), arrange for a senior executive of Bank to meet with a
senior executive of VS to discuss the items delivered under Section 9.6(a).

(c)See Schedules 1.2 and 9.3.

9.7 Remedies for Poor Cardholder Satisfaction Survey Results. (a) Bank shall perform
and fund a Cardholder Satisfaction Survey at least quarterly, the results of which shall be delivered to
VS within [****] days after the end of the quarter. If any Cardholder Satisfaction Survey indicates a
“Satisfaction Rating” (as defined below) that is less than [****] or if the Satisfaction Rating deteriorates
by more than [****] from one Cardholder Satisfaction Survey to the next, then, within [****] days of VS’s
request, the Program Strategy Committee will discuss the potential cause for the Satisfaction Rating
decrease, including the incoming call mix. In addition, the Program Strategy Committee may discuss
an action plan that can be executed within [****] days and at VS's request, the frequency of the
Cardholder Satisfaction Surveys shall increase to monthly until such time as the Satisfaction Rating
increases to [****].

(b) In the event that the Satisfaction Rating is less than [****] for each of [****] consecutive
months, and such Satisfaction Rating is not the result of VS’s actions or omissions, or a change in the
incoming call mix, then VS may terminate this Agreement by providing Bank with written notice of
termination upon VS’s receipt of the report indicating Bank’s [****] consecutive month of failing to
achieve at least a [****] Satisfaction Rating (such event being a “Cardholder Satisfaction Survey
Failure”).

(c) The “Satisfaction Rating” for the Cardholder Satisfaction Survey shall be measured by
Bank using scores achieved from the overall Cardholder satisfaction category and aggregating the
scores from the top [****] highest available ratings on the ratings response scale. The ratings
response scale shall contain [****] possible response selections.

(d) Within [****] days after the Execution Date, the parties will work together in good faith
through Business Review Committee to mutually agree, on or before January 31, 2019, upon new
survey criteria method and corresponding Satisfaction Ratings as set forth in paragraphs (a) through
(c), above, that more appropriately reflect the current incoming call mix. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
paragraphs (a) through (c) shall apply until such time as the parties agree to new survey criteria.
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9.8 Term Extension. Upon VS's request, Bank agrees that the Term of this Agreement will
be extended for a period of up to [****] months beyond any scheduled expiration or termination date in
order to accommodate a sale and conversion of the Plan portfolio; provided, however, that, during any
such extension period, neither party shall pay to the other the Program Economics. The parties shall
enter into a written agreement confirming the extension and setting forth the termination date.

9.9 Effects of Termination. Except with regard to services to be provided as Termination
Assistance as set forth in Section 9.10, upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, unless
the Bank and VS otherwise mutually agree, the Plan shall cease. Consistent with the Termination
Assistance Services described in Section 9.10, the Bank and VS shall cooperate to ensure the orderly
wind-down or transfer of the Plan.

9.10 Termination Assistance. (a) Upon notice of termination of the Agreement, Bank shall
provide at its expense Termination Assistance Services for [****] months in order to provide VS with an
orderly transition to a new provider or to an in-house platform. “Termination Assistance Services” shall
include reasonable and customary items performed by a card issuing partner and its service providers
as outlined in Schedule 9.10.

(b) Additionally, if a new processor desires to purchase the Plan portfolio from Bank at the
end of the Term and requests Bank to provide interim servicing prior to conversion to such processor’s
platform, Bank agrees to negotiate in good faith with such provider for an interim servicing agreement
for a period not to exceed [****] months upon terms, conditions and fees which are customary within
the credit card industry for such interim servicing on a cost plus basis, including provision of the
Termination Assistance Services outlined in paragraph A of Schedule 9.10.

SECTION 10. MISCELLANEOUS

10.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement and supersedes
all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, among the parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof and merges all prior discussions between them, including without
limitation the Prior Agreement.

10.2 Coordination of Public Statements. Except as required by Applicable Law, neither party
will make any public announcement of the Plan or provide any information concerning the Plan to any
representative of any news, trade or other media without the prior approval of the other party, which
approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Neither party will respond to any inquiry from any public or
governmental authority, except as required by law, concerning the Plan without prior consultation and
coordination with the other party. Upon Bank’s reasonable request from time to time, VS in its sole
discretion may provide references or participate in marketing campaigns or testimonial initiatives for
Bank regarding the services provided by Bank in connection with the Plan.

10.3 Amendment. Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, the provisions herein
may be modified only upon the mutual agreement of the parties, however, no such modification shall
be effective until reduced to writing and executed by both parties.

10.4 Successors and Assigns. (a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and

inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns; provided that no party
may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement
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without the consent of the other party which will not be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, (i) Bank may from time to time assign any or all of its rights and obligations hereunder to
any Affiliate of Bank, provided that any such assignee of Bank’s obligations hereunder shall have the
capability to perform such obligations without impairing the quality of the services provided to VS, (ii)
Bank may from time to time sell accounts receivable for securitization, retaining its processing and
servicing obligations with respect thereto (it being understood that (A) the purchaser of such accounts
receivable shall have no recourse against VS for any reason whatsoever, and (B) notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Bank hereby indemnifies VS and its Affiliates against, and
agrees to hold them harmless from, any and all Damages incurred or suffered by any of them in
connection with any claims made by such purchaser), (iii) Victoria’'s Secret, Direct and Puerto Rico,
shall each assign or otherwise transfer all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (A) to the
purchaser of all or substantially all of its assets, or (B) to any corporation which is its successor
(whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) thereto.

(b) In lieu of the requirements of Section 10.4(a)(iii), in the event of a change in ownership
interests or a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of one of either Victoria’'s Secret, Direct or
Puerto Rico (“Purchased Affiliate”) to an un-Affiliated party (“Unaffiliated Purchaser”), then upon mutual
agreement by Bank and the unsold/non-transferred VS entity (“Remaining Affiliate”), VS shall require
that the un-Affiliated Purchaser either (A) enter into this Agreement with Bank by assignment or other
written agreement, or (B) enter into a new private label credit card program agreement with Bank
governing the continuation of the Plan for the remainder of the then current term for the Purchased
Affiliate on substantially the same terms and conditions as set forth in this Agreement. In the event of
an assignment to an Un-Affiliated entity or an Un-Affiliated entity entering into a new private label credit
card agreement pursuant to 10.4(a)(iii) and this 10.4(b), VS and Bank shall negotiate, in good faith, in
order to mutually agree to equitably adjust the Program Economics in Schedule 1.1.

10.5 Waiver. No waiver of the provisions hereto shall be effective unless in writing and signed
by the party to be charged with such waiver. No waiver shall be deemed to be a continuing waiver in
respect of any subsequent breach or default either of similar or different nature unless expressly so
stated in writing. No failure or delay on the part of either party in exercising any power or right under
this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver, nor does any single or partial exercise of any power or
right preclude any other or further exercise, or the exercise of any other power or right.

10.6 Severability. If any of the provisions or parts of the Agreement are determined to be
illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable statute or rule of law, such
provisions or parts shall be deemed omitted without affecting any other provisions or parts of the
Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, unless the declaration of the illegality, invalidity
or unenforceability of such provision or provisions substantially frustrates the continued performance
by, or entittement to benefits of, either party, in which case this Agreement may be terminated by the
affected party, without penalty.

10.7 Notices. All communications and notices pursuant hereto to either party shall be in writing
and addressed or delivered to it at its address shown below, or at such other address as may be
designated by it by notice to the other party, and shall be deemed given when delivered by hand, or
two (2) Business Days after being mailed (with postage prepaid) or when received by receipted courier
service:
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If to Bank: If to VS:

Comenity Bank L Brands, Inc.

One Righter Parkway, Suite 100 Three Limited Parkway

Wilmington, DE 19803 Columbus, OH 43230

Attn.: President Attn.: Vice President and Treasurer
With a Copy to: With a Copy to:

Law Department Senior Vice President and
Comenity LLC General Counsel

3075 Loyalty Circle L Brands, Inc.

Columbus, OH 43219 Three Limited Parkway

Columbus, OH 43230

10.8 Captions and Cross-References. The table of contents and various captions in this
Agreement are included for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of any
provision of this Agreement. References in this Agreement to any Section are to such Section of this
Agreement.

10.9 GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE A CONTRACT MADE UNDER
AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL, SUBSTANTIVE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE,
REGARDLESS OF THE DICTATES OF THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE
OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION, AND THE PARTIES HEREBY SUBMIT TO THE EXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION AND VENUE IN THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT OF
DELAWARE OR ANY OF THE STATE COURTS LOCATED IN NEW CASTLE COUNTY, DELAWARE.

10.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in one or more counterparts, all of which
shall be taken together as one agreement.

10.11 Force Majeure. (a) No party shall be liable for any default or delay in the
performance of its obligations under this Agreement if and to the extent the default or delay is caused,
directly or indirectly, by a Force Majeure Event; provided, however, that the non-performing party is
without fault or negligence and the default or delay could not have been prevented by commercially
reasonable precautions.

(b) A non-performing party shall be obligated to promptly notify the other party of its
inability to perform and to use commercially reasonable efforts to continue to perform and to mitigate
the impact of its non-performance notwithstanding the Force Majeure Events.

(c) The following shall not be considered a Force Majeure Event: (a) the failures of
independent third party service providers in performing the services unless such failures are
attributable to a Force Majeure Event; (b) strikes or labor shortages, where such labor actions are
taken against a party, its Affiliates or its Affiliates’ subcontractors, (c) the failure to perform by an
Affiliate of a party or any third party service provider, agent or subcontractor of such party unless such
failure is attributable to a Force Majeure Event.

10.12 Background Checks. Bank warrants that it shall conduct, in compliance with all
Applicable Laws and local country customs, a criminal background check on each individual assigned
to support the Plan, which criminal background check shall include an investigation with
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respect to each such individual in (i) the country in which such individual is a permanent resident,
(i) the country which is the primary work location for such individual, if different than the country of
permanent residence and (iii) in the event such individual has been assigned a U.S. Social Security
number, the United States. Bank shall not assign an individual to support the Plan whose background
check is not consistent with the information provided by such individual (other than immaterial de
minimus discrepancies) or reveals a criminal background.

10.13 Survival. No termination of this Agreement shall in any way affect or impair the powers,
obligations, duties, rights, indemnities, liabilities, covenants or warranties and/or representations of the
parties with respect to times and/or events occurring prior to such termination. No powers, obligations,
duties, rights, indemnities, liabilities, covenants or warranties and/or representations of the parties with
respect to times and/or events occurring after termination shall survive termination except for the
following Sections: Section 2.3(d)(iii), Section 2.10, Section 3.3, Section 3.5, Section 3.6, Section 3.8,
Section 3.9, Section 3.10, Section 8, Section 9.5, Section 9.9, Section 9.10, Section 10.7, Section
10.9, Section 10.11, Section 10.13, Section 10.17, Section 10.18, and Section 10.19.

10.14 Mutual Drafting. This Agreement is the joint product of Bank and VS and each provision
hereof has been subject to mutual consultation, negotiation and agreement of Bank and VS; therefore
to the extent any language in this Agreement is determined to be ambiguous, it shall not be construed
for or against any party based on the fact that either party controlled the drafting of the
document.

10.15 Independent Contractor. The parties hereby declare and agree that Bank is engaged in
an independent business, and shall perform its obligations under this Agreement as an independent
contractor; that any of Bank’s personnel performing the services hereunder are agents, employees,
Affiliates, or subcontractors of Bank and are not agents, employees, Affiliates, or subcontractors of VS;
that Bank has and hereby retains the right to exercise full control of and supervision over the
performance of Bank’s obligations hereunder and full control over the employment, direction,
compensation and discharge of any and all of the Bank’s agents, employees, Affiliates, or
subcontractors, including compliance with workers’ compensation, unemployment, disability insurance,
social security, withholding and all other federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations governing
such matters; that Bank shall be responsible for Bank's own acts and those of Bank's agents,
employees, Affiliates, and subcontractors; and that except as expressly set forth in this Agreement,
Bank does not undertake by this Agreement or otherwise to perform any obligation of VS, whether
regulatory or contractual, or to assume any responsibility for VS’s business or operations.

10.16 No Third Party Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Agreement are for the benefit of the
parties hereto and not for any other person or entity.

10.17  Confidentiality. (a) Except as specifically provided in this Section 10.17 and Section
2.8, neither party shall disclose any Consumer Personal Information or Confidential Information
(defined below) not of a public nature concerning the business or properties of the other party which it
learns as a result of negotiating or implementing this Agreement. “Confidential Information” shall mean
information not of a public nature concerning the business or properties of the other party, including,
without limitation, the terms and conditions of this Agreement, sales volumes, test results, and results
of marketing programs, Plan reports generated by Bank, trade secrets, business and financial
information, source codes, business methods, procedures, know-how, computer software
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and computer systems (including software licensed from third parties) and other information of every
kind that relates to the business of either party. However, subject to Section 2.8, this Section 10.17
shall not restrict a party with respect to use or disclosure of Confidential Information which such party
owns, as allowed by Applicable Law. The parties may also disclose Confidential Information or
Consumer Personal Information to the extent disclosure is required by Applicable Law, is necessary for
the performance of the disclosing party’s obligations under this Agreement and is in compliance with
the provisions of this Agreement, or is agreed to in writing by the other party; provided that: (i) prior to
disclosing any other party’s Confidential Information or Consumer Personal Information to a third party,
the party making the disclosure shall give notice to the owner of such information of the nature of such
disclosure and of the fact that such disclosure will be made; and (ii) prior to filing a copy of this
Agreement with any governmental authority or agency, the filing party will consult with the other party
with respect to such filing and shall redact such portions of this Agreement which the other party
requests be redacted, unless, in the filing party’s reasonable judgment based on the advice of its
counsel (which advice shall have been discussed with counsel of the other party), the filing party
concludes that such request is inconsistent with the filing party’s obligations under Applicable
Law. Neither party shall acquire any property or other right, claim or interest, including any patent right
or copyright interest, in any of the systems, procedures, processes, equipment, computer programs
and/or information of the other by virtue of this Agreement. Neither party shall use the other party’s
name for advertising or promotional purposes without such other party’s written consent.

(b) Except for Consumer Personal Information, the obligations of this Section shall not
apply to any Confidential Information:

® which is generally known to the trade or to the public at the time of such
disclosure; or

(i) which becomes generally known to the trade or the public subsequent to
the time of such disclosure; provided, however, that such general knowledge is not the result of a
disclosure in violation of this Section.

(c) The obligations of this Section shall not apply to any Confidential Information or
Consumer Personal Information:

0] which is obtained by a party from a source other than the other party,
without breach of this Agreement or any other obligation of confidentiality or secrecy owed to such
other party or any other person or organization; or

(i) which is independently conceived and developed by the disclosing party
and proven by the disclosing party through tangible evidence not to have been developed as a result
of a disclosure of information to the disclosing party, or any other person or organization which has
entered into a confidential arrangement with the non-disclosing party.

(d) If any disclosure of Confidential Information is made pursuant to the provisions of this
Section, Section 2.8 or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement, to any Affiliate or third party, the
disclosing party shall ensure that such disclosure complies with Applicable Law, keeps all such
information in confidence and that any Affiliate and third party executes a confidentiality agreement
provided by the non-disclosing party which complies with the terms of this Agreement. Whenever any
Confidential information or Consumer Personal Information is disclosed as permitted by this
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Agreement to a party and any of its Affiliates, vendors and third parties, the receiving party shall
ensure that it and its Affiliates, vendors and third parties have in place training and procedures
designed to assure that each of its employees who is given access to the other party’s Confidential
Information and Consumer Personal Information shall protect the privacy of such information and shall
use it in compliance with the receiving party’s Security Guidelines (as defined in 10.17(f)), Applicable
Law and the terms of this Agreement. Each party acknowledges that any breach of the confidentiality
provisions of this Agreement by it will result in irreparable damage to the other party and therefore in
addition to any other remedy that may be afforded by law any breach or threatened breach of the
confidentiality provisions of this Agreement may be prohibited by restraining order, injunction or other
equitable remedies of any court. The provisions of this Section will survive termination or expiration of
this Agreement.

(e) If Bank individuals connect directly to VS hosted systems or networks then Bank
agrees as follows: (i) Bank individuals will comply with VS’s Information Security Policy, which shall be
provided to the Bank so it can ensure the Bank individuals have reviewed the Information Security
Policy; (ii) Bank management will notify VS within twenty-four hours when any Bank individual with
access terminates employment or no longer requires access to perform obligations under VS
Agreements, (iii) each Bank individual with access to VS hosted systems or networks shall have
separate log in and passwords so each Bank individual's system access can be traceable to unique
individuals.

With respect to all employees, agents or subcontractors of Bank who at any time have access rights to
Consumer Personal Information, Bank agrees as follows: (i) to require management approval of any
system access to Consumer Personal Information prior to access being granted; (ii) to require
management to advise individuals of the confidential and sensitive nature of such information prior to
access; (iii) to validate, at least quarterly, that individuals with access to Consumer Personal
Information still require access; (iv) to require that each individual have separate log-in and password
information and to log access and processes performed by each individual while accessing VS
information and (v) perform background checks on individuals prior to granting access. Without
limiting any other provision contained in this Agreement, each party is fully responsible for any
Processing of Customer Information in its respective possession, custody or control, and will employ
administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that prevent Processing of Customer Information
other than as expressly authorized by this Agreement.

If, upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, VS or its designee does not purchase the
Accounts from Bank pursuant to this Agreement, VS shall take appropriate measures to destroy or
remove from its systems Bank’s Confidential Information, Bank’s Customer Information, and Consumer
Personal Information. This includes but is not limited to any and all records regarding Cardholders,
whether in paper, electronic, or other form, that is maintained or otherwise possessed by or on behalf
of VS, including a compilation of such records. To be clear, the VS destruction and removal obligation
does not cover VS Customer Information or Common Information. If VS or its designee purchases the
Accounts at such time, VS’s obligation to remove or destroy information shall apply only to any of
Bank’s Confidential Information that is not comprised of Bank's Customer Information or Consumer
Personal Information. VS will obtain a letter from any subcontractors who have retained Bank
Cardholder information, Consumer Personal Information or Confidential Information that such
information has been securely destroyed.

Except as explicitly authorized by this Agreement, Bank agrees to return or, at VS'’s election, destroy
(and certify in writing such destruction) all VS Customer Information and VS'’s Confidential
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Information upon the termination or expiration of this Agreement, or earlier if requested to do so in
writing by VS.

Other than for the creation of secure and encrypted system back-ups, Cardholder, Customer and
Consumer Personal information shall not be copied, stored or transmitted to portable storage devices
(e.g. laptop, CD-ROMSs, DVD, portable hard drives, smart phones, flash drives, USB storage).

)] Each party (the “Compromised Party”) agrees to notify the other party (the “Non-
Compromised Party”) promptly under the circumstances, however no later than the first of (i) as
required by Applicable Law; or (ii) within eight (8) hours after, discovering any: (1) unauthorized
compromise to or breach of system security or other circumstance that compromises, or could
reasonably be expected to compromise, the confidentiality, integrity or availability of Consumer
Personal Information in the possession, custody or control of the Compromised Party; or (2) loss or
unauthorized, accidental or unlawful destruction, alteration, acquisition or disclosure of or access to (a)
Consumer Personal Information in the possession, custody or control of the Compromised Party, or (b)
the Non-Compromised Party’s Confidential Information (collectively, “Security Incident”).

With respect to VS, this notification shall be directed to the L Brands, Inc. Technology Assistance
Center via telephone at [****], with respect to Bank it shall be made to the Program Manager, and any
notice will state in reasonable detail as then available the Security Incident’'s effect on the Non-
Compromised Party, if known, the nature of the Security Incident (including, if known, the categories
and approximate number of individuals and Consumer Personal Information or Confidential
Information records affected, the likely consequences of the Security Incident), and the corrective
actions taken or to be taken by the Compromised Party. The Compromised Party must take all actions
reasonable under the circumstances as necessary to immediately prevent and/or mitigate continued
risk exposure to the information. The parties further agree that in the event of a Security Incident, they
will reasonably discuss the Security Incident with each other and will work in good faith and cooperate
with each other in investigating and remediating the Security Incident and complying with Applicable
Laws.

In the event of a Security Incident involving Consumer Personal Information in the possession, custody
or control of the Compromised Party, the Compromised Party shall promptly take all necessary and
advisable corrective actions, and shall cooperate fully with the Non-Compromised Party in all
reasonable and lawful efforts to investigate, prevent, mitigate or rectify such Security Incident and
provide notification to affected individuals and relevant regulators. For an avoidance of doubt, Bank
shall be deemed the Compromised Party with respect to any compromise to the security of any
software, hardware, or other technology developed, provided, or delivered by Bank for or on behalf of
VS. The Compromised Party agrees to (i) promptly investigate such Security Incident, including but
not limited to conducting a root cause analysis; (i) provide the Non-Compromised Party with the
factual findings of the investigation during the course of the investigation; (iii) respond to any dispute,
inquiry or claim that concerns the Security Incident, including with respect to inquiries by law
enforcement or regulatory officials, consumer reporting agencies or credit card associations; (iv)
promptly remediate the effects of such Security Incident and take actions reasonable under the
circumstances necessary to immediately prevent continued risk exposure to Consumer Personal
Information; and (e) cooperate with the Non-Compromised Party in the preparation of any consumer
notifications. The Compromised Party will use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve applicable
evidence relating to the Security Incident until the Non-Compromised Party has completed a forensic
investigation or confirmed that it waives its right to conduct such an investigation.
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The Compromised Party shall be responsible for providing notification to Cardholders and Applicants
pursuant to Applicable Laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Non-Compromised Party shall have
the right to discuss the decision as to whether or not notification is required by Applicable Law and/or
advisable under the circumstances, and to consult with the timing and drafting of any such notice. The
Compromised Party shall notify relevant government authorities and affected individuals about the
Security Incident (1) in accordance with Applicable Laws and (2) taking into consideration the advice
and recommendation of the Non-Compromised Party, as well as any potential reputational
considerations for such Non-Compromised Party. Accordingly, the Non-Compromised Party shall have
the right to review and consult on the content of any filings, communications, notices, press releases or
reports related to any Security Incident prior to any publication or communication thereof. In the event
of a disagreement between the parties as to the handling of any Security Incident, the parties shall
escalate to their respective executive management teams within [****] Business Days after the
impasse occurs or a shorter time period to the extent required by Applicable Law. If the executive
management teams do not come to agreement within [****] additional Business Days or less to the
extent required by Applicable Law, the Compromised Party shall have the final approval rights over
such issue.

The Compromised Party shall be responsible for external costs associated with the Compromised
Party’s investigation and remediation of the Security Incident, including but not limited to the
Compromised Party’s: (i) preparation and mailing or other transmission of notifications or other
communications to Customers, Applicants, Cardholders, employees, or others; (ii) establishment of a
call center; (iii) establishment of communications procedures in response to such Security Incident
(e.g., customer service FAQs, talking points and training); (iv) procurement of public relations and
other similar crisis management services; (v) procurement of legal, consulting, and accounting
services associated with the investigation of and response to such event; and (vi) procurement of
commercially reasonable credit monitoring and identity protection services or similar services that are
associated with legally required notifications or are advisable under the circumstances.

(9) Upon reasonable request from the other party, such party’s information security
officer shall meet to discuss and review with the requesting party information related to such party’s
information security program pertaining to the protection of the requesting party’s Confidential
Information and Consumer Personal Information. Bank agrees to meet annually with VS’s security
officer, or more often with reasonable cause for (i) a physical site assessment; (ii) discussion of an
overview of Bank’s annual independent security testing (e.g., vulnerability scans, network, and
application or operating system security testing); (iii) discussion of system architecture and Bank’s
procedures documentation with Bank information technology and security personnel, including without
limitation, the specific procedures for access controls; and (iv) completion of information security-
related questionnaires, provided that neither party shall be required to disclose any information which
would compromise such party’s security program. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained
in the Agreement, Bank shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to such security testing. Further,
Bank agrees that on no less than an annual basis, it shall have technical security testing performed by
a qualified and independent third party and share and discuss the results of such testing with VS’s
information security team. Bank will promptly develop and implement at its sole expense a corrective
action plan in cooperation with VS, and this plan shall be subject to VS’s approval in its reasonable
discretion, if: (1) any such assessment or review shows that Bank has materially failed to perform any
of its obligations under this section of the Agreement, and (2) VS notifies Bank in writing of Bank'’s
breach of this Section 10.17. These information security audit rights supplement VS’s other audit
rights in this Agreement.
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Upon VS's written request, if available, Bank shall provide a copy of its most recent SOC 1, Type 2,
audit reports in accordance with the Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) No. 18 (or any
successor standard) (collectively, “SSAE-18 Reports”) expressing an opinion on Bank’s controls that
had been placed in operation during the twelve (12) months covered by the report. Additionally, should
any of VS’s Information be retained or transmitted through a subcontractor’s systems/networks, Bank
shall upon request from VS, request that such subcontractor provide a copy of its SSAE-18 Reports to
VS. To the extent any such material weakness is found in the SSAE-18 Reports which could have a
material impact on the Plan and/or Bank, Bank will take appropriate action, prompt under the
circumstances, to remedy any such weakness at its cost and expense.

(h) (i) With regard to Consumer Personal Information, Bank shall utilize standards
substantially similar to, but at least as protective as, PClI DSS with regard to Processing such
Consumer Personal Information.

(i) In the event of a Co-Brand Pilot and/or the full launch of a Co-Brand credit card
program, with regard to such Co-Brand pilot or program only, Bank shall comply with the Payment
Card Industry Data Security Standards (“PCI DSS”) and (i) demonstrate to VS that it (and all relevant
service providers) is certified as compliant with a currently then valid version of PCl DSS, as
established and published by the PCI Security Standards Council; and (ii) provide a certified
assessor’s PCI DSS report on compliance or a completed PCI DSS self-assessment questionnaire of
aforementioned compliance on an annual basis or upon request; (iii) provide VS a detailed overview of
the results of penetration tests and vulnerability scans required pursuant to PCl DSS sufficient to
demonstrate compliance with PCI DSS, and (iv) assume responsibility for security of the Cardholder
data that Bank possesses. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Bank shall be
responsible for all fines, fees, assessments and liabilities imposed by a payment card association in
connection with the security or handling of Cardholders’ Consumer Personal Information in the
possession, custody or control of Bank or for which Bank is otherwise responsible.

0] Each party shall establish and implement commercially reasonable controls, including
without limitation written information security guidelines (“Security Guidelines”), to ensure the
confidentiality of Consumer Personal Information and Confidential Information and to ensure that such
information is not disclosed contrary to the provisions of this Agreement, or any applicable privacy,
security or other laws, rules and regulations. Without limiting the foregoing, the Security Guidelines
shall address: (i) security and confidentiality of Consumer Personal Information and Confidential
Information, including without limitation appropriate limitations on access to only individuals with a
need for access to perform obligations under this Agreement, (ii) protection against any threats or
hazards to the security and integrity of Consumer Personal Information and Confidential Information,
(iii) protection against any unauthorized access to or use of Consumer Personal Information and
Confidential Information, (iv) proper disposal of the Consumer Personal Information and Confidential
Information as required under Applicable Law, and (v) incident response. The parties agree to
reasonably discuss with each other upon request each parties’ Security Guidelines, which discussions
may include without limitation, the procedures in place to address the following (i) physical,
administrative and technological controls, (ii) security training and oversight (iii) written plans to assess
and manage system failures and change controls, (iv) regular assessments of security risks and
measures to prevent and detect unauthorized access (v) collection, maintenance, transmittal and
disposal of the other party’s information; and (vi) notice and incident response procedures. The parties
agree to perform background checks on their employees (and to require the same from any permitted
vendors) prior to granting access to Consumer Personal Information. Each party will ensure that all (i)
Account numbers stored, transmitted or otherwise
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processed on its systems are secured by industry-standard encryption or tokenization when such party
transmits the Account numbers and (ii) Consumer Personal Information stored, transmitted or
otherwise processed on its systems are secured by industry-standard encryption or tokenization as
required by applicable Consumer Laws.

10.18 Taxes. (a) General. VS will be responsible for, and agrees to pay, all sales,
use, excise, and value-added taxes, or taxes of a similar nature (excluding personal property taxes
and taxes based on Bank’s income which shall be borne by Bank), imposed by the United States, any
state or local government, or other taxing authority, on all goods and/or services provided to VS by
Bank under this Agreement. Provided, however, that ifiwhen Bank seeks payment from VS with
respect to any such taxes, Bank shall deliver a written invoice (or other comparable form of written
documentation requesting payment and basis therefor) to VS in a timely manner relative to when (i)
Bank received an invoice or other statement for payment from the subject taxing authority, or (ii) Bank
determined (or should have determined, based on Bank's normal accounting reviews and preparation
of tax documents of which such matter should have been a part) that VS should pay such
amount. The parties agree to cooperate with each other to minimize any applicable sales, use, or
similar tax and, in connection therewith, the parties shall provide each other with any relevant tax
information as reasonably requested (including without limitation, resale or exemption certificates,
multi-state exemption certificates, information concerning the use of assets, materials and notices of
assessments). Bank shall be solely responsible for remitting to the appropriate taxing authority(ies)
the tax amounts paid by VS. All amounts set forth in this Agreement are expressed and shall be paid
in U.S. dollars.

(b) Recoverable Sales Tax on Written-Off Accounts. Bank shall notify VS of any amounts
written-off as bad debt expense by Bank for federal income tax purposes on Accounts (“Written-Off
Accounts”), identified by Account, and shall sign such forms and provide any such other information as
reasonably requested by VS to enable VS to recover any portion of the sales tax reported or paid on
sales included in any such Written-Off Account (“Recoverable Sales Taxes”). See Schedule 10.18(b),
Recoverable Sales Tax Information. Regardless of whether a jurisdiction permits either Bank or VS, or
only VS to make a claim for Recoverable Sales Taxes, VS shall claim a deduction or credit on its sales
tax returns for the maximum Recoverable Sales Tax amount associated with Bank’s Written-Off
Accounts in states in which VS is currently claiming Recoverable Sales Taxes, provided that what shall
be considered the maximum Recoverable Sales Tax amount shall be in VS's reasonable
discretion. VS shall provide Bank with documentation of the amount of Recoverable Sales Taxes
claimed in each jurisdiction where VS makes such a claim. For clarity, Bank shall not file a claim for
any Recoverable Sales Taxes with any state. Commencing on February 4, 2018 and continuing
thereafter within [****] days after VS claims a deduction or credit for Recoverable Sales Taxes on its
required sales tax filing with a jurisdiction permitting such deduction, [****]. In the event VS is audited
or assessed by a state in which Recoverable Sales Taxes have been claimed and the state takes the
position that VS is not entitled to claim the Recoverable Sales Taxes as a legal matter, VS shall notify
Bank when VS becomes aware that the state is taking such position. If as a result of the structure of
this Section 10.18(b), VS is assessed by a state in which Recoverable Sales Taxes have been claimed
and the state takes the position that VS is not entitled to claim the Recoverable Sales Taxes solely due
to the structure of this Section 10.18(b) [****].

10.19 Non-Interference with Employees. The parties acknowledge that their continuing
relationship with their own employees is an essential requirement of their business. Accordingly, and
ancillary to the parties’ Agreement and to facilitate the operation of the Plan, the parties agree that
during the Term of this Agreement and continuing for [****] months thereafter, unless it has received
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the other party’s prior written consent, (i) VS shall not hire (as an independent contractor or employee)
any of the Bank’s or its Affiliate’s personnel who is or was during the prior [****] period a member of
Bank’s Credit Relationship Services Team under this Agreement or a member of the Customer Insights
and Solutions Group supporting the Plan, and (ii) neither party will, directly or indirectly, solicit for
employment any personnel of the other or its Affiliates with whom such party has had contact or who
became known to the other party in connection with this Agreement or the operation of the Plan;
provided, however that this clause (ii) will not prevent a party from employing any such person who
contacts a party on his or her own initiative without any direct or indirect solicitation by or
encouragement of the other party. For the purposes of this Section, “personnel” means any individual
one party employs as an employee and with which the other party comes into direct contact in
connection with the provision, consumption or evaluation of the services under this
Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement in manner and
form sufficient to bind them as of the date first above written.

COMENITY BANK

By: /s/ John Marion

John Marion
Title: President
Date: 6/29/18
VICTORIA’S SECRET STORES, LLC

By: /s/

Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date: 6/29/18

PUERTO RICO STORE OPERATIONS LLC

By: /s/

Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date: 6/29/18

LONE MOUNTAIN FACTORING, LLC

By: /s/

Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date: 6/29/18

L BRANDS DIRECT MARKETING, INC.

By: s/

Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date:6/29/18

L BRANDS DIRECT FULFILLMENT, INC.

By: s/

Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date:6/29/18

FAR WEST FACTORING, LLC

By: s/

Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date:6/29/18
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CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED FROM THE EXHIBIT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT
MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.
SUCH EXCLUSIONS HAVE BEEN MARKED WITH A [****],

FIRST AMENDMENT

This First Amendment (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into effective July 1, 2019 (the “Amendment
Effective Date”), by and between Victoria’'s Secret Stores, LLC (“Victoria’s Secret”), Lone Mountain Factoring, LLC
(“Lone Mountain”), L Brands Direct Marketing, Inc. and L Brands Direct Fulfillment, Inc. (collectively referred to as
“Direct”), Far West Factoring, LLC (“Far West"), Puerto Rico Store Operations, LLC (“Puerto Rico”), (Victoria's
Secret, Lone Mountain, Direct, Far West and Puerto Rico collectively hereinafter referred to as “VS") and Comenity
Bank (“Bank”).

WHEREAS, VS and Bank entered into that certain Private Label Credit Card Program Agreement dated
June 29, 2018 (the “Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, VS and Bank desire to amend the Agreement as set forth in this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which has been agreed upon by
the parties, VS and the Bank agree to supplement, modify and amend the Agreement as set forth below.

1. Amendment.
1.1 The first sentence of Section 2.1 (d) (i) shall be amended and replaced as follows:

Provided that VS has completed an upgrade of its POS systems to accept contact EMV-enabled
Credit Cards with an embedded microchip (a “Chip Card”), Bank shall convert the Credit Cards to
Chip Cards on or before [****], or such other date as the parties mutually agree (the “2019/2020
Chip Card Reissue”).

1.2 The first sentence of Section 2.4 (d) is hereby amended and replaced by the following:

VS shall pay [****] Plan documentation including, without limitation, promotional material (i.e.
collateral), creative and production costs for catalogue pre-approved solicitations and creative for
email pre-approved solicitations, special offers, reissued Credit Card plastics (other than the full file
Cardholder reissue scheduled for 2019, and the Credit Card plastics being reissued in the ordinary
course due to pending expiration dates), including but not limited to embossing and encoding, card
carriers, envelopes, Credit Card Agreements and postage related to any other Plan-wide Credit
Card reissuances or other reissuances not in the ordinary course requested by VS (by way of
example, the “limited edition” reissue completed in 2017 was a reissuance not in the ordinary
course).

1.3 Sections 9.7(a), 9.7(c) and 9.7(d) are amended and replaced as follows:

(a) Bank shall perform and fund a Cardholder Satisfaction Survey, a portion of which shall include
an Agent Attribute Assessment, at least quarterly, the results of which shall be delivered to VS
within [****] days after the end of the quarter. If the overall Cardholder Satisfaction Survey
indicates a “Satisfaction Rating” (as defined below) that is less than [****], then the parties will
review the results of the Agent Attribute Assessment. If the Agent Attribute
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Assessment has an Aggregate Attribute Score of less than [****], then, within [****] days after
VS's request, the Program Strategy Committee will discuss the potential cause for the decrease
in the Satisfaction Rating and Aggregate Attribute Score, including the incoming call mix. In
addition, the Program Strategy Committee may discuss an action plan that can be executed
within [****] days and at VS’s request, the frequency of the Cardholder Satisfaction Surveys shall
increase to monthly until such time as the Satisfaction Rating increases to [****] or the
Aggregate Attribute Score increases to [****].

(c) The “Satisfaction Rating” for the Cardholder Satisfaction Survey shall be measured by Bank
using scores achieved from the overall Cardholder satisfaction category and aggregating the
scores from the top [****] highest available ratings on the ratings response scale. The ratings
response scale shall contain [****] possible response selections. The “Aggregate Attribute
Score” for the Agent Attribute Assessment shall be measured by Bank using scores achieved
from the agent attribute category and aggregating the scores from the top [****] highest available
ratings on the ratings response scale of the Cardholder Satisfaction Survey.

(d) In the event that Bank's survey methodology changes, or other business impacts occur that
affect the survey criteria for the Cardholder Satisfaction Survey, the parties will work together in
good faith through the Business Review Committee to mutually agree upon new survey metrics
and corresponding Satisfaction Ratings as set forth in paragraphs (a) through (c) above that
more appropriately reflect the current incoming call mix. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
paragraphs (a) through (c) shall apply until such time as the parties agree to new survey criteria.

1.4  Schedule 1.1 Program Economics, [****]

Miscellaneous.

2.1 Except as expressly provided herein, all terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full
force and effect. Wherever possible, the terms of this Amendment shall be read in such a manner
so as to avoid conflict with the Agreement but, in the event of an unavoidable conflict, the terms of
this Amendment shall control over the terms and conditions of the Agreement.

2.2 Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms in this Amendment shall have the meanings
given them in the Agreement.

2.3 The governing law provisions of this Amendment shall be the same as those of the Agreement.

2.4 This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, both of which shall constitute one and the same
instrument.

[Signature Page Follows]

Victoria’s Secret and Comenity Bank
First Amendment to PLCCPA




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be executed as witnessed by the
signatures of their duly authorized representatives.

Comenity Bank

By: /s/ John Marion

Title:  John Marion

Date: President

Victoria’s Secret Stores, LLC L Brands Direct Marketing, Inc.

By: /s/ Timothy J. Faber By: /s/ Timothy J. Faber
Timothy J. Faber Timothy J. Faber

Title:  SVP, Treasurer Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date: 7/22/19 Date:  7/22/19

Puerto Rico Store Operations, LLC Far West Factoring, LLC

By: /s/ Timothy J. Faber By: /s/ Timothy J. Faber
Timothy J. Faber Timothy J. Faber

Title:  SVP, Treasurer Title:  SVP, Treasurer

Date: 7/22/19 Date: 7/22/19

L Brands Direct Fulfillment, Inc. Lone Mountain Factoring, LLC

By: /s/ Timothy J. Faber By: /s/ Timothy J. Faber
Timothy J. Faber Timothy J. Faber

Title:  SVP, Treasurer Title: SVP, Treasurer

Date: 7/22/19 Date: 7122/19
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Exhibit 10.125

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this
“Amendment”), dated as of February 13, 2020, among ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION, a
Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), the Guarantors (as defined in the Credit Agreement referred to below)
party hereto, the Banks party hereto (the “Consenting Banks”), and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”). Unless otherwise indicated, all capitalized
terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings provided such terms in the
Credit Agreement referred to below.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto from time to time (the
“Banks”) and the Administrative Agent have entered into that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement,
dated as of June 14, 2017 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Existing
Credit Agreement”; the Existing Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the
Administrative Agent and the Consenting Banks have agreed, to certain amendments to the Existing Credit
Agreement as more specifically set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, it is agreed as follows:

SECTION 1. Amendments to Existing_Credit Agreement. Effective as of the Fifth Amendment
Effective Date (as defined below) and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in reliance upon the
representations and warranties set forth herein, Article 1 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by
amending and restating the lead-in of the definition of “Interest Period” in its entirety as follows:

““Interest Period” means with respect to each Euro-Dollar Loan, the period commencing
on the date of borrowing specified in the applicable Notice of Borrowing or on the date specified
in the applicable Notice of Interest Period Election and ending one week thereafter or one, two,
three or six months thereafter, as the Borrower may elect in the applicable notice (or such other
period as requested by the Borrower and agreed to by the applicable Banks); provided that:”

SECTION 2. Fifth Amendment Effective Date Conditions. This Amendment shall become effective on
the date (such date, the “Fifth Amendment Effective Date”) when the Administrative Agent has received this
Amendment, duly executed by an authorized officer of each signing Credit Party, the Consenting Banks
constituting Required Banks and the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 3. Acknowledgement and Confirmation. Each of the Credit Parties party hereto hereby
agrees that with respect to each Credit Document to which it is a party, after giving effect to this Amendment and
the transactions contemplated hereunder, all of its obligations, liabilities and indebtedness under such Credit
Document, including guarantee obligations, shall, except as set forth herein or in the Credit Agreement, remain in
full force and effect on a continuous basis.

SECTION 4. Limited Effect. Except as provided herein, the Existing Credit Agreement and the other
Credit Documents shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect. This Amendment shall not be




deemed (a) to be a waiver of, or consent to, or a modification or amendment of, any other term or condition of the
Existing Credit Agreement or any other Credit Document other than as set forth herein, (b) to prejudice any right
or rights that the Administrative Agent or the Banks may now have or may have in the future under or in
connection with the Existing Credit Agreement or the other Credit Documents or any of the instruments or
agreements referred to therein, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or modified from time to
time, other than as set forth herein, or (c) to be a commitment or any other undertaking or expression of any
willingness to engage in any further discussion with the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or any other Person with
respect to any other waiver, amendment, modification or any other change to the Existing Credit Agreement or
the other Credit Documents or any rights or remedies arising in favor of the Banks or the Administrative Agent,
or any of them, under or with respect to any such documents.

SECTION 5. Costs and Expenses. The Borrower hereby reconfirms its obligations pursuant to Section
10.3(a) of the Credit Agreement to pay and reimburse the Administrative Agent in accordance with the terms
thereof.

SECTION 6. Representations and Warranties. To induce the Administrative Agent and the Consenting
Banks to enter into this Amendment, the Borrower represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the
Consenting Banks that: (a) the representations and warranties contained in the Credit Agreement are true and
correct in all material respects (where not already qualified by materiality, otherwise in all respects) on and as of
the date hereof immediately after giving effect to this Amendment with the same effect as though made on the
date hereof (it being understood and agreed that any representation or warranty which by its terms is made as of a
specified date shall be required to be true and correct in all material respects (where not already qualified by
materiality, otherwise in all respects) only as of such specified date); (b) immediately after giving effect to this
Amendment, no Default or Event of Default exists; (c) this Amendment has been duly authorized by all necessary
corporate proceedings and duly executed and delivered by the Borrower and each other Credit Party, and the
Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower and
each other Credit Party, enforceable against the Borrower and each other Credit Party in accordance with its
terms; and (d) no consent, approval, authorization, order, registration or qualification with any Governmental
Authority is required for, the absence of which would materially adversely affect, the legal and valid execution
and delivery or performance by the Borrower or any other Credit Party of this Amendment or the performance by
the Borrower or any other Credit Party of the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment. Each
Guarantor hereby ratifies and reaffirms: (i) the validity, legality and enforceability of its obligations under Article
9 of the Credit Agreement; (ii) that its reaffirmation of such obligations is a material inducement to the
Administrative Agent and the Consenting Banks to enter into this Amendment; and (iii) that its obligations under
Article 9 of the Credit Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms until all the
Guaranteed Obligations have been paid in full.

SECTION 7. Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreement and the Credit Documents.

(@) On and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this
Agreement,” “herein,” “hereto”, “hereof” and “hereunder” or words of like import referring to the Credit
Agreement, and each reference in the Notes and each of the other Credit Documents to “the Credit Agreement”,
“thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference
to the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

(b)  Except as specifically provided above, the Credit Documents shall remain in full force and effect
and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects. Except as provided herein, the execution, delivery, and
effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power, or remedy of the
Administrative Agent or any Bank under the Credit Agreement or any other Credit Document, nor constitute a
waiver or modification of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other Credit Document. This Amendment
is a Credit Document and is subject to the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement.
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SECTION 8. Governing_Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

SECTION 9.  Counterparts. This Amendment may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of
which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same
instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart to this Amendment by facsimile transmission or by electronic
mail in pdf format shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereto.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their duly authorized officers to execute and
deliver this Amendment as of the date first above written.

ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION, as
Borrower

By:_/s/ J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Name: J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Title: Senior Vice President and Treasurer

ADS ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS, INC., as Guarantor

By:_/s/ J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Name: J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Title: Senior Vice President and Treasurer

ALLIANCE DATA FOREIGN HOLDINGS, INC,, as
Guarantor

By:_/s/ J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Name: J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Title: Treasurer

ADS FOREIGN HOLDINGS, INC., as Guarantor

By:_/s/ J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Name: J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Title: Treasurer

COMENITY LLC, as Guarantor

By:_/s/ Jeffrey L. Fair
Name: Jeffrey L. Fair
Title: Vice President, Tax

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




COMENITY SERVICING LLC, as Guarantor

By:_/s/ Jeffrey L. Fair
Name: Jeffrey L. Fair
Title: Vice President, Tax

ALLIANCE DATA INTERNATIONAL LLC, as
Guarantor

By: ALLIANCE DATA FOREIGN HOLDINGS, INC.,
its sole member

By:_/s/ J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Name: J. Jeffrey Chesnut
Title: Treasurer

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrative Agent and a Bank

By:_/s/ Sid Khanolkar
Name: Sid Khanolkar
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Molly Daniello
Name: Molly Daniello
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




MUFG BANK, LTD,, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Matthew Antioco
Name: Matthew Antioco
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as a Bank

By:_/s/ Christine Lathrop
Name: Christine Lathrop
Title: Executive Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




MIZUHO BANK, LTD., as a Bank

By:_/s/ Tracy Rahn
Name: Tracy Rahn
Title: Executive Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




TRUIST BANK, AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO
SUNTRUST BANK, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Justin Lien
Name: Justin Lien
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




FIFTH THIRD BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Bank

By:_/s/ Matthew Lewis
Name: Matthew Lewis
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Sunny Yang
Name: Sunny Yang
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




BNP PARIBAS, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Michael Giudice
Name: Michael Giudice
Title: Director, FIG

By:_/s/ Marguerite L. Lebon
Name: Marguerite L. Lebon
Title: Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




ROYAL BANK OF CANADA, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Allan Kortan
Name: Allan Kortan
Title: Authorized Signatory

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, as a
Bank

By:_/s/ Michael Maguire
Name: Michael Maguire
Title: Managing Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




CITIZENS BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Bank

By:_/s/ Douglas M. Kennedy
Name: Douglas M. Kennedy
Title: SVP

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK OF COMMERCE,
NEW YORK AGENCY, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Dominic Sorresso
Name: Dominic Sorresso
Title: Authorized Signatory

By:_/s/ Andrew R. Campbell
Name: Andrew R. Campbell
Title: Authorized Signatory

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A,,
NEW YORK BRANCH, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Brian Crowley,
Name: Brian Crowley
Title: Managing Director

By:_/s/ Miriam Trautmann
Name: Miriam Trautmann
Title: Senior Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Bank

By:_/s/ James Cribbet
Name: James Cribbet
Title: SVP

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




REGIONS BANK, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Stephanie Herndon
Name: Stephanie Herndon
Title: Assistant Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Callen M. Strunk
Name: Callen M. Strunk
Title: Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




RAYMOND JAMES BANK, N.A., as a Bank

By:_/s/ Joseph A. Ciccolini
Name: Joseph A. Ciccolini
Title: Senior Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




DEUTSCHE BANK AG, NEW YORK BRANCH, as a
Bank

By:_/s/ Ming K. Chu
Name: Ming K. Chu
Title: Director

By:_/s/ Marko Lukin
Name: Marko Lukin
Title: Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




SYNOVUS BANK, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Robert Haley
Name: Robert Haley
Title: Corporate Banker

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Will Hicks
Name: Will Hicks
Title: Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC,, as a
Bank

By:_/s/ Patrick Wong
Name: Patrick Wong
Title: Authorized Signatory

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A,, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Dean Rosencrans
Name: Dean Rosencrans
Title: SVP

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




THE HUNTINGTON NATIONAL BANK, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Dan Swanson
Name: Dan Swanson
Title: Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




CITIBANK, N.A., as a Bank

By:_/s/ Marina Donskaya
Name: Marina Donskaya
Title: Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




CADENCE BANK, N.A., as a Bank

By:_/s/ Hannah Dempsey,
Name: Hannah Dempsey
Title: VP

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




LAND BANK OF TAIWAN LOS ANGELES BRANCH,
as a Bank

By:_/s/ Chien-Ching Li
Name: Chien-Ching Li
Title: VP & General Manager

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




TAIWAN COOPERATIVE BANK LTD., ACTING
THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Li Hua Huang
Name: Li Hua Huang
Title: SVP & General Manager

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




BANCO DE SABADELL, S.A. - MIAMI BRANCH,
as a Bank

By:_/s/ Enrique Castillo
Name: Enrique Castillo
Title: Head of Corporate Banking

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




TAIWAN BUSINESS BANK LTD — NEW YORK
BRANCH, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Sandy Chen
Name: Sandy Chen
Title: General Manager

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




FIRST HAWAIIAN BANK, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Christopher M. Yasuma
Name: Christopher M. Yasuma
Title: Vice President

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




VIRTUS SEIX FLOATING RATE HIGH INCOME
FUND, as a Lender

By: SEIX INVESTMENT ADVISORS LLC, as
Subadvisor

By:_/s/ Deirdre A. Dillon
Name: Deirdre A. Dillon, Esq.
Title: Chief Compliance Officer

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF OMAHA, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Dale Ervin
Name: Dale Ervin
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




MIDFIRST BANK, as a Bank

By:_/s/ Sherlyn Nelson
Name: Sherlyn Nelson
Title: Director

Alliance Data Systems Corporation
Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
Signature Page




Subsidiaries of
Alliance Data Systems Corporation
A Delaware Corporation
(as of December 31, 2019)

Subsidiary

ADI Crown Helix Limited

ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc.

ADS Apollo Holdings B.V.

ADS Card Services Foreign Holdings B.V.

ADS Foreign Holdings, Inc.

ADS Reinsurance Ltd.

ADS Sky Oak LLC

ALLDATA Card Services India LLP

Alliance Data Foreign Holdings, Inc.

Alliance Data International LLC

Alliance Data Lux Financing S.ar.l.

Alliance Data Lux Holdings S.ar.l.

Brand Loyalty Americas BV

Brand Loyalty Asia BV

Brand Loyalty Australia Pty. Ltd.

Brand Loyalty Brasil Marketing de Promocoes
LTDA

Brand Loyalty BV

Brand Loyalty Canada Corp.

Brand Loyalty Canada Holding B.V.
Brand Loyalty Development B.V.
Brand Loyalty Europe BV

Brand Loyalty France Sarl

Brand Loyalty Germany GmbH
Brand Loyalty Group B.V.

Brand Loyalty Holding BV

Brand Loyalty International BV
Brand Loyalty Italia S.p.A

Brand Loyalty Japan KK

Brand Loyalty Korea Co. Ltd.
Brand Loyalty Limited (HK)

Brand Loyalty OO0

Brand Loyalty Russia BV

Brand Loyalty Sourcing Americas Holding B.V.
Brand Loyalty Sourcing Asia Ltd
Brand Loyalty Sourcing BV

Jurisdiction of
Organization
Jersey
Delaware
Netherlands
Netherlands
Delaware
Bermuda
Delaware
India
Delaware
Delaware
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Netherlands
Australia
Brazil

Netherlands

Nova Scotia, Canada

Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
France
Germany
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Italy

Japan
South Korea
Hong Kong
Russia
Netherlands
Netherlands
Hong Kong
Netherlands

Exhibit 21

Other Business Names
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None

Brand Loyalty Ventures
Brand Loyalty Benelux
Brand Loyalty Spain
Brand Loyalty Hungary
Brand Loyalty Austria
Brand Loyalty France
Brand Loyalty Poland
Brand Loyalty Turkey
Brand Loyalty EMEA
BrandLoyalty

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

Brand Loyalty Sourcing




Brand Loyalty Sourcing USA Inc.

Brand Loyalty Special Promotions BV
Brand Loyalty Switzerland GmbH

Brand Loyalty Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd
Brand Loyalty UK Ltd

Brand Loyalty USA Holding BV

Brand Loyalty USA Inc.

Brand Loyalty Worldwide GmbH
ClickGreener Inc.

Comenity LLC

Comenity Bank

Comenity Canada L.P.

Comenity Capital Bank

Comenity Capital Credit Company, LLC
Comenity Operating Co., LLC

Comenity Servicing LLC

Edison International Concept & Agencies BV
IceMobile Agency BV

IM Digital Group BV

LoyaltyOne, Co.

LoyaltyOne B.V.
LoyaltyOne Travel Services Co.
LoyaltyOne US, Inc.

Max Holding B.V.

Merison Groep B.V.

Merison (Australia) PTY Ltd
Merison Retail B.V.

Merison Retail (HK) Ltd.
Merison UK Ltd

Rhombus Investments L.P.

WFC Card Services Holdings Inc.
WEN Credit Company, LLC
World Financial Capital Credit Company, LLC
World Licenses BV

Delaware
Netherlands
Switzerland
China

England
Netherlands
Delaware
Switzerland
Ontario, Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Ontario, Canada
Utah

Delaware
Delaware

Texas
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Nova Scotia, Canada

Netherlands
Nova Scotia, Canada
Delaware

Netherlands
Netherlands
Australia
Netherlands
Hong Kong
United Kingdom
Bermuda
Ontario, Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Netherlands

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

None

Comenity Canada

None

None

None

None

BrandLoyalty Naarden
IceMobile

None

AIR MILES
airmilesshops.ca

AIR MILES Corporate
AIR MILES For Business
AIR MILES Incentives
AIR MILES My Planet
AIR MILES Reward Program
Alliance Data

GIFTED by AIR MILES
Loyalty And Marketing Services
LoyaltyOne

My Planet

Squareknot

Zero Gravity Labs
Precima

AIR MILES Travel Services
Colloquy

LoyaltyOne Consulting
Precima

None

None

None

Merison

None

None

None

None

None

None

None
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-204759, 333-204758, 333-167525,
333-125770, and 333-65556 on Form S-8 of our reports dated February 28, 2020, relating to the financial statements of
Alliance Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries (which report expressed an unqualified opinion and included an
explanatory paragraph relating to the Company’s adoption of new accounting standards and an emphasis of matter
paragraph regarding the discontinued operations presentation), and the effectiveness of Alliance Data Systems
Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Alliance Data Systems Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2019.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 28, 2020




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF
ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION

I, Ralph J. Andretta, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Alliance Data Systems Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ RALPH J. ANDRETTA

Ralph J. Andretta
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 28, 2020




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF
ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION

I, Timothy P. King, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Alliance Data Systems Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report

financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ TiMmoTHY P. KING

Timothy P. King
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 28, 2020




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF
ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION

This certification is provided pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and accompanies the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the “Form 10-
K”) of Alliance Data Systems Corporation (the “Registrant”).

I, Ralph J. Andretta, certify that to the best of my knowledge:

(i) the Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(ii) the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ RALPH J. ANDRETTA
Ralph J. Andretta
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 28, 2020

Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 28" day of February, 2020.

/s/ JANE BAEDKE

Name: Jane Baedke
Title: Notary Public

My commission expires:
October 23, 2020

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Registrant and will be
retained by the Registrant and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF
ALLIANCE DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION

This certification is provided pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and accompanies the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the “Form 10-
K”) of Alliance Data Systems Corporation (the “Registrant”).

I, Timothy P. King, certify that to the best of my knowledge:

(i) the Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(ii) the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ TimoTHY P. KING
Timothy P. King
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 28, 2020

Subscribed and sworn to before me
this 28" day of February, 2020.

/s/ JANE BAEDKE

Name: Jane Baedke
Title: Notary Public

My commission expires:
October 23, 2020

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Registrant and will be
retained by the Registrant and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




